IMMUNO-ENDOCRINE INTERACTIONS IN

INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

Immuno-endocrine interactions in intestinal inflammation

By

Md. Sharif Shajib, BSc. (Hons)

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University

© Copyright by Md. Sharif Shajib, 2017.

Descriptive notes

| Doctor of Philosophy (2017) (Medical Sciences) | McMaster | University, | Hamilton, | Ontario |
|---|---------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------|---------|
| TITLE | Immuno-er in intestina | ndocrine inter l inflammatio | actions on | |
| AUTHOR | Md. Sharif | Shajib, BSc. | (Hons) | |
| SUPERVISOR | Dr. Waliul | I. Khan | | |
| NUMBER OF PAGES: XX, 292. | | | | |

Π

Lay abstract

The gut produces most of the serotonin found in our body, where it regulates many normal functions. A group of special cells, named enterochromaffin cells, produces nearly all of the serotonin in the gut. In diseases of the gut, especially ones that involve inflammation resulting in symptoms like abdominal pain, diarrhea and bleeding, the number of these cells and serotonin concentration are different from that in the normal gut. I found that these changes are controlled by a particular protein produced by immune cells, called interleukin-13, and alteration in serotonin levels, in turn, contributes to the inflammatory process. Our laboratory experiments with cells and animals establish this connection between interleukin-13 and serotonin in gut inflammation. We further confirm this association between interleukin-13 and serotonin in human inflammatory bowel disease. Moreover, we identify a potential genetic cause of these changes in serotonin concentrations which may ultimately result in inflammatory bowel disease.

Abstract

Mucosal inflammation in conditions ranging from infective acute enteritis or colitis to inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is accompanied by alteration in enterochromaffin (EC) cell numbers and serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT) content in the gut. Previously we had shown that CD4+ T cells, via production of T helper (Th)2 cytokines, regulate EC cell biology in the Trichuris murisinfectious colitis model. I further examined the mechanisms of immuno-endocrine interactions in the context of intestinal inflammation. In chapter 3, utilizing human EC cell line and Trichuris muris-mouse model of infectious colitis we identified a critical role of interleukin (IL)-13, a key Th2 cytokine, in increasing EC cell numbers, tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH)1 expression (rate-limiting enzyme of mucosal 5-HT bio-synthesis), and 5-HT production. In chapter 4, we show that IL-13 driven intestinal inflammation is critically dependent on increased 5-HT production using dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) and dinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (DNBS) models of colitis. In DSS-induced colitis, we were the first to identify the increased production of IL-13 and its pathogenic role as IL-13 knockout (IL-13-KO) mice had less severe inflammation compared to wild-type, which was exacerbated following replenishment of 5-HT in IL-13-KO mice. In chapter 5, biopsy examination revealed, higher mucosal IL-13 expression accompanied inflammation in Crohn's disease (CD), which was additionally associated with increased TPH1, 5-HT receptor (5-HTR)3A, 5-HTR7 and decreased 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) expressions. Moreover, CD patients had elevated plasma and platelet-poor plasma 5-HT levels compared to healthy controls (HCs). Furthermore, 5-HTT polymorphism associated genotypes causing inefficiency in 5-HT re-uptake were more common in our patient cohort than HCs. The findings included in this thesis further emphasize the role of immunoendocrine interactions in intestinal inflammation, which may be a step toward a better diagnosis or management or even a cure for a disease that is of growing concern, and in understanding IBD pathogenesis.

Acknowledgements

I have been fortunate enough to have the time, support and resources to attempt to add new knowledge to the understanding of a disease, and in the process, also develop a great interest in GI immunology and inflammation. For which I owe a great debt of gratitude to a number of individuals:

Dr. Waliul Khan, thank you for taking a chance on someone who is not particularly talented and emphasizing the learning process, conceptualization, and promoting independent thinking. Thank you for editing all the documents that I have sent you throughout the course of this degree, I can only hope to be as good a writer/story teller as you.

Huqaing and Jean-Eric, for teaching me the basics of the techniques that I have used throughout my degree. Marcus and Musfeque, for reminding me that science is supposed to be fun. Janice, for being an amazing labmate, I could not have asked for a better peer to learn with or to learn from. All the Khan lab trainees past and present for their support and help in the lab, especially most

recently, Eric. Thank you especially to Dr. Manel Jordana for IL-13 knockout mice, and Dr. John Marshall, without whom we would not be able to peruse our basic findings into the clinical realm. Likewise, my committee members, Drs. Jan Huizinga and Zhou Xing for your invaluable input and guidance as well as shared enthusiasm.

I would like to thank all of our collaborators. Our work and conference presentations would not have been possible without the generous support from CIHR, CCC, NSERC, and the McMaster Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine. I would also like to thank my institute (Farncombe Family Digestive Health Research Institute), for providing the environment to guide its trainees into their future.

I would like to thank my graduate life friends, D'andra and Zainab, for being understanding and supportive and my friends from other walks of life for your kind words. You all make me I feel blessed. I am so very thankful to my family for their support and encouragement. Especially my parents, who up-rooted themselves to move to Canada for a better future for their children, and my sister (and her family) for her unwavering support for her younger sibling. Lastly, I want to thank Allah, for my faith to keep plugging along, even when the challenges feel insurmountable.

Table of contents

PRELIMINARIES

| Immuno-endocrine interactions in intestinal inflammation | Ι |
|--|-------|
| Descriptive notes | II |
| Lay abstract | III |
| Abstract | IV |
| Acknowledgements | VI |
| Table of contents | VII |
| List of figures | Х |
| List of tables | XI |
| List of abbreviations and symbols | XII |
| List of peer-reviewed publications and submitted manuscripts | XVIII |
| CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE OVERVIEW | 1 |
| Serotonin | 2 |
| EC cells | 3 |
| Synthesis and metabolism of 5-HT | 6 |
| 5-HTRs and GI functions | 8 |
| 5-HTT | 12 |
| 5-HT and the immune system | 14 |
| 5-HT and innate immune system | 14 |
| 5-HT and adaptive immune system | 18 |
| IBD: A multifactorial disease | 20 |
| Environmental factors | 23 |
| Gut microbiota | 26 |

| Genetic susceptibilities | 28 |
|---|-----|
| Intestinal immune system | 29 |
| The epithelium | 31 |
| DCs and macrophages | 36 |
| T lymphocytes | 44 |
| IL-13 and gut inflammation | 51 |
| 5-HT in gut inflammation | 58 |
| Experimental approaches to studying gut inflammation | 67 |
| T. muris model of infectious colitis | 68 |
| Chemical models of intestinal inflammation | 68 |
| DSS-induced colitis | 69 |
| DNBS-induced colitis | 70 |
| CHAPTER 2: HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS | 72 |
| AIM 1: Investigate the role of IL-13 in EC cell biology | 75 |
| AIM 2: Elucidate the influence of IL-13 on the severity of experimental colitis as mediated by 5-HT | 75 |
| AIM 3: To characterize mucosal 5-HT signaling components in IBD patients and its relationship with IL-13, as well as to explore the association between 5-HTTLPR and IBD. | 76 |
| CHAPTER 3: IL-13-MEDIATED IMMUNOLOGICAL CONTROL OF ENTEROCHROMAFFIN CELL HYPERPLASIA AND SEROTONIN PRODUCTION IN THE GUT | 77 |
| CHAPTER 4: INTERLEUKIN 13 AND SEROTONIN: LINKING THE IMMUNE AND ENDOCRINE SYSTEMS IN MURINE MODELS OF INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION | 91 |
| CHAPTER 5: LINKAGE BETWEEN 5-HT TRANSPORTER PROMOTER POLYMORPHISM AND 5-HT SIGNALING MACHINERY WITH CROHN'S DISEASE | 109 |

| CHAPTER 6: GENERAL DISCUSSION | 147 |
|--|-----|
| Implication of our findings | 148 |
| IL-13/5-HT axis and other factors in intestinal inflammation | 152 |
| IL-13 and 5-HT in the management of intestinal inflammation | 155 |
| Concluding statements | 159 |
| APPENDIX I: THE ROLE OF SEROTONIN AND ITS RECEPTORS IN ACTIVATION OF IMMUNE RESPONSES AND INFLAMMATION | 160 |
| APPENDIX II: DIVERSE EFFECTS OF GUT DERIVED SEROTONIN IN INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION | 181 |
| References for chapters 1 and 6 | 195 |

List of figures

| Figure I: Schematic representation of mucosal 5-HT production and functions | 8 |
|---|----|
| Figure II: A schematic representation of various layers of the gut | 22 |
| Figure III: Factors involved in IBD | 23 |
| Figure IV: Immune system associated genes whose mutations are linked with increased risk of IBD | 29 |
| Figure V: Intestinal permeability pathways and overview of junctional proteins | 33 |
| Figure VI: Immunological regulation of mucosal 5-HT signaling | 62 |
| Figure VII: Schematic representation of hypothesis and aims | 74 |

List of tables

| Table I: Murine intestinal DC subsets and their locations in thegut. | 39 |
|--|----|
| Table II: Murine intestinal macrophages subsets and their locations in the gut | 41 |
| Table III: Major murine intestinal T cell subsets. | 46 |

List of abbreviations and symbols

| 5-HIAA | 5- hydroxyindoleacetic acid | NK cells | Natural killer cells |
|------------------|---|-----------|---|
| 5-HT | Serotonin or 5-hydroxytryptamine | NKT cells | Natural killer T cells |
| 5-HTP | 5- hydroxytryptophan | NLR | NOD-like receptor |
| 5-HTR | 5-HT receptor | NO | Nitric oxide |
| 5-HTT or SERT | 5-HT transporter or serotonin transporter | NOD | Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain- containing protein |
| 5-HTTLPR | 5-HTT gene-linked polymorphic region | NOX | NADPH oxidase |
| AADC | Aromatic amino acid decarboxylase | OD | Optical density |
| Ach | Acetylcholine | OCT | Organic cation transporter |
| AMP | Antimicrobial peptides | PAF | Platelet activating factor |
| APC | Antigen presenting cell | PBS | Phosphate buffered saline |
| ASCA | Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies | РСРА | Parachlorophenylalanine |
| ATG16L1 | Autophagy related 16 like 1 | PCR | Polymerase chain reaction |
| ATM | Adipose tissue macrophage | pDC | Plasmacytoid dendritic cell |
| ATT | Adipose tissue T cell | PGE2 | Prostaglandin-E2 |
| BMDC | Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell | PFA | Paraformaldehyde |

| cAMP | Cyclic AMP | PI3K | Phosphoinositide 3-kinase |
|-----------------|---|---------|---|
| CD | Crohn's disease | PI-IBS | Post infectious IBS |
| cDC | Conventional dendritic cell | PMAT | Peripheral monoamine transporter |
| cDNA | Complementary DNA | PP | Peyer's patch |
| CDP | Common dendritic cell progenitor | PPP | Platelet-poor plasma |
| CNS | Central nervous system | PRR | Pattern recognition receptor |
| CRC | Colorectal cancer | qPCR | Quantitative polymerase chain reaction |
| CRP | C-reactive protein | RA | Retinoic acid |
| CRP+ or CRP⁻ | C-reactive protein positive or negative | RELM | Resistin-like molecule |
| CTL | Cytotoxic T lymphocyte | rhIL-13 | Recombinant human IL- 13 |
| DAI | Disease activity index | RLR | RIG-I-like receptor |
| DAT | Dopamine transporter | rmIL-13 | Recombinant human IL- 13 |
| DC | Dendritic cell | ROS | Reactive oxygen species |
| DMEM | Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium | RPMI | Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium |
| DNBS | Dinitrobenzene sulphonic acid | S100A8 | S100 calcium-binding protein A8 |
| DSS | Dextran sulfate sodium | S100A9 | S100 calcium-binding |

| | | | protein A9 |
|---------|--|----------------------|--|
| DTT | Dithiothreitol | SCFA | Short chain fatty acid |
| EC cell | Enterochromaffin cell | SCID | Sever combined immunodeficient |
| ELISA | Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay | SDS | Sodium dodecyl sulfate |
| ENS | Enteric nervous system | SEM | Standard error mean |
| ERK1/2 | Extracellular signal- related kinase-1 and -2 | sIgA | secretory IgA |
| ESR | Erythrocyte sediment rate | SLC6A4 | solute carrier family 6 member 4 |
| FCAL | Fecal calprotectin | SNP | Single nucleotide polymorphism |
| GALT | Gut-associate lymphoid tissue | SSRI | Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor |
| GAPDH | Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase | STAT | Signal transducer and activator of transcription |
| GF | Germ-free | Symptom ⁻ | Asymptomatic |
| GI | gastrointestinal | Symptom+ | Symptomatic |
| GM-CSF | Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor | T. muris | Trichuris muris |
| GPCR | G-protein coupled receptor | TCR | T cell receptor |
| GWAS | Genome wide association study | TFF3 | Trefoil factor 3 |
| | | • | |

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

| H&E | Haematoxylin and eosin | Tg | Transgenic |
|--------|--|-----------|--|
| НС | Healthy control | TGF | Transforming growth factor |
| IBD | Inflammatory bowel disease | Th | T helper |
| IBS-D | Diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome | TLR | Toll-like receptor |
| ICC | Interstitial cells of Cajal | TNBS | Trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid |
| IDO | Indoleamine 2,3- dioxygenase | TNF | Tumor necrosis factor |
| IEC | intestinal epithelial cell | TNFSF15 | TNF super family member 15 |
| IEL | Intraepithelial lymphocyte | ТРН | Tryptophan hydroxylase |
| IFN | Interferon | Treg cell | Regulatory T cell |
| Ig | Immunoglobulin | TREM | Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cell |
| IHC | Immunohistochemistry | Trp | Tryptophan |
| IL | Interleukin | TSLP | Thymic stromal lymphopoietin |
| IL-10R | IL-10 receptor | TWEAK | TNF-like weak inducer of apoptosis |
| IL-13R | IL-13 receptor | UC | Ulcerative colitis |
| ILF | Isolated lymphoid follicle | VMAT | Vesicular monoamine transporter |

| iNOS | Inducible nitric oxide synthase | WT | Wild-type |
|-----------|--|--------|------------------|
| IP | Intraperitoneal | wt/vol | Weight to volume |
| IPAA | Ileal pouch-anal anastomosis | ZO | zonula occludens |
| IR | Intrarectal | α | Alpha |
| JAM-A | Junctional adhesion molecule-A | β | Beta |
| KO or -/- | Knockout | γ | Gamma |
| LP | Lamina propria | δ | Delta |
| LPDC | Lamina propria dendritic cell | μg | Microgram |
| LPL | Lamina propria lymphocyte | mol | Mole |
| LPS | Lipopolysaccharides | mg | Milligram |
| M cell | Microfold cell | μl | Microliter |
| MAO | Monoamine oxidase | Kg | Kilogram |
| МАРК | Mitogen-activated protein kinase | g | Gram |
| МСР | Monocyte chemoattractant protein | μΜ | Micromole |
| M-CSF | Macrophage colony- stimulating factor | ng | Nanogram |
| mDC | Monocyte-derived dendritic cells | nM | Nanomolar |
| MHC | Major histocompatibility | nm | Nanometer |

| | complex | | |
|----------|--|----|------------|
| MLN | Mesenteric lymph node | pg | Picogram |
| MM | Muscularis macrophage | L | Liter |
| mol. wt. | Molecular weight | mL | Milliliter |
| MPO | Myeloperoxidase | | |
| MUC | Mucin | | |
| NET | Norepinephrine transporter | | |
| NFIL3 | Nuclear factor- interleukin-3-regulated | | |
| NF-κB | Nuclear factor kappa B | | |
| ngn3 | Neurogenin 3 | | |
| | | | |

List of publications and submitted manuscripts (*as first or co-first author)

Peer Reviewed Journal Articles

Marcus M Manocha*, **Md Sharif Shajib***, Mushfequr M Rahman, Palanivel Rengasamy, Huaqing Wang, Melina Bogunovic, Manel Jordana, Lloyd Mayer, Waliul I Khan: <u>IL-13-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and serotonin production in the gut</u>. *Mucosal Immunology*. 07/2012. PMID: 22763407.

Md Sharif Shajib*, Huaqing Wang, Janice J Kim, Ivana Sunjic, Jean-Eric Ghia, Emmanuel Denou, Matthew Collins, Judah A Denburg, Waliul I Khan: <u>Interleukin</u> <u>13 and serotonin: linking the immune and endocrine systems in murine models of</u> <u>intestinal inflammation</u>. *PLoS ONE*. 08/2013. PMID: 24015275.

Md Sharif Shajib*, Waliul I Khan: <u>The role of serotonin and its receptors in</u> <u>activation of immune responses and inflammation</u>. *Acta Physiologica* (*Oxford*).12/2014. PMID: 25439045.

Saranya Kittanakom*, **Md Sharif Shajib***, Kristine Garvie, Joceline Turner, Dan Brooks, Sufian Odeh, Robert Issenman, V Tony Chetty, Joseph Macri, Waliul I. Khan: <u>Comparison of fecal calprotectin methods for predicting relapse of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease</u>. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*. 04/2017. PMID: 28491862.

Md Sharif Shajib*, Adriana Baranov, Waliul I Khan: <u>Diverse effects of gut-</u> <u>derived serotonin in intestinal inflammation</u>. *ACS Chemical Neurosciences*. 05/2017. PMID: 28288510.

Md Sharif Shajib*, Usha Chauhan, Salman Adeeb, Yeshale Chetty, David Armstrong, Smita LS Halder, John K Marshall, Waliul I Khan: <u>Linkage between</u> <u>5-HT Transporter Promoter Polymorphism and 5-HT signaling machinery with Crohn's disease</u>. *Submitted to Journal of European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*.

Janice J Kim, Byram W Bridle, Jean-Eric Ghia, Huaqing Wang, Shahzad N Syed, Marcus M Manocha, Palanivel Rengasamy, **Md Sharif Shajib**, Yonghong Wan, Peter B Hedlund, Waliul I Khan: <u>Targeted inhibition of serotonin type 7 (5-ht7)</u> receptor function modulates immune responses and reduces the severity of intestinal inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*. 05/2013. PMID: 23554310.

Huaqing Wang, Janice J Kim, Emmanuel Denou, Amanda Gallagher, David J Thornton, **Md Sharif Shajib**, Lijun Xi, Jonathan D Schertzer, Richard K Grencis, Dana J Philpott, Waliul I Khana: <u>New Role of Nod Proteins in Regulation of</u> Intestinal Goblet Cell Response in the Context of Innate Host Defense in an Enteric Parasite Infection. Infection and Immunity. 11/2015. PMID: 26527214.

Shapur Ikhtaire, **Md Sharif Shajib**, Walter Reinisch, Waliul I Khan: <u>Fecal</u> calprotectin: its scope and utility in the management of inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of Gastroenterology*. 05/2016. PMID: 26897740.

Josie Libertucci, Paul Moayyedi, Christine H Lee, Melanie Wolfe, **Md Sharif Shajib**, Catherine Onishi, Waliul I Khan and Michael G Surette: <u>Microbial</u> <u>changes and clinical findings following long-term fecal microbiota transplantation</u> <u>in a severe ulcerative colitis patient.</u> *Submitted to Anaerobe*.

Josie Libertucci, Usha Dutta, Sandeep Kaur, Jennifer Jury, Laura Rossi, Michelle E Fontes, **Md Sharif Shajib**, Waliul I. Khan, Michael G. Surette, Elena F. Verdu, David Armstrong: <u>Inflammation-related differences in mucosa-associated microbiota and intestinal barrier 2 function in colonic Crohn's disease</u>. *Submitted to American Journal of Gastroenterology*.

Peer Reviewed Abstracts

Eric Y Kwon, Huaqing Wang, **Md Sharif Shajib**, Waliul I. Khan: <u>Role of gut</u> <u>serotonin in antimicrobial peptide production</u>. *Gastroenterology*. 05/2017;152(5), *S963*.

Md Sharif Shajib*, Janice J Kim, Zack Muqtadir, Tariq Aziz, Paul Moayyedi, Walter Reinisch, John K Marshall, Waliul I. Khan: <u>Altered mucosal 5-HT</u> signaling in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *United European Gastroenterology Journal*. *10/2015; 3(5) suppl. pg. 267-268.*

Md Sharif Shajib*, Janice J Kim, Zack Muqtadir, Tariq Aziz, Paul Moayyedi, Walter Reinisch, John K Marshall, Waliul I. Khan: <u>Characterization of mucosal</u> serotonin signaling components in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology.* 02/2015; Supp. A150.

Saranya Kittanakom, **Md Sharif Shajib**, Celynne Hinzmann, Kristine Garvie, Joceline Turner, Dan Brooks, Sufian Odeh, Robert Issenman, V Tony Chetty, Joseph Macri, Waliul Khan: <u>Validation and evaluation of fecal calprotectin assays in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease</u>. *Clinical Biochemistry*. 08/2014; 47(12).

Marcus M Manocha, **Md Sharif Shajib**, Mushfequr M Rahman, Huaqing Wang, Melina Bogunovic, Lloyd Mayer, Waliul I Khan: <u>The immune-endocrine axis:</u> <u>Role of IL-13 in EC cell biology and 5-HT production</u>. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*. 02/2012. Supp. A270.

Md Sharif Shajib*, Huaqing Wang, Janice J. Kim, Jean-Eric Ghia, Matthew S. Collins, Jessica McClemens, Manel Jordana, Judah Denburg, Waliul I. Khan: Influence of interleukin-13 in 5-HT synthesis and severity of experimental colitis. *Gastroenterology*. 05/2011; 140(5), Supp. 1, pg. S-26.

Md Sharif Shajib*, Janice J Kim, Huaqing Wang, Jean-Eric Ghia, Matthew Collins, Jessica McClemens, Manel Jordana, Judah Denburg, Waliul I Khan: <u>Role of interleukin-13 in reduced production of 5-HT in the gut and severity of colitis.</u> *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology. 02/2011. Supp. A198.*

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

-CHAPTER 1-

LITERATURE OVERVIEW

Serotonin

Serotonin also referred to as 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), is an evolutionarily ancient and phylogenetically conserved monoamine, as it is found in both vertebrates and invertebrates. In 1937, Vittorio Erspamer, an Italian pharmacologist, identified a novel indolealkylamine in the gastrointestinal (GI) tracts of various vertebrates [1]. He found that this new amine causes intestinal contraction and called it "enteraime." Erspamer went on to show that it was the major secretory product of the enterochromaffin (EC) cells of the GI mucosa and had the same structure as 5-HT, a compound discovered by Rapport et al. in 1948, which they termed serotonin, as the bovine serum agent isolated affected vascular tone [2–5]. Since its discovery now over half a century ago, investigations into 5-HT and/or the serotonergic system has revealed biological insights of medical relevance in almost all major organ systems, including the cardiovascular, pulmonary, GI, as well as the central nervous system (CNS).

5-HT perhaps is best known for its role as a neurotransmitter in the brain. Serotonergic neurons, originating from the raphe nuclei of the brainstem, are widely distributed throughout the mammalian brain and form the single largest efferent system of the CNS [6]. In conjunction with other important neurotransmitter systems, such as the catecholaminergic system, 5-HT regulates a broad range of physiological, cognitive and behavioral functions, including sleep,

2

appetite, mood and sexual behavior [6]. 5-HT also plays an important role in neurogenesis and the development of the brain [7,8]. Separated by the blood-brain barrier, which is relatively impermeable to 5-HT, CNS-derived 5-HT only accounts for a small fraction of this monoamine produced in our bodies. In fact, most of the 5-HT (~95%) is peripheral in origin, where it is an important hormone that plays a central role in the regulation of vascular tone, intestinal motility, cell growth in liver, bone, and pulmonary arteries, as well as the development of heart, and mammary gland [8,9]. Moreover, peripheral 5-HT is a significant regulator of the immune system [6]. The gut by far is the largest producer of 5-HT in the human body, with EC cells contributing the vast majority (~90%) of gut-derived 5-HT [9–15]. The other source of gut-derived 5-HT is the serotonergic neurons found in the myenteric plexus of the enteric nervous system (ENS) and mast cells [16]. However, 5-HT produced by EC cells vastly overshadows all other sources. Nonetheless, in the normal gut mucosal and neuronal 5-HT work synergistically to regulate a variety of intestinal functions including epithelial barrier function, the transport of fluid and electrolytes, the secretion of mucins, as well as motility [16].

EC cells

EC cells belong to a group of specialized epithelial cells of secretory lineage, called enteroendocrine cells (EECs). They are the most abundant of the fifteen

subtypes of EECs that have been identified [17]. EECs constitute less than 1% of the cells in the intestinal epithelium, are found scattered throughout the gut mucosa and comprise what is referred to as the enteroendocrine system [18]. These hormone-secreting cells are sensors of luminal contents, particularly nutrients, which makes them central to the regulation of food intake and the firstline component of the gut-brain axis [18]. EECs act either in a classical endocrine fashion or in a paracrine manner on nearby cells, notably vagal afferent fibres [18]. Numerous hormones released by EECs elaborately control physiological and homeostatic functions of the GI tract, such as postprandial secretion and motility, and consequently makes the gut the largest endocrine organ in the human body [16]. The populations and diversity of EECs vary along the GI tract [17]. Small intestinal EECs display a greater diversity than the ones in the colon, with the highest frequency of EECs, observed in the proximal small intestine, followed by the rectum [17].

EC cells, like all other cells of the intestinal epithelium, arise from stem cells within the intestinal crypts. Notch, Wnt, and bone morphogenetic protein signaling pathways maintain the intestinal stem cell niche and regulate cell lineage [18,19]. Lateral inhibition of Notch signaling down-regulates cellular expression of Hes-1, which enables the expression of transcription factors, such as Math 1 and neurogenin 3 (ngn3), directing a more secretory epithelial cell lineage [18,20–23]. Moreover, this prevents adjacent cells from differentiating into EECs

and expression of ngn3 is essential for the development of EC cells, as ngn3knockout (KO) mice lack endocrine cells [23,24]. EC cells are found throughout GI tract including the gastric antrum, duodenum, jejunum, ileum and the colon and rectum, as well as the appendix [17]. Though the density of EC cells varies along the GI tract due to the increase or decrease in the number of other EECs, the absolute numbers of EC cells stay fairly constant, particularly in the large intestine [25,26]. Notably, 5-HT content is the highest in the rectum [27]. Approximately 8 micrometers (µm) in size, EC cells have a triangular or pyramidal shape [28]. The microvilli of EC cells project out into the lumen which allows them to transduce luminal physiochemical signals into biochemicalendocrine signals and communicate with surrounding cells, particularly neurons as they do not innervate the lumen, primarily by discharging 5-HT [16]. Other secretory products of EC cells include substance P, chromogranin and guanylin [29,30]. The sensory functions of EC cells arise from their expression of a myriad of ion channels and receptors, including transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily A member 1, taste and olfactory receptors, free fatty acid receptors, Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and toxin receptors such as ganglioside GM1 receptor [28,31–34]. EC cells, similar to other EECs, are marked by the presence of pleomorphic secretory vesicles, but unlike other EECs, these are mostly large dense-core vesicles [27]. Regional morphological differences of EC cells have been observed, such as the size of secretory vesicles [26]. Some EC cells of the large intestine have basal extensions containing secretory vesicles specialized for neuronal communication, which are not present in the small intestine [35]. It has been shown that secretory functions of EC cells can be regulated, at least in part, by neuronal input [36]. Various somatostatin receptor subtypes have been identified on the naïve human EC cells. It has also been demonstrated that activation of β -adrenergic and pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide receptors have stimulatory effects and γ -aminobutyric acid A and cholinergic receptors have inhibitory effects on 5-HT secretion by EC cells [28].

Synthesis and metabolism of 5-HT

5-HT is a derivative of the least abundant essential amino acids tryptophan (Trp) [37]. The initial step in the biosynthesis of 5-HT involves the hydroxylation of Trp to 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) by tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH) [16]. There are two isoforms of TPH, TPH1, and TPH2. TPH1, the non-neuronal isoform, is predominantly found in EC cells, and TPH2 is the neuronal isoform found in all serotonergic neurons of the ENS and CNS. In a second enzymatic step, decarboxylation of 5-HTP by the ubiquitously expressed aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) results in the production of 5-HT. Though both TPH and AADC are necessary for the production of 5-HT from Trp, TPH is the rate-limiting enzyme as it has very little affinity for any other amino acids and is only found in cells containing 5-HT [6]. In contrast to AADC inhibition, TPH

inhibition or depletion leads to significantly reduced 5-HT levels. Following the production of 5-HT, it is quickly packaged into vesicles by vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT).VMAT also has two isoforms VMAT 1 and 2, the former is found in neuroendocrine cells and latter is the neuronal isoform. The 5-HT stored within the vesicles of EC cells can be released both apically and basally via exocytosis in a Ca2+ dependent manner [27]. At physiological pH, the 5-HT molecule has a positive charge and requires active transport to cross cell wall barriers [16]. This function is mainly performed by the 5-HT transporter (5-HTT), or serotonin transporter (SERT). In addition to 5-HTT others, including the dopamine transporter (DAT), organic cation transporter (OCT), norepinephrine transporter (NET) and peripheral monoamine transporter (PMAT) have the capacity to uptake 5-HT, albeit at a lower affinity [6]. Once transported into cells, VMAT is required to sequester 5-HT and protect it from degradation by mitochondrial monoamine oxidase (MAO), primarily MAO-A. 5-HT, like other monoamines, is metabolized via oxidative deamination and the end product of this process, 5- hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), is excreted in urine [6]. Secreted 5-HT that is not taken up by intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) enters the circulation via the dense capillary bed of the lamina propria (LP), and is avidly transported into platelets via 5-HTT [38,39]. Platelets represent the largest reservoir of 5-HT in the human body, but do not produce their own as they lack TPH [40]. Stored within their dense granules, platelets shuttle mucosal 5-HT throughout the body and propagate the influences of gut-derived 5-HT beyond the gut. Within the gut, five types of 5-HTRs, expressed on various cells, including, neurons, muscle, immune and epithelial cells, regulate the substantial and sometimes confounding influence of 5-HT.



Figure I: Schematic representation of mucosal 5-HT production and functions. Residents of the gastrointestinal (GI) epithelium, EC cells synthesize 5-HT via the rate-limiting enzyme TPH1(inset). They are the main source gutderived 5-HT, which participates in various GI functions including immune response via its expression of 5-HTRs and 5-HTT on various cells. EC, enterochromaffin; Trp, tryptophan; TPH1, tryptophan hydroxylase 1; 5-HTP, 5-hydroxytryptophan; ADDC, aromatic amino acid decarboxylase; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HTT, 5-HT transporter; 5-HTR, 5-HT receptor; GC, Goblet cell. (adopted from Shajib et al. [16])

5-HTRs and GI functions

An undetermined number of 5-HTRs mediate the diverse effects of 5-HT on a wide range of physiological functions. Eighteen genes encode for at least fifteen mammalian 5-HTRs, which are divided into seven families [41]. With the

exception of 5-HTR 5 and 6 families, all other families of 5-HTRs (1-4 and 7) have been identified in the GI tract. Alternative splicing, RNA editing, and homoand heterodimerization underpins the extreme biological diversity of 5-HTRs [41]. Receptor heterogeneity is further supplemented by naturally occurring polymorphic variants of 5-HTR subtypes [41]. Excluding 5-HTR3, all other 5-HTRs belong to the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) family class A, also known as 7-transmembrane domain receptors [6]. 5-HTRs 1, 2, 4 and 7, like all other GPCRs, signal via intracellular second messenger cascade. G proteins form heterotrimeric complexes of $G\alpha$, $G\beta$ and $G\gamma$ subunits and the complex is coupled to the C-terminus of the transmembrane 5HTR. GPCRs are capable of assembling homo- and heterodimers as well as oligomers, but 5HTRs preferentially form homodimers [42–46]. Ligation of 5-HTR elicits a conformational change in the receptor inducing signal transduction to facilitate activity. Activation of 5-HTR1 leads to the down-regulation of cyclic AMP (cAMP) due to its negative coupling with adenylyl cyclase [6]. In contrast to that the activation of 5-HTRs 4, and 7 is associated with increased cAMP activity. Up-regulation of inositol triphosphate and diacylglycerol pathways following activation of 5-HTR2 increases intracellular Ca2+ release [6]. Unlike other 5-HTRs, 5-HTR3 belongs to the cation-selective ion channel Cys-loop superfamily [6]. The functional 5-HTR3 channel is essentially dependent on the 5-HTR3A subunit for the formation of its

characteristic pentameric ring [47–49]. 5-HTR3 is most permeable to Ca2+, Na+, and K+ [6].

5-HT directly or indirectly participates in various regulatory functions of the digestive process, from transmitting taste information from taste buds to the CNS, regulating pancreatic enzyme secretion to aid in digestion, and in excretion by regulating peristaltic reflex. Once released 5-HT acts not only in an endocrine manner but by neurocrine, paracrine and autocrine means as well [17]. In the gut, 5-HTRs are found on intrinsic and extrinsic afferent neurons, interneurons, inhibitory and excitatory motor neurons, interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC), smooth muscle, goblet cells, enterocytes and EECs including EC cells, mediate the multitude of functions performed by 5-HT [16]. 5-HT via intrinsic sensory neurons regulates peristalsis and secretory reflexes and via extrinsic neurons the sensation of pain, discomfort, and nausea. EC cells release 5-HT in response to acetylcholine, neuronal stimulation, raised intraluminal pressure, and changes in pH [50]. 5-HT relays this information from EC to intrinsic primary afferent neurons, which express 5-HTR1A, 3, 4 and 7 [51]. 5-HT mainly via 5-HTR1B, 3, 4 and 7 influences GI motility which requires the coordinated activity of various cell types including neurons, smooth muscle cells, and ICCs [51–54]. A heterogeneous population of specialized GI cells, ICCs are neither neurocytes nor myocytes but are central to normal motility and express 5-HTR 2B, 3 and 4 [51]. 5-HT also regulates ICC proliferation and network density via 5-HTR2B [54,55]. 5-HT regulates the contraction and relaxation of smooth muscles, the former via 5-HTR2B, 3 and 4 mediated stimulation of cholinergic neurons causing acetylcholine (ACh) release, and the latter through 5-HTR1A, 1D and 4 on inhibitory nitrergic neurons and subsequent nitric oxide (NO) secretion [56]. However, it has been shown that neuronal rather than mucosal 5-HT plays a more prominent role in normal GI motility, as TPH2KO but not TPH1KO mice had significantly impaired intestinal transit and motility [57]. 5-HT also stimulates electrogenic fluid secretion throughout the GI tract via 5-HTR1P, 5-HTR2A, 5-HTR3, and 5-HTR4, especially in the terminal ileum, the sigmoid and the ascending colon [58–61]. In response to toxins and pathogens, 5-HT via 5-HTR4 mediates mucus and fluid secretion promoting mucosal protection [62]. As mentioned earlier 5-HT plays an important role in sensation, this is primarily mediated by 5-HTR3 on lumbar splanchnic and vagal afferents [39]. The same receptor also influences food intake by regulating hunger and satiation, which may also involve the hypothalamic expression of 5-HTR2C [63,64]. Though it remains to be determined if the effect on the hypothalamus is mediated primarily by mucosal 5-HT that reaches the hypothalamus via the bloodstream or CNSderived 5-HT.

Additionally, both depots of enteric 5-HT, neuronal and mucosal, have been implicated in growth and turnover of the intestinal epithelium. Gross et al. demonstrated this in the normal gut, where enteric neuronal 5-HT accomplishes

this feat via 5-HTR2A on submucosal cholinergic neurons and their muscarinic innervations to epithelial effectors [65]. Whereas, Spohn et al. implicated mucosal 5-HT in this process by intraluminal administration of 5-HTR4 agonist (Tegaserod) in experimental models of colitis, demonstrating increased cell proliferation and accelerated healing [66].

5-HTT

Given the multitude of functions performed by 5-HT, its bioavailability is tightly regulated in the GI tract, and in the body in general. The active transport of extracellular 5-HT across the plasma membrane into the cell terminates its actions, and as mentioned earlier this is predominantly performed by 5-HTT, also known as solute carrier family 6, member 4 (SLC6A4). 5-HTT belongs to the sodium: neurotransmitter symporter family and is encoded by the SLC6A4 gene, which is comprised of 14 exons and is located on chromosome 17q11.1-17q12 of the human genome [67]. A 44-bp insertion/deletion polymorphism in the promoter region of SLC6A4 creating two predominant allele variants, a long (L) allele, and a short (S) allele, has been identified and is known as the 5-HTT gene-linked polymorphic region (5-HTTLPR) [67–69]. It has been shown that the S allele is functionally dominant. In comparison with the L/L genotype, the S/S or S/L genotypes (together referred to as the S genotype) are associated with lower levels of 5-HTT mRNA transcripts, and thereby lower levels of 5-HTT expression as

well as reduced 5-HT reuptake efficiency [67]. The functional unit of 5-HTT is a dimer and several posttranslational modifications, including glycosylation followed by insertion of sialic acid into each of two N-linked glycans, leads to its formation. Glycosylation is necessary for the normal functional activity of 5-HTT and the addition of sialic acid molecules ensures dimer formation as well as the association with myosin IIA at the cytoskeleton [70].

5-HTT is a critical component of 5-HT signaling machinery. This is exemplified by the presence of 5-HTT on nerve terminals that release 5-HT and by its expression on every epithelial cell lining the luminal surface of the gut [39]. 5-HTT transcription in the intestinal epithelium differs from that of neurons suggesting tissue-specific regulation of transcription of this protein [71]. In the healthy gut, the expression of 5-HTT varies along the GI tract, with the highest expression observed in the ileum and the lowest in the colon [72]. 5-HTT essentially acts as a selective sponge to remove 5-HT from the interstitial space following secretion by EC cells and serves the same purpose on platelets. It has been shown that up-regulation of 5-HT concentrations initially causes enhancement of 5-HTT density on the platelet cell membrane, but prolonged exposure to increased levels of 5-HT reduces 5-HTT expression below normal [73–75]. As previously mentioned, platelets via 5-HTT take up gut-derived 5-HT that enters the circulation in a fast and saturable process, playing a key role in the maintenance of 5-HT availability in blood circulation. Though these small, anucleate cells are best known for their role in initiating coagulation and maintaining vascular tone, they are immune capable and are the main benefactor of 5-HT mediated regulation of the peripheral immune system.

5-HT and the immune system

EC cells, via platelets, are the main suppliers of 5-HT for lymphatic tissue and immune cells [6]. Additional but smaller sources of 5-HT for the peripheral immune system include sympathetic neurons which heavily innervate lymphatic tissue, as well as the some immune cells that express TPH1 [6]. It is now well known that 5-HT provokes a wide array of differential effects on immune cells, often in the same cell type [76]. The diverse effects of 5-HT observed on immune cells is potentially due to the local concentration of 5-HT and the expression of various 5-HT signaling machinery, such as 5-HTRs and 5-HTT, with different 5-HT affinity working together to induce specific effects.

5-HT and innate immune system

Most human and rodent innate immune cells, including eosinophils, monocytes (circulating precursor of macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs)), macrophages, DCs, mast cells and natural killer (NK) cells, express 5-HTRs [76,77]. Some of these cells also express 5-HTT, such as monocytes, macrophages, DCs, and mast cells [76,77]. In response injury, 5-HT is rapidly released by platelets, as well as mast cells and basophils, along with other inflammatory mediators, such as IgE

complexes, and platelet activating factor (PAF), leading to the activation of the complement system, chemotaxis, phagocytosis and ultimately inflammation [6,78,79]. Activated platelets can swiftly increase resting plasma 5-HT concentrations from ~10 nM to 10 μ M or more [80,81]. 5-HT promotes chemotaxis of human eosinophils via 5-HTR2A and through 5-HTR1A on both human and mouse mast cells [82,83]. The release of platelet-stored 5-HT induces endothelial expression of adhesion molecules, P-selectin and E-selectin, and release of interleukin (IL)-8, which triggers neutrophil rolling, adhesion, and extravasation in acute inflammation [84].

In macrophages, 5-HT aids in the process of antigen-presentation, which is eradicated following para-chlorophenylalanine (PCPA; an irreversible inhibitor of TPH) mediated depletion of 5-HT [85]. Murine peritoneal macrophages, in a nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B)-dependent manner, increase their secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β and IL-6, following 5-HT stimulation and their phagocytic capacity following 5-HTR1A activation [76,86]. In contrast, 5-HT via 5-HTR2B and 5-HTR7 promotes anti-inflammatory polarization of human monocyte-derived macrophages, which is marked by reduced secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-12p40 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and unaltered secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 [87]. Furthermore, Ménard et al. using cell culture models of human and rat alveolar macrophages demonstrated that 5-HT via the regulation of prostaglandin-E2 (PGE2) down-
regulates TNF-α and IL-12p70, and up-regulates IL-10 and NO production [88]. It has also been shown that 5-HTR2C activation on mouse alveolar macrophages increases intracellular Ca2+ concentration which augments production of CCL2, promoting monocyte recruitment [89]. Human CD14+ monocytes (account for up to 90% of the blood monocytes) under normal physiological conditions require 5-HT for the production of IL-6 and TNF- α , but not IL-10 [90]. In addition to expressing 5-HTT and TPH1, these cells also express 5-HTR1E, 2A, 3, 4 and 7 [89,91,92]. 5-HT via the synergetic actions of 5-HTR3, 4 and 7 up-regulates the secretion of IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 by lipopolysaccharides (LPS)-activated monocytes [91]. Soga et al. demonstrated 5-HTR1 and/or 7 activation-associated phosphorylation of extracellular signal-related kinase-1 and -2 (ERK1/2) and NF- κB activation also increase IL-6 and TNF- α secretion by LPS-stimulated monocytes [90]. Whereas, the combined activation of 5-HTR4 and 5-HTR7 reduces TNF- α production by human monocytes, at both resting and LPSactivated states [91]. Activation of these two 5-HTRs on LPS-stimulated monocytes also induces the secretion of IL-12p40, which in turn promote migration of macrophages and bacterially stimulated DCs [91]. 5-HT, via 5-HTR1 and/or 7, was shown to prevent monocytic apoptosis by up-regulating antiapoptotic proteins, Bcl-2 and Mcl-1, expression as well as by reducing caspase-3 activation [90]. The same receptors have also been implicated in the up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, and CD86 expression on monocytes,

subsequently increasing their stimulatory activity toward allogeneic CD4+ T cells [90]. 5-HTR1A activation on monocytes has been shown to abrogate autologous monocyte-induced suppression of NK cell cytolytic activity and proliferation [93,94]. These innate lymphocytes express 5-HTR1A, and increased number of NK cells have been reported in long-term users of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), which also increases their cytotoxic capacity [95–98]. 5-HT in a 5-HTR1 and/or 7-dependent manner alters the phenotype of human monocytederived DCs (mDCs; differentiation is dependent on granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) [99]) by up-regulating CD14 expression as well as by reducing their capacity to stimulate allogeneic T cells [100]. 5-HT and LPS co-stimulation induces immature mDC migration in a 5-HTR1B and 5-HT2A-dependent manner [100]. However, 5-HT has been shown to inhibit CXCL10 secretion by mature mDCs [100]. 5-HTR7 signaling is required for morphological and migratory modulation of mature bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs), the latter via the induction of CCR7 expression [101]. In mature mDCs, 5-HTR3 activation regulates intracellular Ca2+ concentration required for the secretion of IL-8 and IL-1 β [102]. 5-HTR4 and 7 also regulate cytokine and chemokine production by these antigen presenting cells (APCs) [102]. Activation of 5-HTR7 on BMDCs increases IL-12/23p40 secretion, in an NF-kB-dependent manner, triggering a more pro-inflammatory T cell response [103]. Furthermore, LPS-induced maturation of BMDCs up-regulates 5-HTT expression by these cells, suggesting that DCs may release stored 5-HT into the immunological synapse during T cell activation [94].

5-HT and adaptive immune system

As with cells of the innate immune system, expression of 5-HT signaling machinery by adaptive immune cells vary depending on their stage of maturation and/or state of activation. 5-HT directly affects various T cell functions, which is in addition to its influence on T cell priming by APCs. Khan et al. using human K562 lymphocytes implicated 5-HT in T cell maturation in secondary lymphoid organs [104]. 5-HT stimulation, specifically 5-HTR7 activation on naïve T cells induces ERK1/2 phosphorylation and activation of NF-kB, which leads to the expression of 5-HTR1B and 2A [105]. Blockade of 5-HTR2A signaling has been shown to reduce antigen-specific induction of both cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and T helper (Th)1 cells as well as IL-2 and interferon (IFN)-y production [106]. Moreover, antagonism of 5-HTR1B has been shown to prevent the proliferation of Th cells [106]. Increased expression of TPH1 has been reported in activated T cells and disruption of 5-HT synthesis in these lymphocytes prevents autocrine signaling via 5-HTR1A also inhibiting proliferation, as well as IL-2 and IFN- γ secretion by both human and mouse activated T cells [105,106]. In addition to IFN- γ , at steady state human T cells require intracellular 5-HT for their production of IL-10 [107]. 5-HT, more specifically 5-HTR3 signaling, has also been implicated in activated human T cell localization in tissue [108]. The actions of 5-HT in the adaptive immune system are not limited to T cells, 5-HT along with PAF has been shown to activate B cells [109]. 5-HT in a 5-HTR1A-dependent manner regulates murine B cell proliferation and SSRIs have anti-proliferative as well as pro-apoptotic effects on human leukemic B cells [110,111]. 5-HTT expression has been detected on B cells but is yet to be confirmed on T cells [76]. T cells, however, express other transporters, such as OCT, that enables uptake of 5-HT by these lymphocytes, which is in addition to their aforementioned ability to produce 5-HT [76].

High intracellular 5-HT levels, in addition to surface receptor-mediated regulation, may also affect a myriad of immune functions. Referred to as serotonylation, a high concentration of 5-HT within the cell leads to posttranslational modifications of proteins by transglutaminase, which covalently links 5-HT to small GTPases rendering them constitutively active. This has been implicated in alpha-granule exocytosis and 5-HTT internalization by platelets [112,113]. Serotonylation of small GTPases, such as Rab3a and Rab27a, have also been shown to mediate exocytosis in pancreatic β -cells resulting in insulin secretion [11]. These small GTPases are also found in immune cells and it has been shown Rab27a expression is essential for granular exocytosis by CTLs [114]. Thus, 5-HT via serotonylation has been postulated to be involved in

immune mediator secretion, as well as cytoskeletal reorganization required for antigen presentation.

Given the immunomodulatory properties of 5-HT as well as its important role in almost all major organ systems, changes in 5-HT signaling have been associated various diseases. However to date, its involvement in the pathophysiology of neuropsychological disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease, schizophrenia, depression, and alcoholism, is the most clinically relevant, as components of 5-HT signaling machinery are the targets of many current antipsychotic, antidepressant and anxiolytic medications, as well as the major focus of many CNS drug development [6]. Changes in peripheral serotonergic signaling have also been associated with a myriad of diseases, including myocardial infarction, pulmonary hypertension, asthma, rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, pancreatitis and a variety of liver diseases [115–125]. Recent work from our laboratory has also implicated peripheral 5-HT with obesity and associated disorders, and obesity, itself has been described as a low-grade inflammation [126,127]. Within the gut, alterations in normal 5-HT signaling are associated with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), celiac disease, colon carcinoma and various enteric infections [128–148].

IBD: A multifactorial disease

20

IBD is characterized by chronic inflammation of the GI tract with interposed periods of remission, defined as complete resolution of symptoms and endoscopic mucosal healing. Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are the two major forms of IBD. The age of onset for these diseases is early adulthood, but they may occur at any age. About 10-15% of patients are diagnosed before the age of 18 years, and pediatric-onset IBD is characterized by distinct phenotypic differences compared to adult-onset IBD [149]. Typical symptoms of IBD include abdominal pain, cramping, diarrhea, bleeding, and extreme fatigue. These are the result of inflammation of the intestine and may be similar in both CD and UC. Up to 40% of IBD patients may also present with non-bowel symptoms, called extraintestinal manifestations, involving the eves, joints, skin, bones, kidneys, and liver [150]. Pediatric IBD patients often experience growth problems, without outward signs of an inflamed bowel [149]. Many of the aforementioned symptoms of IBD are non-specific, as the gut has only a limited number of ways to show distress. Thus, these could also be related to other gastrointestinal conditions, including infectious gastroenteritis, IBS, celiac disease, and colorectal cancer [150].

Though CD and UC share common features, they represent two distinct pathophysiological entities. This evident from the nature and location of the inflammation observed. Inflammation in UC is largely confined to the colon and the rectum and is usually limited to the mucosa. The gross appearance of UC can vary with the disease activity and duration. Endoscopically, classic UC starts at the rectum and progresses proximally, and affect areas up to the ileocecal valve [151]. Inflammation in UC is continuous, the transition from diseased to normal mucosa is usually gradual and only occasionally abrupt, such as in pan-colitis [152]. Unlike UC, inflammation in CD can span the entire GI tract, from the mouth to the anus, and may involve all layers of the gut. The length of the segments involved varies and involvement of the upper GI tract is uncommon [152]. Additionally, macroscopic lesions are apparent both on the mucosal and serosal side of the bowel wall and vary in size [152]. Endoscopically, classic CD appears as "skip lesions" meaning normal healthy mucosa may be found between areas of the inflamed bowel, thus the transition from involved to uninvolved areas in CD is usually abrupt. Over time, periods of active inflammation and remission give rise to the classic "cobblestone" appearance of the mucosa associated with CD.



PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

Figure II: A schematic representation of various layers of the gut. Inflammation in Crohn's disease can penetrate all layers whereas in ulcerative colitis it is limited to the mucosa.

Both CD and UC display a tremendous degree of heterogeneity, and like many other diseases, their exact cause is not yet known. IBD is considered to be a multifactorial disease resulting from complex interactions between various environmental factors and host factors including gut microbiota, genetic susceptibilities, and the immune system [153].



Figure III: Factors involved in IBD. The ultimate cause(s) of IBD is unknown but current research has implicated both host and environmental factors and their complex interplay in IBD pathogenesis. As with many other diseases, the relative importance of nature versus nurture in the development of IBD is yet to be determined.

Environmental factors

Environmental exposures are thought to contribute to the development of IBD, as it has been primarily observed in industrialized nations [154]. Recent data suggests, the prevalence of IBD in the Western world, which includes North America, Europe, Australia and New Zealand, is approximately 0.5% of the general population, with Canada having one of the highest prevalence (~0.7%) and incidence rates (10, 200 cases/year) for IBD [154,155]. The incidence of IBD has risen steadily through the 20th century in the Western world but was fairly uncommon in developing countries [154]. However, over the past few decades, the emergence of IBD has been documented in the newly industrialized countries of Asia, South America, and the Middle East [156–161]. In these newly industrialized countries, such as India, China, and Brazil, the prevalence of IBD is significantly lower than that in the Western world but the incidence rate of IBD is rising [156,159,160]. In addition to that studies have revealed, first-generation (depending on the age of arrival) and second-generation children of immigrants from regions with low prevalence to countries with higher prevalence are at an increased risk of developing IBD [162–165].

A plethora of theories has been put forth to explain the unknown environmental exposures that may interact with the immune system, resulting in the abnormal inflammatory response observed in IBD. The hygiene hypothesis in the most prominent of these theories and proposes that reduced exposure to microbial antigen in early life increases the risk of immunologic disorders, including IBD in later life [153,166]. This hypothesis has been tested in case-control studies, but these studies relied heavily on patient questionnaires and assumptions based on geographical location and social class [153,154,167]. Several perinatal factors

such as breastfeeding and cesarean section have been linked with pediatric IBD development, with heterogeneous results being reported [168,169]. Repeated use of antibiotics in the early years of life has also been postulated as a possible factor in the development of chronic intestinal inflammation in children and adults [170-173]. Diet and potable water quality have also been studied in the context of IBD. With regards to diet, saturated fats and polyunsaturated fatty acids have been implicated in IBD pathogenesis, whereas refined sugar, carbohydrate, animal protein and dietary fiber intake have shown inconsistent associations [174–183]. A Norwegian study associated iron in drinking water to IBD, which may be related to oxidative stress and bacterial overgrowth [184]. The findings of studies investigating the effect of diet and drinking water on IBD development are often inconsistent and plagued with confounding variables, which highlight challenges of studying the complex effect of these very basic factors in IBD pathogenesis. Interestingly, a paradoxical relationship has been demonstrated between smoking and IBD pathogenesis but is not necessarily consistent across all ethnic groups [154,185,186]. Countries with the highest incidence of smoking were found to have the lowest incidence of IBD, such as South Korea, whereas the highest incidence of IBD actually occurs in countries with a low prevalence of smoking, like Canada [187–189]. A meta-analysis concluded that smokers were less likely to develop UC compared to non-smokers or ex-smokers, and the opposite was observed in the case of CD, as smokers, followed by ex-smokers, were at an

increased risk of developing CD [190]. Environmental factors, including the ones discussed above, have a major impact on gut microbiota composition. The symbiotic relationship between microbes and host is critical in the development of normal physiological processes and imbalances in this interaction may lead to pathophysiology.

Gut microbiota

The gut microbiome plays a major role in health and disease by influencing nutrient absorption, epithelial barrier function, host gene expression as well as in the development and maturation of the immune system [191]. The human GI tract harbors over 100 trillion microbial cells, in addition to affecting physiological aspects of an individual, these microbes also influence behavioral traits [191-193]. Microbial composition of the gut varies with age [194]. The neonatal microbiota has low diversity which gradually increases with time, particularly with the introduction of solid foods [194,195]. It remains in flux up to the age of 2-3 years, then it becomes more stable and converges to resemble that of an adult microbiota [194,196]. The adult microbiota has high inter-individual variability at the species level but is highly conserved at higher-taxa levels [197]. Gut microbiota composition and density also vary along the length of the intestinal tract, this is mainly due to harsher conditions of the proximal intestine. The microbial density in the proximal small intestine can reach 10^3 cells per gram of content and in the distal colon can reach 10^{12} per gram of content [198,199]. The microbial composition of the large intestine is better studied than that of the small intestine, as most studies have resorted to studying fecal microbiota composition due to more restricted and difficult sampling of small intestinal microbiota. However, it has been shown that the microbiota in the small intestine is less stable than that of the colon [200].

Microbial colonization early in life is essential to the development and maturation of the immune system [198]. This process can be influenced by various factors including birth delivery mode, neonatal antibiotic or probiotic use, and diet [201]. Colonization may aid in the establishment of a symbiotic relationship of tolerance and protective immunity. This is achieved under the reciprocal regulation of the mucosal immune system and the microbiota [202]. The microbiota can directly or indirectly via IEC-microbiota interaction regulate the immune system, conversely, the microbiota is controlled by mediators of IECs and immune cells [198,199,202–204]. It has been demonstrated that certain microbes favor the growth of distinct T lymphocyte subsets in the intestine [202].

Abnormalities in the gut microbial composition, referred to as dysbiosis, has been observed in both UC and CD [205]. Dysbiosis can promote the growth of invasive pathogenic bacteria and bacterial translocation through the mucosal barrier, which may activate the mucosal immune response [205]. IBD patients have been shown to develop antibodies against a variety of microbial antigens, but there is limited evidence of increased cell-mediated immunity [206–210]. Additionally, it remains

to be eluded whether dysbiosis is a primary or secondary phenomenon in IBD. However, the role of microbiota as an important factor in intestinal inflammation is supported by the observations that robust chemical and adoptive transfer models of colitis do not develop in germ-free (GF) mice, as well as by studies in genetically altered murine models of spontaneous colitis, which only develop intestinal inflammation following introduction to luminal microbiota [211].

Genetic susceptibilities

The existence of familial forms of IBD and increased twin concordance highlight the importance of the genetic component in IBD [212,213]. 5-10% of patients have a first-degree family member with IBD, with the relative risk to siblings of patients estimated to be 30- to 40-fold higher for CD and 10- to 20-fold higher for UC [214,215]. The risk of CD in monozygotic twins is 36% and for UC is 16%, in contrast to 4% for both diseases in dizygotic twins [212,216]. In addition to that, certain ethnic groups, particularly of European ancestry, are at an increased risk of disease susceptibility [216]. The known association of CD with nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2) gene variants is found primarily in patients of European or Jewish ancestry, but not in patients of Japanese or Chinese ancestry [217–222]. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) associated with increased risk of developing IBD were identified in genes involving microbial detection (NOD2, IRF5, NF κ B1, RELA, REL, RIPK2, CARD9, and PTPN22), autophagy (ATG16L1, IRGM) and integration of the adaptive immune system (IL23R, IL10, IL12, IL18RAP/IL1R1, IFNGR/IFNAR1, JAK2, STAT3, and TYK2) [223]. Of the genetic loci identified by genome wide association study (GWAS) techniques, 110 are associated with both forms of IBD, 30 are specific to CD and 23 are specific to UC [223]. These IBD-associated loci are not all exclusively associated with IBD, are enriched for genes that regulate various functions of the immune system, and the presence of multiple risk loci can significantly increase disease susceptibility.



Figure IV: Immune system associated genes whose mutations are linked with increased risk of IBD. These genes regulate various aspects of an immune response from antigen recognition and presentation to the generation of an adaptive immune response. The majority of them are common to both forms of IBD, while some of these variants are specific for Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC).

Intestinal immune system

The GI tract forms the body's largest mucosal interface (approximately 200-400 m² of surface area) with the external environment and is constantly exposed to luminal antigens and insults, which include dietary antigens, bacteria, viruses, and fungi as well as pharmacological agents such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs [224]. The gut, thus, has adopted a unique state of hyporesponsiveness through carefully balanced local responses. A number of physiological and immunological adjustments enable the gut to maintain this homeostasis, a state of physiological inflammation to fight invading pathogens, but at the same time avoiding the generation of an overwhelming immune response leading to intestinal inflammation [153]. Gut homeostasis is critically dependent on the triadic interaction of luminal antigens, the epithelium, and immune cells. At the epicenter of this complex interface is the single layer of polarized IECs acting as a barrier to foreign antigens [225]. In addition to being an anatomical barrier, IECs perform the main function of the gut, the absorption of nutrients and water [203]. They are also capable of performing immune functions [203]. Through their expression of pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs), such as TLRs, NOD-like receptors (NLRs) and RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), IECs can recognize microbial have a complex influence over ligands which physiological and pathophysiological process [203,226,227]. They process and present antigens as well as produce a myriad of signaling molecules, including cytokines, and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), that can directly affect immune cell functions and

microbial colonization [203,226,228]. The association between increased bacterial translocation and risk of developing IBD is suggestive of a central role of dysregulated epithelial barrier function as either the etiology or the pathology of IBD [229–235]. Increasing evidence also indicates that compromised intestinal barrier function contributes to systemic immune activation [235–239]. The main feature of IBD is inflammation of the mucosal surface, and it is now becoming clear that abnormalities within the epithelial layer and irregularities in IEC-immune cell interactions, may play a key role in IBD pathogenesis [235,240,241].

The epithelium

The proximal and distal ends of the GI tract, i.e. the oral cavity, esophagus and the anus, are lined with stratified squamous epithelium [242]. The epithelial lining of the remainder of the gut, the small and large intestines, is composed of nonciliated, columnar epithelium [242]. The epithelial monolayer of the intestine has many crypts and villi (only in the small intestine). The intestinal epithelium is continually renewed by pluripotent stem cells found at the base of crypts and all four major cell types in the epithelial layer differentiate from them [242]. Enterocytes, goblet cells, and the aforementioned EECs are found both in the small and large intestines, migrate upwards from the stem cell niche and several days after terminal differentiation undergo programmed cell death (apoptosis) [242,243]. On the other hand, in the healthy gut Paneth cells are found only in the small intestine and have a longer lifespan than the other three major types of cells [244]. Moreover, they are the only cell type that migrates downwards from the stem cell niche and remains within the crypts after differentiation [243,244]. It is hypothesized that Paneth cells provide continuous antimicrobial protection for the nearby stem niches, as damage to or parasitization of stem cells would have detrimental consequences for the normal digestive epithelium and its functions [244].

As mentioned previously, the primary function of the intestinal epithelium is the absorption of water and nutrients. This accomplished by the breakdown of macromolecules via the combined actions of brush border enzymes produced by IECs, pancreatic enzymes, as well as bile, and finally absorption by enterocytes. Absorptive enterocytes comprise approximately 80% of the epithelial layer and absorption is mediated by the transcellular and paracellular pathways [245]. The transcellular pathway works via selective transporters and channels found on the apical and basolateral surface of IECs and mediates the transport and absorption of nutrients including amino acids, small peptides, fatty acids, vitamins, short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) and sugars [246]. IECs are interconnected by tight and adherens junctional proteins [247]. These proteins maintain the integrity of the epithelium as a selective physical barrier, by regulating the paracellular pathway and controlling the flux of water, ions across the epithelium, as well as cellular polarity [245–247].



Figure V: Intestinal permeability pathways and overview of junctional proteins. Intestinal permeability is controlled by two major pathways: paracellular and transcellular transport. Paracellular permeability is mainly controlled by tight and adherens junctional proteins. Tight junctions are localized to the apical-lateral membrane junction and consist of three integral transmembrane proteins, claudins, occludin, and JAMs which are connected to the actin cytoskeleton (not depicted) via the ZO-1,2 & 3 or PAR adaptor proteins. E-cadherin is the main transmembrane protein at the adherens junctions and associates with the alpha and beta-catenins. JAMs, junctional adhesional molecules; PAR-3, partitioning defective-3; ZO, zonula occludens.

Defects in these intercellular junctions have been associated with increased epithelial permeability observed in patients with IBD and their first-degree relatives [231,232,248]. It has also been reported that compromised intestinal permeability may predict and possibly cause a relapse of IBD [230]. Altered expressions of tight and adherens junctional proteins, such as E-cadherin, junctional adhesion molecule-A (JAM-A), occludin and claudin, have been implicated in the barrier disruption observed in IBD [249–252]. Though proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-13, have been implicated in the degradation of the anatomical barrier, the mechanisms involved are not completely understood [250,253–255].

The ability of the intestinal epithelium to perform an array of diverse functions is predominantly due to the presence of the three specialized IECs of secretory lineage [203]. Along with the aforementioned hormone-secreting EECs, mucinsecreting goblet cells, and AMP secreting Paneth cells are specialized for maintaining most GI functions [203]. They also play an important role in the organization of a physical and biochemical barrier of mucus that limits the contact between luminal antigens and the epithelium, as well as the underlying immune cells. Mucus, or mucin glycoproteins, produced by goblet cells are organized in two layers in the colon [240]. Mucin 2 (MUC2), the most abundant of these mucins, plays an important role in the formation of the dense inner layer that prevents microbial contact with the epithelial surface, while the outer layer provides nutrients for mucosal-associated bacteria [256]. The small intestine only has one layer mucus, which is loosely associated with the epithelium and is permeable to bacteria [256]. In addition to mucin, other goblet cell-derived products, such as trefoil factor 3 (TFF3) and resistin-like molecule (RELM)- β , also contribute to the regulation of the anatomical barrier in the intestine. These factors provide structural integrity to mucus through mucin crosslinking and promote epithelial repair, migration of IECs, resistance to apoptosis as well as MUC2 secretion [257–260]. AMPs are part of the biochemical arsenal that further supplements the intestinal barrier functions. Enterocytes produce some AMPs throughout the small and large intestines [244]. However, Paneth cells of the small intestine specialize in the production of AMPs, including defensins, C-type lectins, cathelicidins, and lysozyme [244]. Notably, it has been shown that C-type lectin, RegIII γ , is essential for the maintenance of the spatial distance (~50 µm) between the small intestinal epithelium and bacteria [261]. AMPs disrupt highly conserved and essential features of microbial biology, such as the surface membrane, allowing for the regulation of both commensal and pathogenic microbes [244]. Moreover, IECs via active transcytosis release dimeric immunoglobulin A (IgA) produced by plasma cells in the LP into the intestinal lumen as secretory IgA (sIgA), where it contributes to the separation of luminal antigens from the mucosa [203]. Collectively, these multifunctional cells provide a dynamic barrier to the environment, which protects the host from infection and continuous exposure to potentially inflammatory stimuli.

Secretory products of IECs, such as defensins, IL-33, thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β and retinoic acid (RA), have immune regulatory properties that are vital in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis [262]. Thus, it should come as no surprise that alteration in IEC biology and functions has been reported in association with IBD, such as

changes in IL-33 and TLSP expression [263–265]. Studies have reported changes in EEC and goblet cell numbers, as well as Paneth cell metaplasia in the colon, where it is normally absent, in IBD patients [17,266–269]. Furthermore, alterations in the production and expression of secretory products, such as 5-HT, chromogranin A, mucin (including MUC2), and AMPs, has been reported in both CD and UC [228,270,271]. These clinical observations are further supported by studies in animal models. It has been shown that deficiency in gut-derived 5-HT leads to reduced severity of experimental colitis, whereas MUC2-deficient mice are more susceptible and often develop of spontaneous colitis [86,272,273]. Disruption of Paneth cell functions due to defects in autophagy machinery has also been linked to the development of spontaneous disease resembling human IBD [274].

DCs and macrophages

Over two-thirds of all immune cells of the human body are found in gutassociated lymphoid tissue (GALT), which is divided into induction and effector sites [275]. Peyer's patches (PP; only in the small intestine), isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs; in both the small and large intestines) along with mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs) are the induction sites of GALT, where antigen-specific immune responses are generated. The effector sites of GALT are the epithelium and the LP, the latter is a network of loose connective tissue and tissue-resident

immune cells [276]. In addition to providing a physical barrier between luminal content and immune cells, the intestinal epithelium includes specialized IECs, mainly microfold cells (M cells), for sampling and presentation of luminal antigens and intact microorganisms to the underlying mucosal immune system [276]. This is critical for the preservation of intestinal homeostasis, as the local immune system must be able to mount an appropriate immune response against invading pathogens while remaining tolerant of innocuous luminal antigens. M cells are found in high numbers in the follicle-associated epithelium overlying PP and ILFs, have increased levels of endocytosis, and are capable of specific receptor-mediated microbial uptake as well as nonspecific antigen uptake from the intestinal lumen [277]. Once antigens are brought in by M cells, they are taken up by APCs, such as DCs. In addition to M cells, small intestinal goblet cells are capable of delivering soluble luminal antigens to subepithelial DCs [278]. Antigens can also be taken up by DC-like mononuclear phagocytes expressing tight junction proteins which sample luminal contents through transepithelial dendrites [279]. Thus, mucosal DCs are uniquely positioned to contribute to the maintenance of mucosal homeostasis or induce inflammation [280].

The exact definition of intestinal DCs is complicated as they are a heterogeneous population of cells with functional diversity [281]. Common DC progenitor (CDP) derived conventional DCs (cDCs) express high levels of CD11c, varying levels of CD8α and CD11b, and reside in secondary lymphoid tissues, such PP

and MLNs [282]. Plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and mDCs, the former also arises from the CDP and specializes in the production of type I interferons, are also present in the gut [283]. Most lamina propria DCs (LPDCs) are CD11b+CD8acells and along with a subset of CD8 α + pDCs they induce regulatory T (Treg) cell differentiation, playing an active and direct role in maintaining tolerance to innocuous antigens [282,284]. LPDCs can be divided into CD103+ and CD103populations. IECs in a contact-dependent manner induce CD103 expression in LPDCs via RA and TGF-B [285]. CD103+ LPDCs favor tolerizing Th cell differentiation [286–288]. They have been shown to migrate into the epithelial cell layer and capture bacterial antigens, and their migration to GALT is CCR7dependent [289–291]. Following antigen experience, mature DCs migrate to T cell-rich areas or zones of the secondary lymphoid tissues [281]. Here they promote differentiation of naïve CD4+ T cells into Foxp3-expressing Treg cells via RA and TGF- β , as well as suppress the differentiation of other Th cells by producing indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) [286–288,292]. Via RA, they also imprint gut-homing properties on T cells during differentiation, so that the mature cells can return to the original site of antigen encounter, the intestinal LP [293,294]. In the secondary lymphoid tissues, interactions between CD4+ T cells and B cells also results in the activation and expansion of B cells to become antibody-secreting plasma cells. CD103- LPDCs are efficient inducers of IgA class switching of B lymphocytes in the PP and LP, and as mentioned earlier sIgA is a critical component of the biochemical barrier separating the epithelium and microbes [203,282]. CD103– LPDCs are mostly mDCs and support the differentiation of Th17 cells, and these Th cells play an important role in protective immunity of the normal gut [295].

Table I: Murine intestinal DC subsets and their locations in the gut. LP, lamina propria; GALT, gut-associated lymphoid tissue; hi, high; int, intermediate; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; M-CSF, macrophage colony-stimulating factor.

| Surface markers | Location |
|---|----------|
| CD103+ CD11b+ CD11c ^{hi} MHC class II ^{hi} CX3CR1–M-CSF ^{low} | LP |
| CD103– CD11b+ CD11c ^{hi} MHC class II ^{hi} CX3CR1 ^{int} M-CSF ^{hi} | LP |
| CD103+ CD11b- CD11c ^{hi} MHC class II ^{hi} CX3CR1- | GALT |

Macrophages, a very plastic cell type, have the ability to change phenotype and function according to the immediate environment [296]. Hence, phenotypic distribution of these cells vary along the human GI tract as well as where they are within the layers of the gut [297,298]. Mouse LP macrophages are the progeny of circulating monocytes and are continually replenished [299]. In a CCR2 and macrophage colony-stimulatory factor (M-CSF)-dependent manner monocytes differentiate into gut macrophages, and lose their Ly6C expression while up-regulating other surface markers are, such as CD64, CD11c, F4/80, major

histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II and CX3CR1 [300-305]. This is when they also acquire a tolerogenic gene expression profile, which includes the expression of IL-10 [306]. They also a acquire TNF- α expression, which contributes to their both pro-and -anti-inflammatory activity [301]. IEC secretion of TSLP, TGF- β and semaphorin 7A, has been shown to play an important role in the development of tolerogenic LP macrophages [203,307]. They have an extended half-life and appear to be in a state of anergy with their phagocytic and bactericidal activities intact [301,303,306,308]. These cells represent over 65% of the HLA-DR+ cells in the healthy human colon [309]. In the normal gut, nonmigratory CX3CR1^{hi} LP macrophages have been suggested to sample luminal antigens and deliver them to CD103+ LPDCs, which then traffic to MLN to prime adaptive immune cells [282,291,300–303]. Once these adaptive immune cells home back to the gut CX3CR1^{hi} LP macrophages have been postulated to regulate the balance of LP lymphocytes, via the production of IL-10 contributing to the expansion of Treg cells, regulation of Treg cell functions and subsequently Th1/Th17 immunity [301,303,306,310].

In addition to their contribution to mucosal immune homeostasis, a special subset of CX3CR1^{hi} macrophages has been identified, which are implicated in peristalsis [311]. Localized within the muscularis externa from the stomach to the distal colon, muscularis macrophages (MMs) accumulate in layers, and like LP macrophages, are tissue-protective, vigorous phagocytes, and have potent antigen presentation capacity [311]. At steady state in response to microbial stimulation, MMs directly regulate enteric neurons and in turn GI motility [311]. They have also been implicated in the development of the ENS, though the mechanisms are yet to be determined [281].

Table II: Murine intestinal macrophages subsets and their locations in the gut. LP, lamina propria; hi, high; MHC, major histocompatibility complex.

| Surface markers | Location |
|---|--------------|
| CD64+ CX3CR1 ^{hi} CD11c+ F4/80+ | LP |
| CD11b+ MHC class II+ | |
| CD64+ CX3CR1 ^{hi} CD11c- F4/80+ | LP |
| CD11b+ MHC class II+ | |
| CD64+CX3CR1+CD169+CD11c ^{low} | LP (close to |
| F4/80 ^{low} CD11b+ MHC class II+ | crypt) |
| $CD64+CX3CR1^{hi}CD11c^{low}F4/80+$ | Muscularis |
| CD11b+ MHC class II ^{hi} | layer |

The ability of IECs to promote tolerogenic differentiation of DCs and macrophages is lost in IBD and is marked by the accumulation of macrophages that have increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules, activating receptors, and TLRs, as well as higher frequency of mature LPDCs with enhanced expression of PRRs [203,263,312–320]. The barrier dysfunction in IBD leads to increased translocation of microorganisms, and CD is marked by macrophages that have defective cytokine secretion and impaired bacterial clearance capacity [240,321]. In acute intestinal inflammation, Ly6C+ monocytes fail to acquire the

quiescent characteristic of gut macrophages and outnumber resident macrophage population [301]. These pro-inflammatory cells secrete IL-12, IL-23, TNF- α , and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [301]. A subset of CD14+ inflammatory macrophage population has also been identified in the mucosa of patients with CD [322]. These cells produce large amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-23, TNF- α and IL-6, and potentially contributes to IFN- γ production by LP mononuclear cells [322]. Macrophages from CD patients also produce less IL-10, and in UC patients, constitutively produce high levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-12 [323]. This may be partially due to impaired regulation of TLRinduced inflammatory responses in macrophages. Normal LP macrophages do not express triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells (TREM)-1, which amplifies TLR-induced inflammatory response of macrophages, but accumulation TREM-1-expressing LP macrophages have been reported in patients with IBD [324–326]. It has been shown that mice lacking phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) p1108 subunit function, a negative regulator of TLR responses in macrophages, develop spontaneous colitis, have impaired bactericidal activity and lack of $p110\delta$ function has been associated with reduced IL-10 secretion [327,328]. Furthermore, it has been shown that IL-10 and microbiota co-regulate the expression of nuclear factor-interleukin-3-regulated (NFIL3) by macrophages, which down-regulates IL-12/IL-23p40 production during host and enteric commensal interactions [329]. NFIL3 expression was found to be significantly reduced in IBD patients and NFIL3-KO mice have been shown to develop spontaneous colitis [330]. IL-10 signaling is central to the suppression of macrophage-associated inflammation. It has been shown that IL-10 receptor (IL-10R), but not IL-10, deficiency in intestinal CX3CR1+ macrophages leads to increased severity of experimental colitis [306]. This is further supported by the observation of early-onset pediatric enterocolitis in children with nonsense and missense mutations in IL-10R, which reduces IL-10R expression [331]. CX3CR1-KO mice also exhibit increased severity of experimental colitis, with decreased numbers of LP macrophages and increased translocation of commensal bacteria to the MLNs [332]. Inflammation associated changes observed in intestinal macrophages has been suggested to facilitate the loss of tolerance to commensals by activating DCs [333]. Professional APCs, such as DCs, perform three essential functions required for T cell activation, which includes 1) antigen presentation, 2) co-simulation and 3) providing the cytokine milieu. The interplay between secreted cytokines determines the balance between the different types of Th cell differentiation. Accumulation of over-active DCs that has been observed at sites of inflammation in CD, as well as in experimental models of colitis [313,334]. Mucosal DCs from patients with CD and UC have increased expression of TLR2 and TLR4 in comparison with DCs from healthy controls (HCs) [313]. DCs in patients with CD also express higher levels of CD40, produce more IL-12 and IL-6 than normal mucosal DCs [313]. This could promote the differentiation of

Th1/Th17 cells while abolishing the differentiation of Treg cells. It has been shown in a model of T cell mediated colitis that, disruption of DC-T cell interactions via the blockade of CD40/CD40L engagement can prevent intestinal inflammation [334]. DCs in CD also express the chemokine receptor CCR7 and E-cadherin, which leads to their trafficking and retention in the inflamed mucosa, which may contribute to the pathogenesis of CD [320].

T lymphocytes

Depending on their location in the GALT effector sites, lymphocytes of the normal gut are subdivided into intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) and LP lymphocytes (LPLs). The latter represents a tightly regulated effector compartment, consisting of IgA-secreting plasma cells and memory T cells [335]. The acquisition and functional regulation of these cells, in the normal gut, by IEC-influenced DCs and macrophages has been briefly described above. In the LP, an overwhelming majority of the T cells are CD4+ T cell receptor (TCR) $\alpha\beta$ + T cells, though CD8 $\alpha\beta$ + TCR $\alpha\beta$ + T cells and TCR $\gamma\delta$ + T cells are also present [335]. CD4+ TCR $\alpha\beta$ + T cells help in the functions of plasma and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ + memory T cells. At steady state, IL-17 producing Th17 cells and Treg cells are the two most abundant effector T cell types in the LP [336]. Th17 cells promote inflammatory protective immune response and Treg cells suppress excessive or unwanted immune activation. Treg cells are particularly enriched throughout the GI tract,

representing up to 50% of CD4+ T cells found in the colon [336,337]. This is presumably due to the sheer volume of antigens encountered and the need for immune tolerance in the intestine. As mentioned earlier, the gut microbiota, IECs, and innate immune cells are all critical factors that determining the local cytokine environment in the intestine, which plays a key role in determining the balance between T cell subsets, and this, in turn, determines the type of immune response generated.

Nearly all IELs are antigen-experienced T cells that are found interspersed between the epithelial cells lining the intestinal lumen. They play an important role in protective immunity by maintaining gut barrier integrity as well as by preventing pathogen entry and spreading [338]. These specialized immune cells are in an "activated-resting" state and regain their fully-functional status following the presentation of non-classical MHC-I-like ligands by stressed or damaged IECs [339–342]. Further contributing to their role as monitors of barrier functions, IELs produce and can induce the production of AMPs by IECs [343,344]. IELs are categorized based on their expression of $\alpha\beta$ or $\gamma\delta$ TCRs, with the TCR $\gamma\delta$ + IELs making up a significant portion of the population [338]. They can be further subdivided into natural and induced IELs [345]. Present at birth, natural IELs are either TCR $\alpha\beta$ + or TCR $\gamma\delta$ + and develop as well as acquire their activated phenotype in response to self-antigens in the thymus. In contrast, induced IELs are not present at birth and are the progeny of thymus-derived TCR $\alpha\beta$ + CD4+ or CD8 $\alpha\beta$ + T cells which are activated in the periphery in response to non-self antigens. Most of the natural IELs do not express CD4 or CD8 $\alpha\beta$ co-receptors but co-express the CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ homodimer, which is also expressed by induced IELs [338]. These special effector T cells additionally express both activating and inhibitory types of NK cell receptors, with the majority containing abundant cytoplasmic granules for cytotoxic activity [346–351]. The distribution of various IEL subsets varies in the epithelium of the small and large intestines. There are fewer IELs in the colon compared to the small intestine and the majority of them are CD4+ IELs, a population that is underrepresented amongst small intestinal IELs [338]. The unique physiological conditions encountered and function performed by in the small and large intestines may account for this variance in IEL distribution. Moreover, the microbiota, directly and indirectly, has been shown to play an important role in the maintenance of the IEL compartments [203,343,352,353].

Table III: Major murine intestinal T cell subsets. LPLs, lamina propria lymphocytes; IEL, intraepithelial lymphocytes; TCR, T cell receptor; NK, natural killer. The plus symbols in parenthesis represents frequency from low (+) to high (++++).

| T cell category | Location | TCR phenotype (frequency) | NK receptors frequency |
|--------------------|-----------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------|
| LPLs | Small | $TCR\alpha\beta$ (+++) | Not expressed |
| | intestine | • CD8αβ+ (++) | |
| | | CD8αβ+CD8αα+ (+) | |
| | | • CD4+ (+++) | |
| | | • CD4+CD8αα+ (+) | |

| | Large | $TCR\alpha\beta+(+++)$ | Not expressed |
|---------|-----------|---|---------------|
| | intestine | • CD8 $\alpha\beta$ + (++) | |
| | | • CD8 $\alpha\beta$ +CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ + (+) | |
| | | • CD4+ (+++) | |
| | | • CD4+CD8αα+ (+) | |
| | | | |
| Natural | Small | 1. TCRγδ+ (+++) | +++++ |
| IELs | intestine | • CD4–CD8– (++) | |
| | | • CD8αα+ (+++) | |
| | | 2. TCR $\alpha\beta$ + (+++) | |
| | | • CD4–CD8– (+) | |
| | | • CD8αα+ (+++) | |
| | Large | 1. TCRγδ+ (+) | +++ |
| | intestine | • CD4–CD8– (++) | |
| | | • CD8αα+ (+) | |
| | | 2. TCR $\alpha\beta$ + (++) | |
| | | • CD4–CD8– (++) | |
| | | • CD8αα+ (+) | |
| | | | |
| Induced | Small | $TCR\alpha\beta+(+++)$ | ++++ |
| IELs | intestine | • CD8αβ+ (+) | |
| | | • CD8αβ+CD8αα+ (+++) | |
| | | • CD4+ (+) | |
| | | • CD4+CD8αα+ (++) | |
| | Large | $TCR\alpha\beta+(++)$ | ++ |
| | intestine | • CD8αβ+ (+) | |
| | | • $CD8\alpha\beta+CD8\alpha\alpha+(+)$ | |
| | | • CD4+ (++) | |
| | | • CD4+CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ + (+) | |
| | | | |

Natural killer T (NKT) cells are a minor subset of T lymphocytes (~1%) found in the gut that express NK cell surface markers (CD 161 in humans and NK1.1 in some strains of mice), and recognize lipid antigens presented by the non-classical MHC class I molecule CD1d a-e [354]. These thymus-derived, innate-like T cells

are an extremely heterogeneous population and their post-thymic education is critically dependent on the gut microbiota [355]. Based on the diversity of their $\alpha\beta$ TCR, NKT cells are divided into two subsets, type I and II. Type I NKT cells have a very limited TCR repertoire, whereas the TCR repertoire of type II NKT cells is much more diverse, and more like conventional T cells than type I NKT cells [354]. Unlike conventional naive T cells, NKT cells contain constitutive cytokine transcripts, thus can rapidly produce and release cytokines [356]. In humans, CD1d is expressed by APCs, such as DCs, macrophages and B cells, as well as IECs, which can directly activate NKT cells [357–360]. It has been shown that very low expression of native CD1d on IECs is sufficient to activate NKT cells, and CD1d expression on Paneth cells has implicated NKT cells in the regulation of Paneth cell functions in maintaining intestinal homeostasis [360,361]. NKT cells can also be activated in a CD1d independent manner, which is achieved by the combined actions of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-12 and IL-18 [359]. NKT cells are capable of altering their cytokine secretion profile in a contextdependent manner and can produce vast quantities of both pro-and antiinflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- γ , IL-6, IL-17, TNF- α , IL-13, IL-10, IL-5, and IL-4 [354]. Furthermore, NKT cells also have potent cytolytic capacity marked by the production of perforin, granzymes, and granulysin, as well as by the surface expression of molecules, such as CD95L [362,363].

In IBD, alterations in IEC functions and innate immune responses lead to the induction of an inappropriate adaptive immune response. It has been shown that IECs in IBD lose their ability to induce CD8+ T suppressor cells [364]. Moreover, in UC patient impaired expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ by IECs has been linked with loss of immunoregulation contributing to inflammation [365]. The intrinsic plasticity and adaptability of Th cells to stimuli from the surrounding environment are extremely relevant to the complex process of IBD pathogenesis. Until very recently, CD was described as an inflammatory condition driven by Th1 cells, as elevated production of IL-2, IL-12, and IFN- γ were observed [333]. On the other hand, UC was designated as an atypical Th2 condition, as the production of IL-5, IL-13, but not IL-4, and IL-17 were increased [366,367]. The discovery of various other T cell subsets, particularly Treg and Th17 cells, have challenged this dichotomous archetype of Th1 or Th2. The revised paradigm suggests active IBD is an imbalance of Th and Treg cell numbers and functions [333]. CD has now been redefined as Th1/Th17 condition, as increased levels of IL-17 is detected in the mucosa and serum of most patients with IBD, but is consistently higher in patients with CD than UC [368,369]. As mentioned earlier, a large number of inflammatory DCs and macrophages accumulate in the intestinal tissue of IBD patients. In response to bacterial stimuli, these cells produce vast amounts of IL-23, a potent inducer of Th17 cells [370-373]. It also plays an important role in the expansion and activation of Th17 cells, and a SNP in the IL-23R gene has been associated with decreased susceptibility to IBD [374]. In addition to that, Th17 cells and a population of IL-17A+ IFN- γ + T cells were found to be present in large numbers in the inflamed intestine of IBD patients [375,376]. Th17 cells produce multiple cytokines, including IL-21 and IL-22. IL-21, which promotes Th1 signaling and IFN- γ production, was found to be up-regulated in the intestine of CD patients compared to patients with UC and HCs [377,378]. IL-22 expression was also increased in active Crohn's lesions but not in inflammation in UC [379]. In the experimental model of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis, both of these cytokines are up-regulated and it has been shown that IL-21 KO mice are protected from colitis induced by DSS as well as trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (TNBS) [378,379]. However, it has been observed that anti-IL-17A antibody, secukinumab, exacerbates inflammation during active CD [380]. This is possibly due to the protective role Th17 cells have as effectors of immunity against invading pathogens [381]. Furthermore, Th17derived cytokine IL-22 plays an important role in IEC proliferation and migration in DSS-induced colitis, which may contribute to intestinal wound healing [379]. In the normal gut, Th17 cells are restrained by Treg cells, these cells also regulate innate inflammatory mechanisms. Treg cell numbers are found to be elevated in the LP of IBD patients, in fact, inappropriate accumulation of antigen-activated T cells due to impaired apoptosis is a prominent feature of IBD, particularly CD [382–386]. With respect to Treg cells in IBD, it appears their suppressor function

is insufficient as it has been shown that T cells from IBD patients are resistant to TGF- β , which along with IL-10, enforce the regulatory influences of Treg cells [386,387]. IELs, on the other hand, are more prominently associated with intestinal inflammation in celiac disease than IBD [388]. However, several reports indicate that disease severity in patients with IBD correlates well with the number of TCR $\gamma\delta$ + IELs in the intestinal mucosa [389–391]. Moreover, a subset of CD4+ T cells expressing NKG2-D type II integral membrane protein, which recognizes cellular stress markers, have been shown to produce IL-17, TNF- α and IL-22 in CD patients [392]. However, it has also been shown that CD4+ CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ + TCR $\alpha\beta$ +T cells may also help control intestinal inflammation [393]. In the mucosa of UC patients, type II NKT cells have been shown to accumulate [394,395]. These cells are responsible for increased IL-13 secretion observed in UC, which is dependent on recognition of sulfatide glycolipid [250,394,395]. Thus, it has been suggested that UC may be an autoimmune condition in which a self-glycolipid activated LP NKT cells mediate epithelial cell damage [250,394].

IL-13 and gut inflammation

IL-13 is a pleiotropic cytokine which is predominantly secreted by activated Th2 cells [396]. Additional sources of IL-13 include macrophages, eosinophils, basophils, NK cells, TCR $\gamma\delta$ + IELs, NKT cells, mast cells, neutrophils, DCs, and type 2 innate lymphoid cells [396–399]. IL-13 and IL-4 are considered to be the
major cytokines of a Th2 immune response and were among the first cytokines described in the early 1980s [400]. IL-13 and IL-4 has approximately 25% sequence similarity, they share receptor subunits and signaling molecules, thus, elicit some overlapping but also unique biological responses [400]. There are two cognate receptors of IL-13, IL-13 receptor (IL-13R) α 1 and α 2, which belong to the type I cytokine receptor family. IL-13R α 1 and α 2 share 37% homology, and specifically bind to IL-13 with moderate and high affinity, respectively [400]. However, IL-13 predominantly signals through IL-13Ra1. Binding of this receptor to its cognate ligand leads to the recruitment of the IL-4R α subunit (referred to as type I IL-13R or type II IL-4R), enhancing its affinity for IL-13 and transducing intracellular signals through phosphorylation of signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 6 via JAK [400,401]. Though type I IL-13R pathway mainly signals through STAT6, activation of other second messenger molecules, including PI3K, STAT3 and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) have been reported in different cell types [402–404]. Since both IL-13 and IL-4 can signal via this receptor complex, it has been postulated that these cytokines may compete for the availability of the ligand binding subunits, and their relative concentration in the extracellular milieu may be an important determinant in this process [400]. It has also been shown that IL-13, in a STAT6-dependent manner, can signal independently of IL-4R α [405]. IL-13R α 2, also known as type II IL-13R, had previously been described as a negative regulator IL-13 due to the lack of cytoplasmic tail signaling motifs [401]. However, it has now been shown that IL-13R α 2 can also attenuate IL-4 signaling [401]. IL-13 producing cells can be found in the healthy human LP and the expression of both IL-13 receptors has been identified in a variety of cells of the GI tract, such as IECs, neurons and smooth muscle cells [250,406]. IL-13R α 1 is constitutively expressed in the gut epithelium, while IL-13R α 2 is solely and highly expressed on smooth muscle cells [406,407]. It has also been reported that IL-13R α 1 is uniformly expressed in both the small and large intestines, whereas IL-13R α 2 and IL-13 expressions were significantly higher in the colon in comparison to the small intestine [406]. Thus, IL-13 has been implicated in the regulation of many physiological functions of the gut, such as epithelial cell turnover, maintenance of barrier functions, and motility, as well as in gut mucosal immunity and inflammation, including IBD [396,406–408].

As previously mentioned, there is an increase in the number of IL-13-producing LP NKT cells in active UC, and it has now been identified as an important cytokine effective in fistulizing CD [250,395,409]. The type II NKT cells that are responsible increased IL-13 production in UC are not found in the healthy gut and express IL-13R α 2, which is further up-regulated following lyso-sulfatide glycolipid stimulation [394]. In patients with active UC, mucosal IL-13 mRNA expression is elevated and their macrophages have been shown to produce significantly higher amounts of IL-13 in comparison with HC [321,410,411]. In

pediatric UC patients increased epithelial activation of STAT6 have also been reported [412]. The same group has recently reported that IL-13 and IL-13R α 2, as well as IL-5 and IL-17A expressions, were significantly elevated in treatmentnaïve pediatric UC patients in comparison with pediatric Crohn's colitis patients [413]. IL-13 has been shown to induce epithelial cell apoptosis in vivo and in vitro, via the activation of the caspase-3, which also involves TNF- α and TNF-like weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK) [410,414]. These proteins were also found to be up-regulated in patients with active UC [410]. IL-13, in both PI3K- and STAT6-dependent manner, detrimentally affects intestinal permeability by inducing claudin-2 expression, and increased expression of claudin-2 has been reported in patients with active IBD [250,251,415]. However, up-regulated expression of this pore-forming tight junction protein is more prominent in patients with active UC compared to patients with active CD [251]. In CD patients, adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) and T cells (ATT) obtained from near active lesions have been shown secrete significantly higher amounts of IL-13 in comparison with ATMs and ATTs from inactive lesions, as well as HCs [416]. Moreover, it has been shown that IL-13 reduces the expression of p53 (a protein that modulates cell cycle, repairs damaged DNA, and initiates apoptosis if damage cannot be repaired) in activated CD4+ T cells and interferes with T cell apoptosis, which as mentioned earlier may be relevant in CD immunopathogenesis [153,417]. These findings suggest, a pathogenic involvement of IL-13 in IBD.

This is supported by the targeted inhibition of IL-13, by IFN- β -1a, yielding promising results in a small group of UC patients responsive to the treatment [418].

In animal models of intestinal inflammation pathogenic role of IL-13 has also been identified. In the oxazolone-induced model of colitis (a model of human UC), IL-13 is up-regulated and type I NKT cells are the source of this increased production [419]. Additionally, it has been shown that neutralizing IL-13 using an IL-13R α 2-Fc fusion protein prevented oxazolone-induced colitis, and IL-4R α -KO, as well as STAT6-KO mice, are immune to oxazolone-induced colitis [419– 421]. In the DSS-induced model of colitis, LP CD4+ T cells have shown to increase their production of IL-13 under the influence of IEC-secreted cytokine IL-33 [422]. Moreover, GATA-3 (the Th2 lineage commitment transcription factor) over-expressing transgenic (Tg) mice were found to exhibit increased severity as well as earlier onset of DSS-induced colitis in comparison with T-bet (the Th1 lineage commitment transcription factor) and RORyt (the Th17 lineage commitment transcription factor) Tg mice [423]. This study demonstrated that upregulation of IL-13 production by GATA-3 Tg CD4+ T cells, and not IL-4 or IL-5, was responsible for the accelerated onset and increased severity of DSS-induced colitis, which was associated with increased infiltration of F4/80+ macrophages and neutrophils in the colon [423]. Also in the DSS-induced model of colitis, Th1 and Th17 cells were found to produce IL-13 in the absence of canonical Th2

polarizing stimuli [424]. A pathogenic role of IL-13 has also been identified in TNF superfamily member 15 (TNFSF15)-driven small intestinal inflammation, a cytokine that is up-regulated in the active IBD mucosa, moreover, its expression levels correlate with disease severity [425–427]. The study by Meylan et al. used Tg mice (constitutively express TNSF15 in T cells and DCs at levels similar to that when stimulated with pro-inflammatory stimuli) that developed spontaneous small intestinal inflammation and found treatment with anti-IL-13 antibody led to significant amelioration of intestinal inflammation [425]. Notably, authors of this study indicated that the pattern of inflammation observed closely resembled enteric nematode infection and inflammation. In fact, much of our knowledge of this Th2 cytokine in the gut is derived from studies of enteric nematode infection. IL-13 is mostly recognized for its role in the inflammatory reaction to helminthic infections, which is critically dependent on the activation of STAT6 [428,429]. IL-13 by virtue of its pleiotropic nature regulates various mechanisms, including increased mucus production by goblet cells, local release of eotaxin to attract eosinophils, and IgE production to combat enteric infections [407]. It has also been postulated to affect worm expulsion via its regulation of gut motility and epithelial secretion [406–408]. However, depending on the type of nematode utilized to study enteric infection and inflammation, IL-13 may or may not be essential for worm expulsion. In the Trichinella spiralis-infection induced model of intestinal inflammation, increased production of IL-13 by intraepithelial NK

cells is observed, but IL-13 deficiency does not impair IL-4 induced worm expulsion [430,431]. Whereas in the Trichuris muris model of infectious colitis, insufficient production of IL-13 inhibits worm expulsion despite significant upregulation in IL-4 levels [430]. We have shown that CD4+ T cells are responsible for this up-regulation in IL-13 levels in T. muris-infection induced intestinal inflammation, and adoptive transfer of T cells from infected wild-type (WT) mice can transfer resistance to infection in severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice [146]. The critical role of IL-13R α 1 in inflammatory reaction to helminthic infections and worm expulsion has recently been established. Sun et al. demonstrated that IL-13Ra1 is the essential subunit of type I IL-13R/type II IL-4R which regulates Th2 immune response in the Heligmosomoides bakeriinfection model, where worm expulsion is critically dependent on IL-4 and not IL-13 [430,432]. The study found that, in comparison with WT mice, IL-13R α 1-KO mice were unable to generate an effective memory Th2 response and STAT6dependent IL-13-induced muscle hypercontractility required for parasite expulsion, which is at least in part dependent on the increased expression of 5-HTR2A on smooth muscle cells [432,433]. The study also identified the significance of IL-13R α 1 in the regulation of IL-13R α 2 expression, as well as in infection-induced alternatively-activated macrophage (M2) polarization and changes in intestinal permeability [432]. Previous work from our laboratory had established the presence of IL-13R α 1 on murine colonic EC cells [146]. Moreover, by using *T. muris*-infection resistant BALB/C mice and susceptible AKR are mice, which generate Th2 and Th1 immune response, respectively, we have shown that a Th2 immune profile was more capable of generating EC cell hyperplasia and increasing mucosal 5-HT content [147]. These findings strongly suggest that IL-13 from CD4+ T cells may play an important role in regulating 5-HT signaling in the context of intestinal inflammation.

5-HT in gut inflammation

As mentioned earlier, 5-HT is a pleiotropic enteric signaling molecule with immunomodulatory properties. Mucosal inflammation in conditions ranging from infective acute enteritis or colitis to IBD is accompanied by alterations in normal 5-HT signaling [128,133–138,434,435]. This is postulated to stem from the proximity between and the reciprocal regulation of EC cells and immune cells in the gut mucosa [436]. However, at least in the clinical setting, it remains to be determined if the immune response generated during gut inflammation is causing or is caused by these changes. Adding to the degree of complexity of the interactions between the enteroendocrine and the immune systems are the observations that, the gut microbiota can directly influence and be influenced by both of these systems [16]. Moreover, dysbiosis has been associated with various forms of intestinal inflammation, such as in *Clostridium difficile*-infection and IBD [437]. With respect to IBD, there is now enough evidence to support the

notion that IBD is a multifactorial disease, but the prevailing opinion remains that the immune system is 'self-sufficient' in mitigating pathological processes involved. There is no better example of that than the current therapeutic approaches in the management of IBD, despite the failure of biologic therapies in about a third of the patients [438].

In response to inflammatory stimuli, such as IL-1 β and LPS, colonic EC cells from patients with CD have been shown to release more 5-HT than the HCs [133]. The activation of IL-1 β type I receptor and TLR4 on EC cells induced 5-HT secretion in an NFkB and MAPK-dependent manner. Up-regulation of colonic TPH1 mRNA expression has been detected in CD patients in remission experiencing IBS-like symptoms [134]. Furthermore, 5-HT expressing EC cell hyperplasia has been reported in both ileal and colonic CD, as well as in UC [135,136]. However, Coates et al. observed no such differences in EC cell numbers in rectal biopsy specimens of patients with UC [128]. Moreover, the authors in agreement with Ahonen et al. reported a reduction in the number of EC cells, but this finding was limited to patients with severe UC only [128,137]. The authors also observed a down-regulation of TPH1 mRNA levels, 5-HTT expression, and mucosal 5-HT content but not in mucosal 5-HT secretion [128]. Tada et al. also observed decreased expression of 5-HTT in the inflamed mucosa as compared to the healing mucosa of UC patients, and no significant difference in TPH1 expression [138]. This study additionally showed that in the inflamed mucosa 5-HTT expression was inversely correlated with IL-8 expression. Furthermore, even in the healing mucosa, residual inflammation marked by upregulated inflammatory mediator expressions, such as IL-1β, IL-8, and CXCL5, coincided with down-regulated 5-HTT expression [138]. Inflammation associated alterations at the upstream end of the mucosal 5-HT signaling, such as changes in EC cell numbers and TPH1 expression, are not always observed in clinical studies with IBD patients, more specifically UC; however, the general consensus is mucosal 5-HTT expression is decreased. Suppression of 5-HTT function due to reduced expression and/or activity is also observed in other forms of intestinal inflammation including diverticulitis, and giardiasis, the latter is also associated with decreased duodenal EC cell numbers [434,435]. It has been shown that conditioned medium from activated lymphocytes, primarily via pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN- γ and TNF- α , down-regulates 5-HTT mRNA and protein levels, and 5-HT uptake in the Caco-2 human epithelial cell line [439]. In the JAR human epithelial cell line, IL-6 in a STAT3-dependent manner has been shown to regulate the expression and function of 5-HTT [440]. The anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 has been shown to induce a dual effect on 5-HTT [441]. Low levels of IL-10 were shown down-regulate the function of epithelial 5-HTT in the Caco-2 cell line, whereas, at higher concentrations, IL-10 up-regulated epithelial 5-HTT expression and activity, via IL-10R-PI3K signaling pathway [441]. Another antiinflammatory cytokine, TGF- β 1, rapidly enhances 5-HTT function by increasing its exocytosis via TGF-β1 receptor-mediated activation of PI3K pathways in intestinal epithelial cells [442]. An association between the inhibition of 5-HTT function and the development of microscopic colitis (belonging to IBD, an umbrella term for a group of colitides, such as collagenous colitis and lymphocytic colitis) has been described. Patients without a previous diagnosis of IBD, reported developing chronic diarrhea, followed by IBD after treatment with paroxetine (SSRI) for depression [443,444]. Recently, 5-HTTLPR was identified as a potential candidate gene involved in the pathogenesis of microscopic colitis [445]. The study by Sikander et al. also found increased serum 5-HT levels in patients with microscopic colitis, as well as UC. An up-regulation of 5-HT concentration has also been reported in collagenous colitis [446]. Moreover, 5-HT has been postulated to be a key mediator involved in the inflammatory processes of the pouch, in patients who have undergone restorative proctocolectomy with ileal pouch-anal anastomosis (IPAA) surgery [447].

Accumulating evidence indicates that mucosal 5-HT signaling is enhanced in various experimental models of intestinal inflammation. As mentioned earlier, we have shown that the Th2 immune response generated during *T. muris*-infection induced intestinal inflammation is associated with EC hyperplasia and up-regulation of colonic 5-HT content [147]. Up-regulation of mucosal 5-HT signaling via increased EC cell numbers and 5-HT content, as well as decreased 5-HTT expression have been reported in other models of enteric infection, such as

the *T. spiralis*, as well as in chemically induced models of colitis, including DSS, TNBS, dinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (DNBS) [132,138–145]. Moreover, TNBS-induced ileitis has been shown up-regulate EC cell numbers and 5-HT release in non-inflamed regions of the distal colon [448]. In contrast to the aforementioned models, up-regulation mucosal 5-HT signaling in *Citrobacter rodentium* infection is not caused by an increase in EC cell numbers, instead, it is due increased 5-HT release and reduced uptake, the latter resulting from lower 5-HTT expression [449]. Using the DNBS model of experimental colitis, it was demonstrated that a reduction in EC cell numbers was associated with amelioration of colonic inflammation in monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1-KO mice [144].



Figure VI: Immunological regulation of mucosal 5-HT signaling. Evidence from clinical and animal studies show that different cytokines influence mucosal 5-HT signaling differently. Pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ

down-regulate 5-HTT expression and/or function, and IL-1 β up-regulates 5-HT content. Whereas, anti-inflammatory cytokine TGF- β 1 and IL-10 up-regulate 5-HTT expression and/or function. Though IL-10 at low concentration can suppress 5-HTT function. Th2 cytokines have been shown to augment EC cell numbers and 5-HT content. Th, T helper; TNF, Tumor necrosis factor; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; TGF, transforming growth factor; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HTT, 5-HT transporter; 5-HTR, 5-HT receptor; EC, Enterochromaffin. (adopted from Shajib et al. [16])

These animal models of intestinal inflammation also provide clear indication that mucosal 5-HT is a key regulator of intestinal inflammation. Using TPH1-KO mice we have shown that, significantly reduced mucosal 5-HT levels are associated with lower susceptibility to DSS- and DNBS-induced colitis, and is marked by reduced the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α [86]. This study also demonstrated that depletion of 5-HT using PCPA in WT mice and replenishment of 5-HT using 5-HTP in TPH1-KO mice can reduce or exaggerate the severity of DSS-induced colitis, respectively. Though Bischoff et al. took a different approach from us they arrived at the same conclusion. Their findings showed that 5-HTT-KO mice, which have augmented mucosal and neuronal 5-HT, were more susceptible TNBS-induced colitis in comparison with WT mice [450]. Furthermore, in the IL-10-KO model of spontaneous colitis, the severity of inflammation is exacerbated when the IL-10 deficiency is combined with a 5-HTT deficiency [451]. A study by Margolis et al. has shown that reduction of mucosal 5-HT by TPH inhibitors (LP-920540 and telotristat etiprate), which do not affect neuronal 5-HT, reduces the severity of TNBS colitis [452]. We have made similar observations by blocking peripheral 5-HT using telotristat etiprate in acute and chronic DSS-induced colitis, as well as in the *T.muris* model of infectious colitis [453].

The influence of mucosal 5-HT on the onset, perpetuation, and severity of intestinal inflammation is probably mediated by its diverse effects on various immune cells. We have found that 5-HT regulates F4/80+ macrophage infiltration in DSS-induced colitis [86]. The onset of intestinal inflammation is marked by the adhesion of monocytes to colonic epithelial cells, 5-HT facilitates this process via NADPH oxidase (NOX) 2 derived reactive oxygen species (ROS)-mediated increase in the production of IL-6, IL-8 and MCP-1 [454]. 5-HT has been shown to induce slow rolling of leukocytes on endothelium and as previously stated, this allows mucosal 5-HT to recruit neutrophils by influencing endothelial cells Weibel–Palade bodies in animal models of lung inflammation, acute peritonitis, aseptic skin wounds and endotoxic shock [84,455]. Increased mucosal 5-HT production may also recruit these inflammatory cells to the intestine, however, this is yet to be investigated in the context of intestinal inflammation. We have shown that 5-HT via 5-HTR7 on DCs evokes a pro-inflammatory response by T cells, marked by increased IFN- γ and IL-17 production by these adaptive immune cells [103]. We have implicated this process in leading to the full blown inflammation of the bowel. By inhibiting 5-HTR7 function, by genetic knockdown or by using 5-HTR7 antagonist (SB-269970), we were able to

significantly curb the intensity of immune response generated and reduce the severity of intestinal inflammation in acute DSS- and DNBS-induced colitis, as well as in chronic DSS-induced colitis [456]. Notably, accumulation of 5-HTR7+ mature DCs has been reported in inflamed areas of the colon in CD patients [457]. Antagonists of 5-HTR3, such as tropisetron, granisetron, ondansetron, and ramosetron, however, are by far the most investigated group of pharmacological inhibitors of 5-HT signaling in the gut; and the precise mechanisms of their antiinflammatory effects remains to be fully understood. Tropisetron and granisetron have been shown to reduce the severity of acetic acid-induced colitis by downregulating the production of inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α [458,459]. Tropisetron has been shown to inhibit neutrophil recruitment, IL-2 transcription, and T cell activation [460]. Ondansetron has also been shown to partially inhibit T cell activation and curb the severity of TNBS-induced colitis [461]. Ramosetron and ondansetron, the former a more potent and selective 5-HTR3 antagonist, have been shown to reduce the number of NSAID-associated intestinal lesions in a dose-dependent manner [462]. These two via the suppression of TNF- α and subsequent caspase-3/8 activation have been shown to reduce the severity of intestinal mucositis caused by chemotherapeutic agents [463].

In addition to shaping the immune response generated in intestinal inflammation, functional changes observed in association with gut inflammation further support

the involvement of an altered mucosal 5-HT signaling. Altered bowel habits and abdominal pain are common symptoms of IBD as well as IBS. IBS has been described as a low-grade residual inflammatory condition, and the prevalence of IBS-like symptoms is significantly higher in IBD patients compared to the general population, which frequently precede clinical manifestation of IBD and/or coincide with periods of remission [72,134,464-470]. IBS-like symptoms are reported in nearly one-third of the UC patients, and more than half of the CD patients in clinical remission [467]. Moreover, altered motility causing hypoxia has been shown to induce synthesis and secretion of 5-HT by EC cells in IBD [471]. An episode of acute infectious gastroenteritis can lead to the development of IBS [472]. In Campylobacter jejuni enteritis an increased number of T cells and calprotectin-positive macrophages are observed in rectal biopsies of patients, along with 5-HT expressing EC cells hyperplasia which has been identified as an important predictor of post-infectious IBS (PI-IBS) development [473,474]. Plasma 5-HT levels are also significantly increased in patients with PI-IBS and diarrhea-predominant IBS (IBS-D) [475-477]. Reduced expression and function of 5-HTT have also been observed in IBS-D patients [478–480]. The role of 5-HT in IBS-D is further supported by the therapeutic efficacy of 5-HTR3 antagonists, and the promising outcomes observed in phase II clinical trials of LX-1031, a small-molecule TPH inhibitor [481–483]. Furthermore, increased EC cell numbers and 5-HT levels have been reported in irritable pouch syndrome in UC patients who have undergone IPAA surgery [484]. In addition to that, 5-HTT-KO mice, which as previously mentioned are more susceptible to intestinal inflammation, have alternating bouts of diarrhea and constipation, exhibiting IBS-like symptoms [485]. Dysbiosis has also been observed in 5-HTT-KO mice [486]. These mice, along with their heterozygote (5-HTT^{+/-}) littermate, were shown to have an inflammatory-type microbiota compared to WT following exposure to early life stress, such as maternal separation [486]. Thus, up-regulation of mucosal 5-HT signaling may contribute to various pathological aspects of gut inflammation, such as microbial imbalance that may be more prone to inducing inflammation, the generation of an aberrant immune response by regulating immune cell functions, as well as long-lasting changes in motility which may persist even after the resolution of inflammation.

Experimental approaches to studying gut inflammation

Give the difficulty in establishing "cause-effect" relationship in gut inflammation, particularly in human IBD, and its heterogeneous presentation, various models of intestinal inflammation have been developed to study IBD. These animal models are valuable tools to investigate pathophysiological mechanisms and to test emerging therapeutic strategies in the preclinical phase. Three such models were used in this thesis to study intestinal inflammation. The optimized protocols utilized for these three models, as used in the McMaster University Central Animal Facility, are outlined in detail within the respective chapters to follow.

T. muris model of infectious colitis

T. muris is a natural pathogen of mice and serves as a useful model of Trichuris trichiura infection in humans [487]. In addition that. to immunopathology associated with susceptibility to T. muris infection is characterized by mucosal and submucosal inflammation resulting in changes in the gut physiology, architecture and transcriptional profile similar to IBD [488,489]. Infective eggs are given by oral gavage and hatch in the distal small intestine, which critically dependent on interactions with the microbiota [487,490]. After hatching, T. muris invade the IECs that line the crypts of the cecum and proximal colon and upon maturation the worms release eggs into the environment [487]. A high dose of infective eggs induces a Th2 immune response in resistant strains, such as BALB/c mice, leading to expulsion of worms due to increased mucin production and epithelial cell turnover; whereas in susceptible strains, e.g. AKR/J mice, a Th1 immune response is generated which promotes chronic infections [487]. However, chronic infection can also be induced in resistant strains using a low dose of infective eggs [491]. This is a very useful model for studying T cell-mediated immune response in the gut.

Chemical models of intestinal inflammation

The most commonly used animal models of IBD are chemically induced models of intestinal inflammation. Like all other models they also have limitations, but they resemble some important immunological and histopathological aspects of human IBD.

DSS-induced colitis

DSS is a heparin-like polysaccharide administered to mice in drinking water to induce colitis that is superficial in nature, resembling human UC [492,493]. It is proposed that DSS induces colitis by exacting toxic effects on the epithelium, via increased exposure to luminal antigens through the destruction of mucin or by altering the function of immune cells [494]. The DSS-induced colitis model is very popular in IBD research due to its ease of administration, rapidity, reproducibility, and controllability. By modifying the concentration of DSS and the frequency of administration both acute and chronic models of intestinal inflammation can be produced. In this model, the gut microbiota also plays an important in the development of robust colitis [494]. Acute DSS-induced colitis mostly involves the activation of neutrophils and macrophages and T and B cells are not required, but it should be noted that T cell responses can enhance the inflammatory response generated [211]. Furthermore, lymphocytes are activated in the chronic DSS model of colitis [495]. In acute colitis increased production of Th1/Th17 cytokines, along with IL-13 and IL-5, are observed, whereas, the chronic model is marked by Th1/Th2 cytokine production [422,496]. DSSinduced colitis alters stool consistency, causes ulceration, colonic bleeding as well as weight loss, and the histopathological damage is marked by granulocyte infiltration and changes in architecture [494].

DNBS-induced colitis

DNBS-induced colitis is a well-characterized transmural, Th1 driven inflammation of the colon [497]. DNBS, like TNBS, is a hapten-induced model of colitis [498]. However, DNBS is currently preferred over TNBS as it is comparatively a less hazardous chemical and considerably less expensive [498]. DNBS is administrated intrarectally (IR) in a solution of ethanol, and produces localized damage to the distal colon [498]. Ethanol is required to break the colonic mucosal barrier to allow the penetration of DNBS into the LP [498]. This haptenizing agent binds covalently with the protein of colonic cell and bacteria rendering them immunogenic and eliciting responses from the host's innate and adaptive immune systems [211]. Histologically, the inflammatory responses include loss of mucosal architecture, infiltration of mucosal and submucosal layers by polymorphonuclear leukocytes, macrophages, lymphocytes, mast cells and fibroblasts [211]. In comparison with DSS-induced colitis, the advantages of DNBS-induced colitis include low cost and rapid onset of intestinal inflammation. However, it does require a greater level of technical expertise, and the need for

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

anesthesia for rectal installation. Similar to the DSS model, weight loss, and diarrhea are also observed in DNBS-induced colitis, and macroscopic features include adhesion, ulceration, and thickening of the colonic wall [498].

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

-CHAPTER 2-

HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS

The awareness and understanding of IBD have come a long way in the past few decades, which has led to the development of new therapies (biologics e.g. anti-TNF) in disease management. However, we are still far from fully understanding some of the fundamental aspects of disease pathogenesis, which include but are not limited to the heterogeneity of disease manifestation, as well as the factors involved in disease onset and progression. This is highlighted by the ineffectiveness of these new therapies in a significant proportion of IBD patients, which additionally have serious side effects. Thus, there is a need for identifying new targets for developing new therapies.

Inflammatory conditions of the gut, including IBD, are defined by aberrant mucosal inflammation, where the role of the epithelium and immune cells are intertwined. Specializations within the epithelial cell populations regulate all normal physiological functions of the gut, including its characteristic immunological state. One such population of specialized epithelial cells are EC cells, which are the most abundant EEC type. Their main secretory product, 5-HT is involved in the regulation of a myriad of physiological functions in the normal gut as well as immune response. Moreover, immune mediators have been shown to affect mucosal 5-HT signaling in the context of gut inflammation. IL-13 is an effector cytokine in IBD and increased IL-13 levels have been observed in various models of intestinal inflammation where mucosal 5-HT signaling is also upregulated. Thus, in view of the important role of 5-HT signaling in the generation

of intestinal inflammation, the ability Th2 cytokines to induce EC cells hyperplasia and increase 5-HT production, and the presence of IL-13Ra1 on mouse colonic EC cells as well as the role of IL-13 described in animal models and human intestinal inflammation, we hypothesized that the IL-13-EC cell/5-HT axis is important in the pathogenesis of intestinal inflammation whereby inhibition of IL-13 production reduces 5-HT production which in turn attenuates the severity of intestinal inflammation.

The major findings of this thesis are organized into three aims and chapters, each chapter a published or submitted manuscript.

Hypothesis: the IL-13-EC cell/5-HT axis is important in the pathogenesis of intestinal inflammation whereby inhibition of IL-13 production reduces 5-HT production which in turn attenuates the severity of intestinal inflammation.



Characterize mucosal 5components in IBD patients and its relationship with IL-13, as well as to explore the association between 5-HTTLPR and IBD.

Figure VII: Schematic representation of hypothesis and aims. IL, interleukin; 5-HT, 5-hydoxytryptamine; 5-HTTLPR, 5-HT transporter gene linked polymorphic region; EC, enterochromaffin; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease.

AIM 1: Investigate the role of IL-13 in EC cell biology.

Chapter 3: We investigated the role of IL-13 in EC biology in vivo and in a culture model of human EC cells. These findings were published in the following manuscript:

Marcus Manocha, Md. Sharif Shajib, Mushfequr Rahman, Huaqing Wang, Palanivel Rengasamy, Milena Bogunovic, Manel Jordana, Lloyd Mayer and Waliul I. Khan. Mucosal Immunol. 2013 Jan;6(1):146-55. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.58.

AIM 2: Elucidate the influence of IL-13 on the severity of experimental colitis as mediated by 5-HT.

Chapter 4: We investigate the effect of IL-13 deficiency associated down-regulation of 5-HT production in the DSS- and DNBS- induced models of chemical colitis. Our findings were published in the following manuscript:

Md. Sharif Shajib, Huaqing Wang, Janice J. Kim, Ivana Sunjic, Jean-Eric Ghia, Emmanuel Denou, Matthew Collins, Judah A. Denburg, and Waliul I. Khan. PLoS One. 2013 Aug 28;8(8):e72774. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072774. AIM 3: To characterize mucosal 5-HT signaling components in IBD patients and its relationship with IL-13, as well as to explore the association between 5-HTTLPR and IBD.

Chapter 5: We investigated whether up-regulated mucosal 5-HT signaling is associated with enhanced IL-13 expression in IBD patients. Additionally, we explored the potential role of specific 5-HTTLPR genotypes in IBD pathogenesis. These findings have been prepared in a manuscript that has been submitted to European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology.

Md. Sharif Shajib, Usha Chauhan, Salman Adeeb, Yeshale Chetty, David Armstrong, Smita L. S. Halder, John K. Marshall, Waliul I. Khan. In submission at Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.

Details regarding author contribution to each individual manuscript can be found in the preface preceding each chapter. Collectively, these manuscripts examine the role of immune and endocrine interactions in the gut and their influence in shaping intestinal inflammation. More specifically, this work shows how IL-13 regulates EC biology and function (Chapter 3), how IL-13 via 5-HT mediates inflammation (Chapter 4) and how our findings relate to human IBD (Chapter 5). PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

-CHAPTER 3-

IL-13-MEDIATED IMMUNOLOGICAL CONTROL OF ENTEROCHROMAFFIN CELL HYPERPLASIA AND SEROTONIN PRODUCTION IN THE GUT

IL-13-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and serotonin production in the gut.

Manocha M*, Shajib MS*, Rahman MM, Wang H, Rengasamy P, Bogunovic M, Jordana M, Mayer L, and Khan WI.

The material in this chapter was published in Mucosal Immunology (PMID: 22763407).

Mucosal Immunol. 2013 Jan;6(1):146-55. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.58. Epub 2012 Jul 4.

Reprinted with permission.

Preface: This work was conducted over the period of September 2010- April 2012. This manuscript was an equal contribution (* or 4 in the attached manuscript). WIK (my supervisor), MM (Post-doctorate fellow) and I designed all experiments included in this manuscript. MM led all in vitro experiments, with the exception of reverse transcriptase-PCR of IL-13Ra1 which was performed by MMR (Post-doctorate fellow), and the 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT)-based cell growth assay which I performed. I led all in vivo experiments, with the exception of treatment of naïve IL-13-KO mice with recombinant mouse IL-13 which was performed by MMR while I assisted. MM and I analyzed and interpreted the data as well as wrote and prepared the manuscript for publication. Experimental assistance was provided by PR (Post-

doctorate fellow; western blotting), and HW (Technician; infection with *T. muris*). MB and LM (Post-doctorate fellow and professor, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York) provided us with reagents and protocol for immunocytofluorescence of BON cells. IL-13-KO mice were gifted to us by MJ (Professor, McMaster). WIK oversaw all parts of the project and edited the manuscript.

Summary and significance of findings: Herein, we further our previous findings in the *T* .muris model of infectious colitis, by identifying IL-13, and not IL-4, as the key Th2 cytokine involved in EC cell hyperplasia and increased mucosal 5-HT content. We further confirm the role of IL-13 in EC cell biology by replenishing IL-13 in both naïve and *T. muris*-infected IL-13-KO mice, which led to the marked increase in EC cell numbers, TPH1 expression and mucosal 5-HT content as compared to vehicle-treated mice. In BON cells, we identify the expression of IL-13R α 1 and shown that IL-13 also causes hyperplasia in this model of human EC cells, increases TPH1 mRNA expression, followed by protein levels, and subsequently 5-HT production. Collectively these findings shown the IL-13 is an important regulator of mucosal 5-HT signaling. PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS: McMaster University-Medical Sciences





| nature publishing group | Title: | IL-13-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and serotonin production in the gut |
|-------------------------------|---|--|
| | Author: | M Manocha, M S Shajib, M M Rahman, H Wang, P Rengasamy et al. |
| | Publication: | Mucosal Immunology |
| | Publisher: | Nature Publishing Group |
| | Date: | Jul 4, 2012 |
| | Copyright \circledast 2012, Rights Managed by Nature Publishing Group | |

Author Request

If you are the author of this content (or his/her designated agent) please read the following. If you are not the author of this content, please click the Back button and select an alternative Requestor Type to obtain a quick price or to place an order.

Ownership of copyright in the article remains with the Authors, and provided that, when reproducing the Contribution or extracts from it, the Authors acknowledge first and reference publication in the Journal, the Authors retain the following non-exclusive rights:

a) To reproduce the Contribution in whole or in part in any printed volume (book or thesis) of which they are the author(s).

b) They and any academic institution where they work at the time may reproduce the Contribution for the purpose of course teaching.

c) To reuse figures or tables created by them and contained in the Contribution in other works created by them.

d) To post a copy of the Contribution as accepted for publication after peer review (in Word or Text format) on the Author's own web site, or the Author's institutional repository, or the Author's funding body's archive, six months after publication of the printed or online edition of the Journal, provided that they also link to the Journal article on NPG's web site (eq through the DOI).

NPG encourages the self-archiving of the accepted version of your manuscript in your funding agency's or institution's repository, six months after publication. This policy complements the recently announced policies of the US National Institutes of Health, Wellcome Trust and other research funding bodies around the world. NPG recognises the efforts of funding bodies to increase access to the research they fund, and we strongly encourage authors to participate in such efforts.

Authors wishing to use the published version of their article for promotional use or on a web site must request in the normal way.

If you require further assistance please read NPG's online author reuse guidelines.

For full paper portion: Authors of original research papers published by NPG are encouraged to submit the author's version of the accepted, peer-reviewed manuscript to their relevant funding body's archive, for release six months after publication. In addition, authors are encouraged to archive their version of the manuscript in their institution's repositories (as well as their personal Web sites), also six months after original publication.

v2.0

Copyright © 2017 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com

IL-13-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and serotonin production in the gut

M Manocha^{1,4}, MS Shajib^{1,4}, MM Rahman¹, H Wang¹, P Rengasamy¹, M Bogunovic², M Jordana¹, L Mayer² and WI Khan^{1,3}

Enterochromaffin (EC) cells in the gastrointestinal (GI) mucosa are the main source of serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)) in the body. 5-HT is implicated in the pathophysiology of many GI disorders including functional and inflammatory bowel disorders. Herein we studied the role of interleukin 13 (IL-13) in EC cell biology by utilizing IL-13-deficient (IL-13-/-) mice and BON cells (a model for human EC cells). The numbers of EC cells and 5-HT amount were significantly lower in enteric parasite, *Trichuris muris*-infected IL-13-/- mice compared with the wild-type mice. This was accompanied with increased parasite burden in IL-13-/- mice. Treatment of naive and infected IL-13-/- mice with IL-13 increased EC cell numbers and 5-HT amount. BON cells expressed IL-13 receptor and in response to IL-13 produced more 5-HT. These results provide novel information on IL-13-mediated immunological control of 5-HT in the gut, which may ultimately lead to improved therapeutic opportunities in various GI disorders.

INTRODUCTION

The gastrointestinal (GI) tract is the largest endocrine organ in the human body, producing a wide variety of biologically active products. Many of the enteric endocrine cells reside within the epithelial cells of intestinal mucosa where stimuli from the lumen or surrounding cells can influence their cellular biology.1 The best-characterized subset of enteric endocrine cells are enterochromaffin (EC) cells, which synthesize and release serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)) and are the main source of 5-HT in the GI tract.2,3 5-HT is an important enteric mucosal signaling molecule that can influence the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis, specifically motor and secretory functions.4-6 The release of 5-HT increases motility of the gut and is also an extremely important mediator of nausea and satiety.^{7,8} Abnormal regulation of 5-HT in the human gut has been implicated with a diverse array of GI disorders such as inflammatory bowel disease,9,10 irritable bowel syndrome (IBS),9,11,12 celiac disease,13 colorectal cancer,14,15 diverticular disease,16 and enteric bacterial, viral, and parasitic infection.17-22 Recently, we have demonstrated a critical role of 5-HT in the activation of immune response and generation of mucosal

inflammation in experimental model of colitis.^{23,24} Although 5-HT and EC cell biology have been implicated in a plethora of GI disorders, the precise mechanism regulating the observed changes in 5-HT content and EC cell numbers during GI disorder remains unclear.

Considering the location of EC cells in the epithelial layer of the gut mucosa, it is very likely that immune cells play an important role in EC cell biology in the context of various GI disorders. In patients with postinfectious IBS, observation of immune activation (increased number of CD3+ T cells) has been associated with increased EC cell numbers, which is suggestive of a link between these two systems.^{25,26} This association between the immune system and endocrine system of the GI tract also holds true in animal models of postinfectious IBS.20,27 The notion of an immune-endocrine axis in the GI tract is further supported by the findings that EC cells in mucosa of the ileum and colon of rhesus monkeys are in direct or close contact with lymphocytes.28 Two recent studies from our laboratory have uncovered a pivotal role for the immune system in EC cell biology.21,22 Using the nematode Trichuris muris model of intestinal infection, we have observed upregulation in the

¹Farncombe Family Digestive Health Research Institute, Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. ²Immunobiology Center, Mount Sinal School of Medicine, New York, New York, USA. ³Hamilton Regional Laboratory Medicine Program, Hamilton Health Sciences, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. ⁴These authors contributed equally to this work. Correspondence: WI Khan (khanwai@mcmaster.ca)

Received 5 January 2012; accepted 3 May 2012; advance online publication 4 July 2012. doi:10.1038/ml.2012.58

number of EC cells and 5-HT amount following infection.²¹ This infection-induced increase in EC cells or in 5-HT was not evident in severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice. EC cell numbers and 5-HT amount significantly increased following reconstitution of SCID mice with CD4+ T cells from infected mice and this was accompanied by an upregulation of colonic CD3+ T cells and T helper type 2 (Th2) cytokines. In addition, laser capture microdissection-based molecular and immunofluorescence techniques revealed the presence of the interleukin-13 receptor a1 (IL-13Ra1) on EC cell.21 These findings demonstrate an important role for CD4+ T cells in EC cell function in enteric infection-induced gut inflammation. Recently, we have also demonstrated a difference in EC cell and 5-HT responses in Th1 and Th2 environments.22 Higher amount of 5-HT and EC cell numbers were observed in mice that are resistant to infection and expel worms by generating a Th2-type immune response as compared with susceptible mice that developed chronic infection with the generation of a Th1 response. Utilizing Stat4- and Stat6-deficient mice, which are impaired in Th1 and Th2 response respectively, we have also shown impairment in the development of infection-induced EC cell hyperplasia and in 5-HT production in Stat6-deficient mice after T. muris infection.22 These findings suggest the importance of the immunological profile of the inflammatory response in the regulation of EC cell biology in gut mucosa.

The involvement of immune response in the regulation of EC cell hyperplasia and 5-HT production in *T. muris* infection as well as the presence of IL-13R α 1 in colonic 5-HT-expressing EC cells exemplifies the role of IL-13 in EC cell biology. In this study we solidify the role of IL-13 in EC cell biology utilizing IL-13-deficient (IL-13-/-) mice in *T. muris* infection model and a cell culture model for EC cells (BON cells). Our results demonstrate compelling evidence in favor of a role of IL-13 in EC cell biology at the molecular level in both an *in vivo* mouse model and *in culture* human model of EC cells.

RESULTS

IL-13 deficiency inhibits worm expulsion and development of infection-induced EC cell hyperplasia and 5-HT production in *T. muris* infection

BALB/c (wild-type) mice are resistant to *T. muris* infection and can expel almost all the worms within 21 days after infection, whereas IL-13 – / – mice on BALB/c background failed to clear the parasitic infection (Figure 1a). The clearance of parasite from wild-type mice was associated with significantly higher levels of IL-13 (Figure 1b) and IL-4 (Figure 1c) in the colon, which is in agreement with previous observations of *T. muris*–infected BALB/c mice.²¹ IL-13 levels were elevated on both days 14 and 21 after infection in wild-type mice and, as expected, were not detectable in IL-13 – / – mice. IL-4 levels were increased in the colonic tissues of both the wild-type and IL-13 – / – mice in comparison with their noninfected controls. Notably, IL-4 levels were significantly higher in the IL-13 – / – mice compared with their wild-type counterparts on days 14 and day 21 after infection.



Figure 1 Inhibition of worm expulsion in interleukin-13-deficient (IL-13-/-) mice as compared with the wild-type (WT) BALB/c mice. Both IL-13-/- and WT mice were infected orally with 300 eggs of *Trichuris muris* and killed on days 14 and 21 post infection (PI). (a) Worm burden in infected IL-13-/- and WT mice on days 14 and 21 PI. (b) Colon tissue IL-13 levels in WT mice infected with *T. muris* on days 14 and 21 PI. (c) Colon IL-4 levels in both noninfected and infected IL-13-/- and WT mice on days 14 and 21 PI. Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of 3-7 mice. **P*<0.05; ***P*<0.01; ****P*<0.001.

Significantly lower number of EC cells and 5-HT amount was detected in the colon of IL-13-/- mice in comparison with wild-type mice after infection. We found that noninfected wild-type controls had significantly higher number of 5-HTexpressing EC cells compared with IL-13-/- controls and, following infection, a progressive increase in 5-HT-expressing EC cells was observed in the wild-type group on both days 14 and 21 (Figure 2a). This increase in 5-HT-expressing EC cell numbers was statistically significant on day 21 when the wild-type



Figure 2 Interleukin-13-deficient (IL-13-/-) mice infected with *Trichuris muris* exhibited significantly less enterochromaffin (EC) cell numbers in comparison with the wild-type (WT) mice. Both IL-13-/- and WT mice were infected orally with 300 eggs of *T. muris* and killed on days 14 and day 21 post infection (PI). (a) Number of EC cells in the colon of noninfected and infected mice on days 14 and 21 PI. (b) Amount of colonic 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) in noninfected and infected mice on day 14 PI. (c) Representative micrograph showing 5-HT-expressing EC cells in the colon of infected WT mice on day 14 PI. (d) Representative micrograph showing 5-HT-expressing EC cells in the colon of an 44 PI. Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of 3-7 mice and micrographs at original magnification ×200. "Not statistically significant. **P*<0.05; ***P*<0.01.

infected group was compared with its noninfected counterpart. However, minimal changes in 5-HT-expressing EC cell numbers were observed in IL-13-/- mice irrespective of the duration of infection (Figure 2a). We have previously established parallels between the number of EC cells and the ability of the mouse to expel the parasite as measured by worm burden.21 This study also found a similar relationship between worm burden and EC cell numbers (Figure 1a vs. Figure 2a). Significantly fewer 5-HT-expressing EC cells were found in IL-13-/- mice along with increased worm burden. Restoration of IL-13, by treatment with recombinant mouse IL-13 (rmIL-13) for 5 days, in naive IL-13-/- mice significantly increased both EC cell numbers and 5-HT content in the colon of IL-13-/- mice (Figure 3a,b). In addition to that, replenishment of IL-13 in naive IL-13-/mice resulted in upregulation of TPH1 (tryptophan hydroxylase 1) protein, the rate-limiting enzyme involved in the biosynthesis of 5-HT by EC cells (Figure 3c). Upregulation of EC cell number and 5-HT amount was observed in infected IL-13-/mice treated with rmIL-13 (Figure 4a,b). Restoration of IL-13 levels improved the ability of IL-13-/- animals to expel the parasite, as indicated by worm burden (number of worms found was 176±43.2 and 100.5±27.1 in IL-13 -/ - mice that received vehicle and rmIL-13, respectively). Interestingly, although there was a significantly increased production of IL-4 in the IL-13-/mice compared with wild-type mice after infection, the number of EC cells remained unchanged (Figure 1b vs. Figure 1a). These observations provide evidence in favor of a key role of IL-13 in the regulation of EC cell biology and 5-HT production in enteric infection caused by T. muris.

IL-13 upregulates 5-HT concentration in both the cell and media of BON cells

Previously, we have shown that 5-HT-expressing EC cells in the mouse colon express IL-13Ra1.22 In this study we observed that IL-13 plays an important role in promoting EC hyperplasia and 5-HT production. In examining the molecular mechanisms associated with IL-13 and EC cell function, we began by describing the expression of IL-13Ra1 in BON cells (Figure 5). BON cells are a human carcinoid cell line derived from a metastasis of a pancreatic carcinoid tumor of EC cell origin.²⁹ IL-13Ra1 mRNA is expressed in BON cells (Figure 5a); in addition, IL-13Ra1 protein was also identified in BON cells using immunocytofluorescence. Treatment of BON cells with recombinant human IL-13 (rhIL-13) resulted in significantly increased intracellular and extracellular 5-HT after 24h (Figure 6). However, IL-13 does not induce the immediate release (after 1 h) of 5-HT from BON cells (Figure 7), in comparison with phorbol-12-myristate-13acetate, a secretagogue known to induce the secretion of hormones from BON cells.30

IL-13 induces an increase in TPH1 mRNA expression and amount of TPH1 protein

Recent studies have identified two isoforms of the TPH enzyme: TPH1, which is present in mainly peripheral organs such as the EC cells in gut, and TPH2, which is associated with the nervous system and is present predominantly in the brain stem.^{31,32} In this study we have detected TPH1 in BON cells and examined its expression over 24 h. TPH1 expression in BON cells has been



Figure 3 Treatment of naive interleukin-13-deficient (IL-13-/-) mice with recombinant mouse IL-13 (rmIL-13) upregulated the number of enterochromaffin (EC) cells and the amount of 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) found in the colon as well as total tryptophan hydroxylase 1 (TPH1) protein. IL-13-/- mice were given 2 µg of rmIL-13 for 5 consecutive days, and the control group received the vehicle (phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)) by intraperitoneal (IP) injection. (a) Number of EC cells in the colon of IL-13-/- mice injected with vehicle or rmIL-13. (b) Amount of colonic 5-HT in the colon of IL-13 knockout mice injected with vehicle or rmIL-13. (c) Representative western blot and relative band density of TPH1 protein expression in the colon of IL-13-/- mice that received PBS by IP injection. (e) Representative micrograph showing 5-HT-expressing EC cells in the colon of IL-13-/- mice that received PBS by IP injection. (e) Representative micrograph station sales at original magnification ×200. **P*<0.05; ***P*<0.01.

previously described.³³ TPH1 expression in BON cells increases significantly, almost two fold, after 4h of treatment with rhIL-13, but returns to levels similar to the control at 24h (Figure 8a). However, TPH1 protein levels, as determined by western blot, were increased after 24h (Figure 8b).

IL-13 induces BON cell hyperplasia

The number of BON cells was quantified using two different methods, both of which were found to be significantly elevated in IL-13-treated samples (Figure 9). Trypan blue was used to select for live cells; typically, 97–99% of the cells were found to be viable. Cells were counted manually using a hemocytometer (Figure 9a). Treatment of BON cells with rhIL-13 (10 ng ml⁻¹) for 24 h resulted in significantly increased fluorescence, as determined by the cell viability reagent alamarBlue, which is a function of increased cell number (Figure 9b). The ability of IL-13 to induce BON cell hyperplasia was further confirmed utilizing 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay, a cell proliferation assay (Figure 9c).

DISCUSSION

5-HT is a well-known neurotransmitter of the central nervous system, and traditionally it is known to influence a range of behavioral, physiological, and cognitive functions. However, the vast majority of 5-HT in the body (~98%) is found outside of the central nervous system and is generated mainly by the EC cells situated within the epithelial layer of the gut mucosa, which are the best-characterized endocrine cell population in the GI tract.^{1,2} Despite the association of alteration in 5-HT response and a variety of GI disorders such as IBS, inflammatory bowel disease, celiac disease, and colorectal cancer, it is not clear how the changes in 5-HT take place, what role 5-HT has in intestinal



Figure 4 Treatment of *Trichuris muris*—infected interleukin-13-deficient (IL-13-/-) mice with recombinant mouse IL-13 (rmIL-13) increases enterochromaffin (EC) cell number and the amount of 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) found in the colon on day 14 post infection (PI). IL-13-/- mice were given 2 µg of rmIL-13 for 15 days, and the control group received phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) as vehicle via intraperitoneal (IP) injection. (a) Number of EC cells in the colon of infected IL-13-/- mice injected with vehicle or rmIL-13. (b) Amount of colonic 5-HT in the colon of IL-13 knockout mice injected with vehicle or rmIL-13. (c) Representative micrograph showing 5-HT-expressing EC cells in the colon of infected IL-13-/- mice that received PBS by IP injection. (d) Representative micrograph showing 5-HT-expressing EC cells in the colon of infected IL-13-/- mice that received rmIL-13. Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of 3–5 mice and micrographs at original magnification ×200. **P*<0.05; ***P*<0.01.

pathophysiology, and whether by modulating 5-HT production and signaling is it possible to elicit a therapeutic effect. In this study, by employing *in vivo* mouse model of enteric infection and *in vitro* model of human EC cells, we have demonstrated a critical role of IL-13 in the development of EC cell hyperplasia and in the upregulation of 5-HT production.

Interactions among immune system, nervous system, and endocrine system have been suggested by a number of studies, and a key player in these neuroimmunoendocrine networks of both human and rodents is 5-HT. The reduced numbers of EC cells in the colon of mice with targeted disruption of IL-2 (ref. 34) and T cell receptor-a,35 and the presence of EC cells in contact with, or very close proximity to, CD3+ lymphocytes²⁸ strongly suggest the existence of the immunological control on EC cells. It is also shown that interferon-y has an inhibitory effect on proliferation of BON cells.36 Recently, the link between EC cells and the immune system during enteric infection has been examined in several studies.20-22,37 Infection with a nematode parasite produces mucosal inflammation and induces changes in intestinal physiology, and thus these models have considerable importance in exploring the pathophysiology of many GI disorders. It has been shown that infection with T. spiralis results in the upregulation of EC cells, and this effect is attenuated in infected T cell receptor knockout mice.20 Utilizing T. muris mouse model of enteric infection, we have previously shown an important connection between immune and endocrine systems in the gut, where secretory products from CD4+ T cells interact with EC

cells or their precursors to enhance 5-HT production in the gut via Th2-based mechanisms.²¹ We have also observed that EC cell and 5-HT responses induced by the same enteric infectious agent are influenced by Th1 or Th2 cytokine predominance, suggesting the importance of the immunological profile of the inflammatory response in the regulation of EC cell biology.22 In addition, it is reported that infection-induced reduction of EC cells numbers in Citrobacter rodenitium is not evident in SCID mice, further indicating an important role of the immune system in mediating EC cell hyperplasia in the gut.36 In this study we observed that EC cell numbers were significantly increased in T. muris-infected wild-type mice as compared with the control. However, in IL-13-/- mice there was no significant increase in EC cell numbers after the infection as compared with the noninfected controls and this impairment in the development of EC cell hyperplasia is accompanied with delayed worm expulsion from the intestine. Treatment of naive IL-13-/- mice with recombinant IL-13 for 5 days significantly increased both EC cell numbers and 5-HT amount in the colon. Administration of rmIL-13, over a 15-day period, in T. muris-infected IL-13-/mice was also accompanied by upregulation of EC cell numbers and 5-HT content, as well as facilitation of worm expulsion. These observations suggest that IL-13 plays a prominent role in mediating the upregulation of 5-HT-expressing EC cell numbers and in the production of 5-HT in infection-induced inflammatory condition and this may contribute to host defense in this infection.



Figure 5 BON cells (a model for human enterochromaffin (EC) cells) express interleukin-13 receptor α 1 (IL-13R α 1). (a) Agarose gel electrophoresis of the PCR product from reverse transcriptase-PCR of IL-13R α 1 mRNA. Samples were from a negative control (H₂O), lymphocyte cell population (positive control), and BON cell population. (b–g) Immunocytofluorescence of BON cells using both anti-IL-13R α 1 and mouse isotype control. (b) Overlay of BON cells stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) and (c) IL-13R α 1 (1°: mouse anti-IL-13R α 1 dilution 1:100; 2°: Alexa Fluor 568 F(ab')₂ fragment goat anti-mouse IgG dilution 1:500). (e) Overlay of BON cells stained with DAPI and (f) mouse IgG isotype control (1°: mouse IgG dilution 1:100; 2°: Alexa Fluor 568 F(ab')₂ fragment goat anti-mouse IgG dilution 1:500). White bars represent 10 µm.



Figure 6 Treatment of BON cells with 10 ngml^{-1} recombinant human interleukin-13 (rhlL-13) increases the concentration of 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) in both the cell and media after 24h. (a) Concentration of 5-HT in serum-free media with or without 10 ngml^{-1} of rhlL-13 after 24h. (b) Concentration of 5-HT in 2.5×10⁵ cells treated with or without 10 ngml^{-1} of rhlL-13 after 24h. Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of four biological replicates (wells). **P*<0.05.

We have previously reported the expression of IL-13 α R but not IL-4 receptor in mouse EC cells in the colon.²² The findings from *in vivo* investigations that recombinant IL-13 can influence the EC cell numbers in the colon and 5-HT content has led us to hypothesize that IL-13 can regulate 5-HT production by acting directly on EC cells and influencing TPH1 (rate-limiting enzyme of 5-HT synthesis) expression and function of EC cells. In this study we have identified and characterized the expression of IL-13 α R in BON cells, a cell culture model of human EC cells. Incubation of BON cells with IL-13 for 24 h results in both increased extracellular and intracellular 5-HT content. TPH1 was originally thought to be regulated at the transcriptional level as slightly elevated nocturnal 5-HT content and TPH1 mRNA levels were found in the rat pineal gland.^{38,39} Recent studies have



Figure 7 Phorbol ester (phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA)) induces the release of 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) from BON cells after 1 h in a dose-dependent manner, but recombinant human interleukin-13 (rhlL-13) at three different concentrations does not. BON cells were treated with serum-free media (Control) containing either PMA or rhlL-13 for 1 h at 37 °C. Media were collected and 5-HT concentration was determined by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of six biological replicates (wells). a, b and c represent statistical significance. a is significantly different from b and c, b is significantly different than a and c, and all the conditions with c are not significantly different from each other.



Figure 8 Time course expression analysis of tryptophan hydroxylase 1 (TPH1) in BON cells treated with and without 10 ng ml⁻¹ recombinant human interleukin-13 (rhlL-13) at 1, 4, 6, and 24 h. (a) Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of TPH1 mRNA expression in BON cells. (b) Representative western blot and relative band density of TPH1 protein expression in BON cells. Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of four biological replicates (wells). **P*<0.05.



Figure 9 Treatment of BON cells with recombinant human interleukin-13 (rhIL-13) results in increased cell numbers as determined by different methods for quantifying cell numbers. (a) BON cells were treated with and without (Control) 10 ngml⁻¹ of rhIL-13 in serum-free media for 24 h. Cells were lifted from the plate using trypsin and quantified by hemocytometer. Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of three biological replicates (wells). (b) BON cells were treated with and without 10 ng ml⁻¹ of rhIL-13 in serum-free media for 24 h. Media were then replaced with 1× alamarBlue (Invitrogen) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and incubated with the cells for 1 h at 37 °C. Fluorescence was measured using an excitation wavelength of 570 nM and emission wavelength of 585 nm. Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of six biological replicates (wells). (c) BON cells were treated with and without 10 ng ml⁻¹ of rhlL-13 in serum-free media for 24h and control is media but no cells. The 3-[4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT)-based cell growth determination kit (Sigma) was utilized and optical density (OD) was measured at 540 nm. Each bar represents mean±s.e.m. of eight biological triplicates (wells). *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001.

suggested that posttranslational regulation of TPH1 may be more important than transcription activation.³⁹ In BON cells, activation of the phasphatidylinositol-3-kinase/protein kinase B (Akt) signaling pathway results in the loss of TPH1 protein, potentially by posttranslational degradation, with concomitant decrease
in 5-HT synthesis.⁴⁰ TPH1 is a target of cAMP-dependent protein kinase, resulting in phosphorylation of serine 58 *in vitro*, and an increase in the catalytic activity of TPH1.^{41,42} Our study found that TPH1 mRNA expression increased after 4 h of IL-13 treatment and this was associated with upregulation of protein levels of TPH1 at 24 h. These observations provide evidence that IL-13 regulates 5-HT production from EC cells by enhancing TPH1 activity.

A study by Ishizuka *et al.*⁴³ showed that 5-HT itself can act as a mitogen on BON cells; however, significant differences were only observed after 4 days. In our study we observed that IL-13 treatment increases the number of BON cells in culture after 24 h, which is associated with an increase in 5-HT content within the media. Potentially, 5-HT and IL-13 may act synergistically to increase the number of BON cells *in culture* as well as a similar mechanism may be responsible for EC cell hyperplasia during a Th2-mediated response to enteric infection.

In conclusion, we have shown that IL-13 plays an important role in the development of EC cell hyperplasia in enteric infection-induced model of gut inflammation. IL-13 secreted from Th2 cells or natural killer T cells44 may control EC cell biology acting via IL-13 receptor on EC cell. In addition, this study also suggests that 5-HT production and worm expulsion share a common immunologic basis and may be causally linked. Using BON cells, a model for human EC cells, we have shown that IL-13 can influence 5-HT synthesis through modulation of TPH1 activity at both the level of mRNA and protein expression. These observations clearly demonstrate a vital role of IL-13 in EC cell biology and 5-HT production and provide important information on immunoendocrine axis in the gut. Furthermore, by manipulating the host immune response, we are able to modulate the accompanying EC cell response and 5-HT production, and this may have clinical relevance. Alterations in EC cell numbers and 5-HT production occur in a variety of clinical settings associated with inflammation and immune activation such as IBS and inflammatory bowel disease. An understanding of the underlying immunological mechanisms of altered EC cell biology, coupled with the ability to modulate EC cell function by immune mediator as depicted in this study, may ultimately yield new therapeutic strategies in these conditions.

METHODS

Animals. IL-13 – / – mice on a BALB/c background (kindly provided by A. McKenzie, MRC Lab, Cambridge, UK⁴⁵) were bred at McMaster University. Male IL-13 – / – mice and their age-matched (average age 8–11 weeks) wild-type counterparts were used for the purposes of these experiments. The guidelines implemented by the McMaster University Animal Care Committee, Canadian Council on the Use of Laboratory Animals, and the Home Office Scientific Procedures Act (1986) were strictly followed. All mice were kept in sterilized, filter-topped cages, and fed autoclaved food in the animal facilities.

BON cell culture. BON cells (obtained from Dr L. Mayer, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium/F-12 media, containing 10% non-heat-treated fetal calf serum at 37 °C in 5% CO₂. Media were changed every 72h, and all experiments were performed on BON cells from passages 6–14 in this study. **Experimental design for** *T. muris* infection. The techniques used for *T. muris* maintenance and infection were described previously.^{46,47} Mice were infected with ~300 eggs by oral gavage on day 0 and were killed on days 14 and 21, and at these time points tissue samples were collected. In a separate experiment, IL-13 -/- mice were treated with either rmIL-13 ($2\mu g day^{-1}$) or vehicle (phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)) for 15 days, starting 1 day before infection with *T. muris*. The duration of infection in the latter experiments was 14 days, and thereafter the animals were killed and tissue samples were collected. Additionally, in another experiment, naive IL-13-/- mice were treated with aforementioned rmIL-13 dose or PBS and killed on day 5.

Determination of colonic and intracellular BON cell 5-HT content. Segments of colon or $\sim 2.5 \times 10^6$ BON cells were homogenized in 0.5 ml of 0.2 m perchloric acid, and then centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 min. The supernatants were neutralized with an equal volume of 1 m borate buffer (pH 9.25) and centrifuged again at 10,000 g for 1 min. The 5-HT content in the supernatant was analyzed using a commercially available kit (Beckman Coulter, Bera, CA). The 5-HT content of BON cells was expressed in weight (ng) per 2.5 × 10⁶ cells, and colonic 5-HT content was expressed as a function of the colon segment's wet weight.

Measurement of 5-HT concentration in BON cell culture media. BON cell conditioned media were removed from cells and centrifuged at 110g for 5 min to remove cell debris. Media were placed in fresh tubes and frozen at -70 °C until analysis. The 5-HT content in the media was analyzed using a commercially available kit (Beckman Coulter).

Measurement of cytokines in colonic tissues. Frozen colonic tissues were homogenized in lysis buffer (50 mm Tris-HCl (pH 8); 150 mm NaCl; 1% Triton X-100) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, St Louis, MO). The homogenate was centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 min and the supernatants were collected and stored at -80 °C until analysis.

Colon samples were analyzed using a mouse IL-13 and IL-4 ELISA kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total protein concentration was measured by DC Protein Assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). Cytokine values were expressed as a function of total protein content in each sample.

RNA isolation and reverse transcriptase reaction. RNA from ~1×10⁶ BON cells that were treated with or without 10 ng ml⁻¹ rhIL-13 was isolated using Total RNA Purification kit from Norgen Biotek (Thorold, Ontario, Canada). Purified RNA was quantified and the integrity of RNA was determined using the Experion bio analyzer with a standard sensitivity RNA chip (Bio-Rad Laboratories). All RNA samples were found to be of sufficient integrity with minimal RNA degradation (RNA quality indicator (RQI) >8.5). An aliquot of 3 µg of RNA was used for reverse transcription using 0.5 µg of oligo (dT)_{12–18} with the M-MLV Research Transcriptase (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY) kit. The complementary DNA (cDNA) samples were diluted 1:10, and cDNA pooled samples were diluted in a 10-fold serial dilution to create a standard curve with autoclaved ddH₂O.

Quantitative Real-time PCR. All real-time PCR reactions were performed using the Bio-Rad CFX 96 PCR system (Bio-Rad Laboratories) and amplification reactions (10 μ l) were done using 5 μ l of EvaGreen PCR Master Mix (Bio-Rad Laboratories), 1 μ l of both the 10 μ M reverse and forward primers, 2 μ l of autoclaved ddH₂O, and 1 μ l of diluted cDNA.

The optimal annealing temperature of 58 °C was determined for the TPH1 primers (forward: 5'-TGCCCTTGCTAAGGTCAGCAGGA-3', reverse: 5'-AGCAAGAGATGGCCCAGACCTCC-3'). The thermal cycling conditions were as follows: initial denaturation of 30 s at 95 °C followed by amplification for 40 cycles of 5 s at 95 °C and 5 s at 58 °C. Using multiple classical internal control genes we assessed the variability of each gene using a random subset of the cDNA samples and assessed the stability of the reference gene using geNorm

(http://medgen.ugent.be/~jvdesomp/genorm/) and as described by Vandesompele *et al.*⁴⁸ The reference gene primers that we utilized were as follows: glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), forward: 5'-CCCTCCAAAATCAAGTGGGGGCG-3' and reverse: 5'-ATGACGAACATGGGGGGCATCAGC-3'; β-Actin, forward: 5'-ATGTGGCCGAGGACTTTGATT-3' and reverse: 5'-AGTGGGGTGGCTTTTAGGATG-3'; Ubiquitin C (UBC), forward: 5'-ATTTGGGTCGCGGGTTCTTG-3' and reverse: 5'-TGCCT TGACATTCTCGATGGT-3'; 18S rRNA, forward: 5'-TCCACAGGAGGC CTACACGCC-3' and reverse: 5'-TTTCCGCCGCCCATCGATGTT-3'.

We found the 18S rRNA gene to be most stable according to geNorm (average expression stability (M) = 0.401) and the other reference genes to be less stable (M=0.548 to 0.526), and therefore the 18S rRNA gene was selected for subsequent relative quantification of TPH1 at each time point.

TPH1 western blotting. Colonic tissue samples of IL-13 – / – mice treated with or without rmIL-13 (2μ g day⁻¹ for 5 days) were homogenized in the same manner as samples prepared for determination of tissue cytokine levels. Once again, concentration of the total protein in the solution of homogenized tissue was determined using a DC Protein Assay kit (Bio-Rad).

BON cell lysate was prepared in 6 cm dishes and pre-treated with or without rhIL-13 (10 ngml⁻¹) for different time periods (1, 4, 6, and 24h). After treatment, the cells were washed with ice-cold PBS, and 300 µl of lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8); 150 mM NaCl; 1% Triton X-100) containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors (0.5 mmoll⁻¹ Na₃VO₄, 10 mmoll⁻¹ NaF, 1 µmoll⁻¹ leupeptin, 1 µmoll⁻¹ pepstatin, 1 µmoll⁻¹ okadaic acid, and 0.2 mmoll⁻¹ phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride) was added. An aliquot of the cell lysate was used to determine the protein concentration in each sample.

Before loading onto sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis gels, the samples, both tissue and cell, were diluted 1:1 (vol/vol) with 2× Laemmli sample buffer (62.5 mmol1⁻¹ Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 2% (wt/vol) SDS, 50 mmol1⁻¹ dithiothreitol, and 0.01% (wt/vol) bromophenol blue). Aliquots of cell lysates and tissue homogenate (equal amount from each group) containing 20 and 30 µg of protein, respectively, were then subjected to SDS–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and then transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membranes. The total TPH1 protein level was detected using a specific antibody (1:1,000; Abgent, San Diego, CA), and primary antibody detection was performed using horseradish peroxidase–conjugated appropriate secondary antibody. Signal was visualized using enhanced chemiluminescence, and quantified using the ImageJ program (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD).

Immunohistochemistry. Immunohistochemical studies of 5-HTexpressing EC cells were performed on formalin-fixed, paraffinwax-embedded samples as described previously.22 Briefly, tissue sections were deparaffinized in CitriSolv (Fisher Scientific, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada), and rehydrated in increasingly less ethanol in PBS. Endogenous peroxide activity was blocked for 30 min (DakoCytomation, Burlington, Ontario, Canada). Antigen retrieval was accomplished using hot 10 mM Citrate Buffer (pH 6.0). Nonspecific binding was reduced using 1% bovine serum albumin in PBS; sections were then incubated with 5-HT rabbit antibody (Immunostar, Hudson, WI; 1:5,000; 1 h at room temperature). Secondary antibody was then applied for 30 min (Envision, DakoCytomation; horseradish peroxidise-coupled antirabbit secondary reagent; DakoCytomation). Sections were developed with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine and counterstained with Meyer's hematoxylin. Quantification of 5-HT-positive EC cells was conducted by a blinded observer and expressed as number of positive cells per 10 glands.

Immunocytofluorescence. BON cells were grown in a 12-well dish in the presence of a glass circular cover slip. Media were removed and cell washed with PBS. Fixation with 2% paraformaldehyde in PBS was performed first at room temperature for 10 min. Cells were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 and 0.1% Saponin in PBS at room temperature for 15 min. A second fixation step was then performed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS. Cells were blocked with 3% bovine serum albumin in PBS for 1 h at room temperature. Primary antibody at indicated dilution was applied to the cells in PBS containing 3% bovine serum albumin, 0.1% Triton X-100, and 0.1% saponin overnight, shaking at 4 °C. The cells were washed 3 times with PBS containing 0.1% Triton X-100, and 0.1% saponin. Secondary antibody was applied at indicated dilution to cells in PBS containing 3% bovine serum albumin, 0.1% Triton X-100, and 0.1% saponin, shaking at room temperature for 1 h. Cells were then washed 3 times with PBS containing 0.1% Triton X-100, and 0.1% saponin. Cover slips were mounted on to slides using ProLong Gold with 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (Invitrogen).

BON cell proliferation assay. Commercially available MTT based cell growth determination kit (Sigma) was utilized to measure BON cell proliferation. Approximately 1×10^4 cells in 200 µl of aforementioned medium were seeded in triplicates into 96-well culture plates and incubated for 48 h to allow cell adhesion. Thereafter, 200 µl of serum-free medium either with or without 10 ng ml⁻¹ of rhIL-13 was added to the wells containing cells and incubated at 37 °C, 5% CO₂ for 24 h. At the end of incubation, 20 µl of MTT was added to all wells and incubated for an hour and a half, following which the medium was removed and the plate was dried at 37 °C for 1 h. After 1 h, 200 µl of 0.04 M HCl in isopropanol was added to each well and mixed thoroughly. Optical density was measured at 540 nm using a luminometer (EL 808; Bio-Tek Instruments, Winooski, VT).

Statistical analysis. Comparison of the two groups was accomplished using Student's *t*-test. Comparison of three or more groups was accomplished first using a one-way analysis of variance followed by the Newman-Keuls multiple comparison test unless otherwise indicated. The *P*-values are designated as follows: *0.05, **0.01, ***0.001, and ****0.0001. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 5 (La Jolla, CA).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is supported by the grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and Crohn's and Colitis Foundation of Canada (CCFC) to Dr Khan. Dr Khan is a recipient of CIHR New Investigator Award. The authors thank Dr SM Atiqur Rahman for his valuable input.

DISCLOSURE

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

C 2012 Society for Mucosal Immunology

REFERENCES

- Khan, W.I. & Ghia, J.E. Gut hormones: emerging role in immune activation and inflammation. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 161, 19–27 (2010).
- Ersparner, V. Historical introduction: the Italian contribution to the discovery of 5-hydroxytryptamine (enteramine, serotonin). J. Hypertens. 4 (Suppl), S3–S5 (1986).
- Cetin, Y. et al. Enterochromaffin cells of the digestive system: cellular source of guarylin, a guarylate cyclase-activating peptide. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91, 2935–2939 (1994).
- Braun, T. et al. Enterochromaffin cells of the human gut: sensors for spices and odorants. Gastroenterology 132, 1890–1901 (2007).
- Camilleri, M. Serotonin in the gastrointestinal tract. Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes. Obes. 16, 53–59 (2009).
- Gershon, M.D. Serotonin: its role and receptors in enteric neurotransmission. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 294, 221–230 (1991).
- Costedio, M.M., Hyman, N. & Mawe, G.M. Serotonin and its role in colonic function and in gastrointestinal disorders. *Dis. Colon Rectum* 50, 376–388 (2007).
- Spiller, R. Recent advances in understanding the role of serotonin in gastrointestinal motility in functional bowel disorders: alterations in 5-HT signalling and metabolism in human disease. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 19 (Suppl 2), 25–31 (2007).

- Coates, M.D. et al. Molecular defects in mucosal serotonin content and decreased serotonin reuptake transporter in ulcerative colitis and irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology 126, 1657–1664 (2004).
- Magro, F. et al. Impaired synthesis or cellular storage of norepinephrine, doparnine, and 5-hydroxytryptamine in human inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 47, 216–224 (2002).
- Miwa, J. et al. Patients with constipation-predominant irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) may have elevated serotonin concentrations in colonic mucosa as compared with diarrhea-predominant patients and subjects with normal bowel habits. Digestion 63, 188–194 (2001).
- Faure, C. et al. Serotonin signaling is altered in irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea but not in functional dyspepsia in pediatric age patients. Gastroenterology 139, 249–258 (2010).
- Coleman, N.S. et al. Abnormalities of serotonin metabolism and their relation to symptoms in untreated celiac disease. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 4, 874–881 (2006).
- Ataee, R. et al. Anti-mitogenic and apoptotic effects of 5-HT1B receptor antagonist on HT29 colorectal cancer cell line. J. Cancer. Res. Clin. Oncol. 136, 1461–1469 (2010).
- Coogan, P.F., Strom, B.L. & Rosenberg, L. Antidepressant use and colorectal cancer risk. *Pharmacoepidemiol. Drug Saf.* 18, 1111–1114 (2009).
- Costedio, M.M. et al. Serotonin signaling in diverticular disease. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 12, 1439–1445 (2008).
- Moore, B.A., Sharkey, K.A. & Mantle, M. Role of 5-HT in cholera toxininduced mucin secretion in the rat small intestine. *Am. J. Physiol.* 270, G1001–G1009 (1996).
- Grondahl, M.L. et al. Secretory pathways in Salmonella Typhimuriuminduced fluid accumulation in the porcine small intestine. J. Med. Microbiol. 47, 151–157 (1998).
- Kordasti, S. et al. Serotonin and vascactive intestinal peptide antagonists attenuate rotavirus diarrhoea. Gut 53, 952–957 (2004).
- Wheatcroft, J. et al. Enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and decreased serotonin transporter in a mouse model of postinfectious bowel dysfunction. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 17, 863–870 (2005).
- Wang, H. et al. CD4+ T cell-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and 5-hydroxytryptamine production in enteric infection. Gut 56, 949–957 (2007).
- Motornura, Y. et al. Enterochromaffin cell and 5-hydroxytryptamine responses to the same infectious agent differ in Th1 and Th2 dominant environments. Gut 57, 475–481 (2008).
- Ghia, J.E. et al. Serotonin has a key role in pathogenesis of experimental colitis. Gastroenterology 137, 649–1660 (2009).
- Li, N. et al. Serotonin activates dendritic cell function in the context of gut inflammation. Am. J. Pathol. 178, 662–671 (2011).
- Chadwick, V.S. et al. Activation of the mucceal immune system in irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology 122, 1778–1783 (2002).
- Collins, S.M., Piche, T. & Rampal, P. The putative role of inflammation in the irritable bowel syndrome. Gut 49, 743–745 (2001).
- Spiller, R. & Garsed, K. Postinfectious irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology 136, 1979–1988 (2009).
- Yang, G.B. & Lackner, A.A. Proximity between 5-HT secreting enteroendocrine cells and lymphocytes in the gut mucosa of rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta) is suggestive of a role for enterochromaffin cell 5-HT in mucosal immunity. J. Neuroimmunol. 146, 46–49 (2004).

- Evers, B.M. et al. The human carcinoid cell line, BON. A model system for the study of carcinoid tumors. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 733, 393–406 (1994).
- Li, J. et al. Phorbol ester-mediated neurotensin secretion is dependent on the PKC-alpha and -delta isoforms. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 283, G1197–G1206 (2002).
- Walther, D.J. et al. Synthesis of serotonin by a second tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. Science 299, 76 (2003).
- Walther, D.J. & Bader, M. A unique central tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 66, 1673–1680 (2003).
- Vikman, S. et al. Gene expression in midgut carcinoid tumors: potential targets for immunotherapy. Acta. Oncol. 44, 32–40 (2005).
- Qian, B.F., El-Salhy, M., Melgar, S., Hammarstrom, M.L. & Danielsson, A. Neuroendocrine changes in colon of mice with a disrupted IL-2 gene. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **120**, 424–433 (2000).
- Rubin, D.C. et al. Altered enteroendocrine cell expression in T cell receptor alpha chain knock-out mice. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 51, 112–120 (2000).
- O'Hara, J.R. et al. Consequences of Citrobacter rodentium infection on enteroendocrine cells and the enteric nervous system in the mouse colon. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 646–660 (2006).
- Sun, X. et al. Circadian 5-HT production regulated by adrenergic signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99, 4686–4691 (2002).
- Sugden, D. Comparison of circadian expression of tryptophan hydroxylase isoform mRNAs in the rat pineal gland using real-time PCR. J. Neurochem. 86, 1308–1311 (2003).
- Huang, Z. et al. Posttranslational regulation of TPH1 is responsible for the nightly surge of 5-HT output in the rat pineal gland. J. Pineal Res. 45, 506–514 (2008).
- Silva, S.R. et al. The effect of PTEN on serotonin synthesis and secretion from the carcinoid cell line BON. Anticancer Res. 31, 1153–1160 (2011).
- Kuhn, D.M., Arthur, R. Jr & States, J.C. Phosphorylation and activation of brain tryptophan hydroxylase: identification of serine-58 as a substrate site for protein kinase A. J. Neurochem. 68, 2220–2223 (1997).
- Kurner, S.C. et al. Amino-terminal analysis of tryptophan hydroxylase: protein kinase phosphorylation occurs at serine-58. J. Neurochem. 69, 1738–1745 (1997).
- Ishizuka, J. et al. Receptor-mediated autocrine growth-stimulatory effect of 5-hydroxytryptamine on cultured human pancreatic carcinoid cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 150, 1–7 (1992).
- Godfrey, D.I., MacDonald, H.R., Kronenberg, M., Smyth, M.J. & Van Kaer, L. NKT cells: what's in a name? Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4, 231–237 (2004).
- McKenzie, G.J. et al. A distinct role for interleukin-13 in Th2-cell-mediated immune responses. Curr. Biol. 8, 339–342 (1998).
- Wakelin, D. Studies on the immunity of albino mice to Trichuris muris. The stimulation of immunity by chemically abbreviated infections. *Parasitology* 59, 549–555 (1969).
- Else, K.J. et al. The influence of genes mapping within the major histocompatibility complex on resistance to Trichuris muris infections in mice. Parasitology 101, 61–67 (1990).
- Vandesompele, J. et al. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. Genome Biol. 3, RESEARCH0034 (2002).
- Smith, J.W. & Castro, G.A. Relation of peroxidase activity in gut mucosa to inflammation. Am. J. Physiol. 234, R72–R79 (1978).

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

-CHAPTER 4-

INTERLEUKIN 13 AND SEROTONIN: LINKING THE IMMUNE AND ENDOCRINE SYSTEMS IN MURINE MODELS OF INTESTINAL

INFLAMMATION.

Interleukin-13 and Serotonin: Linking the Immune and Endocrine Systems in Murine Models of Intestinal Inflammation.

Shajib MS, Wang H, Kim JJ, Sunjic I, Ghia JE, Denou E, Collins M, Denburg JA, and Khan WI.

The material in this chapter was published in PLoS One (PMID: 24015275).

PLoS One. 2013 Aug 28;8(8):e72774. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072774. eCollection 2013.

Reprinted with permission.

Preface: This work was conducted over the period of December 2010- July 2013. WIK (my supervisor), JAD (Professor, McMaster) and I conceived the idea for the original experiment of administrating DSS to IL-13-KO and WT mice. All other experiments included in this manuscript stemmed from the original experiment and was conceived by WIK and I. I designed and performed all experiments included in this manuscript with technical assistance from HW (Technician; macrophages isolation experiment), JJK (Graduate student; observer unaware of experimental conditions), IS (undergraduate student; F4/80+ staining), MC (undergraduate student; 5-HT+ staining). I analyzed and interpreted the data as well as wrote and prepared the manuscript for publication. JEG (Professor, University of Manitoba) and ED (Post-Doctorate fellow) contributed scientific input and critically appraised the manuscript. WIK oversaw the project and edited the manuscript.

Summary and significance of findings: In this study, we identified the up-regulation of IL-13 in DSS-induced colitis. In addition to that, we observed decreased severity of DSS-induced colitis in IL-13-KO mice as compared to WT. Furthermore, by treating IL-13-KO mice with mouse IL-13 and 5-HTP we establish that the increased production of mucosal 5-HT mediates the pathologic influence of IL-13 in DSS-induced colitis. We also observed reduced cell proliferation in association with IL-13 deficiency in DSS-induced colitis. Additionally, we found that IL-13 deficiency associated down-regulation of 5-HT production results in decreased severity of DNBS-induced colitis in IL-13-KO mice in comparison with WT. Our findings in this study, establish the inflammatory role of IL-13 as mediated by 5-HT in chemical models of colitis.



This broad license was developed to facilitate open access to, and free use of, original works of all types. Applying this standard license to your own work will ensure your right to make your work freely and openly available. Learn more about open access. For queries about the license, please contact us.

Ambra 2.8.1 Managed Colocation provided by Internet Systems Consortium.

Privacy Policy | Terms of Use | Advertise | Media Inquiries

Publications plos.org PLOS Biology Blogs PLOS Medicine PLOS Computational Biology PLOS Currents PLOS Genetics PLOS Pathogens PLOS ONE PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases

Collections Send us feedback

Interleukin 13 and Serotonin: Linking the Immune and Endocrine Systems in Murine Models of Intestinal Inflammation

Md. Sharif Shajib^{1,2}, Huaqing Wang^{1,2}, Janice J. Kim^{1,2}, Ivana Sunjic^{1,2}, Jean-Eric Ghia³, Emmanuel Denou^{2,4}, Matthew Collins^{1,2}, Judah A. Denburg⁴, Waliul I. Khan^{1,2,5}*

1 Famcombe Family Digestive Health Research Institute, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 2 Department of Pathology & Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 3 Department of Immunology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada, 4 Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 5 Hamilton Regional Laboratory Medicine Program, Hamilton Health Sciences, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Abstract

Objective: Infiltration of activated immune cells and increased cytokine production define the immunophenotype of gastrointestinal (GI) inflammation. In addition, intestinal inflammation is accompanied by alteration in the numbers of serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT) synthesizing enterochromaffin (EC) cells and in 5-HT amount. It has been established that EC cells express interleukin (IL)-13 receptor, additionally IL-13 has been implicated in the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis. In this study, we investigated the role of IL-13 mediated 5-HT signaling in pathogenesis of colitis.

Methodology: Colitis was induced in IL-13 deficient (IL-13-/-) and wild-type (WT) mice with dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) and dinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (DNBS), as well as in IL-13-/- mice given recombinant mouse IL-13 (rmIL-13) and 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HTP), the direct precursor of 5-HT.

Principal Findings and Conclusion: Elevated colonic IL-13 levels were observed in WT mice receiving DSS in comparison to control. IL-13-/- mice administered DSS exhibited significantly reduced severity of colitis compared to WT mice as reflected by macroscopic and histological damage assessments. Following DSS administration, significantly lower proinflammatory cytokine production and fewer infiltrating macrophages were observed in IL-13-/- mice compared to WT. The reduced severity of colitis observed in IL-13-/- mice was also accompanied by down-regulation of EC cell numbers and colonic 5-HT content. In addition, increasing colonic 5-HT content by administration of rmIL-13 or 5-HTP exacerbated severity of DSS colitis in IL-13-/- mice. IL-13-/- mice also exhibited reduced severity of DNBS-induced colitis. These results demonstrate that IL-13 plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of experimental colitis and 5-HT is an important mediator of IL-13 driven intestinal inflammation. This study revealed important information on immune-endocrine axis in gut in relation to inflammation which may ultimately lead to better strategy in managing various intestinal inflammatory conditions including inflammatory bowel disease.

Citation: Shajib MS, Wang H, Kim JJ, Sunjic I, Ghia J-E, et al. (2013) Interleukin 13 and Serotonin: Linking the Immune and Endocrine Systems in Murine Models of Intestinal Inflammation. PLoS ONE 8(8): e72774. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774

Editor: Andreas Zirlik, University Heart Center Freiburg, Germany

Received April 7, 2013; Accepted July 12, 2013; Published August 28, 2013

Copyright: © 2013 Shajib et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This work is funded by Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and by Crohn's and Colitis Foundation of Canada (CCFC) grants awarded to Dr. Waliul I. Khan. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: khanwal@mcmaster.ca

Introduction

Intestinal inflammation is characterized by mucosal recruitment of activated cells from both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system; [1] this is exemplified in both Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). CD and UC have distinct immunophenotypes. [2] Whereas CD is due to a T helper (Th)1/ Th17 type response, UC is considered to be an atypical Th2 disease. [2,3] Increased levels of interleukin (IL)-13 and IL-5, but not IL-4, have been observed in association with UC and recently, it was identified that a non-invariant subset of natural killer T (NKT) cells are the source of this increased IL-13 production in these patients. [2,4,5] Moreover, targeted inhibition of IL-13 by interferon (IFN)-β-1a yielded promising results in UC patients responsive to the treatment, further implicating IL-13 in the pathogenesis of UC. [6]. This notion is supported by findings in animal model of UC, namely the oxazolone model. [7,8] These studies reflect the great strides made in mucosal immunology regarding the immunopathogenesis of CD and UC. However, the effects of the distinct immunophenotypes of these inflammatory conditions on the coexisting entero-endocrine system within the gastrointestinal (GI) tract are yet to be fully understood.

The entero-endocrine system is a collection of specialized epithelial cells that establishes the GI tract as the largest endocrine system in the human body. [9] Enterochromaffin (EC) cells are the best characterized enteric endocrine cells and are the main source of serotonin (5-hydroxytryptaime; 5-HT) in the GI tract. 5-HT is considered to be an important enteric mucosal signalling molecule with vital roles in the physiology and inflammatory conditions of the gut. [10] Changes in EC cell numbers and 5-HT content have been associated with various GI disorders, including CD and UC. [11] Similarly, alterations in normal 5-HT signalling has been reported in various animal models of intestinal inflammation, [1,12,13] and given the strategic location of EC cells in the gut mucosa, [14] it is likely that they are mediators of the cross-talk between the immune and the entero-endocrine systems. Providing evidence for immune regulation of EC cell biology, we have shown that 5-HT production in the gut can be regulated by CD4+ T cells, and EC cell numbers and colonic 5-HT content differ in different cytokine milieu. [15,16] EC cells express IL-13 receptor alpha1-chain (IL-13R α 1); in addition, IL-13 has been shown to up-regulate tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH)-1 protein expression and 5-HT production, both in an *in vivo* model of enteric infection and *in vitro* using a model for human EC cells [16,17].

In view of the critical role of 5-HT signalling in the generation of intestinal inflammation, [10,18] and the connection of IL-13 in pathogenesis of IBD, specifically of UC, in the present study we investigated the role of IL-13 in the pathogenesis of colitis in the context of gut 5-HT production in two different models of experimental colitis [dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) and dinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (DNBS)]. We hypothesized that the IL-13-EC cell/5-HT axis is important in the pathogenesis of colitis whereby manipulation of the immune system to alter IL-13 production will modulate 5-HT production as well as the severity of colitis. Our study revealed an important role of IL-13 in the generation of intestinal inflammation in relation to 5-HT production and demonstrated that IL-13 gene deficient mice, which have less 5-HT, are better protected against these models of inflammation, and in vivo replenishment of 5-HT abrogates these benefits. These results identified 5-HT as an important mediator of IL-13 driven intestinal inflammation.

Materials and Methods

Ethics Statement

Animal protocols used for the study were in accordance with McMaster University Animal Care Committee and guidelines set by Canadian Council of the Use of Laboratory Animals. The protocols were approved by Animal Research Ethics Board (AREB)-McMaster University (AUP #11-04-16).

Animals

Male IL-13 deficient mice on BALB/c background (IL-13-/-) [19] (gift from Dr. Manel Jordan, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON) and age matched wild-type (WT) counterparts were used for the purposes of these experiments. All mice were kept in sterilized, filter-topped cages, fed autoclaved food at a temperature of $21-22^{\circ}$ C and with 12 h light and 12 h dark cycle in the McMaster University central animal facility. The animals were allowed to acclimatize for 1 week prior to the start of any experiments.

Induction of DSS and DNBS Colitis

DSS (mol wt. 36-54 kilodaltons: ICN Biomedicals Inc, Soho, OH) was added to drinking water at 5% weight/volume for five days. The average DSS consumption per cage was recorded every day for the duration of the experiment. For induction of DNBS colitis, mice were anesthetized with isoflurane (Abbott, Toronto, Canada) prior to intrarectal (IR) instillation of DNBS (3 mg in 100 μ L of 50% ethanol; ICN Biomedicals Inc.), or 50% ethanol as vehicle, via a 10-cm-long PE-90 tubing (ClayAdam, Parsippany, NJ), attached to a tuberculin syringe, inserted 3.5 cm into the colon. All groups were supplied with 6% sucrose in drinking water to prevent dehydration.

Experimental Design

DSS colitis was induced by orally administering 5% DSS in drinking water for 5 days. In a separate experiment, IL-13-/mice were injected subcutaneously with 100 mg/kg of 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) (Sigma–Aldrich, Mississauga, Canada) twice daily for 8 days beginning 3 days prior to induction of DSS colitis; whereas, the control IL-13-/- mice received saline as vehicle. In another experiment, IL-13-/- mice received recombinant mouse (rm)IL-13 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) at a dose of 2 μ g/day, starting 3 days before a 5 day period of DSS administration. In DNBS colitis, mice were euthanized 3 days post-DNBS administration. For all experiments, animals were anaesthetized prior to euthanization via cervical dislocation at the conclusion of each experiment or if they reached a predetermined end point (ie, loss of \geq 20% body weight and/or significant deterioration of body condition).

Evaluation of Inflammation

For the duration of all experiments, the weights of the mice were recorded daily, and were expressed as a percentage of body weight prior to induction of colitis. Percentage of body weight lost in combination with stool consistency and feces bleeding comprised the disease activity index (DAI). [20] Macroscopic scoring was performed immediately after the mice were sacrificed using previously established scoring system for DSS and DNBS. [20,21] Categories evaluated for DSS macroscopic scores included, rectal bleeding, rectal prolapse, diarrhea and colonic bleeding, whereas the DNBS macroscopic scores reflect numerical values assigned to the categories, adhesion, hyperaemia, thickness, fecal consistency, number of ulcers and sizes. For the purposes of histological scoring, colonic segments collected during sacrifice were fixed in 10% phosphate buffered formalin and stained with H&E. Colonic damage was assessed based on a published scoring system that considered loss of architectural, degree of inflammatory cell infiltrate, goblet cell depletion, muscle thickening and crypt abscess. [20,21] Myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity was determined using a previously published method and is expressed as unit per mg of tissue [22].

Colonic Immunohistochemistry and Peritoneal Macrophage Culture

Immunohistochemical studies of Ki-67 positive cells, 5-HT expressing EC cells and F4/80 positive macrophages were performed on paraffin-wax-embedded colonic sections, as previously described. [1,10,15,23] Primary antibody used for Ki-67 immunohistochemisrty was a rabbit anti-Ki67 antibody (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), for 5-HT was a rabbit anti-5-HT antibody (Immunostar, Hudson, WI) and for F4/80 was a rat anti-mouse F4/80 antibody (AbD Serotec, Kidlington, UK). Immunostained sections were observed at $200 \times$ magnification and the number of Ki-67 positive cells, 5-HT positive EC cells were expressed as number of positive cells per I and 10 gland, respectively, and F4/80 positive macrophage areas were quantified using ImageJ (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) and expressed as a percent of total area.

For macrophage culture, peritoneal cavity cells were collected from WT and IL-13-/- mice with or without DSS treatment and cultured as described previously. [10] Cells were plated at a concentration of 3.0×10^6 cells per millilitre, and treated with either lipopolysaccharides (LPS); (100 ng/mL; Sigma-Aldrich) or



Figure 1. Effects of IL-13 deficiency in DSS-induced colitis. WT and IL-13-/- mice were administered 5% DSS in drinking water to induce colitis. Control mice received water without DSS. (A) Colonic IL-13 levels in WT mice with or without DSS. (B) Disease activity index (DAI). (C) Macroscopic damage score in DSS-induced colitis on day 5 after DSS induced colitis and in mice without colitis. (D) Histological damage assessment on day 5 post-DSS administration. (i) And (ii) Light micrograph of H&E-stained colonic section. DAI data represented as mean \pm SEM from 5 mice per group; *represents statistical significance where p<0.05; # significantly lower disease activity in IL-13-/- mice receiving DSS compared to WT mice receiving DSS.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.g001



Figure 2. Effects of IL-13 deficiency on MPO activity and colonic cytokine levels in DSS-induced colitis. WT and IL-13-/- mice were given 5% DSS in drinking water to induce colitis and were sacrificed on day 5 post-DSS administration. (A) MPO activity, (B) IL-1 β (C) IL-6 (D) IL-17 and (E) IL-4 levels in colonic tissues. *Represents statistical significance where p<0.05. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.g002

5-HT (10⁻¹⁰ mol/L; Sigma-Aldrich) or both for 24 hours. The culture supernatant were collected and stored in -80°C until determination of cytokine levels using Bioplex protein array system (Bio-Rad Inc, Hercules, CA).

Serum IL-13 and Tissue Cytokine Levels

Blood was collected via intra-cardiac puncture from anesthetized (isoflurane) mice following five and eight days of DSS and rmIL-13 treatment, respectively. Colonic samples were homoge-



Figure 3. Effects of IL-13 deficiency in DSS-induced colitis. WT and IL-13-/- mice were given 5% DSS in drinking water to induce colitis. (A) Number of 5-HT expressing EC cells per 10 glands and colonic sections immunostained for 5-HT expressing EC cells after 5 days of DSS administration in WT and IL-13-/- mice. (B) Colonic 5-HT amount. (i) and (ii) Representative micrograph and arrows indicate 5-HT expressing EC cells. *Represents statistical significance where p<0.05. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.g003

nized in 1 ml of Tris HCl buffer containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich). Samples were centrifuged and the supernatant was collected and frozen at -80°C until assay. Cytokine levels in tissue and serum were determined using

| Table | 1. Effects | of 5-HT | on | pro-inflammatory | cytokine |
|--------|------------|---------|----|------------------|----------|
| produc | ction. | | | | |

| <i>in vitro</i> treatment | IL-1β | 3 | IL-6 | |
|------------------------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|
| | WT | IL-13-/- | WT | IL-13-/- |
| Media | 15.53±3.13 | 12.95±1.59 | 6.88±0.67 | 4.67±1.96 |
| 5-HT | 22.07±1.48 | 15.26±4.33 | 12.42±0.93 | 11.83±1.16 |

Effects of 5-HT on IL-1 β and IL-6 production by peritoneal macrophages isolated from WT and IL-13-/- following DSS administration. Data is expressed as percent increase with respect to their controls; mean \pm SEM of 4 to 6 mice in each group done in triplicates.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.t001

commercial available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (R&D Systems).

Determination of Colonic 5-HT Levels

Colonic 5-HT levels were determined for all *in vivo* experiments as previously described. [15] Briefly, colonic tissues were weighed and were homogenized in 0.2 N perchloric acid. Following centrifugation at 10,000 g for 5 minutes, the supernatant was collected and the pH was neutralized using 1 M borate buffer. The supernatant was stored in -80°C until analysis of 5-HT levels using commercially available ELISA kits (Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA). 5-HT content was expressed as a function of wet weight (ng/mg).

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) and results are represented as mean or percentage of control. Student's t-test and one way ANOVA followed by the Newman-Keuls multiple comparison test



WT + 5%DSS

IL-13-/- + 5% DSS

Figure 4. F4/80 positive macrophage infiltration in DSS-induced colitis in WT and IL-13-/- mice. F4/80 positive area, positive stained areas expressed as the percent of the total area. (i) and (ii) Representative micrographs. *Represents statistical significance where p<0.05. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.g004

were used where appropriate and a p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

IL-13 Deficiency is Associated with Decreased 5-HT Production and Severity of DSS Colitis

Colonic IL-13 levels are significantly increased in WT mice on day 5 post-DSS as compared to controls without DSS (Figure 1A). IL-13-/- mice exhibited significantly reduced disease activity compared to WT mice post-DSS administration (Figure 1B). Reduced disease activity was consistently observed in IL-13-/mice, compared to WT mice, regardless of litters, cages and time of the experiment (Figure S1). IL-13-/- mice also had marked reductions in macroscopic and histological damage scores (Figure 1C and D). Reduction in the severity of DSS colitis was associated with significantly lower MPO activity, as well as reduced IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-17 production in IL-13-/- mice (Figure 2A-D). However, IL-4 levels observed were not significantly different amongst any of the groups (Figure 2E).

In this study, significantly reduced 5-HT expressing EC cell numbers were observed in IL-13-/- mice following induction of DSS colitis compared to WT mice (Figure 3A). There was also reduced colonic 5-HT content in IL-13-/- mice in comparison to WT mice (Figure 3B). Recently we have identified a role of IL-13 in murine EC cell biology and BON cell hyperplasia, BON cells are human carcinoid cells that secrete 5-HT thus used as a model of EC cells. [17] In this study, we observed significantly increased in Ki-67 positive cells in WT mice after induction of DSS colitis in WT mice but this DSS-induced up-regulation of epithelial cell proliferation was not evident in IL-13-/- mice (Figure S2). Taken together, these observations suggest that IL-13 plays an important role in EC cell biology and 5-HT production and in generation of inflammation in DSS colitis.

Dampened Response in Cytokine Production by Peritoneal Macrophages and Fewer Activated Macrophages in Mice Lacking IL-13 Following DSS Administration

Reduced 5-HT production in the gut has previously been associated with fewer infiltrating F4/80 positive macrophages in experimental colitis. [10] Consequently, the reduced production of 5-HT observed in the IL-13-/- mice was accompanied by fewer infiltrating macrophages in their colonic segments following DSS treatment in comparison with WT mice (Figure 4). Earlier work in our lab established that, 5-HT stimulation increases IL-1 β and IL-6 production by peritoneal resident macrophages. [10]. In the current study, it was observed that macrophages isolated from IL-13-/- mice had dampened cytokine production in comparison to WT mice as revealed when normalized to their respective controls (Table 1) and in culture treatment with 5-HT was able to reverse these effects in IL-13-/- macrophages (Table 1).



Figure 5. Effects of 5-HTP administration in IL-13—/— mice in DSS-induced colitis. 5-HTP 100 mg/kg treatment started 3 days prior to 5 days of 5% DSS administration, control groups received saline. (A) Colonic 5-HT levels (B) DAI (C) Macroscopic scores (D) Histological scores (i) and (ii) Representative light micrograph of an H&E-stained colonic section. From colonic tissue (E) IL-1 β and (F) IL-6 levels. DAI data represented as mean \pm SEM from 4 to 6 mice; *represents statistical significance where p<0.05; #significant difference between IL-13–/— +5-HTP and IL-13–/— +saline, both groups receiving DSS; # indicates no significant difference between IL-13–/— groups receiving saline as vehicle. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.g005

Increased Availability of 5-HT Exacerbates Severity of Colitis in IL-13 Deficiency

To evaluate the role of decreased 5-HT production in IL-13-/ – mice and its significance in the reduced severity of DSS-colitis in these animals, we treated IL-13-/- mice with 5-HTP, the direct precursor of 5-HT. A significant increase in colonic 5-HT content was observed in IL-13-/- mice receiving 5-HTP compared to IL-13-/- receiving vehicle following induction of DSS colitis (Figure 5A). IL-13-/- mice treated with 5-HTP had significantly higher disease activity scores compared to the vehicle treated group (Figure 5B). Post-mortem macroscopic assessment and histopathological evaluation also revealed significant enhancement of severity of colitis in IL-13-/- mice that received 5-HTP as compared to the IL-13-/- mice that received vehicle (Figure 5C and D). This increase in severity of colitis observed in 5-HTP treated groups was also resulted in increased levels of colonic IL-1 β and IL-6 (Figure 5E and F).

Replenishment of IL-13 Levels in IL-13-/- Mice Increases Severity of Colitis

To confirm the effects of IL-13 in 5-HT production and in turn severity of colitis, we reconstituted IL-13-/- mice with rmIL-13. Administration of rmIL-13 significantly increased IL-13 levels in IL-13-/- mice (524.82 ± 120.81 pg/ml) compared to mice receiving vehicle (below the level of detection). Restoration of IL-13 levels in IL-13-/- mice were associated with increased severity of DSS-induced colitis and increased levels of MPO activity (Figure 6A-D). Along with increased severity of colitis, a significant increase in 5-HT expressing EC cell numbers and 5-HT production was observed in the IL-13-/- mice receiving rmIL-13 compared to IL-13-/- mice receiving vehicle (Figure 7 A and B).

IL-13 Deficiency Associated Down-regulation of 5-HT has Protective Effects in DNBS- Colitis

To investigate whether decreased 5-HT production and reduced severity of colitis observed in IL-13-/- mice was restricted to the DSS model; we induced DNBS colitis in IL-13-/- mice. Post-DNBS administration, we observed significantly reduced macroscopic and histological damage in IL-13-/- mice in comparison to WT mice (Figure 8A and B). There was also significant reduction in colonic IL-1 β , IL-6 levels and MPO activity observed in the IL-13-/- mice (Figure 8 C-E). In addition, there was a significant down-regulation of 5-HT production observed in the IL-13-/- mice in comparison to WT mice following DNBS-induced colitis (Figure 8F).

Discussion

IBD affects approximately 1.4 million people in North America and costs the healthcare system upwards of \$2 billion every year. [24] Although the exact etiology of IBD is not known, studies have provided evidence that dysregulated immune response, genetic factors, gut flora, and environmental factors contribute to the pathogenesis of IBD. [25] Alterations in EC cell population, the main source of our body's 5-HT, have been associated with these disorders. [11] Considering the close proximity between lymphocytes and EC cells in the gut mucosa, it is not farfetched to infer that these cells are the gatekeepers at the critical junction of immuno-endocrine interaction, though the mechanism of how the immune and the endocrine systems influence each other and how their interactions may shape the progression or regression of disease is still not well understood. In the current study, using two different models of experimental colitis, we identified 5-HT as an important arbitrator of IL-13-mediated gut inflammation.

IL-13 is a pleiotropic cytokine that exerts its influence on various cell types, including epithelial cells, macrophages, smooth muscle cells and neurons. [26] A plethora of immune cells produce IL-13, [26] and a subset of NKT cells have been identified as the source of increased IL-13 production in patients with UC. [5] Previously, our lab has shown that, in enteric infection driven intestinal inflammation as well as in human model of EC cells, IL-13 plays a vital role in the up-regulation of the rate-limiting enzyme TPH-1 and in turn 5-HT production. [17] It has also been demonstrated that a Th2 immunophenotype is more apt in the regulation of EC cell biology relative to a Th1 immunophenotype. [15] In this study, for the first time, we report a significant increase in colonic IL-13 levels following DSS administration; this is in line with findings in other models of UC. [8] Using IL-13 deficient mice we observed that these mice suffered from reduced severity of colitis and had significantly fewer 5-HT expressing EC cells and lower 5-HT content in the gut. Traditionally, IL-13 deficiency is not associated with depressed inflammatory cytokines production; [27] we postulated that it is the lower colonic 5-HT content that is responsible for the decreased severity of colitis observed in IL-13-/- mice. This became evident when severity of colitis in IL-13-/- mice increased following enhancement of colonic 5-HT amount via 5-HTP treatment, which was also marked by the increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines.

5-HT is an important neurotransmitter of the central nervous system and is studied extensively for its role in regulating behavior, appetite and energy expenditure. [28,29] What is often underappreciated is that the vast majority of 5-HT in the body is found in GI tract not the central nervous system. Recently, our lab has shown that 5-HT plays a key role in generation of inflammation and immune activation. [10,30] By subjecting TPH-1 deficient (TPH-1-/-) mice, which have significantly reduced colonic 5-HT content, to DSS and DNBS models of colitis, it was demonstrated that the TPH-1-/- group experienced significantly reduced severity colitis and had lower production of proinflammatory cytokines. [10] Ghia and colleagues [10] also established the role of 5-HT in recruitment and in the induction of a pro-inflammatory phenotype in macrophages. Given the reduced production of colonic 5-HT observed in the IL-13 deficient group following DSS treatment we anticipated that there would be reduced number of infiltrating macrophages in these animals, and this was confirmed by fewer F4/80 positive macrophages observed in the colonic segments of IL-13-/mice. In addition, we observed that macrophages isolated from IL-13-/- mice had a dampened response following DSS administration in comparison to WT, and their response was bolstered following in culture 5-HT treatment. Thus, revealing how regulation of 5-HT production by IL-13 may mediate inflammation.



Figure 6. Effects of replenishment of IL-13 in DSS-induced colitis. IL-13-/- mice were treated with mIL-13 (2 μ g/day) injections or vehicle. rmIL-13 treatment started 3 days prior to 5 days of 5% DSS treatment. All groups received 5% DSS in the drinking water to induce colitis. (A) DAI. (B) Macroscopic damage score (C) Histologic scores and (D) MPO activity. (i) and (ii) Representative light micrograph of an H&E-stained colonic section. DAI data represented as mean \pm SEM from 4 mice; *represents statistical significance where p<0.05; a, b and c represents statistically significant difference in disease activity scores on days indicated, where p<0.05. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.g006

To further explore the role of the IL-13-5-HT axis in severity of DSS-induced colitis, we replenished IL-13 content in IL-13-/-mice and found that this resulted in a significant increase in

severity of colitis as reflected by the disease activity index, macroscopic and histological damage assessment. Elevation of IL-13 levels was once again marked by a significant increase in



IL-13-/- +vehicle +5% DSS IL-13-/- +rmIL-13 +5% DSS

Figure 7. Effects of replenishment of IL-13 in DSS-induced colitis. IL-13-/- mice were treated with mIL-13 (2 µg/day) injections or vehicle. rmIL-13 treatment started 3 days prior to 5 days of 5% DSS treatment. All groups received 5% DSS in the drinking water to induce colitis. (A) Number of 5-HT expressing EC cells per 10 glands and (B) colonic 5-HT content. (i) and (ii) Representative micrograph and arrows indicate 5-HT expressing EC cells. *Represents statistical significance where p<0.05. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.g007

colonic 5-HT content as well as 5-HT expressing EC cell numbers. The increased production of IL-13 and the resulting increase in 5-HT observed in the DSS model of colitis and the role of 5-HT in the other models of colitis previously observed, prompted investigation into the effects of this association in another model of experimental colitis. DNBS-induced colitis is a well-defined Th1 based model of transmural inflammation of the colon that may be considered a model of Crohn's disease. [31], [32] As with DSSinduced colitis, we observed significant reduction in colonic inflammation in IL-13-/- mice following intrarectal challenge with DNBS. The attenuation of DNBS-induced colitis in IL-13-/ - mice was observed in macroscopic and microscopic scores as well as MPO activity and pro-inflammatory cytokine production. We also observed a markedly reduced production of 5-HT in IL-13-/- mice. Of note, the 5-HT production observed in DNBS colitis was uniformly lower in all experimental groups compared to levels observed in DSS model. This is most likely due to the differences between the two models of colitis utilized. However, previously established differences in 5-HT content in Th1 and Th2 environments may also underlie such differences observed [15].

In conclusion, we have shown that 5-HT plays a pivotal mediating role in IL-13 driven intestinal inflammation. This study is the first to report an important role of IL-13 in generation of inflammation in two different experimental models (DSS and DNBS) of colitis and also identifies 5-HT as a vital factor in pathogenesis of IL-13-mediated colitis. In consideration with the recent reports of elevated IL-13 levels observed in patients with UC [6,33] and alterations in EC cells numbers and 5-HT production accompanying different GI disorders, including IBD, [34] the findings of this study shed light on novel immuneendocrine interactions in the gut that may ultimately lead to improved therapeutic strategies in the battle against pathological intestinal inflammation.





WT+3mg DNBS



IL-13-/- + 3mg DNBS

Figure 8. Effects of lack of IL-13 in DNBS-induced colitis. WT and IL-13 –/– mice were given DNBS (3 mg/100 μ L) in 50% ethanol solution. All controls received 50% ethanol via intrarectal installation. Mice were sacrificed on day 3 following induction of DNBS colitis. (A) Macroscopic scores and (B) Histologic scores. (i) and (ii) Representative micrographs. From colonic tissue (C) IL-1 β (D) IL-6 levels (E) MPO activity, and (F) 5-HT levels. *Represents statistical significance where p<0.05. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072774.g008

Supporting Information

Figure S1 Effects of IL-13 deficiency in DSS-induced colitis were not influenced by cages, litters or time. WT and IL-13-/- mice were given 5% DSS in drinking water for 5 days to induce colitis. All control animals received water without DSS. (A) and (B) Disease activity index (DAI) from two separate experiments evaluating the categories weight loss, stool consistency and feces bleeding demonstrate that the DAI did not differ between cages, litters or time. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM from 3 to 5 mice for each experiment; # represents statistically significant difference (p<0.05) between IL-13-/- mice and WT mice administered DSS. (PDF)

Figure S2 Effects of IL-13 deficiency in DSS-induced colitis and cell proliferation. WT and IL-13-/- mice were given 5% DSS in drinking water for 5 days to induce colitis. All control animals received water without DSS. Colonic sections of WT and IL-13-/- mice with or without DSS were immuno-stained with anti- Ki-67 antibody. Representative micrograph of (A) WT mice post-DSS and (B) IL-13-/- mice post-DSS. (C) Number of Ki-67⁺ cells per gland. * p<0.05; **p<0.01. (PDF)

Acknowledgments

Drs. Marcus Manocha and Shahzad Nawaz Syed for valuable discussion and Dr. Manel Jordana for IL-13-/- mice.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: MSS JAD WIK. Performed the experiments: MSS HW JIK IS JG ED MC. Analyzed the data: MSS HW. Wrote the paper: MSS WIK.

References

- Khan WI, Motomura Y, Wang H, El-Sharkawy RT, Verdu EF, et al. (2006) Critical role of MCP-1 in the pathogenesis of experimental colitis in the context of immune and enterochromaffin cells. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 291: G803.
- Bamias G, Kaltsa G, Ladas SD (2011) Cytokines in the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis. Discov Med 11: 459–467.
- Strober W, Fuss IJ (2011) Proinflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology 140: 1756–1767. el.
- Heller F, Florian P, Bojarski C, Richter J, Christ M, et al. (2005) Interleukin-13 is the key effector Th2 cytokine in ulcerative colitis that affects epithelial tight junctions, apoptosis, and cell restitution. Gastroenterology 129: 550–564.
- Fuss IJ, Heller F, Boirivant M, Leon F, Yoshida M, et al. (2004) Nonclassical CD1d-restricted NK T cells that produce IL-13 characterize an atypical Th2 response in ulcerative colitis. J Clin Invest 113: 1490–1497.
- Mannon PJ, Hornung RL, Yang Z, Yi C, Groden C, et al. (2011) Suppression of inflammation in ulcerative colitis by interferon-β-la is accompanied by inhibition of IL-13 production. Gut 60: 449.
- Boirivant M, Fuss JJ, Chu A, Strober W (1998) Oxazolone colitis: A murine model of T helper cell type 2 colitis treatable with antibodies to interleukin 4. J Exp Med 188: 1929.
- Heller F, Fuss IJ, Nieuwenhuis EE, Blumberg RS, Strober W (2002) Oxazolone colitis, a Th2 colitis model resembling ulcerative colitis, is mediated by IL-13producing NK-T cells. Immunity 17: 629–638.
- Miller LJ (1999) Gastrointestinal hormones and receptors. In: Yamada T, Alpers DH, Laine L, Owyang C, Powell DW, editors. Textbook of Gastroentorology (3rd ed.) Philadelphia: Lippincott-Williams and Wilkins. 35–66.
- Ghia JE, Li N, Wang H, Collins M, Deng Y, et al. (2009) Serotonin has a key role in pathogenesis of experimental colitis. Gastroenterology 137: 1649–1660. 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.08.041.
- Khan WI, Ghia JE (2010) Gut hormones: Emerging role in immune activation and inflammation. Clinical & Experimental Immunology 161: 19–27.
- Oshima S, Fujimura M, Fukimiya M (1999) Changes in number of serotonincontaining cells and serotonin levels in the intestinal mucosa of rats with colitis induced by dextran sodium sulfate. Histochem Cell Biol 112: 257–263.
- Linden DR, Chen JX, Gershon MD, Sharkey KA, Mawe GM (2003) Serotonin availability is increased in mucosa of guinea pigs with TNBS-induced colitis. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 285: G207.
- Yang GB, Lackner AA (2004) Proximity between 5-HT secreting enteroendocrine cells and lymphocytes in the gut mucosa of rhesus macaques (macaca mulatta) is suggestive of a role for enterochromaffin cell 5-HT in mucosal immunity. J Neuroimmunol 146: 46–49.
- Motomura Y, Ghia JE, Wang H, Akiho H, El-Sharkawy RT, et al. (2008) Enterochromaffin cell and 5-hydroxytryptamine responses to the same infectious agent differ in Th1 and Th2 dominant environments. Gut 57: 475.
- Wang H, Steeds J, Motomura Y, Deng Y, Verma-Gandhu M, et al. (2007) CD4 T cell-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and 5-hydroxytryptamine production in enteric infection. Gut 56: 949.

- Manocha MM, Shajib MS, Rahman MM, Wang H, Rengasamy P, et al. (2012) IL-13-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and serotonin production in the gut. Mucosal Immunology 6: 146–55.
- Kim JJ, Bridle BW, Ghia JE, Wang H, Syed SN, et al. (2013) Targeted inhibition of serotonin type 7 (5-HT7) receptor function modulates immune responses and reduces the severity of intestinal inflammation. The Journal of Immunology 190: 4795–4804.
- McKenzie GJ, Bancroft A, Grencis RK, McKenzie ANJ (1998) A distinct role for interleukin-13 in Th2-cell-mediated immune responses. Current Biology 8: 339–342.
- Cooper HS, Murthy SN, Shah RS, Sedergran DJ (1993) Clinicopathologic study of dextran sulfate sodium experimental murine colitis. Lab Invest 69: 238–249.
- Khan WI, Blennerhasset P, Varghese A, Chowdhury S, Omsted P, et al. (2002) Intestinal nematode infection ameliorates experimental colitis in mice. Infect Immun 70: 5931–5937.
- Kim JJ, Shajib MS, Manocha MM, Khan WI (2012) Investigating intestinal inflammation in DSS-induced model of IBD. Journal of Visualized Experiments 60: e3678.
- Matos I, Bento AF, Marcon R, Claudino RF, Calixto JB (2013) Preventive and therapeutic oral administration of the pentacyclic triterpene alpha, beta-amyrin ameliorates dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice: The relevance of cannabinoid system. Mol Immunol 54: 482–492.
- Loftus EV (2004) Clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: Incidence, prevalence, and environmental influences. Gastroenterology 126: 1504–1517.
- Thoreson R, Cullen JJ (2007) Pathophysiology of inflammatory bowel disease: An overview. Surg Clin North Am 87: 575–585.
- Wynn TA (2003) IL-13 effector functions. Annu Rev Immunol 21: 425–456.
 Mentink-Kane MM, Wynn TA (2004) Opposing roles for IL-13 and IL-13
- receptor alpha 2 in health and disease. Immunol Rev 202: 191–202.
 Kiser D, SteemerS B, Branchi I, Homberg JR (2011) The reciprocal interaction
- Kiser D, Steemers B, Branchi I, Homberg JK (2011) The reciprocal interaction between serotonin and social behaviour. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 36: 786–98.
- Nelson DL, Gehlert DR (2006) Central nervous system biogenic amine targets for control of appetite and energy expenditure. Endocrine 29: 49–60.
- Li N, Ghia JE, Wang H, McClemens J, Cote F, et al. (2011) Scrotonin activates dendritic cell function in the context of gut inflammation. The American Journal of Pathology 178: 662–671.
- Wirtz S, Neufert C, Weigmann B, Neurath MF (2007) Chemically induced mouse models of intestinal inflammation. Nature Protocols 2: 541–546.
- Qiu B, Vallance B, Blennerhassett P, Collins S (1999) The role of CD4 lymphocytes in the susceptibility of mice to stress-induced reactivation of experimental colitis. Nat Med 5: 1178–1182.
- Fuss I, Strober W (2008) The role of IL-13 and NK T cells in experimental and human ulcerative colitis. Mucosal immunology 1: S31–S33.
- Manocha MM, Khan WI (2012) Serotonin and GI disorders: An update on clinical and experimental studies. Clinical and Translational Gastroenterology 3: e13.





Effects of IL-13 deficiency in DSS-induced colitis were not influenced by cages, litters or time. WT and IL-13–/– mice were given 5% DSS in drinking water for 5 days to induce colitis. All control animals received water without DSS. (A) and (B) Disease activity index (DAI) from two separate experiments evaluating the categories weight loss, stool consistency and feces bleeding demonstrate that the DAI did not differ between cages, litters or time. Data are represented as mean ± SEM from 3 to 5 mice for each experiment; # represents statistically significant difference (p<0.05) between IL-13–/– mice and WT mice administered DSS.

Figure S2



Effects of IL-13 deficiency in DSS-induced colitis and cell proliferation. WT and IL-13–/– mice were given 5% DSS in drinking water for 5 days to induce colitis. All control animals received water without DSS. Colonic sections of WT and IL-13–/– mice with or without DSS were immunostained with anti- Ki-67 antibody. Representative micrograph of (A) WT mice post-DSS and (B) IL-13–/– mice post-DSS. (C) Number of Ki-67⁺ cells per gland. * p<0.05; **p<0.01.

-CHAPTER 5-

LINKAGE BETWEEN 5-HT TRANSPORTER PROMOTER POLYMORPHISM AND 5-HT SIGNALING MACHINERY WITH CROHN'S DISEASE

Linkage between 5-HT Transporter Promoter Polymorphism and 5-HT signaling machinery with Crohn's disease.

Shajib MS, Chauhan U, Adeeb S, Chetty Y, Armstrong D, Halder SLS, Marshall JK, and Khan WI.

The material in this chapter has been submitted to European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology.

Preface: This work was conducted over the period of August 2012- April 2017. WIK (Professor, McMaster; my supervisor), JKM (Professor, McMaster) and I conceived the idea for this project. UC (Nurse practitioners, McMaster University Medical Center), SA and I recruited all study participants. I designed and performed all experiments with assistance from SA and YC (Undergraduate students; assisted with sample preparation). I analyzed and interpreted the data as well as wrote and prepared the manuscript for publication. DA (Professor, McMaster) and SLSH (Assistant Professor, McMaster) allowed me to approach their patients and critically appraised the manuscript. JKM oversaw clinical aspects of the project and edited the manuscript. WIK oversaw all aspects of the project and edited the manuscript.

Summary and significance of findings: Our findings demonstrated that inflammation in CD is associated with increased colonic IL-13 mRNA expression and enhancement of mucosal 5-HT signaling, via up-regulated TPH1 and down-

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

regulated 5-HTT mRNA expressions. We also characterized mucosal 5-HTR expressions. Moreover, increased PPP and plasma 5-HT levels were observed in patients with CD as compared to HC. In addition to that, we identified 5-HTTLPR as a potential candidate gene involved in CD pathogenesis. Linkage between 5-HT transporter promoter polymorphism and 5-HT signaling machinery with Crohn's disease.

Short title: 5-HT signaling in CD.

Md. Sharif Shajib^{1,2}, Usha Chauhan^{1,3}, Salman Adeeb², Yeshale Chetty², David Armstrong^{1,4}, Smita L. S. Halder^{1,4}, John K. Marshall^{1,4*} and Waliul I. Khan^{1,2, 5*}.

¹Farncombe Family Digestive Health Research Institute; ²Department of Pathology & Molecular Medicine, ³Hamiltion Health Sciences; ⁴Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, ⁵Hamilton Regional Laboratory Medicine Program, Hamilton Health Sciences, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada.

*Corresponding Authors:

Dr. John K. Marshall

Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, McMaster University.

HSC 2F59-1280 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON, Canada, L8S 4K1. Telephone: 905-521-2100 ext. 76782. Fax: 905-523-6048. e-mail: marshllj@mcmaster.ca

And, Dr. Waliul I. Khan

Department of Pathology & Molecular Medicine, Division of Clinical Pathology, McMaster University. HSC 3N7-1280 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON, L8S 4K1, Canada. Telephone: 905-525-9140 ext. 22846. Fax: 905-577-0198. e-mail: khanwal@mcmaster.ca

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Source of funding: Funding was obtained from grants awarded to Dr. Waliul I. Khan by Crohn's and Colitis Canada (CCC) and Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR). **Background:** Tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH)1 catalyzes the biosynthesis of serotonin (5-hydroxytrptamine; 5-HT) in enterochromaffin (EC) cells, the predominant source of gut 5-HT. Secreted 5-HT regulates various gut functions through diverse 5-HT receptor (5-HTR) families, and 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) sequesters its activity via uptake into surrounding cells. In inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) mucosal 5-HT signaling is altered, including up-regulated EC cell numbers and 5-HT levels. Herein, we examined the genetic basis of this altered 5-HT signaling and mucosal signaling components, such as 5-HTRs.

Methods: We investigated 5-HTT gene-linked polymorphic region (5HTTLPR) in forty CD patients and healthy controls (HC) utilizing polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and measured platelet-poor plasma (PPP) and plasma 5-HT concentrations. In the context of inflammation, using quantitative PCR mucosal TPH1, 5-HTT, and 5-HTR expressions were studied in colonic biopsy specimens from HC (n=10) and CD patients (n=15).

Results: Compared to HC, significantly higher S-genotype (L/S+S/S) than L/L genotype and higher PPP and plasma 5-HT levels were observed in CD patients. Moreover, mucosal inflammation was associated with elevated TPH1, 5-HTR3, 5-HTR7 and down-regulated 5-HTT expression, whereas 5-HTR4 expression was up-regulated irrespective of inflammation compared to HC.

Conclusion: Our results suggest 5-HTTLPR may be a potential candidate gene involved in CD pathogenesis. Specific 5-HTTLPR genotype associated decreased efficiency in 5-HT re-uptake and augmented 5-HT production may contribute to CD pathogenesis, through increased mucosal 5-HT availability. These findings revealed important information on various components of 5-HT signaling in intestinal inflammation which may ultimately lead to effective strategies targeting this pathway in IBD.

Keyword: Inflammatory bowel disease; IBD; Crohn's disease; Serotonin; 5-HT; 5-HTTLPR; 5-HT receptor.

Introduction

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is defined by chronic, relapsing inflammation of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract; the two major forms of IBD are Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) [1]. These lifelong conditions not only affect the physical well-being of the patients but can significantly influence their social and mental well-being [2]. IBD is on the rise across the globe, with Canada having one of the highest incidence rates of CD in the world [3–5]. The etiology of IBD has been extensively studied in the past few decades, but disease pathogenesis is not fully understood. It is believed that IBD results from a continuum of complex interactions among the genetic composition of the host, intestinal microbiota, the immune system, and specific environmental factors [1].

The gut produces approximately 95% of serotonin or 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) found in the human body; where, it is a very important enteric signaling molecule participating in gut motility, sensation, and secretion [6]. The vast majority of the gut-derived 5-HT is produced by specialized epithelial cells of the GI tract, called enterochromaffin (EC) cells [6]. EC cells produce 5-HT from dietary tryptophan, this process involves the rate limiting enzyme tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH)1, once produced this 5-HT can be released into the gut lumen, surrounding tissue and can enter the blood circulation [7]. 5-HT mediates many GI functions by acting on a diverse array of 5-HT receptors (5-HTR) [8]. Five of the seven known receptor families of 5-HT (5-HTR1, 5-HTR2, 5-HTR3, 5-HTR4 and 5-HTR7) are

expressed in the gut. 5-HT is a very tightly regulated molecule in the body. Following secretion, 5-HT is transported into surrounding cells predominantly via 5-HT transporter (5-HTT), also known as serotonin transporter (SERT), and is degraded quickly mainly by monoamine oxidise-A or sequestered by vesicular monoamine transporter [7]. Various cell types express 5-HTT, such as immune cells, enterocytes, and platelets [7]. Stored within the dense granules of platelets enteric 5-HT is shuttled throughout the periphery, and propagates the influence of gut-derived 5-HT beyond the gut. Platelets do not produce 5-HT but rather take it up using 5-HTT while circulating the gut [9]. 5-HTT is encoded by the SLC6A4 gene, which is comprised of 14 exons and is present on chromosome 17q11.2 of the human genome [10]. A 44-bp insertion/deletion polymorphism in the promoter region of SLC6A4 has been reported and is known as the 5-HTTgenelinked polymorphic region (5-HTTLPR). The deletion/insertion in the 5-HTTLPR creates two predominant variant alleles, a short (S) allele, and a long (L) allele, where the former is functionally dominant [10-12]. Compared with the L/L genotype, S/S or S/L genotypes are associated with lower levels of 5-HTT mRNA transcripts, and thereby lower levels of 5-HTT expression and reduced 5-HT reuptake efficiency [10].

5-HT has been evaluated in IBD and in animal models of colitis. An increase in the number of 5-HT expressing EC cells has been observed in IBD patients [13]. Moreover, consumption of selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitors has been associated

with microscopic colitis [6]. An elevated level of 5-HT was also observed in a patient with collagenous colitis [14]. Recently it was shown that TPH1-deficient mice, which have significantly reduced gut 5-HT, exhibit reduced susceptibility to experimental colitis and down-regulation of several pro-inflammatory cytokines [15]. It has also been demonstrated that pharmacologically blocking peripheral 5-HT synthesis reduces the severity of intestinal inflammation in both chemical and infection-induced models [16]. Taken together, there is now compelling evidence of an important role for 5-HT in controlling inflammation in the gut. The implications of 5-HTTLPR polymorphism are of tremendous interest in neuropsychological disorders, such as depression, and in functional GI disorders, such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) [10, 17]. Though most clinical studies agree that there is a reduced expression of 5-HTT in IBD, it was only recently that a study by Sikander et al.[18] investigated the association between 5-HTTLPR and IBD. The study explored, 5-HTTLPR association with UC and microscopic colitis in a population of Indian patients, where the prevalence rate of IBD is only now approaching the lower limit of that in North Europe and America [19].

In the present study, we investigated 5-HTTLPR polymorphism along with the key elements of mucosal 5-HT signaling in CD patients for a better understanding of the role of 5-HT in IBD pathogenesis. We observed a higher frequency of the S-genotype (S/S and S/L combined) in patients with CD in our population and this was associated with significantly higher platelet poor plasma (PPP) 5-HT levels.

In a separate group of CD patients, using colonic biopsy samples we observed significant up-regulation of TPH1, 5-HTR3, 5-HTR7 expressions and down-regulation of 5-HTT expression in association with intestinal inflammation. Mucosal 5-HTR4 expression was also markedly elevated in these patients.

Methods

This study was approved by Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (HiREB). All biopsy and blood samples were collected at the McMaster University Medical Center (MUMC) from consenting adults over the age of 18 years (clinicaltrials.gov # NCT01650311).

Blood Samples and 5-HT ELISA

A total of 109 Caucasian participants were approached for blood donation. Of them 12 refused and 97 provided informed consent, which consisted of 55 patients with confirmed diagnosis of CD and 42 healthy controls (HC). Of the 97 consenting participants 80 donated 8 ml of venous blood. HC exclusion criteria included any previous history of GI complaints, long-term use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, steroids, anti-depressants, or any biologics. Samples were collected in EDTA tubes and 4ml of blood was used to measure PPP and plasma 5-HT levels using commercially available ELISA kit (Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA). Sample preparation and the ELISA were performed according to manufacturer's instructions.

Genotyping and polymerase chain reaction protocol

The remaining 4 ml of blood was used for DNA isolation using a commercially available kit according to manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The insertion/deletion polymorphism in 5-HTT gene was typed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using the isolated DNA and a modified version of the methods described by Sikander et al.[18] Briefly, the following primers were used: forward 5'-GGCGTTGCCGCTCTGAATGC-3' and reverse 5'-GAGGGACTGAGCTGGACAACCAC-3'. PCR reactions were performed using CFX96TM Real-Time System (Bio-RAD, Hercules, CA) in a 50 µL reaction containing 1 µl of isolated genomic DNA (25-50 ng), 1 µL of 10 µM of forward primer, 1 μ L of 10 μ M of reverse primer, 17 μ L of Ultra PureTM Distilled water DNAase and RNAse free (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 5 µL of 360 GC Enhancer (Applied Biosystems, Foster city, CA), 25µl of AmpliTaq Gold® 360 Master Mix (Applied Biosystems). DNA was denatured at 95°C for 10 min and subjected to 35 cycles of 1 min of denaturation at 94° C, 1 min of annealing at 55°C, 1 min of extension at 72°C, and final extension was at 72°C for 7 min. PCR products were resolved by electrophoresis on 3% agarose gel with Tris-borate-EDTA as the running buffer and visualized with Syber Green staining (Bio-RAD). The findings of the genotyping experiment were confirmed by the Centre for Applied Genomics (TCAG) operated by the Hospital for Sick Children (SickKids), Toronto, Canada.

Biopsy collection and histopathological assessment

A total of 42 participants were approached and consented to donate colonic biopsy samples for this portion of the study, which consisted of 15 HC and 27 patients with confirmed diagnosis of CD. The HC group comprised of individuals undergoing routine colorectal screening and HC exclusion criteria were as stated earlier. Additionally, participants were excluded from the study if for any reason the gastroenterologist deemed the individual not fit to participate. Two mucosal biopsies were obtained from 10 HCs, 4 were withdrawn as they were declared not fit to participate in the study by the endoscopists, and one participant donated only one biopsy sample thus was not included in the analysis. Two biopsy samples were obtained from both inflamed and non-inflamed regions of the colon as identified by the gastroenterologist, from 15 patients with confirmed diagnosis of CD. Non-inflamed regions were defined as those without any endoscopic features of inflammation and at least 10 cm from any area of active inflammation [20]. 12 patients who had provided consent were withdrawn as they were judged not fit to participate, for example, due to serious comorbid disease or difficult colonoscopy. One of the two biopsy samples was flash frozen, following collection, for analysis of mRNA expression using quantitative PCR (qPCR). The second sample was fixed in 10% buffered formalin and was processed within 24 hours for histopathological evaluation. A pathologist unaware of the diagnosis performed the histological evaluations and were graded on a numerical scale based on standard criteria [21].

Immunofluorescence of 5-HT expressing EC cells

Immunofluorescent analysis of 5-HT expressing EC cells were performed on paraffin-wax-embedded colonic sections. Sections were deparaffinised in CitriSolv (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and rehydrated through a graded series of ethanol and PBS. After washing, heat-mediated antigen retrieval in citrate buffer was performed. Following which non-specific binding was blocked using 5% normal gat serum in PBS, then the sections were incubated at 4°C overnight with rabbit anti-5-HT antibody (Immunostar, Hudson, WI) at a concentration of 1:3000. Alexa Fluor 594-goat anti-rabbit IgG (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used as the secondary antibody. ProLong[™] gold antifade mountant with DAPI (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used for nuclear staining and mounting of the sections, which were studied with a Nikon fluorescence microscope. 5-HT positive EC cells were quantified using ImageJ (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) and expressed as number of cells/ mm².

RNA isolation and qPCR protocols

The frozen tissue samples, collected for RNA isolation, were placed in 10x volume of cold RNA later-ice and were allowed to soak for at least 16 hrs in - 20°C. Following which the RNA was isolated using RNesay plus universal mini-

kit (Qiagen) the RNA quality and quantity was analyzed using NANOdrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Complementary DNA (cDNA) was prepared using the quantitect reverse transcription kit, according to manufacturer's instructions 18s 5'-(Qiagen). rRNA (M=0.496), forward: TCCACAGGAGGCCTACACGCC-3' and reverse: 5'-TTTCCGCCGCCCATCGATGTT-3', was the reference gene of choice, as it was found to be the most stable in comparison to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH; M= 0.548), forward: 5'-CCCTCCAAAATCAAGTGGGGGCG-3' 5'and reverse: ATGACGAACATGGGGGGCATCAGC-3'; and β-Actin (M=0.528) β-Actin, forward: 5'-ATGTGGCCGAGGACTTTGATT-3' 5'and reverse: AGTGGGGTGGCTTTTAGGATG-3'. TpH-1 mRNA levels were quantified using previous established methods and primer sequences[22]. Pre-validated primers were used for 5-HTT, HTR1A, 2A, 3A, 4 and 7, as well as for tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α and interleukin (IL)-13, and S100 calcium-binding protein A9 (S100A9) according to manufacturer's instructions (Bio-Rad).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed by means of Chi-square test, two-sided Fisher's exact test, one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's or Newman-Keuls posthoc, as
appropriate, where p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 5 (La Jolla, CA).

Results

Investigating 5-HTTLPR polymorphism in IBD patients

Characterization of study participants

This portion of the study consisted of 40 HC and 40 patients, with 21(52.5%) experiencing symptoms associated with CD. The gender distribution between the two groups was comparable. The demographic information of all participants is shown in Table 1. Additionally, at the time of recruitment 17 (42.5%) patients with CD were C-reactive protein (CRP) positive (CPR+; defined as CRP > 5.1 mg/L),18 (45%) had features of reactive thrombocytosis (RT+; defined as platelet count > 450 ×10⁹/L) and 6 (15%) were on SSRI or some other form of antidepressants; thus were excluded from all analysis of PPP or plasma 5-HT levels.

5-HTTLPR polymorphism and CD

The genotypic distribution of the HC and patients with CD was assessed for deviation from Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium using the Chi-square test, and no deviation was observed for the 5-HTTLPR polymorphism. In addition to that, no significant association with gender were observed. Furthermore, no significant difference in 5-HTTLPR genotype ($\chi^2 = 5$, df = 2, p ~0.08) or allele frequency (Fisher's exact test, two-sided p= 0.05) were observed between CD and HC group. However, when grouped together given the functional dominance of the S allele [11], the S-genotype (L/S and S/S combined) was significantly higher than L/L genotype (Fisher's exact test, two-sided p= 0.04) between CD and HC (Table 2).

PPP and plasma 5-HT levels in CD patients

In comparison with the HC group, significantly higher PPP 5-HT levels were observed in patients with CD (Figure 1a). PPP 5-HT levels were not significantly different among the genotypes of HC and patients with CD (Figure 1b). However, when participants were grouped based the functional dominance of the S allele, PPP 5-HT levels in CD patients with S-genotype was significantly higher compared to HC with L/L and S-genotype (Figure 1c). When the patient group was divided into CRP+ or CRP-negative (CRP⁻; defined as CRP < 5.1 mg/L) groups, we observed significantly higher PPP 5-HT levels in CRP+ patients in comparison with CRP⁻ patients as well as with HC (Figure 1d). Additionally, we observed significantly higher levels of PPP 5-HT levels in patients with CD, who reported experiencing symptoms related to IBD at the time of blood donation (Figure 1e). Platelet numbers in CD patients were elevated compared to HC but the difference did not reach statistical significance. However, CD patients with symptoms had significantly higher number of platelets compared to HC (465 x $10^{9}/L \pm 50 \times 10^{9}/L \text{ vs.}$ 367 x $10^{9}/L \pm 16 \times 10^{9}/L$; mean \pm SEM; p<0.05). PPP 5-HT levels were significantly higher in CD patients irrespective of platelet count, in comparison with HC (Figure 1f). As with PPP 5-HT concentrations, plasma 5-HT concentrations were also found to be significantly higher in CD patients in comparison with HC, as well as in CRP+ and symptomatic patients (Figure 2a-c). However in contrast to PPP 5-HT levels, only patients with platelet count >450 $\times 10^{9}$ /L (RT+), but not <450 $\times 10^{9}$ /L (RT⁻), had significantly higher plasma 5-HT levels compared to HC (Figure 2d).

Investigating mucosal 5-HT signaling in IBD patients

Characterization of study participants

This part of the study included 25 participants, 10 of whom were HC and 15 were patients with CD. The gender distribution of the groups was similar. The demographic information of all participants is shown in Table 3.

Montreal classification, microscopic evaluation and mucosal cytokine mRNA expressions

Montreal classification of the patient cohort is presented in Figure 3a. Histological evaluation of biopsies confirmed the macroscopic assessment of the endoscopist during specimen collection (Figure 3b). For further confirmation, we measured the expression of S100A9, which dimerizes with S100A8 to form calprotectin [23]. Though low expression of tissue S100A9 was observed, it was significantly higher in inflamed tissue compared to healthy and non-inflamed tissue (data not

shown). In patients with CD, TNF- α mRNA expression was significantly higher in comparison with HC (Figure 3c). In a previous study, we had observed that IL-13 up-regulates TPH1 mRNA expression in a model of human EC cells [22]. In this study, we observed a significantly higher expression of IL-13 mRNA at sites of active inflammation in CD patients (Figure 3d).

TPH1, 5-HTT and 5-HTR expressions in CD

In patients with CD, colonic TPH1 mRNA expression was significantly higher in inflamed regions compared to non-inflamed regions, as well as controls (Figure 4a). However, 5-HT expressing EC cell numbers were not significantly different among the groups compared (data not shown). We observed a significant down-regulation of 5-HTT mRNA expression in inflamed tissue in comparison with non-inflamed and control (Figure 4b). We also observed an overall low expression of 5-HTR2A mRNA in colonic tissue, which was significantly lower in CD patients compared to HC (Figure 4c). Conversely, 5-HTR4 mRNA levels were significantly higher in CD patients, irrespective of whether the tissue was collected from inflamed or non-inflamed areas of the colon, in comparison to HC (Figure 4d). Additionally, 5-HTR3A and 7 expressions were significantly higher at sites of active inflammation in CD patients (Figure 4e and f). Furthermore, we observed minimal expression 5-HTR1A in all biopsy samples examined (data not shown).

Discussion

IBD remains incurable and its incidence is increasing, affecting 1 to 2 million people in North America and several million worldwide [24]. Canada is considered to be an epicenter of IBD, with rates of prevalence and incidence among the highest in the world [4]. The present study evaluated the association of 5-HTTLPR polymorphism with CD. Though our sample size is a limitation that must be considered, to our knowledge this is the first study to examine the relation between CD and 5-HTTLPR polymorphism in a Canadian population. We observed that S-genotype was significantly more common than L/L genotype between CD and HC. EC cells of the GI tract produce most of the 5-HT found in the periphery, including the 5-HT found in blood [7]. Once released, 5-HT is transported into surrounding epithelial cells by the 5-HTT and degraded to 5hydroxyindoleacetic acid [7]. 5-HT originating from EC cells can enter the bloodstream and is quickly taken up by circulating platelets through the action of 5-HTT [9]. Studies have shown that the L/S and S/S genotypes were associated with lower transcriptional activity, resulting in down-regulation of 5-HTT expression, density, and efficiency. Thus, associating the S-genotype with decreased clearance of 5-HT in the circulation as well as synapses [12]. In our study, we observed that CD patients with S-genotype had reduced uptake of 5-HT by platelets resulting in increased availability of 5-HT in PPP. In the current study, we also observed significantly higher levels of PPP and plasma 5-HT in patients with CD in comparison with HC. Alterations in EC cell numbers and various

other machinery of 5-HT signaling have been associated with IBD [6]. 5-HT in the gut stimulates the submucosal sensory branch of the enteric nervous system and participates in GI motility and secretion via interneurons and motor neurons [7]. The increase in 5-HT levels observed in CD would have contributed to accelerated colonic motility and visceral hypersensitivity in patients, which would manifest as symptoms experienced by patients [13]. This is evident from our observation of CD patients experiencing symptoms having significantly higher levels of PPP and plasma 5-HT compared to HC, as well as asymptomatic patients.

In a separate cohort of patients, we also found significant up-regulation of both TPH1 and IL-13 mRNA at sites of active inflammation in patients with CD. IL-13 is a pleiotropic cytokine, that has emerged as an important mediator in UC and fistulizing CD [25]. Additionally, previous work from our laboratory have identified the role IL-13 in increasing TPH1 mRNA and protein levels in BON cells, as well as 5-HT production both in vitro and in animal models of intestinal inflammation [21, 25]. Implicating IL-13 in the increased production of 5-HT via increased availability of the rate limiting enzyme. IL-13 has also been shown to increase intestinal epithelial cell turnover and EC cell numbers [21, 25]. However, in our patient group, we did not observe a significant up-regulation in the number of EC cells (data not shown). This could potentially be due to the fact that EC cell density varies along the length of the colon and the colonic areas from where the

inflamed and non-inflamed tissues were collected also varied within our patient cohort. Moreover, the destruction of epithelial architecture observed in association with inflammation in CD may also be a contributing factor. Other important factors in IBD, such as the gut microbiota, may also influence host 5-HT production via the regulation of TPH1 expression. The role of gut microbiota in 5-HT production has already been established [27]. The findings of Yano et al. [27] are not in the context of inflammation and the precise role of the gut microbiome in IBD pathogenesis is not fully understood, but it is possible that the increase in TPH1 expression may be associated with dysbiosis observed in IBD. Notably, a recent study has also shown that increased availability of 5-HT, via 5-HTT deficiency, is associated dysbiosis [28]. In addition to the up-regulation of TPH1 mRNA at sites of inflammation, we observed a significantly decreased expression of 5-HTT mRNA, which was previously reported in patients with severe UC as well as in the inflamed mucosa compared to the healing mucosa of patients with UC [26, 27]. This may also be a contributing factor in the attenuated clearance 5-HT from the GI tract, which may ultimately be reflected in the patient's PPP and plasma 5-HT levels.

A vast number 5-HTRs mediate the diverse effects of 5-HT in the gut and five of the seven families of 5-HTR, with the exceptions of 5-HTR5 and 5-HTR6, are expressed throughout the human GI tract [7]. However to date, very few studies have investigated alterations in 5-HTRs expression in IBD. In our study, we found

that CD is associated with up-regulation of 5-HTR4, 5-HTR7 and 5-HTR3A (essential for the formation of a functional 5-HTR3 channel [7]), with the latter two up-regulated only in the inflamed regions of the colon. Our observation of increased 5-HTR7 expression associated with inflammation in CD is in agreement with previous findings by Guseva et al [31]. The changes observed in 5-HTR expression may contribute to various symptoms experienced by patients with IBD, including abnormal gut motility and sensation of pain. These 5-HTRs, in addition to being expressed on various GI cell types, are found on immune cells and alterations observed in the expression of these receptors may potentiate the pro-inflammatory influence of 5-HT [7]. The role of 5-HT as a pro-inflammatory mediator in animal models of intestinal inflammation is well established. It has been shown that antagonism of 5-HTR3 by tropisetron and granisetron can reduce the severity of acetic acid-induced colitis in rats. Tropisetron also reduces the severity of trintrobezenesulfonic acid (TBNS)- induced colitis in rats [29–31]. We have made similar observations by antagonizing 5-HTR7 in the dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) and dintrobezenesulfonic acid (DNBS)-induced colitis models [35]. In addition to targeting receptors of 5-HT, blocking the synthesis of peripheral 5-HT using telotristat etiprate, a TPH inhibitor, has been demonstrated to attenuate intestinal inflammation [16].

In conclusion, a significant association was observed between S-genotype 5-HTTLPR polymorphism and CD. 5-HT levels were significantly higher in patients with CD, which may be due to the increased expression of TPH1 or reduced clearance of mucosal 5-HT due to decreased expression of mucosal 5-HTT associated with the S allele of 5-HTTLPR. An increase in 5-HT availability in mucosal layer due to impairment in clearance of 5-HT associated with specific genotypes may play an important role in the pathogenesis of intestinal inflammation. We also discovered up-regulation of mucosal 5-HTR3A, 5-HTR4 and 5-HTR7 which in addition to playing a role in the manifestation of symptoms associated with CD, may perpetuate intestinal inflammation. Our findings revealed new and important information on the key elements of 5-HT signaling in CD and support the need for more studies with larger populations investigating 5-HT signaling in IBD patients with both CD and UC, which may ultimately lead to the development of new diagnostic tools and/or therapeutic strategies in the management of IBD.

References

- 1 Matricon J, Barnich N, Ardid D. Immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Self Nonself* 2010; 1: 299–309.
- Román ALS, Muñoz F. Comorbidity in inflammatory bowel disease. World
 J Gastroenterol 2011; 17: 2723–33.
- Bernstein CN, Wajda A, Svenson LW, MacKenzie A, Koehoorn M, Jackson M, et al. The Epidemiology of Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Canada: A Population-Based Study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006; 101: 1559–1568.
- 4 Qin X. What made Canada become a country with the highest incidence of inflammatory bowel disease: could sucralose be the culprit? *Can J Gastroenterol* 2011; 25: 511.
- 5 Fedorak RN, Wong K, Bridges R. Canadian Digestive Health Foundation Public Impact Series. Inflammatory bowel disease in Canada: Incidence, prevalence, and direct and indirect economic impact. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2010; 24: 651–655.
- 6 Manocha M, Khan WI. Serotonin and GI Disorders: An Update on Clinical and Experimental Studies. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol* 2012; 3: e13.
- 7 Shajib MS, Khan WI. The role of serotonin and its receptors in activation of immune responses and inflammation. *Acta Physiol* 2015; 213: 561–574.

- 8 Mawe GM, Hoffman JM. Serotonin signalling in the gut—functions, dysfunctions and therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 10: 473–486.
- Gershon MD. 5-Hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) in the gastrointestinal tract.
 Curr Opin Endocrinol *Diabetes Obes* 2013; 20: 14–21.
- 10 Kenna GA, Roder-Hanna N, Leggio L, Zywiak WH, Clifford J, Edwards S, et al. Association of the 5-HTT gene-linked promoter region (5-HTTLPR) polymorphism with psychiatric disorders: review of psychopathology and pharmacotherapy. *Pharmgenomics Pers Med* 2012; 5: 19–35.
- Willeit M, Praschak-Rieder N, Neumeister A, Zill P, Leisch F, Stastny J, et al. A polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) in the serotonin transporter promoter gene is associated with DSM-IV depression subtypes in seasonal affective disorder. *Mol Psychiatry* 2003; 8: 942–946.
- 12 Lesch KP, Bengel D, Heils A, Sabol SZ, Greenberg BD, Petri S, et al. Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene regulatory region. *Science* 1996; 274: 1527–31.
- 13 El-Salhy M, Danielsson A, Stenling R, Grimelius L. Colonic endocrine cells in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Intern Med* 1997; 242: 413–419.
- 14 Docherty M. Elevated Serotonin Associated With Collagenous Colitis. Am

J Gastroenterol2010; 105: 1449–1449.

- 15 Ghia J, Li N, Wang H, Collins M, Deng Y, El–Sharkawy RT, et al. Serotonin Has a Key Role in Pathogenesis of Experimental Colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2009; 137: 1649–1660.
- 16 Kim JJ, Wang H, Terc JD, Zambrowicz B, Yang QM, Khan WI. Blocking peripheral serotonin synthesis by telotristat etiprate (LX1032/LX1606) reduces severity of both chemical- and infection-induced intestinal inflammation. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2015; 309: G455– G465.
- Zhang Z-F, Duan Z-J, Wang L-X, Yang D, Zhao G, Zhang L. The serotonin transporter gene polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) and irritable bowel syndrome: a meta-analysis of 25 studies. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2014; 14: 23.
- 18 Sikander A, Sinha SK, Prasad KK, Rana SV. Association of Serotonin Transporter Promoter Polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) with Microscopic Colitis and Ulcerative Colitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2015; 60: 887–894.
- Ray G. Inflammatory bowel disease in India Past, present and future.World J Gastroenterol 2016; 22: 8123–8136.
- 20 Magro F, Vieira-Coelho MA, Fraga S, Serrão MP, Veloso FT, Ribeiro T, et al. Impaired synthesis or cellular storage of norepinephrine, dopamine, and

5-hydroxytryptamine in human inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig Dis Sci* 2002; 47: 216-224.

- Magro F, Langner C, Driessen A, Ensari A, Geboes K, Mantzaris GJ, et al.
 European consensus on the histopathology of inflammatory bowel disease.
 Journal of Crohn's and Colitis 2013; 7: 827-851.
- Manocha M, Shajib MS, Rahman MM, Wang H, Rengasamy P, Bogunovic M, et al. IL-13-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and serotonin production in the gut. *Mucosal Immunol* 2013; 6: 146–155.
- 23 Ikhtaire S, Shajib MS, Reinisch W, Khan WI. Fecal calprotectin: its scope and utility in the management of inflammatory bowel disease. J Gastroenterol 2016; 51: 434–446.
- Loftus E V. Clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease:
 Incidence, prevalence, and environmental influences. *Gastroenterology* 2004; 126: 1504–1517.
- ²⁵ Jovani M, Fiorino G, Danese S. Anti-IL-13 in inflammatory bowel disease: from the bench to the bedside. *Curr Drug Targets* 2013; 14: 1444–1452.
- 26 Shajib MS, Wang H, Kim JJ, Sunjic I, Ghia J-E, Denou E, et al. Interleukin 13 and Serotonin: Linking the Immune and Endocrine Systems in Murine

Models of Intestinal Inflammation. Zirlik A, editor. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e72774.

- Yano JM, Yu K, Donaldson GP, Shastri GG, Ann P, Ma L, et al. Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell* 2015; 161: 264-274.
- El Aidy S, Ramsteijn AS, Dini-Andreote F, van Eijk R, Houwing DJ, Salles JF, et al. Serotonin Transporter Genotype Modulates the Gut Microbiota Composition in Young Rats, an Effect Augmented by Early Life Stress. *Front Cell Neurosci* 2017; 11: 222.
- 29 Coates MD, Mahoney CR, Linden DR, Sampson JE, Chen J, Blaszyk H, et al. Molecular defects in mucosal serotonin content and decreased serotonin reuptake transporter in ulcerative colitis and irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 2004; 126: 1657–1664.
- 30 Tada Y, Ishihara S, Kawashima K, Fukuba N, Sonoyama H, Kusunoki R, et al. Downregulation of serotonin reuptake transporter gene expression in healing colonic mucosa in presence of remaining low-grade inflammation in ulcerative colitis. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2016; 31: 1443–1452.
- 31 Guseva D, Holst K, Kaune B, Meier M, Keubler L, Glage S, et al. Serotonin 5-HT7 Receptor Is Critically Involved in Acute and Chronic

Inflammation of the Gastrointestinal Tract. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2014; 20: 1516–1529.

- 32 Fakhfouri G, Rahimian R, Daneshmand A, Bahremand A, Rasouli MR, Dehpour AR, et al. Granisetron ameliorates acetic acid-induced colitis in rats. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 2010; 29: 321–328.
- 33 Motavallian A, Minaiyan M, Rabbani M, Andalib S, Mahzouni P. Involvement of 5HT3 Receptors in Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Tropisetron on Experimental TNBS-Induced Colitis in Rat. *Bioimpacts* 2013; 3: 169–76.
- 34 Mousavizadeh K, Rahimian R, Fakhfouri G, Aslani FS, Ghafourifar P. Anti-inflammatory effects of 5-HT ₃ receptor antagonist, tropisetron on experimental colitis in rats. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2009; 39: 375–383.
- 35 Kim JJ, Bridle BW, Ghia J-E, Wang H, Syed SN, Manocha MM, et al. Targeted Inhibition of Serotonin Type 7 (5-HT7) Receptor Function Modulates Immune Responses and Reduces the Severity of Intestinal Inflammation. *J Immunol* 2013; 190: 4795–4804.

Table 1: Demographic data of healthy controls and patients with Crohn's diseasein the investigation of 5-HT transporter gene-linked polymorphic region (5-

| | Healthy controls (HC) | Crohn's Disease (CD) |
|---------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|
| Number of participants | 40 | 40 |
| Mean age (range) in years | 32.8 (19-62) | 37.8 (19-77) |
| % Female | 50 | 57.5 |
| Mean disease duration | - | 11.6 (2-34) |
| (range) in years | | |
| Symptomatic (% of group) | - | 21 (52.5) |

HTTLPR) in inflammatory bowel disease.

Table 2: Distribution of 5-HT transporter gene-linked polymorphism in the

| Genotype distribution | Healthy controls | Crohn's disease |
|-------------------------------|------------------|-----------------|
| | (HC) n=40 (%) | (CD) n=40 (%) |
| Wild-type (L/L) | 16 (40%) | 7 (17.5%) |
| Heterozygous (L/S) | 16 (40%) | 21 (52.5%) |
| Homozygous polymorphism (S/S) | 8 (20%) | 12 (30%) |
| S-genotype (L/S + S/S) | 24 (60%) | 33 (82.3%)* |
| Allele (no. and %) | | |
| Allele (L) | 48(60%) | 35(43.8%) |
| Allele (S) | 32 (40%) | 45 (56.2%) |

healthy controls and patients with Crohn's disease.

Healthy controls vs. patients with Crohn's disease

*Fisher's exact test, two-sided p=0.04

Table 3: Demographic data of healthy controls and patients with Crohn's disease

 in the investigation of mucosal 5-HT signaling in inflammatory bowel disease.

| | Healthy controls (HC) | Crohn's Disease (CD) |
|---------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|
| | | |
| Number of participants | 10 | 15 |
| | | |
| Mean age (range) in years | 61 (50-76) | 36.5 (19-68) |
| | | |
| % Female | 40 | 47 |
| | | |
| Mean disease duration | n/a | 10.3 (1-28) |
| (range) in years | | |
| (runge) in years | | |
| | | |

Figures and legends



Figure 1: Comparison of platelet-poor plasma 5-HT levels in HC and patients with inflammatory bowel disease. (a) Between HC and patients with CD. (b) Among different genotypes of HC and patients with CD (c) Among L/L and S-genotype of HC and patients with CD. (d) Among HC, C-reactive protein positive (CRP+; CRP > 5.1 mg/L) and negative (CRP⁻; CRP <5.1 mg/L) patients with CD. (e) Among HC, symptomatic (Symptom+) and asymptomatic (Symptom⁻) patients with CD. (f) Among HC, CD patients with platelet count greater than 450x109/L (RT+) and CD patients with platelet count less than 450x109/L (RT⁻). Box-whisker plot representing mean, maximum and minimum. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. HC, healthy controls; CD, Crohn's disease; PPP, platelet-poor plasma; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytraptamine. RT, reactive thrombocytosis.



Figure 2: Comparison of plasma 5-HT levels in HC and patients with inflammatory bowel disease. (A) Between HC and patients with CD. (B) Among HC, C-reactive protein positive (CRP⁺; CRP > 5.1 mg/L) and negative (CRP⁻; CRP <5.1 mg/L) patients with CD. (C) Among HC, symptomatic (Symptom⁺) and asymptomatic (Symptom⁻) patients with CD. (D) Among HC, CD patients with platelet count greater than 450×10^9 /L (RT⁺) and CD patients with platelet count less than 450×10^9 /L (RT⁻). Box-whisker plot representing mean, maximum and minimum. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. HC, healthy controls; CD, Crohn's disease; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytraptamine; RT, reactive thrombocytosis.



Figure 3: Montreal Classification, colonic histopathology and cytokine mRNA expression in patients with CD. (a) Montreal classification of CD patient cohort (n=15). (b) Histological assessment confirming endoscopists' assessment during biopsy collection and representative micrographs. mRNA expression of cytokines (c) TNF- α and (d) IL-13 in inflamed and non-inflamed regions of the colon. Box-whisker plot representing mean, maximum and minimum, where *p<0.05 and **p<0.01. HC, healthy controls; CD, Crohn's disease; TNF, tumor



necrosis factor; IL, interleukin.

Figure 4: Alterations in key components of mucosal 5-hydroxytraptamine signaling machinery. Differences in mRNA expression of (a) TPH1 (b) 5-HTT and 5-HTR (c) 2A (d) 4 (e) 3A as well as (f) 7 in inflamed and non-inflamed

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

regions of the colon in patients with CD and HC. Box-whisker plot representing mean, maximum and minimum, where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001. TPH, tryptophan hydroxylase; 5-HTT, 5-HT transporter; 5-HTR, 5-HT receptor.

PhD Thesis- Shajib, MS; McMaster University-Medical Sciences

-CHAPTER 6-

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Since its discovery in 1937 by Vittorio Erspamer, our understanding of the roles of 5-HT has come a long way. Though it is more popularly referred to as serotonin and is a known as the "happy" molecule, Erspamer's prediction of 5-HT playing an important role in gut functions is now being vindicated. Given the diversity and complexity of the 5-HT signaling machinery many more questions are being generated, in addition to the ones that remain to be answered.

Implication of our findings

The central question of this dissertation was, how immuno-endocrine interactions influence gut inflammation? To that end, we have explored how an immune mediator, IL-13, regulates an enteroendocrine mediator, mucosal 5-HT, and how this affects intestinal inflammation. Our findings showed that in *T. muris* infection-induced immune response, the Th2 cytokine IL-13 up-regulates EC cell numbers and colonic 5-HT content. IL-13 also increases TPH1 protein expression in vivo and in vitro up-regulating the bio-synthesis of 5-HT (Chapter 3). We were the first to identify the elevation of IL-13 levels in the DSS-induced model of colitis (Chapter 4). EC cell hyperplasia and increased 5-HT content had previously been reported in DSS-induced colitis [499,500]. Using IL-13-KO mice we have shown that, the increase in IL-13 underlies this up-regulation of EC cell numbers and 5-HT content observed in this model. By treating IL-13-KO mice with 5-HTP, which bypasses the function of TPH, we were able to establish that

increased 5-HT levels drive IL-13 associated intestinal inflammation in DSSinduced colitis. Other studies from our laboratory have shown that inhibiting 5-HT signaling ameliorates DSS-induced colitis [453,456]. Additionally, inhibition of peripheral 5-HT synthesis, without affecting IL-13 levels, up-regulates regulatory cytokine IL-10 production resulting in accelerated worm expulsion by T. muris-infected mice [453]. In Chapter 4, we have shown that 5-HT mediated recruitment and regulation of immune cell functions contributes to intestinal inflammation, which is in agreement with our previous findings as well as others [86,454]. The translational value of our findings arises from the observation that IL-13 mRNA expression is also up-regulated in inflammation associated with IBD, in conjunction with augmented TPH1 mRNA expression (Chapter 5). Our findings further implicate IL-13 in the pathogenesis of IBD, which had previously been reported by others [250,395,409]. Additionally, in a different cohort of IBD patients were able to confirm that platelet-poor plasma (PPP) and plasma 5-HT concentrations were significantly higher in comparison with HC. We also observed that PPP and plasma 5-HT concentrations in symptomatic patients were increased compared to HC and asymptomatic patients. In this cohort, we were unable to directly associate this finding with disease activity in the intestine, it does, however, indicate that increased 5-HT production may play a role in patients' experience of IBD-associated symptoms. Reactive thrombocytosis is a nonspecific response to inflammation which is known to occur in chronic inflammatory conditions [501]. It is now well established that thrombocytosis is related to IBD activity and severity, and we found that plasma 5-HT levels were up-regulated in patients with reactive thrombocytosis compared to patients without and HC [502]. In this study, we also characterized various 5-HTR mRNA expression in the colonic biopsy specimens of patients with CD. Even though 5-HTRs are critical components of 5-HT signaling only scattered observations about 5-HTR in IBD had been previously reported by a handful of studies [457,503]. Moreover in agreement with previous studies, we observed a down-regulation of mucosal 5-HTT expression in association with inflammation in IBD [128]. We additionally observed that the S-genotype was more common among our patient group than HC, which indicates inefficiency in 5-HT re-uptake may contribute to IBD, more specifically CD, onset and/or pathogenesis. However, more studies are needed, and some of the limitations of our clinical study, such as sample size, will have to be addressed in a future study with a larger population or via metaanalytic approaches.

Our findings clearly show that IL-13 is an important regulator of the upstream end of mucosal 5-HT signaling. Multiple cellular sources of IL-13 have been identified in various models of intestinal inflammation and in human IBD [16]. Most of these cells modulate their IL-13 production in response to various IECderived factors, such as TSLP and IL-33 [504–506]. Increased IL-33 expression, in particular, has been associated with IBD, as well as various models of intestinal

inflammation [506]. In our study following DSS administration, we also observed significantly up-regulated mucosal IL-33 and TSLP levels, in both WT and IL-13-KO mice. However, the fold change in the former was much greater than the latter (unpublished data). In addition to IL-13, altered production of various other cytokines that affect mucosal 5-HT signaling has been reported in IBD, such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, IL-10, and IFN- γ . It can be postulated that enhancement of mucosal 5-HT signalling in gut inflammation may be the result of both increased production and secretion of 5-HT influenced by inflammatory cytokines such as IL-13 and IL-1 β , as well as decreased uptake due to reduced expression/function of 5-HTT caused by increased levels of inflammatory cytokines, i.e. TNF- α , IL-6, IFN- γ , and low levels of regulatory cytokine, such as IL-10. Lower expression of 5-HTT or reduced efficiency associated with 5-HTTLPR may also predispose an individual to intestinal inflammation via increased availability of 5-HT. Various studies, including studies from our laboratory, have established that 5-HT via its repertoire of receptors on immune cells can regulate the immune response [6]. It is also possible, that changes in 5-HTT expression may contribute to the breakdown of IEC-immune cell communications, which may involve serotonylation, leading to an aberrant immune response. More studies will have conducted to ascertain the role of serotonylation in immune and epithelial cell mediator secretion and antigen presentation. As mentioned earlier, El Adiy et al. have implicated diminished 5-HTT expression with dysbiosis, which when combined with adverse early life events results in a shift toward an inflammatorytype microbiota [486]. Thus, specific 5-HTTLPR genotype associated reduced expression/function of 5-HTT may further increase the risk of developing intestinal inflammation via microbiota modulation.

IL-13/5-HT axis and other factors in intestinal inflammation

A holistic understanding of the effects of immuno-endocrine interactions in gut inflammation, particularly in IBD, will have to consider how other mitigating factors, such as the microbiota, can influence or be influenced by immunoendocrine interactions. The gut microbiota has a critical influence on the normal development of the immune system as well as IECs. It has been shown that postthymic education of NKT cells, is dependent on the diversity of the gut microbiota and lack of diversity may be related to gut inflammation [507,508]. IL-13 along with other inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IFN- γ , promote IEC detrimentally influence permeability [250,509-511]. A apoptosis and compromised barrier increases the risk of an inappropriate immune activation and inflammation which is the hallmark of IBD and may also lead to associated dysbiosis. Recently, it was demonstrated that the presence of two bacteria (Escherichia coli and Serratia marcescens) and one fungus (Candida tropicalis) was significantly higher in patients with IBD, more specifically CD, compared to their healthy relatives [512]. Additionally, it was shown that these three

microorganisms work together to produce a biofilm that adheres to portions of the intestine triggering inflammation in CD [512]. It is possible that the IL-13/5-HT axis may play an important role in microbial colonization of the normal gut as well as in the context of inflammation. As previously mentioned, 5-HTT-KO mice (increased 5-HT levels both in the gut and the brain) have a more inflammatorytype gut microbial composition and recent work from our laboratory indicates that 5-HT can regulate AMP production by colonocytes [486,513]. We observed that naïve TPH1-KO mice had significantly higher colonic production of AMPs, such as mouse β -defensing, than their WT counterparts. In addition to that, using HT-29 cells (model of human IECs), we were are able to demonstrate that 5-HT in a dose-dependent manner inhibited the production of human β -defensins [513]. CD has been associated with reduced production of AMPs, including β -defensions in Crohn's colitis [514–517]. IBD associated changes in AMP production has been linked to with pathogen recognition and autophagy, thus, future studies will have to investigate the connection between already identified IBD risk loci (NOD2, ATG16L1, etc.) and 5-HT. Significant up-regulation of calprotectin forming proteins, S100A9 and S100A8, in inflamed tissue of UC patients in comparison with non-inflamed tissue has been demonstrated [518]. Additionally, it has been reported that inflammation specific up-regulation of tissue calprotectin levels may not be reflected in the measurement of this protein in stool [519]. In recent years, FCal has gained popularity as a biomarker of inflammation in the gut.

Calprotectin is an AMP produced by neutrophils, monocytes, and IECs, which has bacteriostatic and fungistatic properties. In agreement with Reinisch et al. [518] we found that S100A9 mRNA expression was significantly up-regulated only in the inflamed areas of the colon of CD patients, just as IL-13 and TPH1 (Chapter 5). However, future studies will have to determine if the changes observed in the local enhancement of 5-HT signaling and calprotectin are causative or associative. In addition to the ability of 5-HT to effect AMP production, it can regulate mucin production, the major component of the intestinal biochemical barrier which can affect microbiota composition as well as outcomes in intestinal inflammation. We have found that pharmacological inhibition of peripheral 5-HT production in models of intestinal inflammation was associated with up-regulated MUC2 production, potentially via increased IL-10 production [453]. Conversely, evidence of microbial modulation of mucosal 5-HT signaling has been found. In the normal gut, specific gut microbes via short-chain fatty acids, such as acetate and butyrate, can up-regulate TPH1 expression in EC cells and 5-HT production as well as down-regulate 5-HTT expression [520,521]. Though this is yet to demonstrated in the context of inflammation, it is plausible these inducible and reversible modulation of 5-HT production by gut microbiota (due to dysbiosis) can occur during intestinal inflammation. Both the gut microbiota and mucosal 5-HT signaling are extremely sensitive to important environmental factors, such as diet. Studies have shown that fat rich western diet may be causing a leaky gut with increased permeability and changes in the microbiota, contributing to the high incidence of IBD [522–524]. In animal models, high-fat diet has been shown to increase TPH1 expression and EC cell numbers and decrease intestinal 5-HTT expression, as well as to exacerbate DSS-induced colitis [525–528]. Up-regulation of mucosal 5-HT signaling, inflammatory biomarkers, as well as upper GI tract histopathology have also been reported in individuals with obesity [528–533]. Furthermore, Pendyala et al. [533] demonstrated that diet-induced weight loss in obese individuals is associated with down-regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine production in the gut, and we have shown that inhibition of peripheral 5-HT by genetic deletion of TPH1 or by pharmacological means prevents diet-induced obesity and associated disorders [126]. In addition to that, TPH1 SNPs have been linked to with measures of obesity including BMI, waist circumference in nondiabetic controls, and weight gain during pregnancy [534]. In a future study, we plan to explore the association between TPH1 SNPs and IBD.

IL-13 and 5-HT in the management of intestinal inflammation

Clinical trials attempting to interfere with IL-13 signaling have been conducted in patients with active UC, with most having limited success. As mentioned earlier, Mannon et al. in a pilot study demonstrated that suppression of IL-13 in patients with moderate to severe UC (Short Clinical Colitis Activity Index; SCCAI \geq 5) by IFN- β -1a (Avonex) led to better outcomes in disease activity [418]. This was a

small study with 16 participants, and the primary outcome evaluated was a drop in the SCCAI of three or more points (clinical response). 11 of the 16 patients reached the primary outcome and had significantly reduced production of IL-13 by LP T cell, whereas, five were non-responsive to treatment and there were no observable changes in IL-13 production. Moreover, seven patients reported remission of symptoms during the 12 week-long trial. The study also identified that UC patients with increased IL-17 and IL-6 production represent a subset who are less receptive to IFN- β therapy. In a phase IIa clinical study with moderate to severe UC patients, tralokinumab (a potent IL-13 neutralizing antibody) was administered as an add-on therapy for whom standard treatments were failing [535]. The study failed to reach statistical significance between the placebo and treatment groups for the primary (clinical response) and secondary (clinical remission and mucosal healing) endpoints measured during the 8-week long trial. However, a higher percentage of patients receiving tralokinumab attained clinical remission and mucosal healing in comparison with placebo. In another phase IIa clinical study with patients with mild to moderate UC, Anrukinzumab (an antibody that binds to IL-13 and inhibits signaling by preventing attachment to IL-4R α) failed to achieve a significant difference in the primary endpoint measured [518]. For this study the primary endpoint was a significant reduction in FCal levels compared to baseline. This study used three different doses (200, 400 and 600 mg) and found worse outcomes at higher doses. Additionally, the lowest dose tested, demonstrated lower FCal levels relative to placebo at all time points except for week 14 (statistically significant at weeks 4, 8 and 12), these patients also had the most improved rectal bleeding subscores. Patients receiving 400 mg of anrukinzumab had the highest rate of mucosal healing and the largest proportion of patients with improved Mayo endoscopic subscores at week 14. All the studies highlighted above were not powered to detect statistical differences in the clinical endpoints, thus the small positive association between clinical remission and treatment conditions observed need to be interpreted with caution. However, they bring to attention several key points, 1) there is a tremendous degree of heterogeneity in IBD, 2) they provide proof of concept that IL-13 is involved in IBD pathogenesis, 3) targeting IL-13 alone in the management of IBD is not sufficient, and 4) multiple inflammatory mediators will have to be targeted for better management of IBD. The last observation is further supported by the failure of the revolutionary anti-TNF therapy in approximately a third of IBD patients [438].

To date, a TPH1-specific inhibitor does not exist and no clinical studies have been undertaken to determine the safety and efficacy of blocking mucosal 5-HT synthesis in IBD management. However, non-specific TPH inhibitors that cannot enter the nervous system, which therefore act as TPH1 inhibitors, have been generated. As mentioned earlier, work from our laboratory and others have shown that these inhibitors significantly deplete 5-HT from the small and large intestine

without affecting neuronal 5-HT in various models of intestinal inflammation [452,453]. Moreover, these TPH inhibitors were shown to reduce the severity of colitis as measured by symptoms, histopathology score, and pro-inflammatory cytokine production. The high rate of side effects and toxicity of currently available medication for IBD are major issues in IBD management [438]. For example, side effects of anti-TNF therapy range from minor symptoms such as headaches and joint pain to increased risk of serious infections and cancer. A well tolerated orally administered peripheral TPH inhibitor (LX-1031) has already been shown to be effective in phase II clinical trial for non-constipating IBS, without any serious side-effects [482]. Even though this new class of drugs is at the preclinical stage, the low rate of adverse events reported is promising as they can potentially be implemented in IBD management. Taken together, the findings of the basic and clinical studies provide proof of concept of a potential new therapy for IBD, and a justifiable reason to further evaluate this novel class of drugs as a treatment for IBD.

Furthermore, increased concentrations of blood 5-HT levels in association with IBD has been reported by us (chapter 5) and others [446,445]. As nearly all of this 5-HT originates from the gut, measurement of blood 5-HT levels may have potential diagnostic value as a marker of gut-specific inflammation. Future studies will have to address many questions before blood 5-HT concentrations can be included in the array of diagnostic tools used in IBD assessment and management.

Some of the questions that will have to be answered include are differentiating levels of 5-HT concentrations for different forms of IBD, the range associated with active and inactive disease, if there are differences in 5-HT levels depending on the location of the disease, etc.

Concluding statements

This thesis advances our understanding of immune-endocrine interactions that generate or perpetuate intestinal inflammation, mainly that 5-HT has a pivotal mediating role in IL-13 driven intestinal inflammation and that enhancement of mucosal 5-HT signaling may have a genetic basis. Nevertheless, more information is needed to better define and expand upon these findings in the basic science and clinical realms. I have discussed some of these objectives and implications here, which may ultimately lead to the development of new therapeutic and/or diagnostic strategies in combating intestinal inflammatory disorders, including IBD.
—APPENDIX I—

THE ROLE OF SEROTONIN AND ITS RECEPTORS IN ACTIVATION OF

IMMUNE RESPONSES AND INFLAMMATION

The role of serotonin and its receptors in activation of immune responses and inflammation.

Shajib MS, and Khan WI.

The material in this appendix was published in Acta Physiologica (Oxford) (PMID: 25439045).

Acta Physiol (Oxf).2015 Mar;213(3):561-74. doi: 10.1111/apha.12430. Epub 2014 Dec 11.

Reprinted with permission.

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This Agreement between Mr. Md. Sharif Shajib ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

| License Number | 4159560365368 | |
|--|--|--|
| License date | Jul 31, 2017 | |
| Licensed Content Publisher | John Wiley and Sons | |
| Licensed Content Publication | Acta Physiologica | |
| Licensed Content Title | The role of serotonin and its receptors in activation of immune responses and inflammation | |
| Licensed Content Author | M. S. Shajib,W. I. Khan | |
| Licensed Content Date | Dec 11, 2014 | |
| Licensed Content Pages | 14 | |
| Type of use | Dissertation/Thesis | |
| Requestor type | Author of this Wiley article | |
| Format | Print and electronic | |
| Portion | Full article | |
| Will you be translating? | No | |
| Title of your thesis / dissertation | Interleukin-13 and mucosal serotonin: linking the immune and endocrine systems in intestinal inflammation. | |
| Expected completion date | Oct 2017 | |
| Expected size (number of pages) | 300 | |
| Requestor Location | Mr. Md. Sharif Shajib 60A Maybourne Ave | |
| | toronto, ON m1l 2v9 Canada Attn: Mr. Md. Sharif Shajib | |
| Publisher Tax ID | EU826007151 | |
| Billing Type | Invoice | |
| Billing Address | Mr. Md. Sharif Shajib 60A Maybourne Ave | |
| | toronto, ON m1l 2v9 Canada Attn: Mr. Md. Sharif Shajib | |
| Total | 0.00 USD | |
| Terms and Conditions | | |

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at http://mvaccount.copyright.com).

Terms and Conditions

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license, and any CONTENT (PDF or image file) purchased as part of your order, is for a one-time use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this license must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this license (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner.For STM Signatory Publishers clearing permission under the terms of the <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u> only, the terms of the license are extended to include subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted figures or extracts, You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times
 remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or
 their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of
 and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the
 continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or
 to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have
 no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right,
 license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding

("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto

- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.
- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.

- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.
- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses. The license type is clearly identified on the article. **The Creative Commons Attribution License**

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY</u>) allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC)License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

Use by commercial "for-profit" organizations

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.10 Last updated September 2015

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

ACTA PHYSIOLOGICA

Acta Physiol 2015, 213, 561-574

REVIEW The role of serotonin and its receptors in activation of immune responses and inflammation

M. S. Shajib^{1,2} and W. I. Khan^{1,2,3}

I Famcombe Family Digestive Health Research Institute, Hamilton, ON, Canada

2 Department of Pathology & Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

3 Hamilton Regional Laboratory Medicine Program, Hamilton Health Sciences, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Received 29 August 2014, revision requested 29 September 2014,

revision received 30 October 2014,

accepted 19 November 2014 Correspondence: W. I. Khan, Department of Pathology & Molecular Medicale, McMaster University Medical Center, Room 3N7, 1280 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON, Canada L8S 4K1. E-mail: khanwal@mcmaster.ca

Abstract

Serotonin or 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) is a neurotransmitter and hormone that contributes to the regulation of various physiological functions by its actions in the central nervous system (CNS) and in the respective organ systems. Peripheral 5-HT is predominantly produced by enterochromaffin (EC) cells of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. These gutresident cells produce much more 5-HT than all neuronal and other sources combined, establishing EC cells as the main source of this biogenic amine in the human body. Peripheral 5-HT is also a potent immune modulator and affects various immune cells through its receptors and via the recently identified process of serotonylation. Alterations in 5-HT signalling have been described in inflammatory conditions of the gut, such as inflammatory bowel disease. The association between 5-HT and inflammation, however, is not limited to the gut, as changes in 5-HT levels have also been reported in patients with allergic airway inflammation and rheumatoid arthritis. Based on searches for terms such as '5-HT', 'EC cell', 'immune cells' and 'inflammation' in pubmed.gov as well as by utilizing pertinent reviews, the current review aims to provide an update on the role of 5-HT in biological functions with a particular focus on immune activation and inflammation.

Keywords 5-HT, 5-HT receptors, colitis, immune response, inflammation, serotonin.

The phylogenetically conserved monoamine serotonin or 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) was discovered 60 years ago, first as a vasoconstrictor released by platelets during the coagulation process and soon after in the gut, as a substance that causes smooth muscle contractions (Rapport *et al.* 1948, Erspamer 1986). The gastrointestinal (GI) tract, blood platelets and the central nervous system (CNS) are the main locations of 5-HT in the mammalian body and are functionally implicated in most major organs systems including the GI tract and the CNS (Berger *et al.* 2009). Although 5-HT is best known for its role in the CNS, the vast majority of 5-HT (~95%) in the body is found in the periphery and gut-resident enterochromaffin (EC) cells are the primary source of peripheral 5-HT (Gershon & Tack 2007). 5-HT, a very basic molecule, is tightly regulated in the body as 99% of it is stored intracellular (Mohammad-Zadeh *et al.* 2008). 5-HT in interaction with its receptor families regulates various aspects of cognition, behaviour and physiology, including mood, sleep, energy balance, tissue regeneration, platelet coagulation, GI functions, as well as immunity (Meneses 1999, Baganz & Blakely 2012). The importance of 5-HT is further highlighted by the

^{© 2014} Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Serotonin and inflammation • M S Shajib and W I Khan

Acta Physiol 2015, 213, 561-574

association between deregulation of serotonergic signalling and pathogenesis of various diseases ranging from psychiatric and neurological disorders, such as depression (Coppen 1967, Artigas *et al.* 1996) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Tohgi *et al.* 1992, Kepe *et al.* 2006), to functional and inflammatory disorders of the GI tract, such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (Bearcroft *et al.* 1998, Coates *et al.* 2004, Spiller 2007) and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (Bishop *et al.* 1987, El-Salhy *et al.* 1997, Coates *et al.* 2004, Khan & Ghia 2010).

Here, we review how 5-HT signalling modulates various biological functions, with a particular focus on its contribution in immune responses and inflammation.

5-HT production and metabolism

5-HT is an indolamine [3-(β-aminoethyl)-5-hydroxyindole] (Kim & Camilleri 2000) that functions as a neurotransmitter, both in the gut and in the brain, and as a paracrine messenger in the gut (Gershon & Tack 2007), as well as a hormone in the periphery (Gershon 2013). The total amount of 5-HT found in the human body is derived from only 5% of the essential amino acid tryptophan (Tyce 1990). The biosynthesis of 5-HT from tryptophan occurs in two enzymatic steps. In the first step, tryptophan is hydroxylated by tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH) to produce 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) (Walther & Bader 2003). In the second step, the newly formed 5-HTP is decarboxylated by aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) yielding 5-HT (Walther & Bader 2003). Although both TPH and AADC are necessary for the production of 5-HT from tryptophan, TPH is the rate-limiting enzyme as it has very little affinity for any other amino acids and is only found in tissue containing 5-HT (Noguchi et al. 1973, Tyce 1990, Champier et al. 1997). In addition, depletion or inhibition of TPH leads to reduced 5-HT levels, which is in contrast to AADC inhibition (Mohammad-Zadeh et al. 2008). TPH has two isoforms, TPH1, primary localized in EC cells, and TPH2, found in central and enteric neurones, which are responsible for initiating 5-HT production in the non-neuronal and neuronal tissues respectively (Walther & Bader 2003). Once formed 5-HT is rapidly packaged into vesicles by vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT), which has two isoforms, VMAT1, found in neuroendocrine cells, and its neuronal isoform is VMAT2 (Weihe et al. 1994). 5-HT is released from these vesicles via exocytosis in a Ca2+ -dependent manner (Racke et al. 1995).

The bioavailability of 5-HT in tissue is dependent on both the rate of synthesis and metabolism (Tyce 1990); like many other biogenic amines, 5-HT is primarily metabolized by monoamine oxidase (MAO)

(Molinoff & Axelrod 1971). MAO via oxidative deamination metabolizes 5-HT and the end product of this process is 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), which is excreted mainly in urine (Jonnakuty & Gragnoli 2008). Although 5-HT is metabolized rather rapidly, it can be protected from degradation by storage carried out mainly by serotonin reuptake transporter (SERT) (Bertrand & Bertrand 2010). SERT, like all monoamine transporters, is a twelve transmembrane domain spanning sodium-dependent transporter and is expressed in the CNS, GI tract, platelets, pulmonary and peripheral vasculature (Rudnick 2006). Dopamine transporter (DAT), organic cation transporter (OCT), noradrenaline transport (NET) and peripheral monoamine transporter (PMAT) also have the capacity, albeit at a lower affinity, to uptake 5-HT into cells they are expressed on (Baganz & Blakely 2012). Once in the cytoplasm, VMAT is needed to sequester 5-HT and in order to prevent degradation by mitochondrial MAO (Golan et al. 2011).

5-HT receptors

An imposing number of 5-HT receptors (5-HTR) mediate the diverse effects of 5-HT on a wide range of physiological functions. They have been detected in fruit flies, mollusks, round worms, rodents, rabbits, cats, dogs and humans (van den Berg *et al.* 2003). Eighteen genes encode for at least fifteen mammalian 5-HTRs that are divided into seven families (5-HTR1-7) based on signalling mechanisms (Barnes & Neumaier 2011). Alternative splicing, RNA editing, and homo- and heterodimerization propagate receptor heterogeneity (Barnes & Neumaier 2011). Furthermore, naturally occurring polymorphic variants of 5-HTR subtypes have been implicated as an additional source of biological diversity (Barnes & Neumaier 2011).

With the exception of 5-HTR3, which is a Cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel, all 5-HTRs belong to the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily, and like all other GPCRs, 5-HTRs activate an intracellular second messenger cascade (Derkach et al. 1989, Pauwels 2003). Adenylyl cyclase is negatively coupled with 5-HTR1 and 5-HTR5, thus activation of these receptors downregulate cyclic AMP (cAMP) (Pauwels 2003). In contrast to the two GPCR 5-HTRs mentioned above, the activation of 5-HTRs 4, 6 and 7 is associated with increased cAMP activity (Pauwels 2003). Activation of 5-HTR2 is associated with increased intracellular Ca2+ release brought on by the upregulation of inositol triphosphate and diacylglycerol pathways (Barnes & Neumaier 2011). As mentioned earlier, the only non-GPCR serotonin receptor is 5-HTR3, which is a non-selective cation channel most permeable to Ca2+, Na+ and K+ (Derkach et al.

Acta Physiol 2015, 213, 561-574

1989, Barnes & Neumaier 2011). Activation of this receptor leads to rapid depolarization of the plasma membrane (Kim & Camilleri 2000). Current literature suggests, only the 5-HTR3A subunits can form functional homopentameric channels and all other subunit subtypes have to heteropentamerize with 5-HTR3A subunits to form functional channels (Brüss *et al.* 2000, Barnes *et al.* 2009). Table 1 provides a summary of the 5-HTR families based on predominant distribution in body, as well as their expression on immune cells.

5-HT in biological functions

By virtue of ubiquitous expression of its receptors, 5-HT participates in various physiological functions in mammals. In the following sections, we briefly summarize the involvement of 5-HT in some of these functions, even though the role of 5-HT in the CNS is beyond the scope of this review, that is where we begin as it is central to all biological functions.

5-HT in the CNS

In the CNS, 5-HT is mainly produced in neurones originating from the raphe nuclei of the brainstem (Jacobs & Azmitia 1992). These serotonergic neurones are widely distributed throughout the mammalian brain, making the serotonergic system the single largest and if not the most complex efferent system of the CNS (Berger *et al.* 2009). Accordingly, the functions of 5-HT in the CNS are very broad, affecting physiology, cognition and behaviour. The rostral, dorsal and the medial nuclei of serotonergic system diffusely innervate the CNS, and their projections participate in the regulation of temperature, appetite, sleep cycles, emesis and sexual behaviour (Mohammad-Zadeh et al. 2008, Berger et al. 2009), whereas the caudal nuclei send projections into the spinal cord and modulate nociception and motor tone (Mohammad-Zadeh et al. 2008, Berger et al. 2009). Even though only about 5% of the total bodily 5-HT is found in the CNS (Baganz & Blakely 2012), every cell in the brain is in close proximity to a serotonergic fibre and all regions of the CNS express 5-HTRs in a subtype-specific manner (Mengod et al. 2006). Individual neurones have been shown to express multiple 5-HTRs, which exert differential effects of 5-HT on them (Araneda & Andrade 1991, Mengod et al. 2006). In addition to its direct effects, the serotonergic system interacts with other important neurotransmitter systems, like the catecholaminergic system, further influencing the organism's physiology (D'Souza & Craig 2006). 5-HT has also been implicated in development of the CNS; here it acts a growth factor directing proliferation, organization and maturation of the developing brain (Riccio et al. 2008, Mück-šeler & Pivac 2011). Despite the plethora of CNS of functions influenced by 5-HT, the most clinically relevant aspect has been its involvement in the pathophysiology of neuropsychological disorders, such as AD, schizophrenia, depression and alcoholism (Mück-šeler & Pivac 2011). Thus, not surprisingly, many current antipsychotic, antidepressant and anxiolytic medications target components of 5-HT signalling system and are the major focus of various CNS drug development (Berger et al. 2009).

Table I Serotonergic receptors (5-HTR), their distribution as well as expression on rodent and human immune cells

| Family | Distribution | Subtype | Type of immune cell expressed on |
|--------|-------------------------------|---------|--|
| 5-HTR1 | CNS and CVS | А | Mast cells, Monocytes, M, NK cells, T cells, B cells |
| | | В | DCs, T cells |
| | | D | Unknown |
| | | E | Monocytes, DCs |
| | | F | Unknown |
| 5-HTR2 | CNS, PNS, GI tract, platelets | Α | Monocytes, M, DCs, Eosinophils, T cells, B cells |
| | and CVS | В | Monocytes, M, DCs |
| | | С | М |
| 5-HTR3 | CNS, PNS, GI tract | | Monocytes, DCs, T cells, B cells |
| 5-HTR4 | CNS, PNS, GI tract, CVS | | Monocytes, M, DCs |
| 5-HTR5 | CNS | | Unknown |
| 5-HTR6 | CNS | | Unknown |
| 5-HTR7 | CNS, PNS, GI tract, CVS | | Neutrophils, Monocytes, M, DCs, T cell, B cells |

CNS, central nervous system; PNS (includes the enteric nervous system), peripheral nervous system; CVS, cardiovascular system; GI tract, gastrointestinal tract; M, macrophages; DCs, dendritic cells; NK cells, natural killer cells. Table adopted from (Ahern 2011, Baganz & Blakely 2012, Fidalgo *et al.* 2013).

© 2014 Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Serotonin and inflammation • M S Shajib and W I Khan

5-HT in the GI tract

5-HT participates in the regulation of the digestive process, in some degree from the moment food enters the body, by transmitting taste information from the taste buds to the CNS (Huang et al. 2005), in digestion by regulating pancreatic enzyme secretion (Suzuki et al. 2001) and in defecation by regulating peristaltic reflex (Gershon & Tack 2007). The GI tract produces about 95% of 5-HT in body, with EC cells being the major contributor (90%) and a comparatively smaller amount coming from enteric neurones (10%) (Gershon & Tack 2007, Khan & Ghia 2010). EC cells are the best characterized endocrine cell of the largest endocrine organ of the human body, the gut, and function as sensors of gut content (Khan & Ghia 2010). Their specialized microvilli project out into the gut lumen and contain enzymes and transporters allowing them to respond to luminal stimuli directly or indirectly via mediator released by surrounding cells (Buchan 1999). EC cells release 5-HT in response to acetylcholine, neuronal stimulation, raised intraluminal pressure and low pH (Bulbring & Lin 1958, Spiller 2008). In the GI tract, 5-HT acts as a critical signalling molecule participating in intestinal secretion, sensation and peristalsis, where 5-HTR3 and 5-HTR4 are of special importance (Bülbring & Crema 1958, Gershon 1999). 5-HT-mediated activation of intrinsic sensory neurones, lying within the gut wall, results in peristalsis and secretory reflexes, whereas activation of extrinsic neurones by 5-HT leads to the sensation of pain and discomfort as well as nausea and vomiting (Bülbring & Crema 1958, Bulbring & Lin 1958, McPhee et al. 2006). The role of 5-HT in GI physiology and/or pathophysiology remains to be fully understood, as it exerts a confounding range of effects working through its various receptor subtypes found in the gut (Khan & Ghia 2010). However, 5-HT and its role in the gut and beyond is becoming the subject of immense interest as new discoveries are being made, such as the vital role of enteric neuronal 5-HT in the growth and maintenance of the intestinal mucosa as well as the enteric nervous system (Gross et al. 2012).

5-HT in immune response

There is now enough evidence that demonstrates 5-HT is an important regulator of the immune system. However, as 5-HT does not cross the blood-brain barrier, peripheral sources of 5-HT represent the main suppliers of this monoamine for lymphatic tissue (Baganz & Blakely 2012). Almost all of circulating 5-HT is found in the dense granules of platelets and is released following platelet activation, in response to contact with damaged endothelium or ischaemia (Maurer-Spurej et al. 2004, Jonnakuty & Gragnoli 2008). Platelets cannot synthesize their own 5-HT, rather using SERT they take up 5-HT from the bloodstream, which originates from EC cells (Bertrand & Bertrand 2010). Platelet contained 5-HT is the largest source for immune cells and lymphatic tissue (Baganz & Blakely 2012). Lymphatic tissues are heavily innervated with sympathetic neurones, which along with immune cells such as mast cells, monocytes/macrophages and T cells have capacity to make 5-HT (Ahern 2011) and represent additional but smaller sources of 5-HT for the peripheral immune system.

The innate immune system is the first line of defence of the overall immune system, consisting of cells and mechanisms that defend the host from invasion by foreign organisms in a non-specific manner (Janeway et al. 2001). Expression of 5-HTRs has been identified on rodent and human innate immune cells, which includes neutrophils, eosinophils, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), mast cells and natural killer (NK) cells (Table 1) (Ahern 2011, Baganz & Blakely 2012). Additionally, of the aforementioned innate immune cells, SERT expression has been confirmed in monocytes, macrophages, DCs and mast cells (Baganz & Blakely 2012). The expression of 5-HTRs and the ability of some of these cells to uptake 5-HT highlight the role of 5-HT in shaping innate immunity (Ahern 2011). Mast cells, basophils and platelets rapidly release 5-HT in response to injury, activation of the complement system and release of inflammatory substances, such as immunoglobulin E complexes, and platelet activating factor (PAF), resulting in chemotaxis, phagocytosis and ultimately inflammation (König et al. 1994, Mössner & Lesch 1998, Gordon & Barnes 2003). 5-HT directly or indirectly promotes recruitment of mast cells, eosinophils, DCs and neutrophils in acute inflammation (Boehme et al. 2004, Kushnir-Sukhov et al. 2006, Müller et al. 2009, Duerschmied et al. 2013). The chemoattractant properties of 5-HT on both human and mouse mast cells are mediated by 5-HTR1A, on human eosinophils is mediated by 5-HTR2A and on mouse DCs is mediated by 5-HTR1 and 5-HTR2 pathways (Boehme et al. 2004, Kushnir-Sukhov et al. 2006, Müller et al. 2009). 5-HT has been shown to alter cytokine production by DCs via 5-HTR4 and 5-HTR7, as well as to modulate the differentiation of DCs from human monocytes, the phagocytic precursor of macrophages (Ahern 2011). 5-HT stimulation increases murine peritoneal macrophages' production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-1 and IL-6, in a nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B-cells (NF-kB)-dependent manner and enhances their phagocytic capacity via

© 2014 Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Acta Physiol 2015, 213, 561-574

5-HTR1A (Freire-Garabal et al. 2003, Ghia et al. 2009). Additionally, 5-HT promotes chemotaxis of monocytes to sites of inflammation by working through its 2C receptor on alveolar macrophages (Mikulski et al. 2010). However, activation of 5-HTR2B and 5-HTR7 has also been shown to promote antiinflammatory macrophage polarization (de las Casas-Engel et al. 2013). 5-HTR1A has also been implicated in the interaction between monocytes and NK cells, and 5-HT stimulates human NK cells to upregulate interferon-gamma (IFN-y) production and display enhanced cytotoxicity (Baganz & Blakely 2012). 5-HT also protects these cells from oxidative damage; additionally, increased NK cell proliferation has been reported in long-term users of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs; drugs that inhibit the function of SERT) (Ahern 2011).

The adaptive or specific immune system involves the destruction of pathogens via antigen-specific recognition by T and B lymphocytes; this arm of the immune system is unique to vertebrates (Janeway et al. 2001). DCs and macrophages are part of a special class of immune cells, called antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that are involved in priming adaptive immune cells for the generation of a specific immune response (Janeway et al. 2001). It has been demonstrated that, depletion of 5-HT using parachlorophenylalanine (PCPA; an irreversible inhibitor of TPH) abrogates macrophages' ability to activate T cells (Baganz & Blakely 2012). Our laboratory has established that 5-HT-stimulated DCs trigger the generation of a more inflammatory adaptive immune response, and 5-HTR7 plays a vital role in this process (Li et al. 2011, Kim et al. 2013b). In addition to influencing the activation of adaptive immune cells, 5-HT can directly affect the functions of both T and B cells through its receptors expressed on them (Table 1). In addition to its repertoire of 5-HTRs, B cells also express SERT and long-term use of SSRI in humans has been reported to increase the number of B cells (Ahern 2011). Additionally, 5-HT in conjunction with PAF can activate B cells (Matsumura et al. 2006). Unlike B cells, T cells do not express SERT but they do express DAT and have been reported to produce 5-HT (Ahern 2011). 5-HT has been identified as an endogenous autocrine and/or paracrine signal that promotes T-cell activation and proliferation (Leon-Ponte et al. 2007). This is initially mediated by 5-HTR7, phosphorylation of extracellular signal-related kinase-1 and kinase-2 (ERK1/2) and inhibitor of NF-kB in T cells (Leon-Ponte et al. 2007). Activation of T cells leads to increased expression of 5-HTR1B and 5-HTR2A, with the former promoting T-helper (Th) cell proliferation and the latter being involved in differentiation and function (Akiyoshi et al. 2006, Yin et al. 2006, Inoue et al. 2011).

M S Shajib and W I Khan • Serotonin and inflammation

It was recently suggested that, uptake of 5-HT by lymphocytes may affect the secretory functions via serotonylation, a process described as the covalent linkage of 5-HT to small intracellular GTPase, such as RhoA and Rab4, by intracellular transglutaminase leading to constitutive activation of G-protein-dependent signalling pathways (Walther et al. 2003, Baganz & Blakely 2012). As these GTPases are also present in lymphocytes, and other immune cells, serotonylation may help explain pathophysiological effects of enhanced intracellular 5-HT transport in various inflammatory diseases. The influence of intracellular 5-HT thus far has been described in Burkitt lymphoma cells and in the production of IL-4 by basophiles (Serafeim et al. 2002, Schneider et al. 2011). More studies investigating the role of intracellular 5-HT in immune cell functions and how this may complement or abrogate 5-HTR-mediated immune cell functions are required, as their roles in the generation of an immune response are not clearly understood.

5-HT in inflammation

The gut harbours approx. 70–80% of the immune cells found in the body (Furness *et al.* 1999). 5-HT, a potent immune modulator, has an influence not only in the gut but in systemic immunity as a whole, where platelets play an important role (Fig. 1). In the following sections, we briefly review the role of 5-HT in gut and several other forms of inflammation.

5-HT in gut inflammation

Enterochromaffin cells and immune cells are in close proximity to each other in the gut, and it is now well established that one can modulate the function of the other (Yang & Lackner 2004, Khan et al. 2006, Wang et al. 2007, Motomura et al. 2008, Ghia et al. 2009, Li et al. 2011, Manocha et al. 2012, Kim et al. 2013b, Shajib et al. 2013). It therefore follows that, EC cells have been evaluated in inflammatory conditions of the gut, such as IBD. IBD encompasses two chronic, relapsing GI inflammatory diseases of unknown origin, Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) (Manocha & Khan 2012). Various aspects of normal 5-HT signalling, including EC cell numbers and 5-HT content, have been observed to be altered in both CD and UC (Khan & Ghia 2010). EC cells isolated from patient's with CD mucosa have a greater production of 5-HT [mediated in part by Toll-like receptor (TLR)4], and patients with UC have reduced expression of SERT, and the latter is also observed in another form of intestinal inflammation, diverticulitis (Coates et al. 2004, Costedio et al. 2008, Kidd et al. 2009). TPH1 mRNA levels are upregulated in patients

^{© 2014} Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Serotonin and inflammation • M S Shajib and W I Khan



with CD in long-standing remission, who suffer from IBS-like symptoms (Minderhoud et al. 2007). Changes in serotonin signalling are well documented in functional GI disorder, such as IBS, and it is postulated that functional GI disorders are the result of an initial inflammatory insult on the gut that alters visceral sensitivity and/or motility (Bercik et al. 2005, Kim et al. 2013a). Altered motility causing hypoxia has been shown to induce synthesis and secretion of 5-HT by EC cells (Damen et al. 2013). From clinical observations, it is rather difficult to determine whether the IBD-associated changes in 5-HT signalling is the cause or effect of the immune response. However, studies have demonstrated an association between use of SSRIs with development of microscopic colitis (Khan 2013). Patients who were not previously diagnosed with IBD developed chronic diarrhoea and subsequently IBD following treatment with paroxetine for depression (Mikocka-Walus et al. 2006). These findings should be interpreted with a degree of caution as some of these studies did not include control groups (Mikocka-Walus et al. 2006). In addition, while casecontrol studies are able to establish an association between SSRIs and microscopic colitis, they do not establish causation. Other studies report improvements or no changes in IBD symptom scores in patients treated with SSRIs, such as paroxetine, but improvements in depression or social disability scores (Mikocka-Walus et al. 2006, Goodhand et al. 2012).

Figure | The role of gut-derived 5-HT in local (gut) and peripheral inflammation. 5-HT released from EC cells can act on various innate and adaptive immune cells, and under inflammatory conditions, increased 5-HT production can promote increased local (gut) inflammation. Gut-derived 5-HT can enter the blood and be stored in platelets via SERT. Once 5-HT is released by the platelets, it can participate in the pathogenesis of peripheral inflammation via its chemoattractant and immune cell activating properties. EC cells, enterochromaffin cells; Trp, tryptophan; TPH1, tryptophan hydroxylase 1; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine or serotonin; SERT, serotonin reuptake transport.

These observations suggest that more clinical studies are needed to understand the impact of SSRIs on IBD and its treatment. The more clear indication of mucosal 5-HT-driving intestinal inflammation comes from animal studies. By utilizing TPH1 knockout mice (these animal have significantly reduced production of mucosal 5-HT), in two different models of colitis [dextran sulphate sodium (DSS) and dinitrobenzenesulphonic acid (DNBS)], our laboratory has shown that 5-HT plays a key role in generation of gut inflammation (Ghia et al. 2009). In both models, the TPH1 knockout group had significantly reduced severity of colitis and reduced levels of colonic pro-inflammatory cytokines (Ghia et al. 2009). These findings were supported by the observations in SERT knockout mice, which exhibited more severe trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (TNBS) colitis (Bischoff et al. 2009). We also showed that restoration of 5-HT levels in TPH1 knockout mice resulted in increased severity of DSSinduced colitis (Ghia et al. 2009). In addition, we have observed significantly less severe colitis in IL-13 knockout mice, which have been shown to produce significantly lower levels of mucosal 5-HT following induction of DSS colitis (Shajib et al. 2013). Recently, it was shown that, 5-HT through NADPH oxidase (Nox) 2-derived reactive oxygen species (ROS) increases the production of IL-6, IL-8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 resulting in the initial event of inflammation, which is the adhesion of monocytes

© 2014 Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Acta Physiol 2015, 213, 561-574

to colonic epithelial cells (Regmi *et al.* 2014). Further exploring the role of mucosal 5-HT in immune activation and pathogenesis of intestinal inflammation, using both acute and chronic models of DSS-induced colitis, we have shown that 5-HT stimulates 5-HTR7 on DCs to initiate innate immune mechanisms that recruits the adaptive immunity, leading to the full blown inflammation of the bowel (Li *et al.* 2011, Kim *et al.* 2013b).

Coeliac disease is another form of intestinal inflammation associated with increased EC cell numbers and mucosal 5-HT content (Challacombe *et al.* 1977, Wheeler & Challacombe 1984). Decrease in SERT expression and altered 5-HT metabolism in coeliac disease has been reported (Coleman *et al.* 2006). In stark contrast to IBD, the aetiology and pathogenesis of coeliac disease is well established; it is caused by an immune reaction to gliadin, a gluten protein found in wheat, resulting in villous atrophy and crypt hyperplasia (Manocha & Khan 2012). However, the precise role of increased 5-HT signalling observed and its immune contribution in the pathogenesis of coeliac disease requires further investigation.

The chronic low-grade inflammation that defines obesity has an intestinal component; although it is less severe than inflammation observed in IBD, it precedes significant weight gain and increased fat mass (Ding et al. 2010, Ding & Lund 2011, Le Beyec et al. 2014). Evidence supporting the association between obesity and gut inflammation is rooted in the observations of higher levels faecal inflammatory biomarkers, such as calprotectin, and endoscopic abnormalities, such as esophagitis, gastritis and ulcers in the upper GI tract of morbidly obese individuals (Csendes et al. 2007, Spagnuolo et al. 2010, Dietz et al. 2012, Verdam et al. 2013). Animal models of diet-induced obesity (DIO) also support this notion of intestinal inflammation in obesity and have implicated TLR4 signalling and intestinal macrophages in this process (de La Serre et al. 2010, Kim et al. 2012, Wang et al. 2013). Upregulation of mucosal 5-HT signalling was recently observed in obese individuals (Le Beyec et al. 2014). Additionally, models of DIO report increased TPH1 expression and 5-HT-positive EC cell numbers, which precedes weight gain, as well as downregulation of SERT (Bertrand et al. 2011, Le Beyec et al. 2014). Of note, SERT knockout mice, which are more susceptible to intestinal inflammation, are also prone to becoming obese as they as age (Chen et al. 2012). However, to date, studies investigating the link between 5-HT and obesity-associated intestinal inflammation are few and far between, and it is a topic that requires immediate attention as obesity in world is reaching pandemic proportion.

5-HT in other peripheral inflammation

Next to the gut, the liver is the most exposed organ to gut-derived 5-HT and it influences both glucose and lipid metabolism by the liver (Watanabe et al. 2014). The liver is also the primary site of 5-HT metabolism in the body, followed by the lungs (Jonnakuty & Gragnoli 2008). Although gut-derived 5-HT working via its cognate receptors 2A and 2B promotes liver regeneration, it has also been implicated liver pathophysiology (Lesurtel et al. 2006, 2012). 5-HT mediated activation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), and subsequent suppression of hepatic autophagy has been implicated in hepatic steatosis in a model of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (Osawa et al. 2011). Hepatic steatosis is the first step in the progression to inflammatory liver diseases, such as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) (Lesurtel et al. 2012). Additionally, it has been suggested the excessive intracellular 5-HT degradation leading to the generation of ROS and lipid peroxides plays an important role in the pathogenesis and inflammation observed in NASH (Nocito et al. 2007). In viral hepatitis, 5-HT-dependent alteration of hepatic sinusoidal microcirculation results in persistence of the pathogen leading to liver cell damage and ultimately the onset of chronic hepatitis (Lang et al. 2008). Other organs involved in glucose and lipid metabolism where inflammatory role of 5-HT has been identified include the pancreas, where 5-HT has been shown to play a role in the onset of pancreatitis (Sonda et al. 2013). Additionally in white adipose tissue, it has been shown that ROS generated by 5-HT metabolism in human adipocyte promotes lipid accumulation in culture (Grès et al. 2013). This may ultimately lead to hypertrophy of adipocytes (5-HT is already associated with hypertrophy of cardiac cells (Villeneuve et al. 2009)), and hypertrophic/hypoxic adipocytes release pro-inflammatory mediators, which according to current literature are initiator of chronic low-grade systemic inflammation that defines obesity and associated disorders (Gregor & Hotamisligil 2011). 5-HT has also been shown to increase pro-inflammatory IL-1 beta and IL-8 cytokine expression in bovine adipocytes following lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation (Stunes et al. 2011). However, the source of this 5-HT is yet to be determined, as in culture methods have additionally shown that rat adipocytes have functional serotonergic system (express TPH1, SERT and 5-HTRs) (Stunes et al. 2011).

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a systemic inflammatory disorder that principally attacks synovial joints, characterized by cartilage erosion and ankylosis, and is associated with increased levels of circulating 5-HT (Voog *et al.* 2004). 5-HT levels are also elevated in

^{© 2014} Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Serotonin and inflammation • M S Shajib and W I Khan

affected synovial fluid, released by activated platelets, and induces synovial plasma extravasation by the release of various inflammatory mediators (Wang *et al.* 2004, Cloëz-Tayarani 2006, Seidel *et al.* 2008). In models of arthritis, it is shown that intra-articular injection of 5-HT causes joint inflammation and pain, while its depletion attenuates disease severity (Fakhfouri *et al.* 2012).

As with RA, symptomatic patients with asthma also have elevated levels of plasma 5-HT and it was found that treatment with 5-HT uptake enhancer, tianeptine, yielded clinical benefits (Lechin *et al.* 1996, 1998a,b). It has only been recently identified that platelet (gut derived), and not mast cell derived, 5-HT contributes to allergic airway inflammation (AAI) (Dürk *et al.* 2013). Furthermore, the study went on to show that 5-HT is a requirement in the bone marrow for full maturation of DCs and their Th2 priming, which characterizes allergic inflammatory response (Dürk *et al.* 2013).

The ability of gut-derived 5-HT to induce inflammation outside of the gut is probably best highlighted by its capacity to induce neutrophil recruitment by influencing endothelial cells Weibel-Palade bodies in animal models of lung inflammation, acute peritonitis, aseptic skin wounds and endotoxic shock (Duerschmied et al. 2013). In addition, serotonylation to activate RhoA/ROCK pathway, which subsequently downregulates efferocytosis, as defective efferocytosis has been implicated in the progression of chronic inflammatory diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus, RA, obesity, cardiovascular disease, neurodegenerative disease, and lung diseases such as cystic fibrosis, asthma, chronic granulomatous disease, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Biswas & Hoque 2013, Tanaka et al. 2014).

Target blocking of 5-HT to attenuate inflammation

Building on our original observation that targeted inhibition of TPH by treatment with PCPA is associated reduction in severity of DSS-induced colitis (Ghia *et al.* 2009), Margolis *et al.* has shown that reduction of mucosal 5-HT by TPH inhibitors, LP-920540 and LX1032 that do not deplete neuronal 5-HT, also reduce the severity of TNBS colitis (Ghia *et al.* 2009, Margolis *et al.* 2014). Inhibition of TPH by PCPA has been shown to reduce lung inflammation in models of allergic airway inflammation (Dürk *et al.* 2013, Bai *et al.* 2014). With regards to AAI models, 5-HTR2A antagonist, Ketanserin, has been shown to modestly downregulate inflammation as well as associated eosinophil infiltration, although the underlying mechanism is unclear (De Bie *et al.* 1998). A similar effect has been observed with the 5-HTR2C antagonist methysergide (Lima *et al.* 2007). Ketanserin, along with another more selective 5-HTR2A antagonist ritanserin, has been shown to inhibit the production of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in a MEK/ ERK-mediated manner to curb the effects of endotoxic shock in mice (Liu *et al.* 2013). 5-HTR2A antagonist, sarpogrelate, has been shown to reduce lobular inflammation in the liver, in thioacetamide model of cirrhosis (Kim *et al.* 2013a).

5-HTR3 antagonists are the most extensively investigated group of pharmacological inhibitors of 5-HT signalling in the gut, and the list includes tropisetron, granisetron, ondansetron and ramosetron. How these antagonists produce intestinal anti-inflammatory effects remain unclear. Tropisetron and granisetron produce beneficial effects in intracolorectal model acetic acid-induced colitis by downregulating the production of inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-a (Mousavizadeh et al. 2009, Fakhfouri et al. 2010). Tropisetron has been shown to inhibit IL-2 transcription and T-cell activation; the latter is also partially achievable by ondansetron administration, and this antagonist has the ability to attenuate TNBS colitis (Vega et al. 2005, Mahzuni et al. 2012). Ondansetron and ramosetron, the latter a more potent and selective 5-HTR3 antagonist, were shown to suppress non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced intestinal lesions in a dose-dependent manner (Kato 2013). They are also capable of reducing the severity of intestinal mucositis via suppressing TNF-a expression and subsequent caspase-3/8 activation (Yasuda et al. 2013). Tropisetron along with another 5-HTR3 antagonist palonosetron was recently shown to be effective in curtailing NAFLD by the reduction of endotoxin translocation into the liver and subsequent hepatic steatosis and inflammation, and this anti-inflammatory effect was due to the involvement of the enteric nervous system (Haub et al. 2011, Ritze et al. 2013). Local injection of tropisetron also provided pain relief and reduced inflammation in patients with RA (Fakhfouri et al. 2012).

Our laboratory was the first to demonstrate that, inhibition of 5-HTR7 signalling by antagonist SB-269970 in murine models of acute and chronic DSS colitis can significantly attenuate intestinal inflammation (Kim *et al.* 2013b). It is interesting to see a recent study where inhibition of 5-HTR7 signalling appears to worsen severity of DSS colitis (Guseva *et al.* 2014). Guseva *et al.* (2014) state that the dose, route of administration and housing of animals may account for the very different results of the two studies, although they did not provide any evidence on dose, route, and housing of animals to support their conclusions. Taken together, these observations Acta Physiol 2015, 213, 561-574

revealed an interesting and important area of research on targeted blocking of 5-HT signalling components and its effects on inflammation.

Conclusion

5-HT is an ancient molecule that is better known for its functions in the brain than in the periphery, even though the amount of 5-HT found in the periphery dwarfs the amount found in neurones. Not to undermine the role of 5-HT in the CNS, where it is a very important neurotransmitter, the list of physiological functions affected by peripheral 5-HT, mainly gut derived, continues to grow as our knowledge of this enteric hormone and neurotransmitter grows. This now not only includes immunity and inflammation in various disorders, but inflammation associated with ageing (Fidalgo et al. 2013). The influence of gut-derived 5-HT as an immune modulator reaches far beyond the gut, and the targeting of 5-HT signalling for the purposes of yielding beneficial effects in inflammatory conditions requires a better understanding of the complexity of this signalling system. In addition, there are now emerging evidences that gut microbiota plays an important role in pathogenesis of various diseases including inflammatory disorders (Penders et al. 2007, Cani et al. 2008, Sokol et al. 2008, Macfarlane et al. 2009). Due to strategic location of EC cells in the epithelial lining of the gut wall, it would also be interesting to investigate the interaction between EC cells and 5-HT with gut microbiota in the context of various inflammatory disorders. If the gut is considered the second brain, next to the CNS (Gershon 1998), then the immune system has to be considered as the mobile brain of our body and 5-HT is the common language spoken by all three brains. The ubiquitous expression of 5-HTRs and the newly defined process of serotonylation reaffirm the importance of this molecule not only as a regulator of various physiological functions but as a regulator of the individual.

Conflict of interest

None.

This work is supported by the grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and the Crohn's and Colitis Canada (CCC) to W.I.K. W.I. K is a recipient of CIHR New Investigator Award.

References

- Ahern, G.P. 2011. 5-HT and the immune system. Curr Opin Pharmacol 11, 29-33.
- Akiyoshi, T., Zhang, Q., Inoue, F., Aramaki, O., Hatano, M., Shimazu, M., Kitajima, M., Shirasugi, N. & Niimi,

M. 2006. Induction of indefinite survival of fully mismatched cardiac allografts and generation of regulatory cells by sarpogrelate hydrochloride. *Transplantation* 82, 1051–1059.

- Araneda, R. & Andrade, R. 1991. 5-Hydroxytryptamine₂ and 5-hydroxytryptamine_{1A} receptors mediate opposing responses on membrane excitability in rat association cortex. *Neuroscience* 40, 399–412.
- Artigas, F., Romero, L., de Montigny, C. & Blier, P. 1996. Acceleration of the effect of selected antidepressant drugs in major depression by 5-HT_{1A} antagonists. *Trends Neurosci* 19, 378–383.
- Baganz, N.L. & Blakely, R.D. 2012. A dialogue between the immune system and brain, spoken in the language of serotonin. ACS Chem Neurosci 4, 48–63.
- Bai, Y., Wang, H., Liu, M., Wang, Y., Lian, G., Zhang, X., Kang, J. & Wang, H. 2014. 4-Chloro-DL-phenylalanine protects against monocrotaline-induced pulmonary vascular remodeling and lung inflammation. *Int J Mol Med* 33, 373–382.
- Barnes, N.M. & Neumaier, J.F. 2011. Neuronal 5-HT Receptors and SERT. Tocris Biosci Rev 34, 1–15.
- Barnes, N.M., Hales, T.G., Lummis, S.C. & Peters, J.A. 2009. The 5-HT₃ receptor-the relationship between structure and function. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 273–284.
- Bearcroft, C.P., Perrett, D. & Farthing, M.J. 1998. Postprandial plasma 5-hydroxytryptamine in diarrhoea predominant irritable bowel syndrome: a pilot study. Gut 42, 42–46.
- Bercik, P., Verdu, E.F. & Collins, S.M. 2005. Is irritable bowel syndrome a low-grade inflammatory bowel disease? *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* 34, 235–245.
- van den Berg, L., Versteeg, S.A. & van Oost, B.A. 2003. Isolation and characterization of the canine serotonin receptor 1A gene (htr1A). J Hered 94, 49–56.
- Berger, M., Gray, J.A. & Roth, B.L. 2009. The expanded biology of serotonin. Annu Rev Med 60, 355–366.
- Bertrand, P.P. & Bertrand, R.L. 2010. Serotonin release and uptake in the gastrointestinal tract. Auton Neurosci 153, 47–57.
- Bertrand, R., Senadheera, S., Markus, I., Liu, L., Howitt, L., Chen, H., Murphy, T., Sandow, S. & Bertrand, P. 2011. A Western diet increases serotonin availability in rat small intestine. *Endocrinology* 152, 36–47.
- Bischoff, S.C., Mailer, R., Pabst, O., Weier, G., Sedlik, W., Li, Z., Chen, J.J., Murphy, D.L. & Gershon, M.D. 2009. Role of serotonin in intestinal inflammation: knockout of serotonin reuptake transporter exacerbates 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid colitis in mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 296, 685–695.
- Bishop, A., Pietroletti, R., Taat, C., Brummelkamp, W. & Polak, J. 1987. Increased populations of endocrine cells in Crohn's ileitis. Virchows Arch 410, 391–396.
- Biswas, S. & Hoque, N. 2013. Efferocytosis: the removal of apoptotic cells by phagocytes. *Bangladesh J Med Biochem* 3, 35.
- Boehme, S.A., Lio, F.M., Sikora, L., Pandit, T.S., Lavrador, K., Rao, S.P. & Sriramarao, P. 2004. Cutting edge: serotonin is a chemotactic factor for eosinophils and functions additively with eotaxin. *J Immunol* 173, 3599–3603.

© 2014 Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Serotonin and inflammation • M S Shajib and W I Khan

- Brüss, M., Eucker, T., Göthert, M. & Bönisch, H. 2000. Exon-intron organization of the human 5-HT_{3A} receptor gene. *Neuropharmacology* 39, 308–315.
- Buchan, A.M. 1999. Nutrient tasting and signaling mechanisms in the gut III. Endocrine cell recognition of luminal nutrients. Am J Physiol 277, 1103–1107.
- Bülbring, E. & Crema, A. 1958. Observations concerning the action of 5-hydroxytryptamine on the peristaltic reflex. Br J Pharmacol Chemother 13, 444–457.
- Bulbring, E. & Lin, R.C. 1958. The effect of intraluminal application of 5-hydroxytryptamine and 5-hydroxytryptophan on peristalsis; the local production of 5-HT and its release in relation to intraluminal pressure and propulsive activity. J Physiol 140, 381–407.
- Cani, P.D., Bibiloni, R., Knauf, C., Waget, A., Neyrinck, A.M., Delzenne, N.M. & Burcelin, R. 2008. Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemia-induced inflammation in high-fat diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Diabetes* 57, 1470–1481.
- de las Casas-Engel, M., Dominguez-Soto, A., Sierra-Filardi, E., Bragado, R., Nieto, C., Puig-Kroger, A., Samaniego, R., Loza, M., Corcuera, M.T., Gomez-Aguado, F., Bustos, M., Sanchez-Mateos, P. & Corbi, A.L. 2013. Serotonin skews human macrophage polarization through HTR2B and HTR7. J Immunol 190, 2301–2310.
- Challacombe, D.N., Dawkins, P.D. & Baker, P. 1977. Increased tissue concentrations of 5-hydroxytryptamine in the duodenal mucosa of patients with coeliac disease. Gut 18, 882–886.
- Champier, J., Claustrat, B., Besançon, R., Eymin, C., Killer, C., Jouvet, A., Chamba, G. & Fèvre-Montange, M. 1997. Evidence for tryptophan hydroxylase and hydroxy-indol-O-methyl-transferase mRNAs in human blood platelets. *Life Sci* 60, 2191–2197.
- Chen, X., Margolis, K.J., Gershon, M.D., Schwartz, G.J. & Sze, J.Y. 2012. Reduced serotonin reuptake transporter (SERT) function causes insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis independent of food intake. *PLoS ONE* 7, e32511.
- Cloëz-Tayarani, I. 2006. Serotonin as a modulator of immune function: an overview. Curr Immunol Rev 2, 27– 35.
- Coates, M.D., Mahoney, C.R., Linden, D.R., Sampson, J.E., Chen, J., Blaszyk, H., Crowell, M.D., Sharkey, K.A., Gershon, M.D. & Mawe, G.M. 2004. Molecular defects in mucosal serotonin content and decreased serotonin reuptake transporter in ulcerative colitis and irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 126, 1657– 1664.
- Coleman, N.S., Foley, S., Dunlop, S.P., Wheatcroft, J., Blackshaw, E., Perkins, A.C., Singh, G., Marsden, C.A., Holmes, G.K. & Spiller, R.C. 2006. Abnormalities of serotonin metabolism and their relation to symptoms in untreated celiac disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 4, 874–881.
- Coppen, A. 1967. The biochemistry of affective disorders. Br J Psychiatry 113, 1237–1264.
- Costedio, M.M., Coates, M.D., Danielson, A.B., Buttolph, T.R. III, Blaszyk, H.J., Mawe, G.M. & Hyman, N.H. 2008. Serotonin signaling in diverticular disease. J Gastrointest Endosc 12, 1439–1445.

- Csendes, A., Burgos, A.M., Smok, G. & Beltran, M. 2007. Endoscopic and histologic findings of the foregut in 426 patients with morbid obesity. Obes Surg 17, 28–34.
- Damen, R., Haugen, M., Svejda, B., Alaimo, D., Brenna, O., Pfragner, R., Gustafsson, B.I. & Kidd, M. 2013. The stimulatory adenosine receptor ADORA2B regulates serotonin (5-HT) synthesis and release in oxygen-depleted EC cells in inflammatory bowel disease. *PLoS ONE* 8, e62607.
- De Bie, J.J., Henricks, P., Cruikshank, W.W., Hofman, G., Jonker, E.H., Nijkamp, F.P. & Van Oosterhout, A. 1998. Modulation of airway hyperresponsiveness and eosinophilia by selective histamine and 5-HT receptor antagonists in a mouse model of allergic asthma. *Br J Pharmacol* 124, 857–864.
- Derkach, V., Surprenant, A. & North, R. 1989. 5-HT3 receptors are membrane ion channels. *Nature* 339, 706– 709.
- Dietz, J., Ulbrich-Kulcynski, J.M., Souto, K.E.P. & Meinhardt, N.G. 2012. Prevalence of upper digestive endoscopy and gastric histopathology findings in morbidly obese patients. Arg Gastroenterol 49, 52–55.
- Ding, S. & Lund, P.K. 2011. Role of intestinal inflammation as an early event in obesity and insulin resistance. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 14, 328–333.
- Ding, S., Chi, M.M., Scull, B.P., Rigby, R., Schwerbrock, N.M., Magness, S., Jobin, C. & Lund, P.K. 2010. High-fat diet: bacteria interactions promote intestinal inflammation which precedes and correlates with obesity and insulin resistance in mouse. *PLoS ONE* 5, e12191.
- D'Souza, U.M. & Craig, I.W. 2006. Functional polymorphisms in dopamine and serotonin pathway genes. *Hum Mutat* 27, 1–13.
- Duerschmied, D., Suidan, G.L., Demers, M., Herr, N., Carbo, C., Brill, A., Cifuni, S.M., Mauler, M., Cicko, S., Bader, M., Idzko, M., Bode, C. & Wagner, D.D. 2013. Platelet serotonin promotes the recruitment of neutrophils to sites of acute inflammation in mice. *Blood* 121, 1008– 1015.
- Dürk, T., Duerschmied, D., Müller, T., Grimm, M., Reuter, S., Vieira, R.P., Ayata, K., Cicko, S., Sorichter, S. & Walther, D.J. 2013. Production of serotonin by tryptophan hydroxylase 1 and release via platelets contribute to allergic airway inflammation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 187, 476–485.
- El-Salhy, M., Danielsson, Å., Stenling, R. & Grimelius, L. 1997. Colonic endocrine cells in inflammatory bowel disease. J Intern Med 242, 413–419.
- Erspamer, V. 1986. Historical introduction: the Italian contribution to the discovery of 5-hydroxytryptamine (enteramine, serotonin). J Hypertens Suppl 4, S3–S5.
- Fakhfouri, G., Rahimian, R., Daneshmand, A., Bahremand, A., Rasouli, M.R., Dehpour, A.R., Mehr, S.E. & Mousavizadeh, K. 2010. Granisetron ameliorates acetic acidinduced colitis in rats. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 29, 321–328.
- Fakhfouri, G., Rahimian, R., Ghia, J., Khan, W.I. & Dehpour, A.R. 2012. Impact of 5-HT₃ receptor antagonists on peripheral and central diseases. *Drug Discov Today* 17, 741–747.
- Fidalgo, S., Ivanov, D.K. & Wood, S.H. 2013. Serotonin: from top to bottom. *Biogerontology* 14, 21–45.

© 2014 Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Acta Physiol 2015, 213, 561-574

- Freire-Garabal, M., Nunez, M., Balboa, J., López-Delgado, P., Gallego, R., García-Caballero, T., Fernández-Roel, M., Brenlla, J. & Rey-Méndez, M. 2003. Serotonin upregulates the activity of phagocytosis through 5-HT1A receptors. *Br J Pharmacol* 139, 457–463.
- Furness, J.B., Kunze, W.A. & Clerc, N. 1999. Nutrient tasting and signaling mechanisms in the gut. II. The intestine as a sensory organ: neural, endocrine, and immune responses. Am J Physiol 277, 922–928.
- Gershon, M.D. 1998. The Second Brain. HarperCollins Publishers, New York City, NY.
- Gershon, M. 1999. Review article: roles played by 5-hydroxytryptamine in the physiology of the bowel. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 13, 15-30.
- Gershon, M.D. 2013. 5-Hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) in the gastrointestinal tract. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 20, 14–21.
- Gershon, M.D. & Tack, J. 2007. The serotonin signaling system: from basic understanding to drug development for functional GI disorders. *Gastroenterology* 132, 397–414.
- Ghia, J.E., Li, N., Wang, H., Collins, M., Deng, Y., El-Sharkawy, R.T., Cote, F., Mallet, J. & Khan, W.I. 2009. Serotonin has a key role in pathogenesis of experimental colitis. *Gastroenterology* 137, 1649–1660.
- Golan, D.E., Tashjian, A.H. & Armstrong, E.J. 2011. Principles of Pharmacology: The Pathophysiologic Basis of Drug Therapy, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA.
- Goodhand, J., Greig, F., Koodun, Y., McDermott, A., Wahed, M., Langmead, L. & Rampton, D. 2012. Do antidepressants influence the disease course in inflammatory bowel disease? A retrospective case-matched observational study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 18, 1232–1239.
- Gordon, J. & Barnes, N.M. 2003. Lymphocytes transport serotonin and dopamine: agony or ecstasy? *Trends Immu*nol 24, 438–443.
- Gregor, M.F. & Hotamisligil, G.S. 2011. Inflammatory mechanisms in obesity. Annu Rev Immunol 29, 415–445.
- Grès, S., Canteiro, S., Mercader, J. & Carpéné, C. 2013. Oxidation of high doses of serotonin favors lipid accumulation in mouse and human fat cells. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 57, 1089–1099.
- Gross, E.R., Gershon, M.D., Margolis, K.G., Gertsberg, Z.V. & Cowles, R.A. 2012. Neuronal serotonin regulates growth of the intestinal mucosa in mice. *Gastroenterology* 143, 408–417. e2.
- Guseva, D., Holst, K., Kaune, B., Meier, M., Keubler, L., Glage, S., Buettner, M., Bleich, A., Pabst, O. & Bachmann, O. 2014. Serotonin 5-HT7 receptor is critically involved in acute and chronic inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 9, 1516–1529.
- Haub, S., Ritze, Y., Ladel, I., Saum, K., Hubert, A., Spruss, A., Trautwein, C. & Bischoff, S.C. 2011. Serotonin receptor type 3 antagonists improve obesity-associated fatty liver disease in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 339, 790–798.
- Huang, Y.J., Maruyama, Y., Lu, K.S., Pereira, E., Plonsky, I., Baur, J.E., Wu, D. & Roper, S.D. 2005. Mouse taste buds use serotonin as a neurotransmitter. *J Neurosci* 25, 843–847.
- Inoue, M., Okazaki, T., Kitazono, T., Mizushima, M., Omata, M. & Ozaki, S. 2011. Regulation of antigen-specific CTL

M S Shajib and W I Khan • Serotonin and inflammation

and Th1 cell activation through 5-Hydroxytryptamine 2A receptor. Int Immunopharmacol 11, 67-73.

- Jacobs, B.L. & Azmitia, E.C. 1992. Structure and function of the brain serotonin system. *Physiol Rev* 72, 165–229.
- Janeway, C.A., Travers, P., Walport, M. & Shlomchik, M.J. 2001. Immunobiology. Garland Science, New York City, NY.
- Jonnakuty, C. & Gragnoli, C. 2008. What do we know about serotonin? J Cell Physiol 217, 301–306.
- Kato, S. 2013. Role of serotonin 5-HT 3 receptors in intestinal inflammation. *Biol Pharm Bull* 36, 1406–1409.
- Kepe, V., Barrio, J.R., Huang, S.C., Ercoli, L., Siddarth, P., Shoghi-Jadid, K., Cole, G.M., Satyamurthy, N., Cummings, J.L., Small, G.W. & Phelps, M.E. 2006. Serotonin 1A receptors in the living brain of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 702–707.
- Khan, W.I. 2013. The role of 5-HT dysregulation in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y) 9, 259–261.
- Khan, W.I. & Ghia, J. 2010. Gut hormones: emerging role in immune activation and inflammation. *Clin Exp Immunol* 161, 19–27.
- Khan, W.I., Motomura, Y., Wang, H., El-Sharkawy, R., Verdu, E., Verma-Gandhu, M., Rollins, B. & Collins, S. 2006. Critical role of MCP-1 in the pathogenesis of experimental colitis in the context of immune and enterochromaffin cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 291, G803.
- Kidd, M., Gustafsson, B., Drozdov, I. & Modlin, I. 2009. IL1β-and LPS-induced serotonin secretion is increased in EC cells derived from Crohn's disease. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 21, 439–450.
- Kim, D.Y. & Camilleri, M. 2000. Serotonin: a mediator of the brain-gut connection. Am J Gastroenterol 95, 2698–2709.
- Kim, K., Gu, W., Lee, I., Joh, E. & Kim, D. 2012. High fat diet-induced gut microbiota exacerbates inflammation and obesity in mice via the TLR4 signaling pathway. *PLoS* ONE 7, e47713.
- Kim, D.C., Jun, D.W., Kwon, Y.I., Lee, K.N., Lee, H.L., Lee, O.Y., Yoon, B.C., Choi, H.S. & Kim, E.K. 2013a. 5-HT2A receptor antagonists inhibit hepatic stellate cell activation and facilitate apoptosis. *Liver Int* 33, 535–543.
- Kim, J.J., Bridle, B.W., Ghia, J., Wang, H., Syed, S.N., Manocha, M., Rengasamy, P., Shajib, M.S., Wan, Y., Hedlund, P.B. & Khan, W.I. 2013b. Targeted inhibition of serotonin type 7 (5-HT7) receptor function modulates immune responses and reduces the severity of intestinal inflammation. J Immunol 190, 4795–4804.
- König, B., Jaeger, K. & König, W. 1994. Induction of inflammatory mediator release (12-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid) from human platelets by Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 104, 33–41.
- Kushnir-Sukhov, N.M., Gilfillan, A.M., Coleman, J.W., Brown, J.M., Bruening, S., Toth, M. & Metcalfe, D.D. 2006. 5-hydroxytryptamine induces mast cell adhesion and migration. J Immunol 177, 6422–6432.
- de La Serre, C.B., Ellis, C.L., Lee, J., Hartman, A.L., Rutledge, J.C. & Raybould, H.E. 2010. Propensity to high-fat diet-induced obesity in rats is associated with changes in the gut microbiota and gut inflammation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 299, 440–448.

^{© 2014} Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Serotonin and inflammation • M S Shajib and W I Khan

- Lang, P.A., Contaldo, C., Georgiev, P., El-Badry, A.M., Recher, M., Kurrer, M., Cervantes-Barragan, L., Ludewig, B., Calzascia, T. & Bolinger, B. 2008. Aggravation of viral hepatitis by platelet-derived serotonin. *Nat Med* 14, 756–761.
- Le Beyec, J., Pelletier, A.L., Arapis, K., Hourseau, M., Cluzeaud, F., Descatoire, V., Ducroc, R., Aparicio, T., Joly, F., Couvelard, A., Marmuse, J.P., Le Gall, M. & Bado, A. 2014. Overexpression of gastric leptin precedes adipocyte leptin during high-fat diet and is linked to 5HT-containing enterochromaffin cells. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 38, 1357–1364.
- Lechin, F., van der Dijs, B., Orozco, B., Lechin, M. & Lechin, A.E. 1996. Increased levels of free serotonin in plasma of symptomatic asthmatic patients. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 77, 245–253.
- Lechin, F., Dijs, B., Orozco, B., Jara, H., Rada, I., Lechin, M.E. & Lechin, A.E. 1998a. The serotonin uptake-enhancing drug tianeptine suppresses asthmatic symptoms in children: a double-blind, crossover, placebo-controlled study. *J Clin Pharmacol* 38, 918–925.
- Lechin, F., van der Dijs, B., Orozco, B., Jara, H., Rada, I., Lechin, M.E. & Lechin, A.E. 1998b. Neuropharmacologic treatment of bronchial asthma with the antidepressant tianeptine: a double-blind, crossover placebo-controlled study. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 64, 223–232.
- Leon-Ponte, M., Ahern, G.P. & O'Connell, P.J. 2007. Serotonin provides an accessory signal to enhance T-cell activation by signaling through the 5-HT7 receptor. *Blood* 109, 3139–3146.
- Lesurtel, M., Graf, R., Aleil, B., Walther, D.J., Tian, Y., Jochum, W., Gachet, C., Bader, M. & Clavien, P.A. 2006. Platelet-derived serotonin mediates liver regeneration. *Science* 312, 104–107.
- Lesurtel, M., Soll, C., Humar, B. & Clavien, P. 2012. Serotonin: a double-edged sword for the liver? Surgeon 10, 107-113.
- Li, N., Ghia, J., Wang, H., McClemens, J., Cote, F., Suehiro, Y., Mallet, J. & Khan, W.I. 2011. Serotonin activates dendritic cell function in the context of gut inflammation. *Am J Pathol* 178, 662–671.
- Lima, C., Souza, V., Soares, A., Macedo, M., Tavares-de-Lima, W. & Vargaftig, B. 2007. Interference of methysergide, a specific 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor antagonist, with airway chronic allergic inflammation and remodelling in a murine model of asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 37, 723–734.
- Liu, C., Zhang, X., Zhou, J., Wei, W., Liu, D., Ke, P., Zhang, G., Cai, G. & Su, D. 2013. The protective action of ketanserin against lipopolysaccharide-induced shock in mice is mediated by inhibiting inducible NO synthase expression via the MEK/ERK pathway. *Free Radic Biol Med* 65, 658–666.
- Macfarlane, S., Steed, H. & Macfarlane, G.T. 2009. Intestinal bacteria and inflammatory bowel disease. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 46, 25–54.
- Mahzuni, P., Minaiyan, M., Motavallian-Naeini, A. & Rabbani, M. 2012. Anti-inflammatory effect of ondansetron through 5-HT3 receptors on TNBS-induced colitis in rat. EXCLI J 11, 30–44.
- Manocha, M. & Khan, W.I. 2012. Serotonin and GI disorders: an update on clinical and experimental studies. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol* 3, e13.

- Manocha, M., Shajib, M.S., Rahman, M.M., Wang, H., Rengasamy, P., Bogunovic, M., Jordana, M., Mayer, L. & Khan, W.I. 2012. IL-13-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and serotonin production in the gut. *Mucosal Immunol* 6, 146–155.
- Margolis, K.G., Stevanovic, K., Li, Z., Yang, Q.M., Oravecz, T., Zambrowicz, B., Jhaver, K.G., Diacou, A. & Gershon, M.D. 2014. Pharmacological reduction of mucosal but not neuronal serotonin opposes inflammation in mouse intestine. *Gut* 63, 928–937.
- Matsumura, Y., Byrne, S.N., Nghiem, D.X., Miyahara, Y. & Ullrich, S.E. 2006. A role for inflammatory mediators in the induction of immunoregulatory B cells. *J Immunol* 177, 4810–4817.
- Maurer-Spurej, E., Pittendreigh, C. & Solomons, K. 2004. The influence of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors on human platelet serotonin. *Thromb Haemost* 91, 119–128.
- McPhee, S.J., Lingappa, V.R., Ganong, W.F. & Lange, J.D. 2006. Pathophysiology of Disease: An Introduction to Clinical Medicine. Lange Medical Books/McGraw Hill, Medical Pub. Division, New York, NY.
- Meneses, A. 1999. 5-HT system and cognition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 23, 1111–1125.
- Mengod, G., Vilaró, M.T., Cortés, R., López-Giménez, J.F., Raurich, A. & Palacios, J.M. 2006. Chemical neuroanatomy of 5-HT receptor subtypes in the mammalian brain. In: B.L. Roth (ed.) *The Serotonin Receptors*, pp. 319–364. Humana Press, New York, NY.
- Mikocka-Walus, A.A., Turnbull, D.A., Moulding, N.T., Wilson, I.G., Andrews, J.M. & Holtmann, G.J. 2006. Antidepressants and inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health* 2, 24.
- Mikulski, Z., Zasłona, Z., Cakarova, L., Hartmann, P., Wilhelm, J., Tecott, L.H., Lohmeyer, J. & Kummer, W. 2010. Serotonin activates murine alveolar macrophages through 5-HT2C receptors. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 299, 272–280.
- Minderhoud, I.M., Oldenburg, B., Schipper, M.E.I., ter Linde, J.J.M. & Samsom, M. 2007. Serotonin synthesis and uptake in symptomatic patients with Crohn's disease in remission. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 5, 714–720.
- Mohammad-Zadeh, L., Moses, L. & Gwaltney-Brant, S. 2008. Serotonin: a review. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 31, 187– 199.
- Molinoff, P.B. & Axelrod, J. 1971. Biochemistry of catecholamines. Annu Rev Biochem 40, 465–500.
- Mössner, R. & Lesch, K. 1998. Role of serotonin in the immune system and in neuroimmune interactions. *Brain Behav Immun* 12, 249–271.
- Motomura, Y., Ghia, J.E., Wang, H., Akiho, H., El-Sharkawy, R.T., Collins, M., Wan, Y., McLaughlin, J.T. & Khan, W.I. 2008. Enterochromaffin cell and 5-hydroxytryptamine responses to the same infectious agent differ in Th1 and Th2 dominant environments. *Gut* 57, 475.
- Mousavizadeh, K., Rahimian, R., Fakhfouri, G., Aslani, F. & Ghafourifar, P. 2009. Anti-inflammatory effects of 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, tropisetron on experimental colitis in rats. *Eur J Clin Invest* 39, 375–383.
- Mück-šeler, D. & Pivac, N. 2011. Serotonin. Period Biol 113, 29–41.

© 2014 Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Acta Physiol 2015, 213, 561-574

- Müller, T., Dürk, T., Blumenthal, B., Grimm, M., Cicko, S., Panther, E., Sorichter, S., Herouy, Y., Di Virgilio, F. & Ferrari, D. 2009. 5-hydroxytryptamine modulates migration, cytokine and chemokine release and T-cell priming capacity of dendritic cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *PLoS ONE* 4, e6453.
- Nocito, A., Dahm, F., Jochum, W., Jang, J.H., Georgiev, P., Bader, M., Renner, E.L. & Clavien, P. 2007. Serotonin mediates oxidative stress and mitochondrial toxicity in a murine model of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Gastroenter*ology 133, 608–618.
- Noguchi, T., Nishino, M. & Kido, R. 1973. Tryptophan 5-hydroxylase in rat intestine. *Biochem J* 131, 375–380.
- Osawa, Y., Kanamori, H., Seki, E., Hoshi, M., Ohtaki, H., Yasuda, Y., Ito, H., Suetsugu, A., Nagaki, M., Moriwaki, H., Saito, K. & Seishima, M. 2011. L-tryptophan-mediated enhancement of susceptibility to nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is dependent on the mammalian target of rapamycin. J Biol Chem 286, 34800–34808.
- Pauwels, P.J. 2003. 5-HT receptors and their ligands. Neuropharmacology 1083, 38–50.
- Penders, J., Thijs, C., van den Brandt, P.A., Kummeling, I., Snijders, B., Stelma, F., Adams, H., van Ree, R. & Stobberingh, E.E. 2007. Gut microbiota composition and development of atopic manifestations in infancy: the KOALA Birth Cohort Study. *Gut* 56, 661–667.
- Racke, K., Reimann, A., Schwörer, H. & Kilbinger, H. 1995. Regulation of 5-HT release from enterochromaffin cells. *Behav Brain Res* 73, 83–87.
- Rapport, M.M., Green, A.A. & Page, I.H. 1948. Serum vasoconstrictor, serotonin; isolation and characterization. J Biol Chem 176, 1243–1251.
- Regmi, S.C., Park, S., Ku, S.K. & Kim, J. 2014. Serotonin regulates innate immune responses of colon epithelial cells through Nox2-derived reactive oxygen species. *Free Radic Biol Med* 69, 377–389.
- Riccio, O., Potter, G., Walzer, C., Vallet, P., Szabo, G., Vutskits, L., Kiss, J.Z. & Dayer, A. 2008. Excess of serotonin affects embryonic interneuron migration through activation of the serotonin receptor 6. *Mol Psychiatry* 14, 280–290.
- Ritze, Y., Böhle, M., Haub, S., Hubert, A., Enck, P., Zipfel, S. & Bischoff, S.C. 2013. Role of serotonin in fatty acidinduced non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. *BMC Gastroenterol* 13, 169.
- Rudnick, G. 2006. Structure/function relationships in serotonin transporter: new insights from the structure of a bacterial transporter. In: H.H. Sitte & M. Freissmuth (eds) *Neurotransmitter transporters*, pp. 59–73. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Schneider, E., Machavoine, F., Bricard-Rignault, R., Levasseur, M., Petit-Bertron, A.F., Gautron, S., Ribeil, J., Launay, J., Mecheri, S. & Côté, F. 2011. Downregulation of basophil-derived IL-4 and *in vivo* T(H)2 IgE responses by serotonin and other organic cation transporter 3 ligands. J Allergy Clin Immunol 128, 864–871. e2.
- Seidel, M.F., Fiebich, B.L., Ulrich-Merzenich, G., Candelario-Jalil, E., Koch, F. & Vetter, H. 2008. Serotonin mediates PGE2 overexpression through 5-HT2A and 5-HT3 receptor subtypes in serum-free tissue culture of macrophagelike synovial cells. *Rheumatol Int* 28, 1017–1022.

M S Shajib and W I Khan • Serotonin and inflammation

- Serafeim, A., Grafton, G., Chamba, A., Gregory, C.D., Blakely, R.D., Bowery, N.G., Barnes, N.M. & Gordon, J. 2002. 5-Hydroxytryptamine drives apoptosis in biopsylike Burkitt lymphoma cells: reversal by selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Blood* 99, 2545–2553.
- Shajib, M.S., Wang, H., Kim, J.J., Sunjic, I., Ghia, J., Denou, E., Collins, M., Denburg, J.A. & Khan, W.I. 2013. Interleukin 13 and serotonin: linking the immune and endocrine systems in murine models of intestinal inflammation. *PLoS* ONE 8, e72774.
- Sokol, H., Pigneur, B., Watterlot, L., Lakhdari, O., Bermudez-Humaran, L.G., Gratadoux, J.J., Blugeon, S., Bridonneau, C., Furet, J.P., Corthier, G. et al. 2008. Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105, 16731–16736.
- Sonda, S., Silva, A.B., Grabliauskaite, K., Saponara, E., Weber, A., Jang, J.H., Zullig, R.A., Bain, M., Reding Graf, T., Hehl, A.B. & Graf, R. 2013. Serotonin regulates amylase secretion and acinar cell damage during murine pancreatitis. *Gut* 62, 890–898.
- Spagnuolo, M.I., Cicalese, M.P., Caiazzo, M.A., Franzese, A., Squeglia, V., Assante, L.R., Valerio, G., Merone, R. & Guarino, A. 2010. Relationship between severe obesity and gut inflammation in children: what's next? *Ital J Pediatr* 36, 66–72.
- Spiller, R. 2007. Recent advances in understanding the role of serotonin in gastrointestinal motility in functional bowel disorders: alterations in 5-HT signalling and metabolism in human disease. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 19, 25–31.
- Spiller, R. 2008. Serotonin and GI clinical disorders. Neuropharmacology 55, 1072–1080.
- Stunes, A., Reseland, J., Hauso, Ö., Kidd, M., Tømmerås, K., Waldum, H., Syversen, U. & Gustafsson, B. 2011. Adipocytes express a functional system for serotonin synthesis, reuptake and receptor activation. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 13, 551–558.
- Suzuki, A., Naruse, S., Kitagawa, M., Ishiguro, H., Yoshikawa, T., Ko, S.B., Yamamoto, A., Hamada, H. & Hayakawa, T. 2001. 5-hydroxytryptamine strongly inhibits fluid secretion in guinea pig pancreatic duct cells. J Clin Invest 108, 749–756.
- Tanaka, T., Doe, J.M., Horstmann, S.A., Ahmad, S., Ahmad, A., Min, S.J., Reynolds, P.R., Suram, S., Gaydos, J., Burnham, E.L. & Vandivier, R.W. 2014. Neuroendocrine signaling viathe serotonin transporter regulates clearance of apoptotic cells. J Biol Chem 289, 10466–10475.
- Tohgi, H., Abe, T., Takahashi, S., Kimura, M., Takahashi, J. & Kikuchi, T. 1992. Concentrations of serotonin and its related substances in the cerebrospinal fluid in patients with Alzheimer type dementia. *Neurosci Lett* 141, 9–12.
- Tyce, G.M. 1990. Origin and metabolism of serotonin. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 16, S1–S7.
- Vega, L.d.l., Muñoz, E., Calzado, M.A., Lieb, K., Candelario-Jalil, E., Gschaidmeir, H., Färber, L., Mueller, W., Stratz, T. & Fiebich, B.L. 2005. The 5-HT3 receptor antagonist tropisetron inhibits T cell activation by targeting the calcineurin pathway. *Biochem Pharmacol* 70, 369– 380.

^{© 2014} Scandinavian Physiological Society. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, doi: 10.1111/apha.12430

Serotonin and inflammation • M S Shajib and W I Khan

- Verdam, F.J., Fuentes, S., de Jonge, C., Zoetendal, E.G., Erbil, R., Greve, J.W., Buurman, W.A., de Vos, W.M. & Rensen, S.S. 2013. Human intestinal microbiota composition is associated with local and systemic inflammation in obesity. *Obesity* 21, E607–E615.
- Villeneuve, C., Caudrillier, A., Ordener, C., Pizzinat, N., Parini, A. & Mialet-Perez, J. 2009. Dose-dependent activation of distinct hypertrophic pathways by serotonin in cardiac cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 297, H821–H828.
- Voog, Ü., Alstergren, P., Eliasson, S., Leibur, E., Kallikorm, R. & Kopp, S. 2004. Progression of radiographic changes in the temporomandibular joints of patients with rheumatoid arthritis in relation to inflammatory markers and mediators in the blood. Acta Odontol 62, 7–13.
- Walther, D.J. & Bader, M. 2003. A unique central tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. *Biochem Pharmacol* 66, 1673– 1680.
- Walther, D.J., Peter, J., Winter, S., Höltje, M., Paulmann, N., Grohmann, M., Vowinckel, J., Alamo-Bethencourt, V., Wilhelm, C.S. & Ahnert-Hilger, G. 2003. Serotonylation of small GTPases is a signal transduction pathway that triggers platelet α-granule release. *Cell* 115, 851–862.
- Wang, Y., Mitchell, J., Sharma, M., Gabriel, A., Moriyama, K. & Palmer, P.P. 2004. Leukotrienes mediate 5hydroxytryptamine-induced plasma extravasation in the rat knee joint via CysLT-type receptors. *Inflamm Res* 53, 66–71.
- Wang, H., Steeds, J., Motomura, Y., Deng, Y., Verma-Gandhu, M., El-Sharkawy, R.T., McLaughlin, J.T., Grencis, R.K. & Khan, W.I. 2007. CD4 T cell-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and 5-hydroxytryptamine production in enteric infection. *Gut* 56, 949.

- Wang, N., Wang, H., Yao, H., Wei, Q., Mao, X., Jiang, T., Xiang, J. & Dila, N. 2013. Expression and activity of the TLR4/NF-κB signaling pathway in mouse intestine following administration of a short-term high-fat diet. *Exp Ther Med* 6, 635–640.
- Watanabe, H., Saito, R., Nakano, T., Takahashi, H., Takahashi, Y., Sumiyoshi, K., Sato, K., Chen, X., Okada, N. & Iwasaki, S. 2014. Effect of Peripheral 5-HT on Glucose and Lipid Metabolism in Wether Sheep. PLoS ONE 9, e88058.
- Weihe, E., Schäfer, M.K., Erickson, J.D. & Eiden, L.E. 1994. Localization of vesicular monoamine transporter isoforms (VMAT1 and VMAT2) to endocrine cells and neurons in rat. J Mol Neurosci 5, 149–164.
- Wheeler, E.E. & Challacombe, D.N. 1984. Quantification of enterochromaffin cells with serotonin immunoreactivity in the duodenal mucosa in coeliac disease. Arch Dis Child 59, 523–527.
- Yang, G.B. & Lackner, A.A. 2004. Proximity between 5-HT secreting enteroendocrine cells and lymphocytes in the gut mucosa of rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta) is suggestive of a role for enterochromaffin cell 5-HT in mucosal immunity. J Neuroimmunol 146, 46–49.
- Yasuda, M., Kato, S., Yamanaka, N., Iimori, M., Matsumoto, K., Utsumi, D., Kitahara, Y., Amagase, K., Horie, S. & Takeuchi, K. 2013. 5-HT3 receptor antagonists ameliorate 5-fluorouracil-induced intestinal mucositis by suppression of apoptosis in murine intestinal crypt cells. *Br J Pharma*col 168, 1388–1400.
- Yin, J., Albert, R.H., Tretiakova, A.P. & Jameson, B.A. 2006. 5-HT_{1B} receptors play a prominent role in the proliferation of T-lymphocytes. J Neuroimmunol 181, 68–81.

—APPENDIX II—

DIVERSE EFFECTS OF GUT DERIVED SEROTONIN IN INTESTINAL

INFLAMMATION.

Diverse effects of gut derived serotonin in intestinal inflammation.

Shajib MS, Baranov A, and Khan WI.

The material in this chapter was published in ACS Chemical Neurosciences. PMID: 28288510.

ACS Chem Neurosci. 2017 May 17;8(5):920-931. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro. 6b00414. Epub 2017 Mar 27.

Reprinted with permission.



| ACS Publications Most Trusted. Most Cited. Most Read. | Title: | Diverse Effects of Gut-Derived Serotonin in Intestinal |
|--|-----------------|---|
| | | Inflammation |
| | Author: | Md. Sharif Shajib, Adriana Baranov, Waliul I. Khan |
| | Publication: | ACS Chemical Neuroscience |
| | Publisher: | American Chemical Society |
| | Date: | May 1, 2017 |
| | Copyright © 201 | 7, American Chemical Society |

PERMISSION/LICENSE IS GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT NO CHARGE

This type of permission/license, instead of the standard Terms & Conditions, is sent to you because no fee is being charged for your order. Please note the following:

- Permission is granted for your request in both print and electronic formats, and translations.
- If figures and/or tables were requested, they may be adapted or used in part.
- Please print this page for your records and send a copy of it to your publisher/graduate school.
- Appropriate credit for the requested material should be given as follows: "Reprinted (adapted) with permission from (COMPLETE REFERENCE CITATION). Copyright (YEAR) American Chemical Society." Insert appropriate information in place of the capitalized words.
- One-time permission is granted only for the use specified in your request. No additional
 uses are granted (such as derivative works or other editions). For any other uses, please
 submit a new request.

Copyright © 2017 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com

pubs.acs.org/chemneuro

Diverse Effects of Gut-Derived Serotonin in Intestinal Inflammation

Md. Sharif Shajib,^{†,‡} Adriana Baranov,^{†,‡} and Waliul I. Khan*^{,†,‡,§}

[†]Farncombe Family Digestive Health Research Institute, Hamilton, Ontario L8S 4K1, Canada

[‡]Department of Pathology & Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario L8S 4K1, Canada

[§]Hamilton Regional Laboratory Medicine Program, Hamilton Health Sciences, Hamilton, Ontario L8N 3Z5, Canada

ABSTRACT: The gut is the largest producer of serotonin or 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) in the human body, and 5-HT has been recognized as an important signaling molecule in the gut for decades. There are two distinct sources of enteric 5-HT. Mucosal 5-HT is predominantly produced by enterochromaffin (EC) cells of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, and neuronal 5-HT in the gut is produced by serotonergic neurons of the enteric nervous system (ENS). The quantity of mucosal 5-HT produced vastly eclipses the amount of neuronal 5-HT in the gut. Though it is difficult to separate the functions of neuronal



and mucosal 5-HT, in the normal gut both types of enteric 5-HT work synergistically playing a prominent role in the maintenance of GI functions. In inflammatory conditions of the gut, like inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) recent studies have revealed new diverse functions of enteric 5-HT. Mucosal 5-HT plays an important role in the production of pro-inflammatory mediators from immune cells, and neuronal 5-HT provides neuroprotection in the ENS. Based on searches for terms such as "5-HT", "EC cell", "ENS", and "inflammation" in pubmed.gov as well as by utilizing pertinent reviews, the current review aims to provide an update on the role of enteric 5-HT and its immune mediators in the context of intestinal inflammation.

KEYWORDS: 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), enteric 5-HT, enterochromaffin (EC) cells, enteric nervous system (ENS), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), inflammation

INTRODUCTION

The gastrointestinal (GI) neuroendocrine system consists of the endocrine cells in the gut mucosa and the neurons of the enteric nervous system (ENS) in the gut wall.1 Endocrine cells of the gut, referred to as enteroendocrine cells (EECs), make it the largest endocrine organ in the human body.² Additionally, over two-thirds of the body's immune cells are found in the lamina propria and associated lymphoid organs of the gut.3 The GI tract is inhabited by a complex community of microorganisms, collectively called the gut microbiota, which can influence both physiological and behavioral aspects of an individual.4 Under normal physiological conditions, the neuroendocrine and the immune systems, as well as the gut microbiota, exist in a delicate balance among themselves, but during intestinal inflammation, such as in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), this appears to be shifted. IBD is characterized by chronic or relapsing immune activation and inflammation in the GI tract that significantly alters GI functions.5 There are two major forms of IBD, Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC).6 Given the aberrant recruitment of activated immune cells into the gut mucosa, the general consensus is that the immune system is "self-sufficient" in mitigating pathological processes in IBD, which is also evident from the current therapeutic approaches.7 However, this assumption severely undermines the complexity of diseases like CD and UC, as well as the ENS and the enteroendocrine system and their mediators that are present in the gut.

The gut produces approximately 95% of the indoleamine serotonin or 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) found within us.8 5-HT is a well-known neurotransmitter of the central nervous system (CNS), that is also produced by serotonergic neurons of the ENS.9 Immune cells, such as mast cells and T cells, can also produce or have the capacity to produce 5-HT.10 However, the amount of 5-HT produced by the enteroendocrine system overshadows all other sources of 5-HT.2 Ninety percent of peripheral 5-HT is produced by enterochromaffin (EC) cells, a major subset of EECs.² This EC cell derived or mucosal 5-HT is shuttled throughout the body stored within dense granules of platelets and influences processes beyond the gut.¹⁰ In the gut, 5-HT exerts its substantial, sometimes confounding, influence through five families of receptors expressed on various cells, including, neuron, muscle, immune, and epithelial cells.¹⁰ Herein, we will review the aforementioned enteric 5-HT and will provide a brief overview of key immune mediators that influence enteric 5-HT in the context of intestinal inflammation.

TRYPTOPHAN AND ENTERIC 5-HT

Tryptophan (Trp) is the least abundant of all the essential amino acids.¹¹ It is the building block for necessary proteins

Special Issue: Serotonin Research 2016

Received: November 30, 2016 Accepted: March 13, 2017 Published: March 13, 2017





Figure 1. Schematic representation of the enteric nervous system (ENS) derived 5-HT. EC cells act as sensors of gut content and release 5-HT in response to luminal stimuli to communicate with surrounding cells and the ENS. Mucosal 5-HT activates interneurons via intrinsic primary afferent neurons, 5-HT is also a transmitter produced by myenteric interneurons. Serotonergic neurons of the myenteric plexus preferentially but not exclusively project on to each other, and TPH2 is the rate-limiting enzyme in the production of neuronal 5-HT in the ENS (inset), which plays an important role in gut motility. EC cells, enterochromaffin cells; Trp, tryptophan; TPH2, tryptophan hydroxylase 2; 5-HTP, 5-hydoxytryptophan; ADDC, aromatic amino acid decarboxylase; 5-HT, 5-hydoxytryptamine; SERT, selective serotonin reuptake transporter.

and the only source of substrate for several important molecules, including 5-HT. In mammals, the two major catabolic routes of

peripheral Trp are the kynurenine (Kyn) and 5-HT pathway.¹¹ The Kyn pathway utilizes the majority of peripheral Trp and its downstream metabolites 3-hydroxykynurenine and quinolinic acid have been associated with inflammation and immune activation.^{12–14}

The first step in the biosynthesis of 5-HT is the conversion of Trp to 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) by the rate-limiting enzyme tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH).¹⁰ In a second enzymatic step, aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) rapidly converts 5-HTP into 5-HT.9 There are two isoforms of TPH, TPH1, and TPH2.10 TPH1 is predominantly found in EC cells, and TPH2 is found in all serotonergic neurons (Figures 1 and 2).¹⁰ Therefore, TPH1 deficiency (TPH1KO) significantly reduces gut 5-HT content compared to control but does not affect neuronal 5-HT production, 15 whereas deficiency of TPH2 (TPH2KO) eliminates nearly all neuronal 5-HT but minimally influences the total gut 5-HT content, given the enormous quantities of 5-HT produced by EC cells.¹⁵ 5-HT is a positively charged molecule at physiological pH and requires active transport to cross cell wall barriers, which is mainly performed by the selective serotonin reuptake transporter (SERT).¹⁶ Once transported into the cell (mainly enterocytes and vascular endothelial cells¹⁷), 5-HT, via oxidative deamination, is primarily metabolized by monoamine oxidase (MAO) A and is expelled from the body as 5-hydoxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) in urine.¹⁰ It is important to note here that platelets express SERT but not TPH, thus they do not produce 5-HT but can take up enteric 5-HT while circulating the gut.18-20 Both neuronal and mucosal 5-HT play pivotal roles in GI functions, and the bioavailability of 5-HT is tightly regulated.¹⁰ This is evident from the presence of SERT on nerve terminals that release 5-HT and by the expression of SERT on every epithelial cell lining the luminal surface of the gut.²¹ Given the importance of SERT in 5-HT signaling machinery and in intestinal inflammation, we describe the 5-HT transporter in greater details below.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of mucosal 5-HT production and functions. EC cells of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract are the main source of mucosal 5-HT, which participates in various GI functions and in the generation of the immune response in intestinal inflammation. TPH1, found within EC cells, is the rate-limiting enzyme in the production of mucosal 5-HT (inset). EC cells, enterochromaffin cells; Trp, tryptophan; TPH1, tryptophan hydroxylase 1; 5-HTP, 5-hydoxytryptophan; ADDC, aromatic amino acid decarboxylase; 5-HT, 5-hydoxytryptamine; SERT, selective serotonin reuptake transporter; 5-HTR, 5-HT receptor; GC, Goblet cell.

5-HT RECEPTORS IN THE GI TRACT

With the exception of 5-HT receptor (5-HTR) families 5 and 6, all other families of 5-HTRs (1-4 and 7) are found in the gut." These receptors demonstrate a bewildering biological diversity caused by alternative splicing, RNA editing, and homo- and heterodimerization, as well as naturally occurring polymorphic variations.¹⁰ 5-HTR1, 2, 4, and 7, are part of the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily and signal via activation of intracellular secondary messenger cascade.¹⁰ 5-HTR1 activation down-regulates cyclic AMP (cAMP), as adenylyl cyclase is negatively coupled to this receptor. 5-HTR2 activation increases intracellular Ca2+ release due to the up-regulation of inositol triphosphate and diacylglycerol pathways.10 In contrast to 5-HTR1, activation of 5-HTRs 4 and 7 are associated with increased cAMP activity.¹⁰ Unlike the other 5-HTRs, 5-HTR3 is a Cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel, most permeable to cations, such as Ca2+, Na+, and K+, and activation of 5-HTR3 causes rapid depolarization of the plasma membrane.22-24

5-HTRs and Nonimmune Cells. Numerous cells of the GI tract express 5-HTRs, such as intrinsic and extrinsic afferent neurons, interneurons, inhibitory and excitatory motor neurons, interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC), smooth muscle cells, EECs, goblet cells, and enterocytes.^{21,25} Once released 5-HT performs a multitude of functions, including as a paracrine mediator that transduces information from EC to intrinsic primary afferent neurons, which express 5-HTR1A, 3, 4, and 7, and to adjacent cells of the mucosa and submucosa.²⁶ It also plays an important role in GI motility predominantly via 5-HTR1B, 3, 4, and 7, which requires the coordinated activity of several cell types including nerves, smooth muscle cells, and ICC.²⁶⁻²⁹ ICC are specialized cells of the GI tract essential for normal motility and express 5-HTR2B, 3, and 4.26 5-HT, through 5-HTR2B, plays an important role in the proliferation of ICC and network density.^{29,30} 5-HT stimulates cholinergic neurons via 5-HTR2B, 3, and 4 to release acetylcholine, resulting in smooth muscle contraction, and via 5-HTR1A, 1D, and 4 on inhibitory nitrergic neurons to release nitric oxide, which results in smooth muscle relaxation.31 5-HT activates reflex-mediated secretory response via 5-HTR1P, 3, and 4 on neurons and via 5-HTR2 on enterocytes. $^{32-34}$

5-HTRs and Immune Cells. Almost all human and rodent immune cells express 5-HTRs.¹⁰ During acute inflammation, 5-HT promotes recruitment of innate immune cells, such as mast cells, eosinophils, immature dendritic cells (DCs), and monocytes. This chemotactic influence of 5-HT is mediated by 5-HTR1A on both human and mouse mast cells, by 5-HTR2A on human eosinophils, by 5-HTR1B and 2A on mouse DCs following lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation, and by 5-HTR2C on mouse alveolar macrophages, which release CCL2 inducing monocyte migration.^{35–38} Additionally, 5-HTr, along with other platelet-derived chemotactic factors, recruits neutrophils, which express 5-HTR7, to sites of acute inflammation.^{39,40}

Monocytes are the circulating precursors of macrophages and DCs and their differentiation depends on the environmental stimuli.⁴¹ Human blood monocytes express 5-HTR1E, 2A, 3, 4, and 7.⁴² Stimulation of these cells with 5-HT reduces tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α production in a dose-dependent manner via 5-HTR4.⁴² However, once activated with LPS, 5-HT stimulated monocytes increase their secretion of interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 via the combined actions of

5-HTR3, 4, and 7, as well as IL-12p40 through 5-HTR7.42 IL-12p40, is a chemoattractant for macrophages and DCs.⁴² 5-HT can stimulate the differentiation of DCs from human monocytes.43 DCs express various 5-HTRs throughout their maturation process.43 In mature DCs, 5-HT via 5-HTR4 and 7 regulates cytokine production, through nuclear factor *k*-lightchain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB).43,44 Furthermore, 5-HTR7 signaling is required for morphological and migratory modulation of DCs, which involves CDC42 and chemokine receptor CCR7, respectively.45 Macrophages also differentiate from monocytes.41 5-HT, via 5-HTR1A, enhances the phagocytic capacity of peritoneal macrophages and significantly up-regulates IL-1 β and IL-6 production in an NF- κ B dependent manner.46-48 Stimulation of 5-HTR1A on monocytes up-regulates their interaction with natural killer (NK) cells.49 5-HT protects NK cells from oxidative damage and promotes proliferation.1 In addition to that, 5-HT via 5-HTR2B and 5-HTR7 promotes anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization.56

S-HT enhances the ability of macrophages to activate T cells and via S-HTR7 on DCs to trigger a more pro-inflammatory T cell response.^{44,49,51} Additionally, S-HT through the repertoire of S-HTRs expressed on T and B cells can directly influence their functions. S-HT promotes T cell activation and proliferation, by S-HTR7 mediated phosphorylation of extracellular signal-related kinase-1 and -2 and inhibitor of NF- κ B.^{52–55} This leads to the up-regulation of S-HTR1B and 2A, where the 1B promotes T helper (Th) cell proliferation and 2A promotes differentiation and function.^{52–55} S-HT, through S-HTR1A, also participates in B cell proliferation.⁵⁶

ENTERIC 5-HT AND INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION

In the normal gut, neuronal and mucosal 5-HT work synergistically to regulate a variety of intestinal functions including epithelial barrier function, the transport of fluid and electrolytes, and the secretion of mucins, as well as motility." The ENS is the independent, local nervous system of the GI tract. This intricate network of millions of neurons is organized into two major layers, the myenteric and the submucosal plexus, which are embedded in the gut wall.57 Neurons of the ENS do not innervate the lumen but rather rely on EC cells that act as sensors of gut content.2,58 The microvilli of EC cells project out into the lumen and contain enzymes and transporters; this allows them to transduce physiochemical signals from the lumen into biochemical endocrine signals and communicate with surrounding cells and the ENS primarily by discharging 5-HT.^{10,59} EC cells release 5-HT both apically into the lumen and basolaterally into the lamina propria (Figure 2).59 Enteric 5-HT either directly or indirectly participates in the regulation of GI functions, from transmitting taste information, which in the case of noxious stimuli, like geranyl and cytotoxic chemotherapy, can induce nausea and vomiting,60,61 to regulating pancreatic enzyme secretion and peristaltic reflex.^{59,62,63} Neuronal 5-HT in the normal gut plays a more prominent role in motility.15 By utilizing both TPH1KO and TPH2KO mice, Li et al. demonstrated that intestinal transit and colonic motility were significantly reduced in TPH2KO mice, but not in TPH1KO mice.15

In intestinal inflammation, abnormalities associated with infiltration of activated immune cells are observed in both the ENS and enteroendocrine system. These changes, be it structural or functional, interrupt normal GI functions and manifest as persistent symptoms of IBD, such as diarrhea, cramping, and pain due to compromised barrier function,

abnormal secretion, altered patterns of motility, and visceral hypersensitivity.⁶⁴

ENS and Its 5-HT. Structural changes in the ENS, such as axonal degradation, ganglia and nerve bundle hypertrophy or hyperplasia, glial cell hyperplasia, near total depletion of ICC, and increased expression of the major histocompatibility complex class II antigens, have been observed in association with IBD.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁹ In CD patients, these abnormalities are observed in both inflamed and noninflamed sections of the bowel.⁶⁹ The severe and extensive necrosis of gut axons observed in CD differentiates this disease from other forms of IBD.⁶⁹ Furthermore, hyperinnervation has been suggested as a pro-inflammatory factor that may predate inflammation in IBD and may also contribute to the recurrence of CD following resection.^{70,71}

"Cause-effect" relationships are difficult to establish from clinical observations. Therefore, animal models are utilized to better understand colitis pathogenesis and to test new therapeutic strategies. Similar to human IBD, structural ENS abnormalities, such as axonal hypertrophy and reduction of myenteric neuronal cells, begin rapidly at the onset of chemical models of colitis, such as dinitrobenzene- and trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (DNBS, TNBS)-induced colitis; and these changes persist long after the resolution of inflammation.72-74 DNBS- and TNBS-induced colitis resemble human CD and are characterized by a prominent Th1/17 immune response marked by increased production of TNF- α , interferon (IFN)- γ , IL-12, and IL-17.72,73,75,76 Additionally in the TNBS model, following the neurotoxic insult, rapid regeneration of axons from the surviving neurons and increased neuronal density have been observed.^{70,72} The latter has also been observed in the dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced model of colitis.7 Typified by a Th1/Th17 immune response, DSS-induced colitis is additionally marked by a significant increase in Th2 cytokine IL-13 but not IL-4 and bears resemblance to the superficial inflammation and atypical Th2 immune profile associated with UC.^{48,75–78} In rodents infected with *Trichinella* spiralis (T. spiralis), another model of gut inflammation, significantly reduced myenteric nitric oxide synthase immunoreactive neurons and macrophage-mediated transient reduction in the number of ICC have been observed.⁷⁹⁻⁸¹ These changes have been suggested as the underlying cause of altered motility. Notably, IL-13 plays a prominent role in the *T. spiralis*-infection model as well.^{79,82,83} In myenteric ganglionitis, both in humans and the T. spiralis model, the onset of neuronal destruction is associated with infiltration of the myenteric ganglia by eosinophils, neutrophils, mast cells, plasma cells, and T cells.74,80,84,85 Eosinophils and T cells have also been shown to specifically target myenteric ganglia, in TNBS-induced colitis.86 The increased presence of immune cells during ganglionitis is suggestive of neuropathology.85 Boher et al. demonstrated pharmacological inhibition of neutrophil recruitment, and subsequent reduction in caspase-3-dependent loss of myenteric neurons can improve colonic motility in DNBSinduced colitis.8

Considering the indiscriminate nature of neuronal destruction observed in IBD, it can be postulated that serotonergic neurons of the ENS are not immune to this insult. S-HT in the ENS is produced by approximately 2% of the myenteric neurons.⁸⁸ These serotonergic neurons are found only in the myenteric plexus and preferentially synapse onto one another (Figure 1).^{88–90} Neuronal 5-HT is neurogenerative in the normal gut. It was demonstrated that TPH2KO mice, but not TPH1KO mice, had a significantly lower number total, as well as dopaminergic, neurons in the ENS compared to wild-type (WT) littermates.⁹¹ Additionally, 5-HT in vitro promotes the development and survival of enteric neurons, including dopaminergic neurons, via 5-HTR4.91,92 5-HT2B may also be involved in this process,93 as 5-HT through this receptor acts on cells of neuronal lineage to stimulate the growth of late-developing enteric neurons.93 The neurogenerative and protective properties described above are common to all neuronal 5-HT. 5-HT was identified as the first neurotransmitter to promote adult neurogenesis in the rodent brain.94 5-HT regulates granule cell neurogenesis in the hippocampus of both adult and fetal rats and is neuroprotective in the hippocampus, as well as in cerebral ischemia.94-96 Neuroprotection is hypothesized to be an important factor in reducing the severity of IBD.71 It was reported that TPH2KO mice had increased severity of DSS-induced colitis in comparison with WT mice.9 This was associated with significant up-regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α production and increased mortality in these mice.⁹ It is difficult to discern from these observations, whether the increased severity of DSS-induced colitis in TPH2KO mice is due to changes in intestinal motility or due to impaired neuroprotection resulting from reduced neuronal 5-HT.9 Nevertheless, these findings highlight neurogenerative and potentially protective properties of neuronal 5-HT in intestinal inflammation.^{97,98} In addition to promoting enteric neuronal survival and connectivity, the proliferative role of 5-HT on ICC described earlier may play an important role in restoring network density and recovery of function.30 Furthermore, ENS derived 5-HT, via 5-HTR2A, on submucosal cholinergic neurons and their muscarinic innervations to epithelial effectors promote growth as well as turnover of the intestinal epithelium.⁹⁷ These observations by Gross et al.⁹⁷ are not in the context of inflammation, but they highlight the potential role of neuronal 5-HT in intestinal epithelial wound healing. Damage and impairment of the intestinal surface barrier are common in the course of IBD and may increase exposure to toxic and immunogenic factors leading to inflammation and the uncontrolled immune response observed in IBD.99 It is also possible that neuronal 5-HT can influence the production of other neurotransmitters, which subsequently can modulate colitis. Collectively, these studies put forth strong evidence supporting the role of neuronal 5-HT in the development and function of the gut, as well as a protective or helpful role in recovery following inflammatory damage. However, more studies are required to further understand the role of neuronal 5-HT in inflammation as well as the effects of inflammation on serotonergic neurons of the ENS and their functions, as aberrant neurogenesis or epithelial cell tumover and growth due to altered ENS 5-HT signaling may lead to hyperinnervation that may play a role in the recurrence of IBD or may lead to colitis-associated colorectal cancer.

EC Cells and Its 5-HT. Scattered throughout the GI mucosa, EECs account for less than 1% of gut epithelial cells but comprise the largest endocrine organ of the human body.⁵⁸ 5-HT producing EC cells of the small and large intestine are a particularly well-studied type of EEC, and the highest density of EC cells are in the terminal ileum and rectum of the human GI tract.^{100,101} EC cells in the gut mucosa are in contact with or in very close proximity to immune cells, and changes in EC cell numbers, as well as mucosal 5-HT content, have been associated with IBD.² Inflammation associated alterations at the

upstream end of the mucosal 5-HT signaling are not always observed in clinical studies, such as changes in EC cell numbers and TPH1 expression, but all studies have reported decreased mucosal SERT expression.⁵⁹ SERT expression is also significantly lower in the inflamed mucosa than the healing mucosa of IBD patients.¹⁰²

Mucosal 5-HT signaling has also been studied in various experimental models of intestinal inflammation, such as the TNBS, DNBS, DSS, T. spiralis, and Trichuris muris (T. muris) model to name a few. In all these animal models, increase in EC cell numbers and mucosal 5-HT content and decreased SERT expression were observed, implicating an up-regulated mucosal 5-HT signaling.48,102-108 Additionally, in TNBS-induced ileitis, an increase in EC cell numbers and 5-HT release were observed in noninflamed regions of the colon.¹⁰⁹ However, there are differences in 5-HT signaling in response to different pathogens. In Citrobacter rodentium infection, EC cell numbers remained unchanged but 5-HT release was up-regulated and mucosal SERT expression was down-regulated.110 Furthermore, a decrease in EC cell numbers was reported in the duodenal mucosa of patients with giardiasis.¹¹¹ This study also suggested that 5-HT release and SERT function may be impaired in these patients.111

Recent studies have identified 5-HT as a key proinflammatory molecule in intestinal inflammation in experimental models. We demonstrated this in a seminal study from our laboratory.¹¹² By inducing DSS and DNBS colitis in THP1KO mice, which have significantly reduced mucosal 5-HT content, we observed a significant down-regulation in the severity of colitis and delayed onset in TPH1KO mice compared to WT mice.¹¹² This was accompanied by a reduction in pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 production.¹¹² We additionally observed that pharmacological regulation of mucosal S-HT could regulate the severity of colitis.¹¹² Margolis et al.¹¹³ showed a TPH inhibitor that reduces mucosal 5-HT without affecting neuronal 5-HT downregulated the severity of TNBS-induced colitis. We have made similar observations in the DSS and *T. muris*-infection induced models of intestinal inflammation.¹¹⁴ The pro-inflammatory role of mucosal 5-HT was further confirmed by our observations in IL-13KO mice.48 Compared to WT mice, these mice had a significantly lower number of EC cells and lower mucosal 5-HT content, which was accompanied by reduced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and downregulation of DSS-induced colitis severity.48 By treating IL-13KO mice with recombinant IL-13 and 5-HTP, we identified that increased production of mucosal 5-HT was the regulating factor in the difference observed in the severity of colitis.48 Reduced mucosal 5-HT has been associated with reduced rolling of leukocytes, which is the first step in the recruitment of immune cells to sites of inflammation.115,116 In DSS-induced colitis, we have observed significantly lower F4/80+ macrophage infiltration in both TPH1KO and IL-13KO mice in comparison with their respective WT littermates.^{48,112} The onset of intestinal inflammation is marked by the adhesion of monocytes to colonic epithelial cells; 5-HT facilitates this process via NADPH oxidase (NOX) 2 derived reactive oxygen species.¹¹⁷ Furthermore, we have shown that DCs isolated from TPH1KO mice had reduced ability in conditioning T cells to produce IFN-y and IL-1744,51

Notably, an anti-inflammatory role of mucosal 5-HT in experimental colitis was recently identified.¹¹⁸ Spohn et al.¹¹⁸ were able to reduce the severity of TNBS and DSS-induced colitis via intraluminal administration of 5-HTR4 agonist, tegaserod. They also identified that mucosal 5-HT, via 5-HTR4, increases epithelial cell proliferation, migration, and resistance to oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, subsequently aiding in the recovery from active colitis.¹¹⁸ Findings of this study add to the protective role played by mucosal 5-HT, via 5-HTR4, which induces flushing of the bowl by increased mucosal secretion particularly in response to toxins such as cholera toxin.¹¹⁹ Taken together, these findings highlight the versatility of this ancient molecule, potentially fueling more investigation into enteric 5-HT.

SERT. As evident from the body of evidence presented above, 5-HT signaling and its SERT-mediated termination are potentially involved in the pathophysiology of IBD. SERT, a member of the Na⁺/Cl⁻ neurotransmitter transporter family, is a critical component in 5-HT signaling.²³ In the healthy gut, SERT expression varies along the GI tract, with the highest expression observed in the ileum and the lowest in the colon.12 SERT transcription in the intestinal epithelium differs from that of neurons suggesting tissue-specific regulation of transcription of this protein¹²¹ Bischoff et al.¹²² demonstrated the importance of SERT in intestinal inflammation. In TNBSinduced colitis, SERT-KO mice, which have significantly higher levels of mucosal and neuronal 5-HT, exhibited increased severity of colitis compared to WT mice.¹²² Additionally, the severity of colitis associated with IL-10 deficiency (model of spontaneous colitis) is enhanced when the IL-10 deficiency is combined with a SERT deficiency.¹²³ These findings complemented our findings in TPH1KO mice. Furthermore, SERT-KO mice exhibit alternating bouts of diarrhea and constipation, resembling the symptoms of functional GI disorder, such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS).124 IBS is associated altered 5-HT signaling, and IBS-like symptoms are highly prevalent among IBD patients.^{21,71}

Enteric 5-HT and Functional Changes Associated with Inflammation. Altered bowel movements and abdominal pain are common symptoms of functional GI disorders, for example, IBS, and IBS-like symptoms frequently precede clinical manifestation of IBD or coincide with periods of remission.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸ Inflammation induced structural changes lead to symptoms associated with functional abnormalities in IBD patients. IBS-like symptoms are reported by nearly one-third of the UC patients, and more than half of the CD patients in clinical remission, which is a prevalence rate that is higher than the general population.⁷¹ IBS itself has been described as a low-grade residual inflammation caused by immune and non-immune cell mediators, including 5-HT, that influences the function of enteric and sensory afferent nerves and epithelial tight junctions 71,125,126,129,130 IBS symptoms can develop following an episode of acute infectious gastro-enteritis.¹³¹ Following *Campylobacter jejuni* gastroenteritis, increased number of T cells and 5-HT expressing EC cells were observed in rectal biopsies of patients.^{132,133,135} Increased EC cell numbers have also been identified as an important predictor of postinfectious IBS (PI-IBS) development.136 In animal models of PI-IBS, we have observed an increase in EC cell numbers and 5-HT content in mice following infection with T. muris, which is driven by CD4+ T cells, and our findings were supported by Wheatcroft et al. in the T. spiralis model.^{106,134,135} Wheatcroft et al. additionally reported a downregulation of SERT expression in the small intestine of T. spiralis-infected animals, which has also been observed in the small intestine of IBS-D patients.^{106,136} The role of 5-HT in

IBS-D is further supported by the therapeutic efficacy of 5-HTR3 antagonists.¹³⁷ In summary, up-regulation of mucosal 5-HT signaling provides a plausible explanation for IBS-like symptoms in IBD patients.

IMMUNE MEDIATORS AND ENTERIC 5-HT IN INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION

Inflammation in IBD is marked by the aberrant production of immune mediators, including various cytokines. Cytokines in IBD are being studied extensively. In comparison, studies investigating the effects of these cytokines in the regulation of enteric 5-HT signaling are lacking. Current literature suggests pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IFN- γ , as well as anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, effect 5-HT signaling by influencing the expression and function of SERT. TNF- α , IL-6, IFN- γ , and low levels of IL-10 down-regulate epithelial SERT expression and function.¹³⁸⁻¹⁴² However, at higher concentrations, IL-10 up-regulates epithelial SERT expression and activity via IL-10 receptor-phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase signaling pathway.¹⁴⁰ Neuronal SERT function is upregulated by TNF- α and IL-1 β and is down-regulated by IL-10 and IL-6.^{140,142} At the upstream end of 5-HT signaling, IL-1 β enhances 5-HT secretion by colonic EC cells isolated from CD patients,¹⁴³ and we have demonstrated that IL-13 has a positive influence on the upstream end of mucosal 5-HT signaling.144 IL-13, a pleiotropic cytokine produced mainly Th2 cells, is an important cytokine effective in UC and in fistulizing CD.145 In the DSS and the T. muris-infection induced models of intestinal inflammation, up-regulated IL-13 production by CD4+ T cells was accompanied by increased colonic EC numbers and 5-HT amount.48,77,135 Additionally, by using T. muris infection resistant BALB/C mice and susceptible AKR mice, which generate Th2 and Th1 immune response, respectively, we have shown that a Th2 immune profile was more capable of generating EC cell hyperplasia and increasing 5-HT content.134

Similar observations were made in the *T. spiralis* model and intraepithelial NK cells were the source of IL-13.^{82,106} We have since described the presence of IL-13 receptor- α lon murine colonic EC cells and a model of human EC cells (BON cells).^{135,144} IL-13 also up-regulates TPH1 mRNA and protein expression, culminating in increased 5-HT content, which mediates intestinal inflammation (Figure 3).^{48,144} However, the influence of these up-regulated IL-13 levels on the ENS and neuronal 5-HT remains to be understood. IL-13 is a potent regulator of eosinophil and mast cell functions,¹⁴⁶ and as mentioned earlier, these immune cells are prominently associated with neuronal destruction in the ENS during intestinal inflammation.

5-HT has variable effects on the cytokines mentioned above. 5-HT up-regulates IFN-y production by human NK cells, as well as by T cells, the latter via its effects on DCs.44,147 5-HT increases the secretion of IL-1 β and IL-6 by mature and immature DCs, respectively. In addition to that, co-stimulation with 5-HT and IL-3 reduces IL-6 secretion by human peripheral basophils.¹⁴⁸ Furthermore, 5-HTR2A agonist (R)-DOI blocks TNF-α mediated systemic inflammation, which includes suppression of circulating IL-6 levels. 149 5-HTR3 antagonist, tropisetron, and granisetron have been shown to reduce acetic acid-induced colitis severity by downregulating the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-a.150 By suppressing TNF-a expression, ondansetron and ramosetron can also curb the severity of intestinal mucositis.150 5-HT is an important factor in regulating Th17/T regulatory cell balance in autoimmune arthritis.¹⁵¹ In intestinal inflammation, we have observed reduced IL-17 production in association with decreased 5-HT levels in IL-13KO mice.48 5-HT also enhances the ability of DCs to induce IL-17 production by T cells, and reduced peripheral 5-HT is associated with increased IL-10 production.44,114 Stimulation of human peripheral basophils with IL-3 and 5-HT blocks IL-13



Figure 3. Influence of immune mediators on mucosal 5-HT signaling in intestinal inflammation. Evidence from clinical and animal studies indicates that immune mediators have diverse effects on mucosal 5-HT signaling. Increase in TNF- α , IL- β , and IFN- γ down-regulate epithelial SERT expression. High and low levels of IL-10 increase and decrease SERT activity, respectively. At the upstream end of 5-HT signaling, IL- 1β and IL-13 upregulate 5-HT release by EC cells. IL-13, additionally, upregulates EC cell numbers and TPH1 mRNA expression. TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor- α ; IFN- γ , interferon- γ ; IL- 1β , interleukin- 1β ; IL-6, interleukin-6; IL-10, interleukin-10; IL-13, interleukin-13; EC cells, enterochromaffin cells; TPH1, tryptophan hydroxylase 1; 5-HT, 5-hydoxytryptamine; SERT, selective serotonin reuptake transporter; 5-HTR, 5-HT receptor.



Figure 4. Diverse effects of enteric 5-HT. The influence of the two enteric 5-HT depots are different. In intestinal inflammation, EC cell derived mucosal 5-HT acts a pro-inflammatory mediator by regulating immune cell activation leading to increased pro-inflammatory cytokine and reduced mucin production. 5-HT in the ENS is produced by myenteric serotonergic neurons and is an important factor in enteric neurogenesis as well as neuroprotection. Additionally, via submucosal cholinergic neurons, neuronal 5-HT participates in epithelial cell turnover. Evidence from clinical and animal studies indicate enteric 5-HT plays an important role in altered GI motility observed in intestinal inflammation. GI, gastrointestinal; EC cells, enterochromaffin cells; ENS, enteric nervous system; 5-HT, 5-hydoxytryptamine; GC, Goblet cell.

release,¹⁴⁸ and unpublished data from our laboratory indicates that 5-HT in a dose-dependent manner inhibits the secretion of IL-13 by CD25- CD4+ allogeneic splenocytes.

GUT MICROBIOTA AND ENTERIC 5-HT

The gut is colonized after birth with a complex community of bacteria; for every human cell, there are 1.3 times as many bacterial cells.¹⁵² The intestinal microbiota and host-microbiota interactions influence a number of physiological processes both within and beyond the gut. In the gut, microbial byproducts participate in GI functions, either directly by influencing the ENS or indirectly by stimulating receptors on EECs, including EC cells.153 Specific gut microbes by producing short-chain fatty acids, such as acetate and butyrate, can up-regulate TPH1 expression in EC cells and subsequent production of 5-HT.154,155 Yano et al.154 reported that modulation of 5-HT by gut microbiota is both inducible and reversible and can occur at any point. Though these observations are not in the context of inflammation, they open avenues for therapeutic exploration. Regulation of enteric 5-HT production via specific microbes or microbial metabolites could potentially aid in the management of IBD by modulating the immune response. However, more concrete evidence from studies in intestinal inflammation is required.

It will be also important to explore the effect of enteric 5-HT on gut microbiota composition in relation to the regulation of colitis. As previously mentioned, we have observed that inhibition of TPH1 in the *T. muris*-infection model is associated with increased IL-10 production.¹¹⁴ IL-10 plays an important role in intestinal goblet cell hyperplasia and mucin production, as well as in the preservation of the mucus barrier in intestinal inflammation.^{156,157} Though the underlying mechanisms are yet to be determined, it is possible that 5-HT mediated regulation of IL-10 production and, in turn, mucin may contribute to intestinal inflammation associated changes in gut microbiota.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Since its discovery over six decades ago in the gut and until now, the role of enteric 5-HT has been ever expanding. Though many more questions remain to be answered, it is now generally accepted that the influence of enteric 5-HT goes beyond the gut. Within the GI tract, the synthesis and release of 5-HT can be influenced by various factors, including gut microbes. In the normal gut, it is best known for its actions in GI motility, sensation, and secretion. However, immunemediated changes in the inflamed gut, as well as to various elements of normal 5-HT signaling, give rise to the dichotomous functions of the same molecule (Figure 4). It remains to be determined what specific role key components, such as receptors, play in mitigating the heterogeneous influences of enteric 5-HT in intestinal inflammation. In this review, we have highlighted the diverse roles of enteric 5-HT in intestinal inflammation. This presents an interesting opportunity for a potentially safe and effective treatment of IBD by targeting a single molecule, leading to not just the resolution of inflammation but the restoration of gut health.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*Dr. Waliul I. Khan. Mailing address: Department of Pathology & Molecular Medicine McMaster University Medical Center, Room 3N7, 1280 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON, L8S 4K1, Canada. E-mail: khanwal@mcmaster.ca. Tel: 905-525-9140, ext. 22846. Fax: 905-577-0198.

ORCID [©]

Waliul I. Khan: 0000-0002-6282-9514

Author Contributions

M.S.S. performed the literature search, wrote the article, and prepared the figures with assistance from A.B. W.LK. supervised the review and performed the final editing of the manuscript.

Funding

This work is supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and Crohn's and Colitis Canada (CCC) to W.I.K.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thank you to Anwar Kazi for helpful suggestions regarding manuscript revisions.

ABBREVIATIONS

5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine; TPH, tryptophan hydroxylase; GI, gastrointestinal; ENS, enteric nervous system; EECs, enteroendocrine cells; EC cells, enterochromaffin cells; SERT, selective serotonin reuptake transporter; 5-HTR, 5-HT receptor; CD, Crohn's disease; UC, ulcerative colitis; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; IBS, irritable bowel syndrome;

CNS, central nervous system; NF- κ B, nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; TPH1KO, tryptophan hydroxylase 1 knockout; TPH2KO, tryptophan hydroxylase 2 knockout; IL-13KO, interleukin-13 knockout; WT, wild-type; SERT-KO, serotonin reuptake transporter knockout; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor- α ; IFN- γ , interferon- γ ; IL, interleukin; DCs, dendritic cells; DNBS, dinitrobenzenesulfonic acid; TNBS, trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid; DSS, dextran sulfate sodium

REFERENCES

(1) May, C. L., and Kaestner, K. H. (2010) Gut endocrine cell development. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 323, 70-75.

(2) Khan, W. I., and Ghia, J. E. (2010) Gut hormones: emerging role in immune activation and inflammation. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 161, 19– 27.

(3) Vighi, G., Marcucci, F., Sensi, L., Di Cara, G., and Frati, F. (2008) Allergy and the gastrointestinal system. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 153, 3–6.

(4) Collins, S. M., Surette, M., and Bercik, P. (2012) The interplay between the intestinal microbiota and the brain. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10, 735-742.

(5) Collins, S. M. (1996) The immunomodulation of enteric neuromuscular function: implications for motility and inflammatory disorders. *Gastroenterology* 111, 1683–99.

(6) Manocha, M., and Khan, W. I. (2012) Serotonin and GI Disorders: An Update on Clinical and Experimental Studies. *Clin. Transl. Gastroenterol.* 3, e13.

(7) Bernstein, C. N. (2015) Treatment of IBD: Where We Are and Where We Are Going. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 110, 114–126.

(8) Gershon, M. D., and Tack, J. (2007) The Serotonin Signaling System: From Basic Understanding To Drug Development for Functional GI Disorders. *Gastroenterology* 132, 397–414.

(9) Gershon, M. D. (2012) Serotonin is a sword and a shield of the bowel: serotonin plays offense and defense. *Trans. Am. Clin. Climatol. Assoc.* 123, 268-280.

(10) Shajib, M. S., and Khan, W. I. (2015) The role of serotonin and its receptors in activation of immune responses and inflammation. *Acta Physiol.* 213, 561–574.

(11) Sainio, E.-L., Pulkki, K., and Young, S. N. (1996) Amino Acids L-Tryptophan: Biochemical, nutritional and pharmacological aspects. *Amino Acids* 10, 21–47.

(12) Gupta, N. K., Thaker, A. I., Kanuri, N., Riehl, T. E., Rowley, C. W., Stenson, W. F., and Ciorba, M. A. (2012) Serum analysis of tryptophan catabolism pathway: correlation with Crohn's disease activity. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 18, 1214–1220.

(13) Heyes, M. P., Saito, K., Crowley, J. S., Davis, L. E., Demitrack, M. A., Der, M., Dilling, L. A., Elia, J., Kruesi, M. J., Lackner, A., et al. (1992) Quinolinic acid and kynurenine pathway metabolism in inflammatory and non-inflammatory neurological disease. *Brain* 115, 1249–1273.

(14) Huengsberg, M., Winer, J. B., Gompels, M., Round, R., Ross, J., and Shahmanesh, M. (1998) Serum kynurenine-to-tryptophan ratio increases with progressive disease in HIV-infected patients. *Clin. Chem.* 44, 858–862.

(15) Li, Z., Chalazonitis, A., Huang, Y.-y., Mann, J. J., Margolis, K. G., Yang, Q. M., Kim, D. O., Cote, F., Mallet, J., and Gershon, M. D. (2011) Essential Roles of Enteric Neuronal Serotonin in Gastrointestinal Motility and the Development/Survival of Enteric Dopaminergic Neurons. J. Neurosci. 31, 8998–9009.

(16) Chattopadhyay, A., Rukmini, R., and Mukherjee, S. (1996) Photophysics of a Neurotransmitter: Ionization and Spectroscopic Properties of Serotonin. *Biophys. J.* 71, 1952–1960.

(17) Kellum, J. M., and Jaffe, B. M. (1976) Release of immunoreactive serotonin following acid perfusion of the duodenum. *Ann. Surg.* 184, 633-636.

(18) Hughes, F. B., and Brodie, B. B. (1959) The mechanism of serotonin and catecholamine uptake by platelets. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 127, 96–102.

(19) Morrissey, J. J., Walker, M. N., and Lovenberg, W. (1977) The absence of tryptophan hydroxylase activity in blood platelets. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 154, 496–499.

(20) Humphrey, J. H., and Toh, C. C. (1954) Absorption of serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine) and histamine by dog platelets. J. Physiol. 124, 300-304.

(21) Mawe, G. M., Coates, M. D., and Moses, P. L. (2006) Review article: Intestinal serotonin signalling in irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 23, 1067–1076.

(22) Derkach, V., Surprenant, A., and North, R. A. (1989) 5-HT3 receptors are membrane ion channels. *Nature* 339, 706–709.

(23) Kim, D.-Y., and Camilleri, M. (2000) Serotonin: a mediator of the brain-gut connection. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 95, 2698–2709.

(24) Kato, S. (2013) Role of Serotonin 5-HT 3 Receptors in Intestinal Inflammation. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 36, 1406–1409.

(25) De Ponti, F. (2004) Pharmacology of serotonin: what a clinician should know. Gut 53, 1520–1535.

(26) Wouters, M. M., Farrugia, G., and Schemann, M. (2007) 5-HT receptors on interstitial cells of Cajal, smooth muscle and enteric nerves. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 19, 5–12.

(27) Kim, J. J., and Khan, W. I. (2014) 5-HT7 receptor signaling: improved therapeutic strategy in gut disorders. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.*, DOI: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00396.

(28) Yaakob, N. S., Chinkwo, K. A., Chetty, N., Coupar, I. M., and Irving, H. R. (2015) Distribution of 5-HT3, 5-HT4, and 5-HT7 Receptors Along the Human Colon. J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 21, 361–369.

(29) Nezami, B. G., and Srinivasan, S. (2010) Enteric nervous system in the small intestine: pathophysiology and clinical implications. *Curr. Gastroenterol. Rep.* 12, 358–365.

(30) Tharayil, V. S., Wouters, M. M., Stanich, J. E., Roeder, J. L., Lei, S., Beyder, A., Gomez-Pinilla, P. J., Gershon, M. D., Maroteaux, L., Gibbons, S. J., and Farrugia, G. (2010) Lack of serotonin 5-HT2B receptor alters proliferation and network volume of interstitial cells of Cajal in vivo. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 22, 462–469.

(31) Hansen, M. B., and Witte, A.-B. (2008) The role of serotonin in intestinal luminal sensing and secretion. *Acta Physiol.* 193, 311–323.

(32) Townsend, D., Casey, M. A., and Brown, D. R. (2005) Mediation of neurogenic ion transport by acetylcholine, prostanoids and 5-hydroxytryptamine in porcine ileum. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 519, 285–289.

(33) Säfsten, B., Sjöblom, M., and Flemström, G. (2006) Serotonin increases protective duodenal bicarbonate secretion via enteric ganglia and a 5-HT ₄ -dependent pathway. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 41, 1279– 1289.

(34) Cooke, H. J., Sidhu, M., and Wang, Y. Z. (1997) Activation of 5-HT1P receptors on submucosal afferents subsequently triggers VIP neurons and chloride secretion in the guinea-pig colon. *J. Auton. Nerv. Syst.* 66, 105–110.

(35) Kushnir-Sukhov, N. M., Gilfillan, A. M., Coleman, J. W., Brown, J. M., Bruening, S., Toth, M., and Metcalfe, D. D. (2006) 5hydroxytryptamine induces mast cell adhesion and migration. J. Immunol. 177, 6422–6432.

(36) Müller, T., Dürk, T., Blumenthal, B., Grimm, M., Cicko, S., Panther, E., Sorichter, S., Herouy, Y., Di Virgilio, F., Ferrari, D., Norgauer, J., and Idzko, M. (2009) 5-Hydroxytryptamine Modulates Migration, Cytokine and Chemokine Release and T-Cell Priming Capacity of Dendritic Cells In Vitro and In Vivo. *PLoS One 4*, e6453.

(37) Boehme, S. A., Lio, F. M., Sikora, L., Pandit, T. S., Lavrador, K., Rao, S. P., and Sriramarao, P. (2004) Cutting edge: serotonin is a chemotactic factor for eosinophils and functions additively with eotaxin. J. Immunol. 173, 3599–3603.

(38) Mikulski, Z., Zasłona, Z., Cakarova, L., Hartmann, P., Wilhelm, J., Tecott, L. H., Lohmeyer, J., and Kummer, W. (2010) Serotonin activates murine alveolar macrophages through 5-HT2C receptors. *Am. J. Physiol. - Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 299, L272.

(39) Herr, N., Mauler, M., Witsch, T., Stallmann, D., Schmitt, S., Mezger, J., Bode, C., and Duerschmied, D. (2014) Acute Fluoxetine

Treatment Induces Slow Rolling of Leukocytes on Endothelium in Mice. PLoS One 9, e88316.

(40) Duerschmied, D., Suidan, G. L., Demers, M., Herr, N., Carbo, C., Brill, A., Cifuni, S. M., Mauler, M., Cicko, S., Bader, M., Idzko, M., Bode, C., and Wagner, D. D. (2013) Platelet serotonin promotes the recruitment of neutrophils to sites of acute inflammation in mice. *Blood* 121, 1008–1015.

(41) Geissmann, F., Manz, M. G., Jung, S., Sieweke, M. H., Merad, M., and Ley, K. (2010) Development of monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells. *Science* 327, 656–661.

(42) Dürk, T., Panther, E., Müller, T., Sorichter, S., Ferrari, D., Pizzirani, C., Di Virgilio, F., Myrtek, D., Norgauer, J., and Idzko, M. (2005) 5-Hydroxytryptamine modulates cytokine and chemokine production in LPS-primed human monocytes via stimulation of different 5-HTR subtypes. Int. Immunol. 17, 599–606.

(43) Idzko, M., Panther, E., Stratz, C., Müller, T., Bayer, H., Zissel, G., Dürk, T., Sorichter, S., Di Virgilio, F., Geissler, M., Fiebich, B., Herouy, Y., Elsner, P., Norgauer, J., and Ferrari, D. (2004) The Serotoninergic Receptors of Human Dendritic Cells: Identification and Coupling to Cytokine Release. J. Immunol. 172, 6011–601.

(44) Li, N., Ghia, J.-E., Wang, H., Mcclemens, J., Cote, F., Suehiro, Y., Mallet, J., and Khan, W. I. (2011) Serotonin Activates Dendritic Cell Function in the Context of Gut Inflammation. Am. J. Pathol. 178, 662– 671.

(45) Holst, K., Guseva, D., Schindler, S., Sixt, M., Braun, A., Chopra, H., Pabst, O., and Ponimaskin, E. (2015) The serotonin receptor 5-HT7R regulates the morphology and migratory properties of dendritic cells. J. Cell Sci. 128, 2866–2880.

(46) Ghia, J.-E., Li, N., Wang, H., Collins, M., Deng, Y., El-Sharkawy, R. T., Côté, F., Mallet, J., and Khan, W. I. (2009) Serotonin has a key role in pathogenesis of experimental colitis. *Gastroenterology* 137, 1649–1660.

(47) Freire-Garabal, M., Núñez, M. J., Balboa, J., López-Delgado, P., Gallego, R., García-Caballero, T., Fernández-Roel, M. D., Brenlla, J., and Rey-Méndez, M. (2003) Serotonin upregulates the activity of phagocytosis through 5-HT 1A receptors. Br. J. Pharmacol. 139, 457– 463.

(48) Shajib, M. S., Wang, H., Kim, J. J., Sunjic, I., Ghia, J. E., Denou, E., Collins, M., Denburg, J. A., and Khan, W. I. (2013) Interleukin 13 and Serotonin: Linking the Immune and Endocrine Systems in Murine Models of Intestinal Inflammation. *PLoS One 8*, e72774.

(49) Baganz, N. L., and Blakely, R. D. (2013) A Dialogue between the Immune System and Brain, Spoken in the Language of Serotonin. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* 4, 48–63.

(50) de las Casas-Engel, M., Dominguez-Soto, A., Sierra-Filardi, E., Bragado, R., Nieto, C., Puig-Kroger, A., Samaniego, R., Loza, M., Corcuera, M. T., Gomez-Aguado, F., Bustos, M., Sanchez-Mateos, P., and Corbi, A. L. (2013) Serotonin Skews Human Macrophage Polarization through HTR2B and HTR7. J. Immunol. 190, 2301–2310.

(51) Kim, J. J., Bridle, B. W., Ghia, J.-E., Wang, H., Syed, S. N., Manocha, M. M., Rengasamy, P., Shajib, M. S., Wan, Y., Hedlund, P. B., and Khan, W. I. (2013) Targeted inhibition of serotonin type 7 (5-HT7) receptor function modulates immune responses and reduces the severity of intestinal inflammation. *J. Immunol.* 190, 4795–4804.

(52) Akiyoshi, T., Zhang, Q., Inoue, F., Aramaki, O., Hatano, M., Shimazu, M., Kitajima, M., Shirasugi, N., and Niimi, M. (2006) Induction of Indefinite Survival of Fully Mismatched Cardiac Allografts and Generation of Regulatory Cells by Sarpogrelate Hydrochloride. *Transplantation* 82, 1051–1059.

(53) Inoue, W., Tomino, Y., Miura, M., Yagame, M., Watanabe, S., Tamura, S., Kaneshige, H., Nomoto, Y., and Sakai, H. (1986) Parameters of altered plasma glucose levels during short intervals in diabetic patients. *Tokai J. Exp. Clin. Med.* 11, 67–70.

(54) Yin, J., Albert, R. H., Tretiakova, A. P., and Jameson, B. A. (2006) 5-HT1B receptors play a prominent role in the proliferation of T-lymphocytes. J. Neuroimmunol. 181, 68–81.

(55) Leon-Ponte, M., Ahern, G. P., and O'Connell, P. J. (2007) Serotonin provides an accessory signal to enhance T-cell activation by signaling through the 5-HT7 receptor. *Blood 109*, 3139–3146. (56) Iken, K., Chheng, S., Fargin, A., Goulet, A.-C., and Kouassi, E. (1995) Serotonin Upregulates Mitogen-Stimulated B Lymphocyte Proliferation through 5-HT1A Receptors. *Cell. Immunol.* 163, 1–9.

(57) Hansen, M. B. (2003) The enteric nervous system I: organisation and classification. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 92, 105-113.

(58) Raybould, H. E. (2010) Gut chemosensing: interactions between gut endocrine cells and visceral afferents. *Auton. Neurosci.* 153, 41-46.

(59) Mawe, G. M., and Hoffman, J. M. (2013) Serotonin signalling in the gut-functions, dysfunctions and therapeutic targets. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 10, 473–486.

(60) Warr, D. G. (2008) Chemotherapy-and cancer-related nausea and vomiting. Curr. Oncol 15, S4–9.

(61) Russo, E. B. (2011) Taming THC: potential cannabis synergy and phytocannabinoid-terpenoid entourage effects. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 163, 1344–1364.

(62) Huang, Y.-J., Maruyama, Y., Lu, K.-S., Pereira, E., Plonsky, I., Baur, J. E., Wu, D., and Roper, S. D. (2005) Mouse taste buds use serotonin as a neurotransmitter. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 843–847.

(63) Suzuki, A., Naruse, S., Kitagawa, M., Ishiguro, H., Yoshikawa, T., Ko, S. B., Yamamoto, A., Hamada, H., and Hayakawa, T. (2001) 5hydroxytryptamine strongly inhibits fluid secretion in guinea pig pancreatic duct cells. *J. Clin. Invest.* 108, 749–756.

(64) Mayer, E. A. (2011) Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gutbrain communication. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 453–466.

(65) Geboes, K., and Collins, S. (1998) Structural abnormalities of the nervous system in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 10, 189–202.

(66) De Giorgio, R., Guerrini, S., Barbara, G., Stanghellini, V., De Ponti, F., Corinaldesi, R., Moses, P. L., Sharkey, K. A., and Mawe, G. M. (2004) Inflammatory neuropathies of the enteric nervous system. *Gastroenterology* 126, 1872–1883.

(67) Steinhoff, M. M., Kodner, I. J., and DeSchryver-Kecskemeti, K. (1988) Axonal degeneration/necrosis: a possible ultrastructural marker for Crohn's disease. *Mod. Pathol.* 1, 182–187.

(68) Villanacci, V., Bassotti, G., Nascimbeni, R., Antonelli, E., Cadei, M., Fisogni, S., Salerni, B., and Geboes, K. (2008) Enteric nervous system abnormalities in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 20, 1009–1016.

(69) Dvorak, A. M., and Silen, W. (1985) Differentiation between Crohn's disease and other inflammatory conditions by electron microscopy. Ann. Surg. 201, 53-63.

(70) Margolis, K. G., Stevanovic, K., Karamooz, N., Li, Z. S., Ahuja, A., D'Autréaux, F., Saurman, V., Chalazonitis, A., and Gershon, M. D. (2011) Enteric neuronal density contributes to the severity of intestinal inflammation. *Gastroenterology* 141, 588–998.

(71) Lakhan, S. E., and Kirchgessner, A. (2010) Neuroinflammation in inflammatory bowel disease. J. Neuroinflammation 7, 37.

(72) Linden, D. R., Couvrette, J. M., Ciolino, A., McQuoid, C., Blaszyk, H., Sharkey, K. A., and Mawe, G. M. (2005) Indiscriminate loss of myenteric neurones in the TNBS-inflamed guinea-pig distal colon. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 17, 751–760.

(73) Sarnelli, G., De Giorgio, R., Gentile, F., Calì, G., Grandone, I., Rocco, A., Cosenza, V., Cuomo, R., and D'Argenio, G. (2009) Myenteric neuronal loss in rats with experimental colitis: Role of tissue transglutaminase-induced apoptosis. *Dig. Liver Dis.* 41, 185–193.

(74) Sanovic, S., Lamb, D. P., and Blennerhassett, M. G. (1999) Damage to the enteric nervous system in experimental colitis. Am. J. Pathol. 155, 1051–1057.

(75) Strober, W., and Fuss, I. J. (2011) Proinflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology 140*, 1756–1767.

(76) Wirtz, S., Neufert, C., Weigmann, B., and Neurath, M. F. (2007) Chemically induced mouse models of intestinal inflammation. *Nat. Protoc.* 2, 541–546.

(77) Zhu, J., Yang, F., Sang, L., Zhai, J., Zhang, X., Yue, D., Li, S., Li, Y., Lu, C., and Sun, X. (2015) IL-33 Aggravates DSS-Induced Acute Colitis in Mouse Colon Lamina Propria by Enhancing Th2 Cell Responses. *Mediators Inflammation 2015*, 1.

(78) Okamura, M., Yoh, K., Ojima, M., Morito, N., and Takahashi, S. (2014) Overexpression of GATA-3 in T cells accelerates dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Exp. Anim.* 63, 133–140.

(79) Aulí, M., Nasser, Y., Ho, W., Burgueño, J. F., Keenan, C. M., Romero, C., Sharkey, K. A., and Fernández, E. (2008) Neuromuscular changes in a rat model of colitis. *Auton. Neurosci.* 141, 10–21.

(80) Wang, X.-Y., Vannucchi, M.-G., Nieuwmeyer, F., Ye, J., Faussone-Pellegrini, M.-S., and Huizinga, J. D. (2005) Changes in interstitial cells of Cajal at the deep muscular plexus are associated with loss of distention-induced burst-type muscle activity in mice infected by Trichinella spiralis. Am. J. Pathol. 167, 437–453.

(81) Palmer, J. M., Wong-Riley, M., and Sharkey, K. A. (1998) Functional alterations in jejunal myenteric neurons during inflammation in nematode-infected guinea pigs. Am. J. Physiol. - Gastrointest. Liver Physiol 275, G922-G935.

(82) McDermott, J. R., Humphreys, N. E., Forman, S. P., Donaldson, D. D., and Grencis, R. K. (2005) Intraepithelial NK cell-derived IL-13 induces intestinal pathology associated with nematode infection. *J. Immunol.* 175, 3207–3213.

(83) Khan, W. I., Vallance, B. A., Blennerhassett, P. A., Deng, Y., Verdu, E. F., Matthaei, K. I., and Collins, S. M. (2001) Critical Role for Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription Factor 6 in Mediating Intestinal Muscle Hypercontractility and Worm Expulsion in Trichinella spiralis-Infected Mice. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 838–844.

(84) Tömblom, H., Lindberg, G., Nyberg, B., and Veress, B. (2002) Full-thickness biopsy of the jejunum reveals inflammation and enteric neuropathy in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 123, 1972– 1979.

(85) De Giorgio, R., and Camilleri, M. (2004) Human enteric neuropathies: morphology and molecular pathology. *Neurogastroenter*ol. Motil. 16, 515-31.

(86) Pontell, L., Castelucci, P., Bagyánszki, M., Jovic, T., Thacker, M., Nurgali, K., Bron, R., and Furness, J. B. (2009) Structural changes in the epithelium of the small intestine and immune cell infiltration of enteric ganglia following acute mucosal damage and local inflammation. Virchows Arch. 455, 55–65.

(87) Boyer, L., Ghoreishi, M., Templeman, V., Vallance, B. a, Buchan, A. M., Jevon, G., and Jacobson, K. (2005) Myenteric plexus injury and apoptosis in experimental colitis. *Auton. Neurosci.* 117, 41–53.

(88) Costa, M., Brookes, S. J., Steeled, P. A., Gibbins, I., Burcher, E., and Kandiah, C. J. (1996) Neurochemical classification of myenteric neurons in the guinea-pig ileum. *Neuroscience* 75, 949–967.

(89) Young, H. M., and Furness, J. B. (1995) Ultrastructural examination of the targets of serotonin-immunoreactive descending interneurons in the guinea pig small intestine. J. Comp. Neurol. 356, 101–114.

(90) Furness, J. B., and Costa, M. (1982) Neurons with 5hydroxytryptamine-like immunoreactivity in the enteric nervous system: their projections in the guinea-pig small intestine. *Neuroscience* 7, 341–349.

(91) Li, Z., Chalazonitis, A., Huang, Y.-Y., Mann, J. J., Margolis, K. G., Yang, Q. M., Kim, D. O., Côté, F., Mallet, J., and Gershon, M. D. (2011) Essential roles of enteric neuronal serotonin in gastrointestinal motility and the development/survival of enteric dopaminergic neurons. J. Neurosci. 31, 8998–9009.

(92) Liu, M.-T., Kuan, Y.-H., Wang, J., Hen, R., and Gershon, M. D. (2009) 5-HT4 Receptor-Mediated Neuroprotection and Neurogenesis in the Enteric Nervous System of Adult Mice. J. Neurosci. 29, 9683– 9699.

(93) Fiorica-Howells, E., Maroteaux, L., and Gershon, M. D. (2000) Serotonin and the 5-HT2B Receptor in the Development of Enteric Neurons. J. Neurosci. 20, 294–305.

(94) Brezun, J. M., and Daszuta, A. (2000) Serotonin may stimulate granule cell proliferation in the adult hippocampus, as observed in rats grafted with foetal raphe neurons. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 12, 391–396.

(95) Vasefi, M. S., Kruk, J. S., Heikkila, J. J., and Beazely, M. A. (2013) 5-Hydroxytryptamine type 7 receptor neuroprotection against NMDA-induced excitotoxicity is PDGF β receptor dependent. *J. Neurochem.* 125, 26–36.

(96) Berends, A. C., Luiten, P. G. M., and Nyakas, C. (2005) A Review of the Neuroprotective Properties of the 5-HT1A Receptor Agonist Repinotan HC1 (BAY × 3702) in Ischemic Stroke. CNS Drug Rev. 11, 379–402.

(97) Gross, E. R., Gershon, M. D., Margolis, K. G., Gertsberg, Z. V., and Cowles, R. A. (2012) Neuronal serotonin regulates growth of the intestinal mucosa in mice. *Gastroenterology* 143, 408–417.

(98) Belkind-Gerson, J., Hotta, R., Nagy, N., Thomas, A. R., Graham, H., Cheng, L., Solorzano, J., Nguyen, D., Kamionek, M., Dietrich, J., Cherayil, B. J., and Goldstein, A. M. (2015) Colitis induces enteric neurogenesis through a 5-HT4-dependent mechanism. *Inflamm. Bowel* Dis. 21, 870–878.

(99) Sturm, A., and Dignass, A. U. (2008) Epithelial restitution and wound healing in inflammatory bowel disease. World J. Gastroenterol. 14, 348-353.

(100) Gershon, M. D., and Tack, J. (2007) The serotonin signaling system: from basic understanding to drug development for functional GI disorders. *Gastroenterology* 132, 397–414.

(101) Gunawardene, A. R., Corfe, B. M., and Staton, C. A. (2011) Classification and functions of enteroendocrine cells of the lower gastrointestinal tract. *Int. J. Exp. Pathol.* 92, 219–231.

(102) Tada, Y., Ishihara, S., Kawashima, K., Fukuba, N., Sonoyama, H., Kusunoki, R., Oka, A., Mishima, Y., Oshima, N., Moriyama, I., Yuki, T., Ishikawa, N., Araki, A., Harada, Y., Maruyama, R., and Kinoshita, Y. (2016) Downregulation of serotonin reuptake transporter gene expression in healing colonic mucosa in presence of remaining low-grade inflammation in ulcerative colitis. *J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 31, 1443–1452.

(103) Keating, C., Beyak, M., Foley, S., Singh, G., Marsden, C., Spiller, R., and Grundy, D. (2008) Afferent hypersensitivity in a mouse model of post-inflammatory gut dysfunction: role of altered serotonin metabolism. J. Physiol. 586, 4517–4530.

(104) Khan, W. I., Motomura, Y., Wang, H., El-Sharkawy, R. T., Verdu, E. F., Verma-Gandhu, M., Rollins, B. J., and Collins, S. M. (2006) Critical role of MCP-1 in the pathogenesis of experimental colitis in the context of immune and enterochromaffin cells. *AJP Gastrointest. Liver Physiol* 291, G803–G811.

(105) Linden, D. R., Foley, K. F., Mcquoid, C., Simpson, J., Sharkey, K. A., and Mawe, G. M. (2005) Serotonin transporter function and expression are reduced in mice with TNBS-induced colitis. *Neuro*gastroenterol. Motil. 17, 565–574.

(106) Wheatcroft, J., Wakelin, D., Smith, A., Mahoney, C. R., Mawe, G., and Spiller, R. (2005) Enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and decreased serotonin transporter in a mouse model of postinfectious bowel dysfunction. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 17, 863–870.

(107) Linden, D. R., Chen, J.-X., Gershon, M. D., Sharkey, K. A., and Mawe, G. M. (2003) Serotonin availability is increased in mucosa of guinea pigs with TNBS-induced colitis. *Am. J. Physiol. - Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 285, G207–G216.

(108) Zang, K., Rao, Z., Zhang, G., and Qin, H. (2015) Anticolitis activity of Chinese herbal formula yupingfeng powder via regulating colonic enterochromaffin cells and serotonin. *Indian J. Pharmacol.* 47, 632–637.

(109) O'Hara, J. R., Lomax, A. E., Mawe, G. M., and Sharkey, K. A. (2007) Ileitis alters neuronal and enteroendocrine signalling in guinea pig distal colon. *Gut 56*, 186–194.

(110) O'Hara, J. R., Skinn, A. C., MacNaughton, W. K., Sherman, P. M., and Sharkey, K. A. (2006) Consequences of Citrobacter rodentium infection on enteroendocrine cells and the enteric nervous system in the mouse colon. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 646–660.

(111) Dizdar, V., Spiller, R., Singh, G., Hanevik, K., Gilja, O. H, El-Salhy, M., and Hausken, T. (2010) Relative importance of abnormalities of CCK and 5-HT (serotonin) in Giardia-induced post-infectious irritable bowel syndrome and functional dyspepsia. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 31, 883–891.

(112) Ghia, J.-E., Li, N., Wang, H., Collins, M., Deng, Y., El-Sharkawy, R. T., Côté, F., Mallet, J., and Khan, W. I. (2009) Serotonin has a key role in pathogenesis of experimental colitis. *Gastroenterology* 137, 1649–1660.

(113) Margolis, K. G., Stevanovic, K., Li, Z., Yang, Q. M., Oravecz, T., Zambrowicz, B., Jhaver, K. G., Diacou, A., and Gershon, M. D. (2014) Pharmacological reduction of mucosal but not neuronal serotonin opposes inflammation in mouse intestine. *Gut* 63, 928–937.

(114) Kim, J. J., Wang, H., Terc, J. D., Zambrowicz, B., Yang, Q. M., and Khan, W. I. (2015) Blocking peripheral serotonin synthesis by telotristat etiprate (LX1032/LX1606) reduces severity of both chemical- and infection-induced intestinal inflammation. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 309, G455–G465.

(115) Herr, N., Mauler, M., Witsch, T., Stallmann, D., Schmitt, S., Mezger, J., Bode, C., and Duerschmied, D. (2014) Acute fluoxetine treatment induces slow rolling of leukocytes on endothelium in mice. *PLoS One* 9, e88316.

(116) Duerschmied, D., Suidan, G. L., Demers, M., Herr, N., Carbo, C., Brill, A., Cifuni, S. M., Mauler, M., Cicko, S., Bader, M., Idzko, M., Bode, C., and Wagner, D. D. (2013) Platelet serotonin promotes the recruitment of neutrophils to sites of acute inflammation in mice. *Blood* 121, 1008–1015.

(117) Regmi, S. C., Park, S.-Y., Ku, S. K., and Kim, J.-A. (2014) Serotonin regulates innate immune responses of colon epithelial cells through Nox2-derived reactive oxygen species. *Free Radical Biol. Med. 69*, 377–389.

(118) Spohn, S. N., Bianco, F., Scott, R. B., Keenan, C. M., Linton, A. A., O'Neill, C. H., Bonora, E., Dicay, M., Lavoie, B., Wilcox, R. L., MacNaughton, W. K., De Giorgio, R., Sharkey, K. A., and Mawe, G. M. (2016) Protective Actions of Epithelial 5-Hydroxytryptamine 4 Receptors in Normal and Inflamed Colon. *Gastroenterology* 151, 933–944.

(119) Moore, B. A., Sharkey, K. A., and Mantle, M. (1996) Role of 5-HT in cholera toxin-induced mucin secretion in the rat small intestine. *Am. J. Physiol. - Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 270, G1001–G1009.

(120) Gill, R. K., Pant, N., Saksena, S., Singla, A., Nazir, T. M., Vohwinkel, L., Turner, J. R., Goldstein, J., Alrefai, W. A., and Dudeja, P. K. (2008) Function, expression, and characterization of the serotonin transporter in the native human intestine. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 294, G254–262.

(121) Ozsarac, N., Santha, E., and Hoffman, B. J. (2002) Alternative non-coding exons support serotonin transporter mRNA expression in the brain and gut. J. Neurochem. 82, 336–344.

(122) Bischoff, S. C., Mailer, R., Pabst, O., Weier, G., Sedlik, W., Li, Z., Chen, J. J., Murphy, D. L., and Gershon, M. D. (2009) Role of serotonin in intestinal inflammation: knockout of serotonin reuptake transporter exacerbates 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid colitis in mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 296, G685–G695.

(123) Haub, S., Ritze, Y., Bergheim, I., Pabst, O., Gershon, M. D., and Bischoff, S. C. (2010) Enhancement of intestinal inflammation in mice lacking interleukin 10 by deletion of the serotonin reuptake transporter. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 22, 826–834.

(124) Chen, J. J., Li, Z., Pan, H., Murphy, D. L., Tamir, H., Koepsell, H., and Gershon, M. D. (2001) Maintenance of serotonin in the intestinal mucosa and ganglia of mice that lack the high-affinity serotonin transporter: Abnormal intestinal motility and the expression of cation transporters. J. Neurosci. 21, 6348–6361.

(125) Keohane, J., O'mahony, C., O'mahony, L., et al. (2010) Irritable Bowel Syndrome-Type Symptoms in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Real Association or Reflection of Occult Inflammation? *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 105, 1789–1794.

(126) Gracie, D. J., and Ford, A. C. (2015) IBS-like symptoms in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Clin. Exp. Gastroenterol.* 8, 101–109.

(127) Tomita, T., Kato, Y., Takimoto, M., Yamasaki, T., Kondo, T., Kono, T., Tozawa, K., Yokoyama, Y., Ikehara, H., Ohda, Y., Oshima, T., Fukui, H., Tanaka, S., Shima, M., Watari, J., and Miwa, H. (2016) Prevalence of Irritable Bowel Syndrome-like Symptoms in Japanese Patients with Inactive Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 22, 661–669.

(128) Minderhoud, I. M., Oldenburg, B., Wismeijer, J. A., van Berge Henegouwen, G. P., and Smout, A. J. P. M. (2004) IBS-like symptoms in patients with inflammatory bowel disease in remission; relationships with quality of life and coping behavior. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 49, 469–474. (129) Barbara, G., Cremon, C., Carini, G., Bellacosa, L., Zecchi, L., De Giorgio, R., Corinaldesi, R., and Stanghellini, V. (2011) The immune system in irritable bowel syndrome. *J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 17, 349–359.

(130) Keszthelyi, D., Troost, F. J., Jonkers, D. M., van Eijk, H. M., Lindsey, P. J., Dekker, J., Buurman, W. A., and Masclee, A. A. M. (2014) Serotonergic reinforcement of intestinal barrier function is impaired in irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 40, 392–402.

(131) Thabane, M., and Marshall, J. K. (2009) Post-infectious irritable bowel syndrome. World J. Gastroenterol. 15, 3591–3596.

(132) Dunlop, S. P., Jenkins, D., Neal, K. R., and Spiller, R. C. (2003) Relative importance of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia, anxiety, and depression in postinfectious IBS. *Gastroenterology* 125, 1651–1659.

(133) Spiller, R. C., Jenkins, D., Thornley, J. P., Hebden, J. M., Wright, T., Skinner, M., and Neal, K. R. (2000) Increased rectal mucosal enteroendocrine cells, T lymphocytes, and increased gut permeability following acute Campylobacter enteritis and in postdysenteric irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut* 47, 804–811.

(134) Motomura, Y., Ghia, J.-E., Wang, H., Akiho, H., El-Sharkawy, R. T., Collins, M., Wan, Y., McLaughlin, J. T., and Khan, W. I. (2008) Enterochromaffin cell and 5-hydroxytryptamine responses to the same infectious agent differ in Th1 and Th2 dominant environments. *Gut* 57, 475–481.

(135) Wang, H., Steeds, J., Motomura, Y., Deng, Y., Verma-Gandhu, M., El-Sharkawy, R. T., Mclaughlin, J. T., Grencis, R. K., and Khan, W. I. (2007) T cell-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and 5-hydroxytryptamine production in enteric infection. *Gut* 56, 949–957.

(136) Foley, S., Garsed, K., Singh, G., Duroudier, N. P., Swan, C., Hall, I. P., Zaitoun, A., Bennett, A., Marsden, C., Holmes, G., Walls, A., and Spiller, R. C. (2011) Impaired Uptake of Serotonin by Platelets From Patients With Irritable Bowel Syndrome Correlates With Duodenal Immune Activation. *Gastroenterology* 140, 1434–1443.

(137) Andresen, V., Montori, V. M., Keller, J., West, C. P., Layer, P., and Camilleri, M. (2008) Effects of 5-Hydroxytryptamine (Serotonin) Type 3 Antagonists on Symptom Relief and Constipation in Nonconstipated Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 6, 545–555.

(138) Foley, K. F., Pantano, C., Ciolino, A., and Mawe, G. M. (2007) IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha decrease serotonin transporter function and expression in Caco2 cells. *Am. J. Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 292, G779–G784.

(139) Barbaro, M. R., Di Sabatino, A., Cremon, C., Giuffrida, P., Fiorentino, M., Altimari, A., Bellacosa, L., Stanghellini, V., and Barbara, G. (2016) Interferon- γ is increased in the gut of patients with irritable bowel syndrome and modulates serotonin metabolism. *Am. J. Physiol.* -*Gastrointest. Liver Physiol* 310, G439–G447.

(140) Latorre, E., Mendoza, C., Matheus, N., Castro, M., Grasa, L., Mesonero, J. E., and Alcalde, A. I. (2013) IL-10 modulates serotonin transporter activity and molecular expression in intestinal epithelial cells. *Cytokine+ 61*, 778–784.

(141) Zhu, C.-B., Blakely, R. D., and Hewlett, W. A. (2006) The Proinflammatory Cytokines Interleukin-1beta and Turnor Necrosis Factor-Alpha Activate Serotonin Transporters. *Neuropsychopharmacol*ogy 31, 2121–2131.

(142) Kong, E., Sucic, S., Monje, F. J., Savalli, G., Diao, W., Khan, D., Ronovsky, M., Cabatic, M., Koban, F., Freissmuth, M., and Pollak, D. D. (2015) STAT3 controls IL6-dependent regulation of serotonin transporter function and depression-like behavior. *Sci. Rep.* 5, 9009.

(143) Kidd, M., Gustafsson, B. I., Drozdov, I., and Modlin, I. M. (2009) IL1beta- and LPS-induced serotonin secretion is increased in EC cells derived from Crohn's disease. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 21, 439–450.

(144) Manocha, M., Shajib, M. S., Rahman, M. M., Wang, H., Rengasamy, P., Bogunovic, M., Jordana, M., Mayer, L., and Khan, W. I. (2013) IL-13-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin

cell hyperplasia and serotonin production in the gut. *Mucosal Immunol.* 6, 146–155.

(145) Jovani, M., Fiorino, G., and Danese, S. (2013) Anti-IL-13 in inflammatory bowel disease: from the bench to the bedside. *Curr. Drug Targets 14*, 1444–1452.

(146) Wynn, T. A. (2003) IL-13 effector functions. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 21, 425–456.

(147) Hernandez, M. E., Martinez-Fong, D., Perez-Tapia, M., Estrada-Garcia, I., Estrada-Parra, S., and Pavón, L. (2010) Evaluation of the effect of selective serotonin-reuptake inhibitors on lymphocyte subsets in patients with a major depressive disorder. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 20, 88–95.

(148) Schneider, E., Machavoine, F., Bricard-Rignault, R., Levasseur, M., Petit-Bertron, A. F., Gautron, S., Ribeil, J.-A., Launay, J.-M., Mecheri, S., Côté, F., and Dy, M. (2011) Downregulation of basophilderived IL-4 and in vivo TH2 IgE responses by serotonin and other organic cation transporter 3 ligands. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 128, 864–871.

(149) Nau, F., Yu, B., Martin, D., and Nichols, C. D. (2013) Serotonin 5-HT2A Receptor Activation Blocks TNF- α Mediated Inflammation In Vivo. *PLoS One 8*, e75426.

(150) Kato, S. (2013) Role of serotonin 5-HT₃ receptors in intestinal inflammation. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 36, 1406–1409.

(151) Chabbi-Achengli, Y., Coman, T., Collet, C., Callebert, J., Corcelli, M., Lin, H., Rignault, R., Dy, M., De Vernejoul, M.-C., and Côté, F. (2016) Serotonin Is Involved in Autoimmune Arthritis through Th17 Immunity and Bone Resorption. Am. J. Pathol. 186, 927–937.

(152) Sender, R., Fuchs, S., and Milo, R. (2016) Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. *PLoS Biol.* 14, e1002533.

(153) Neunlist, M., and Schemann, M. (2014) Nutrient-induced changes in the phenotype and function of the enteric nervous system. *J. Physiol.* 592, 2959–2965.

(154) Yano, J. M., Yu, K., Donaldson, G. P., Shastri, G. G., Ann, P., Ma, L., Nagler, C. R., Ismagilov, R. F., Mazmanian, S. K., and Hsiao, E. Y. (2015) Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cdl* 161, 264–276.

(155) Reigstad, C. S., Salmonson, C. E., Rainey, J. F., Szurszewski, J. H., Linden, D. R., Sonnenburg, J. L., Farrugia, G., and Kashyap, P. C. (2015) Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells. *FASEB J.* 29, 1395–1403.

(156) McClemens, J., Kim, J. J., Wang, H., Mao, Y.-K., Collins, M., Kunze, W., Bienenstock, J., Forsythe, P., and Khan, W. I. (2013) Lactobacillus rhamnosus ingestion promotes innate host defense in an enteric parasitic infection. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.* 20, 818–826.

(157) Hasnain, S. Z., Tauro, S., Das, I., Tong, H., Chen, A. C.-H., Jeffery, P. L., McDonald, V., Florin, T. H., and McGuckin, M. A. (2013) IL-10 promotes production of intestinal mucus by suppressing protein misfolding and endoplasmic reticulum stress in goblet cells. *Gastroenterology* 144, 357–368.
References for chapters 1 and 6

- [1] Erspamer V. Experimental research on the biological significance of enterochromaffin cells. Arch Fisiol 1937;37:156–69.
- [2] Page IH, Rapport MM, Green AA. The crystallization of serotonin. J Lab Clin Med 1948;33:1606.
- [3] Rapport MM, Green AA, Page IH. Partial purification of the vasoconstrictor in beef serum. J Biol Chem 1948;174:735–41.
- [4] Erspamer V, Asero B. Identification of enteramine, the specific hormone of the enterochromaffin cell system, as 5-hydroxytryptamine. Nature 1952;169:800–1.
- [5] Rapport MM, Grenn AA, Page IH. Serum vasoconstrictor, serotonin; isolation and characterization. J Biol Chem 1948;176:1243–51.
- [6] Shajib MS, Khan WI. The role of serotonin and its receptors in activation of immune responses and inflammation. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 2015;213:561– 74. doi:10.1111/apha.12430.
- [7] Brezun JM, Daszuta A. Serotonin may stimulate granule cell proliferation in the adult hippocampus, as observed in rats grafted with foetal raphe neurons. Eur J Neurosci 2000;12:391–6.
- [8] Berger M, Gray J a, Roth BL. The expanded biology of serotonin. Annu

Rev Med 2009;60:355-66. doi:10.1146/annurev.med.60.042307.110802.

- [9] Gershon MD, Tack J. The Serotonin Signaling System: From Basic
 Understanding To Drug Development for Functional GI Disorders.
 Gastroenterology 2007;132:397–414. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.11.002.
- [10] Cote F, Thevenot E, Fligny C, Fromes Y, Darmon M, Ripoche M-A, et al. Disruption of the nonneuronal tph1 gene demonstrates the importance of peripheral serotonin in cardiac function. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2003;100:13525–30. doi:10.1073/pnas.2233056100.
- [11] Paulmann N, Grohmann M, Voigt J-P, Bert B, Vowinckel J, Bader M, et al. Intracellular Serotonin Modulates Insulin Secretion from Pancreatic β-Cells by Protein Serotonylation. PLoS Biol 2009;7:e1000229. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000229.
- Kim H, Toyofuku Y, Lynn FC, Chak E, Uchida T, Mizukami H, et al.
 Serotonin regulates pancreatic beta cell mass during pregnancy. Nat Med 2010;16:804–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2173.
- [13] Stunes AK, Reseland JE, Hauso Ø, Kidd M, Tømmerås K, Waldum HL, et al. Adipocytes express a functional system for serotonin synthesis, reuptake and receptor activation. Diabetes, Obes Metab 2011;13:551–8. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2011.01378.x.

- [14] Chabbi-Achengli Y, Coudert AE, Callebert J, Geoffroy V, Cote F, Collet C, et al. Decreased osteoclastogenesis in serotonin-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2012;109:2567–72. doi:10.1073/pnas.1117792109.
- [15] Bertaccini G. Tissue 5-hydroxytryptamine and urinary 5hydroxyindoleacetic acid after partial or total removal of the gastrointestinal tract in the rat. J Physiol 1960;153:239–49.
- [16] Shajib MS, Baranov A, Khan WI. Diverse Effects of Gut-Derived Serotonin in Intestinal Inflammation. ACS Chem Neurosci 2017;8:920–31. doi:10.1021/acschemneuro.6b00414.
- [17] Gunawardene AR, Corfe BM, Staton CA. Classification and functions of enteroendocrine cells of the lower gastrointestinal tract. Int J Exp Pathol 2011;92:219–31. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2613.2011.00767.x.
- [18] Moran GW, Leslie FC, Levison SE, Worthington J, McLaughlin JT.
 Enteroendocrine cells: neglected players in gastrointestinal disorders?
 Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2008;1:51–60. doi:10.1177/1756283X08093943.
- [19] Kosinski C, Li VSW, Chan ASY, Zhang J, Ho C, Tsui WY, et al. Gene expression patterns of human colon tops and basal crypts and BMP antagonists as intestinal stem cell niche factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2007;104:15418–23. doi:10.1073/pnas.0707210104.

- [20] Bjerknes M, Cheng H. Neurogenin 3 and the enteroendocrine cell lineage in the adult mouse small intestinal epithelium. Dev Biol 2006;300:722–35. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.07.040.
- [21] Grapin-Botton A, Majithia AR, Melton DA. Key events of pancreas formation are triggered in gut endoderm by ectopic expression of pancreatic regulatory genes. Genes Dev 2001;15:444–54. doi:10.1101/gad.846001.
- [22] Madsen OD, Jensen J, Pedersen EE, Galante P, Hald J, Heller RS, et al.
 Control of endodermal endocrine development by Hes-1. Nat Genet
 2000;24:36–44. doi:10.1038/71657.
- [23] Lee CS, Perreault N, Brestelli JE, Kaestner KH. Neurogenin 3 is essential for the proper specification of gastric enteroendocrine cells and the maintenance of gastric epithelial cell identity. Genes Dev 2002;16:1488– 97. doi:10.1101/gad.985002.
- [24] Schonhoff SE, Giel-Moloney M, Leiter AB. Minireview: Development and Differentiation of Gut Endocrine Cells. Endocrinology 2004;145:2639–44. doi:10.1210/en.2004-0051.
- [25] Sjölund K, Sandén G, Håkanson R, Sundler F. Endocrine cells in human intestine: an immunocytochemical study. Gastroenterology 1983;85:1120–

30.

- [26] Cristina ML, Lehy T, Zeitoun P, Dufougeray F. Fine structural classification and comparative distribution of endocrine cells in normal human large intestine. Gastroenterology 1978;75:20–8.
- [27] Spiller R. Serotonin and GI clinical disorders. Neuropharmacology 2008;55:1072–80. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.07.016.
- [28] Modlin IM, Kidd M, Pfragner R, Eick GN, Champaneria MC. The Functional Characterization of Normal and Neoplastic Human Enterochromaffin Cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91:2340–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-0110.
- [29] Heitz P, Polak JM, Timson DM, Pearse AG. Enterochromaffin cells as the endocrine source of gastrointestinal substance P. Histochemistry 1976;49:343–7.
- [30] Cetin Y, Kuhn M, Kulaksiz H, Adermann K, Bargsten G, Grube D, et al. Enterochromaffin cells of the digestive system: cellular source of guanylin, a guanylate cyclase-activating peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994;91:2935–9. doi:10.1073/PNAS.91.8.2935.
- [31] Braun T, Voland P, Kunz L, Prinz C, Gratzl M, Koepsell H, et al.Enterochromaffin cells of the human gut: sensors for spices and odorants.

Gastroenterology 2007;132:1890–901. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2007.02.036.

- [32] Nozawa K, Kawabata-Shoda E, Doihara H, Kojima R, Okada H, Mochizuki S, et al. TRPA1 regulates gastrointestinal motility through serotonin release from enterochromaffin cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2009;106:3408–13. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805323106.
- [33] Furness JB, Rivera LR, Cho H-J, Bravo DM, Callaghan B. The gut as a sensory organ. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;10:729–40.
 doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2013.180.
- [34] Rhee SH. Basic and Translational Understandings of Microbial Recognition by Toll-Like Receptors in the Intestine. J Neurogastroenterol Motil 2011;17:28–34. doi:10.5056/jnm.2011.17.1.28.
- [35] Gustafsson BI, Bakke I, Tømmerås K, Waldum HL. A new method for visualization of gut mucosal cells, describing the enterochromaffin cell in the rat gastrointestinal tract. Scand J Gastroenterol 2006;41:390–5. doi:10.1080/00365520500331281.
- [36] Ferrara A, Zinner MJ, Jaffe BM. Intraluminal release of serotonin, substance P, and gastrin in the canine small intestine. Dig Dis Sci 1987;32:289–94.
- [37] Sainio E-L, Pulkki K, Young SN. Amino Acids L-Tryptophan:

Biochemical, nutritional and pharmacological aspects. Amino Acids 1996;10:21–47.

- [38] Hughes FB, Brodie BB. The mechanism of serotonin and catecholamine uptake by platelets. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1959;127:96–102.
- [39] Mawe GM, Hoffman JM. Serotonin signalling in the gut--functions, dysfunctions and therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;10:473–86. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2013.105.
- [40] Morrissey JJ, Walker MN, Lovenberg W. The absence of tryptophan hydroxylase activity in blood platelets. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1977;154:496–9.
- [41] Barnes NM, Neumaier JF. Neuronal 5-HT Receptors and SERT. Tocris Biosci Sci Revew Ser 2011;34:1–15.
- [42] Xie Z, Lee SP, O'Dowd BF, George SR. Serotonin 5-HT1B and 5-HT1D receptors form homodimers when expressed alone and heterodimers when co-expressed. FEBS Lett 1999;456:63–7. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(99)00918-7.
- [43] Katharine Herrick-Davis, Ellinor Grinde A, Mazurkiewicz JE. Biochemical and Biophysical Characterization of Serotonin 5-HT2C Receptor Homodimers on the Plasma Membrane of Living Cells[†] 2004.

doi:10.1021/BI048398P.

- [44] Herrick-Davis K, Grinde E, Lindsley T, Cowan A, Mazurkiewicz JE.
 Oligomer Size of the Serotonin 5-Hydroxytryptamine 2C (5-HT2C)
 Receptor Revealed by Fluorescence Correlation Spectroscopy with Photon
 Counting Histogram Analysis. J Biol Chem 2012;287:23604–14.
 doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.350249.
- [45] Herrick-Davis K, Grinde E, Harrigan TJ, Mazurkiewicz JE. Inhibition of serotonin 5-hydroxytryptamine2c receptor function through heterodimerization: receptor dimers bind two molecules of ligand and one G-protein. J Biol Chem 2005;280:40144–51. doi:10.1074/jbc.M507396200.
- [46] Herrick-Davis K, Weaver BA, Grinde E, Mazurkiewicz JE. Serotonin 5-HT2C receptor homodimer biogenesis in the endoplasmic reticulum: realtime visualization with confocal fluorescence resonance energy transfer. J Biol Chem 2006;281:27109–16. doi:10.1074/jbc.M604390200.
- [47] Barrera NP, Herbert P, Henderson RM, Martin IL, Edwardson JM. Atomic force microscopy reveals the stoichiometry and subunit arrangement of 5-HT3 receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:12595–600. doi:10.1073/pnas.0503253102.

- [48] Jensen A, Davies P, Braunerosborne H, Krzywkowski K. 3B but which 3B?
 And that's just one of the questions: the heterogeneity of human 5-HT3
 receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2008;29:437–44.
 doi:10.1016/j.tips.2008.06.001.
- [49] Niesler B, Walstab J, Combrink S, Moller D, Kapeller J, Rietdorf J, et al. Characterization of the Novel Human Serotonin Receptor Subunits 5-HT3C,5-HT3D, and 5-HT3E. Mol Pharmacol 2007;72:8–17. doi:10.1124/mol.106.032144.
- [50] Linan-Rico A, Ochoa-Cortes F, Beyder A, Soghomonyan S, Zuleta-Alarcon A, Coppola V, et al. Mechanosensory Signaling in Enterochromaffin Cells and 5-HT Release: Potential Implications for Gut Inflammation. Front Neurosci 2016;10:564. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016.00564.
- [51] Wouters MM, Farrugia G, Schemann M. 5-HT receptors on interstitial cells of Cajal, smooth muscle and enteric nerves. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2007;19:5–12. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2007.00963.x.
- [52] Kim JJ, Khan WI. 5-HT7 receptor signaling: improved therapeutic strategy in gut disorders. Front Behav Neurosci 2014;8:396. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00396.
- [53] Yaakob NS, Chinkwo KA, Chetty N, Coupar IM, Irving HR. Distribution

of 5-HT3, 5-HT4, and 5-HT7 Receptors Along the Human Colon. J Neurogastroenterol Motil 2015;21:361–9. doi:10.5056/jnm14157.

- [54] Nezami BG, Srinivasan S. Enteric nervous system in the small intestine: pathophysiology and clinical implications. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 2010;12:358–65. doi:10.1007/s11894-010-0129-9.
- [55] Tharayil VS, Wouters MM, Stanich JE, Roeder JL, Lei S, Beyder A, et al. Lack of serotonin 5-HT2B receptor alters proliferation and network volume of interstitial cells of Cajal in vivo. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2010;22:462– 9, e109-10. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2009.01435.x.
- [56] Hansen MB, Witte A-B. The role of serotonin in intestinal luminal sensing and secretion. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 2008;193:311–23. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2008.01870.x.
- [57] Li Z, Chalazonitis A, Huang Y -y., Mann JJ, Margolis KG, Yang QM, et al. Essential Roles of Enteric Neuronal Serotonin in Gastrointestinal Motility and the Development/Survival of Enteric Dopaminergic Neurons. J Neurosci 2011;31:8998–9009. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6684-10.2011.
- [58] Townsend D, Casey MA, Brown DR, Brown DR. Mediation of neurogenic ion transport by acetylcholine, prostanoids and 5-hydroxytryptamine in porcine ileum. Eur J Pharmacol 2005;519:285–9.

doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2005.07.023.

- [59] Säfsten B, Sjöblom M, Flemström G. Serotonin increases protective duodenal bicarbonate secretion via enteric ganglia and a 5-HT ₄ -dependent pathway. Scand J Gastroenterol 2006;41:1279–89. doi:10.1080/00365520600641480.
- [60] Cooke HJ, Sidhu M, Wang YZ. Activation of 5-HT1P receptors on submucosal afferents subsequently triggers VIP neurons and chloride secretion in the guinea-pig colon. J Auton Nerv Syst 1997;66:105–10.
- [61] Borman RA, Burleigh DE. Heterogeneity of 5-HT receptors mediating secretion in the human intestine. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1997;812:224–5.
- [62] Moore BA, Sharkey KA, Mantle M. Role of 5-HT in cholera toxin-induced mucin secretion in the rat small intestine. Am J Physiol - Gastrointest Liver Physiol 1996;270.
- [63] Janssen P, Vos R, Van Oudenhove L, Tack J. Influence of the 5-HT3 receptor antagonist ondansetron on gastric sensorimotor function and nutrient tolerance in healthy volunteers. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2011;23:444-e175. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01655.x.
- [64] Garfield AS, Heisler LK. Pharmacological targeting of the serotonergic system for the treatment of obesity. J Physiol 2009;587:49–60.

doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2008.164152.

- [65] Gross ER, Gershon MD, Margolis KG, Gertsberg Z V, Li Z, Cowles RA. Neuronal serotonin regulates growth of the intestinal mucosa in mice.
 Gastroenterology 2012;143:408–17.e2. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.05.007.
- [66] Spohn SN, Bianco F, Scott RB, Keenan CM, Linton AA, O'Neill CH, et al.
 Protective Actions of Epithelial 5-Hydroxytryptamine 4 Receptors in
 Normal and Inflamed Colon. Gastroenterology 2016.
 doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2016.07.032.
- [67] Kenna GA, Roder-Hanna N, Leggio L, Zywiak WH, Clifford J, Edwards S, et al. Association of the 5-HTT gene-linked promoter region (5-HTTLPR) polymorphism with psychiatric disorders: review of psychopathology and pharmacotherapy. Pharmgenomics Pers Med 2012;5:19–35. doi:10.2147/PGPM.S23462.
- [68] Willeit M, Praschak-Rieder N, Neumeister A, Zill P, Leisch F, Stastny J, et al. A polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) in the serotonin transporter promoter gene is associated with DSM-IV depression subtypes in seasonal affective disorder. Mol Psychiatry 2003;8:942–6. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001392.
- [69] Lesch KP, Bengel D, Heils A, Sabol SZ, Greenberg BD, Petri S, et al. Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin

transporter gene regulatory region. Science 1996;274:1527-31.

- [70] Ozaslan D, Wang S, Ahmed BA, Kocabas AM, McCastlain JC, Bene A, et al. Glycosyl modification facilitates homo- and hetero-oligomerization of the serotonin transporter. A specific role for sialic acid residues. J Biol Chem 2003;278:43991–4000. doi:10.1074/jbc.M306360200.
- [71] Ozsarac N, Santha E, Hoffman BJ. Alternative non-coding exons support serotonin transporter mRNA expression in the brain and gut. J Neurochem 2002;82:336–44. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00964.x.
- [72] Keohane J, O'mahony C, O'mahony L. Irritable Bowel Syndrome–Type Symptoms in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Real Association or Reflection of Occult Inflammation? Am J 2010.
- [73] Brenner B, Harney JT, Ahmed BA, Jeffus BC, Unal R, Mehta JL, et al.
 Plasma serotonin levels and the platelet serotonin transporter. J Neurochem 2007;102:206–15. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04542.x.
- [74] Ahmed BA, Jeffus BC, Bukhari SIA, Harney JT, Unal R, Lupashin V V., et al. Serotonin Transamidates Rab4 and Facilitates Its Binding to the C
 Terminus of Serotonin Transporter. J Biol Chem 2008;283:9388–98.
 doi:10.1074/jbc.M706367200.
- [75] Ahmed BA, Bukhari IA, Jeffus BC, Harney JT, Thyparambil S, Ziu E, et al.

The Cellular Distribution of Serotonin Transporter Is Impeded on Serotonin-Altered Vimentin Network. PLoS One 2009;4:e4730. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004730.

- [76] Ahern GP. 5-HT and the immune system. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2011;11:29–33. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2011.02.004.
- [77] Baganz NL, Blakely RD. A dialogue between the immune system and brain, spoken in the language of serotonin. ACS Chem Neurosci 2013;4:48–63. doi:10.1021/cn300186b.
- [78] König B, Jaeger KE, König W. Induction of inflammatory mediator release (12-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid) from human platelets by Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104:33–41.
- [79] Gordon J, Barnes NM. Lymphocytes transport serotonin and dopamine: agony or ecstasy? Trends Immunol 2003;24:438–43.
- [80] Herr N, Bode C, Duerschmied D. The Effects of Serotonin in Immune Cells. Front Cardiovasc Med 2017;4:48. doi:10.3389/fcvm.2017.00048.
- [81] Duerschmied D, Canault M, Lievens D, Brill A, Cifuni SM, Bader M, et al. Serotonin stimulates platelet receptor shedding by tumor necrosis factoralpha-converting enzyme (ADAM17). J Thromb Haemost 2009;7:1163–71. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03476.x.

- [82] Kushnir-Sukhov NM, Gilfillan AM, Coleman JW, Brown JM, Bruening S, Toth M, et al. 5-hydroxytryptamine induces mast cell adhesion and migration. J Immunol 2006;177:6422–32.
- [83] Boehme SA, Lio FM, Sikora L, Pandit TS, Lavrador K, Rao SP, et al. Cutting edge: serotonin is a chemotactic factor for eosinophils and functions additively with eotaxin. J Immunol 2004;173:3599–603.
- [84] Duerschmied D, Suidan GL, Demers M, Herr N, Carbo C, Brill A, et al. Platelet serotonin promotes the recruitment of neutrophils to sites of acute inflammation in mice. Blood 2013;121:1008–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-06-437392.
- [85] Young MR, Matthews JP. Serotonin regulation of T-cell subpopulations and of macrophage accessory function. Immunology 1995;84:148–52.
- [86] Ghia J, Li N, Wang H, Collins M, Deng Y, El–Sharkawy RT, et al.
 Serotonin Has a Key Role in Pathogenesis of Experimental Colitis.
 Gastroenterology 2009;137:1649–60. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2009.08.041.
- [87] de las Casas-Engel M, Domínguez-Soto A, Sierra-Filardi E, Bragado R,
 Nieto C, Puig-Kroger A, et al. Serotonin Skews Human Macrophage
 Polarization through HTR2B and HTR7. J Immunol 2013;190:2301–10.
- [88] Ménard G, Turmel V, Bissonnette EY. Serotonin modulates the cytokine

network in the lung: involvement of prostaglandin E2. Clin Exp Immunol 2007;150:340–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03492.x.

- [89] Mikulski Z, Zaslona Z, Cakarova L, Hartmann P, Wilhelm J, Tecott LH, et al. Serotonin activates murine alveolar macrophages through 5-HT2C receptors. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2010;299:L272-80. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00032.2010.
- [90] Soga F, Katoh N, Inoue T, Kishimoto S. Serotonin Activates Human Monocytes and Prevents Apoptosis. J Invest Dermatol 2007;127:1947–55. doi:10.1038/sj.jid.5700824.
- [91] Durk T, Panther E, Müller T, Sorichter S, Ferrari D, Pizzirani C, et al. 5-Hydroxytryptamine modulates cytokine and chemokine production in LPSprimed human monocytes via stimulation of different 5-HTR subtypes. Int Immunol 2005;17:599–606. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh242.
- [92] Yang GB, Qiu CL, Aye P, Shao Y, Lackner AA. Expression of serotonin transporters by peripheral blood mononuclear cells of rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta). Cell Immunol 2007;248:69–76.
 doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2007.09.001.
- [93] Betten A, Dahlgren C, Hermodsson S, Hellstrand K. Serotonin protects NK cells against oxidatively induced functional inhibition and apoptosis. J

Leukoc Biol 2001;70:65–72.

- [94] O 'connell PJ, Wang X, Leon-Ponte M, Griffiths C, Pingle SC, Ahern GP. A novel form of immune signaling revealed by transmission of the inflammatory mediator serotonin between dendritic cells and T cells 2006;107:1010–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-07.
- [95] Arreola R, Becerril-Villanueva E, Cruz-Fuentes C, Velasco-Velázquez MA, Garcés-Alvarez ME, Hurtado-Alvarado G, et al. Immunomodulatory effects mediated by serotonin. J Immunol Res 2015;2015:354957. doi:10.1155/2015/354957.
- [96] Evans DL, Lynch KG, Benton T, Dubé B, Gettes DR, Tustin NB, et al. Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor and Substance P Antagonist Enhancement of Natural Killer Cell Innate Immunity in Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome. Biol Psychiatry 2008;63:899–905. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.08.012.
- [97] Frank MG, Hendricks SE, Johnson DR, Wieseler JL, Burke WJ.
 Antidepressants augment natural killer cell activity: in vivo and in vitro.
 Neuropsychobiology 1999;39:18–24. doi:26555.
- [98] Hernandez ME, Martinez-Fong D, Perez-Tapia M, Estrada-Garcia I,Estrada-Parra S, Pavón L. Evaluation of the effect of selective serotonin-

reuptake inhibitors on lymphocyte subsets in patients with a major depressive disorder. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2010;20:88–95. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2009.11.005.

- [99] Rutella S, Bonanno G, Pierelli L, Mariotti A, Capoluongo E, Contemi A, et al. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor promotes the generation of regulatory DC through induction of IL-10 and IFN-y. Eur J Immunol 2004;34:1291–302. doi:10.1002/eji.200324651.
- [100] Müller T, Dürk T, Blumenthal B, Grimm M, Cicko S, Panther E, et al. 5hydroxytryptamine modulates migration, cytokine and chemokine release and T-cell priming capacity of dendritic cells in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One 2009;4:e6453. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006453.
- [101] Holst K, Guseva D, Schindler S, Sixt M, Braun A, Chopra H, et al. The serotonin receptor 5-HT7R regulates the morphology and migratory properties of dendritic cells n.d. doi:10.1242/jcs.167999.
- [102] Idzko M, Panther E, Stratz C, Müller T, Bayer H, Zissel G, et al. The serotoninergic receptors of human dendritic cells: identification and coupling to cytokine release. J Immunol 2004;172:6011–9.
- [103] Li N, Ghia JE, Wang H, McClemens J, Cote F, Suehiro Y, et al. Serotonin activates dendritic cell function in the context of gut inflammation. Am J

Pathol 2011;178:662-71. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.10.028.

- [104] Khan NA, Meyniel JP, Deschaux P. Ca2+/Calmodulin and Protein Kinase C
 Regulation of Serotonin Transport in Human K562 Lymphocytes. Cell
 Immunol 1996;172:269–74. doi:10.1006/cimm.1996.0242.
- [105] León-Ponte M, Ahern GP, O'Connell PJ. Serotonin provides an accessory signal to enhance T-cell activation by signaling through the 5-HT7 receptor.
 Blood 2007;109:3139–46. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-052787.
- [106] Aune TM, Golden HW, McGrath KM. Inhibitors of serotonin synthesis and antagonists of serotonin 1A receptors inhibit T lymphocyte function in vitro and cell-mediated immunity in vivo. J Immunol 1994;153.
- [107] Kubera M, Kenis G, Bosmans E, Scharpé S, Maes M. Effects of Serotonin and Serotonergic Agonists and Antagonists on the Production of Interferonγ and Interleukin-10. Neuropsychopharmacology 2000;23:89–98. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00150-5.
- [108] Magrini E, Szabò I, Doni A, Cibella J, Viola A. Serotonin-Mediated Tuning of Human Helper T Cell Responsiveness to the Chemokine CXCL12. PLoS One 2011;6:e22482. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022482.
- [109] Matsumura Y, Byrne SN, Nghiem DX, Miyahara Y, Ullrich SE. A role for inflammatory mediators in the induction of immunoregulatory B cells. J

Immunol 2006;177:4810-7.

- [110] Iken K, Chheng S, Fargin A, Goulet A-C, Kouassi E. Serotonin Upregulates Mitogen-Stimulated B Lymphocyte Proliferation through 5-HT1A Receptors. Cell Immunol 1995;163:1–9. doi:10.1006/cimm.1995.1092.
- [111] Meredith EJ, Holder MJ, Chamba A, Challa A, Drake-Lee A, Bunce CM, et al. The serotonin transporter (SLC6A4) is present in B-cell clones of diverse malignant origin: probing a potential anti-tumor target for psychotropics. FASEB J 2005;19:1187–9. doi:10.1096/fj.04-3477fje.
- [112] Walther DJ, Peter J-U, Winter S, Höltje M, Paulmann N, Grohmann M, et al. Serotonylation of small GTPases is a signal transduction pathway that triggers platelet alpha-granule release. Cell 2003;115:851–62.
- [113] Ahmed BA, Jeffus BC, Bukhari SIA, Harney JT, Unal R, Lupashin V V, et al. Serotonin transamidates Rab4 and facilitates its binding to the C terminus of serotonin transporter. J Biol Chem 2008;283:9388–98. doi:10.1074/jbc.M706367200.
- [114] Haddad EK, Wu X, Hammer JA, Henkart PA. Defective granule exocytosis in Rab27a-deficient lymphocytes from Ashen mice. J Cell Biol 2001;152:835–42.
- [115] MacLean MR, Herve P, Eddahibi S, Adnot S. 5-hydroxytryptamine and the

pulmonary circulation: receptors, transporters and relevance to pulmonary arterial hypertension. Br J Pharmacol 2000;131:161–8. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0703570.

- [116] Nau F, Miller J, Saravia J, Ahlert T, Yu B, Happel KI, et al. Serotonin 5-HT2 receptor activation prevents allergic asthma in a mouse model. Am J Physiol - Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2015;308:L191–8. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00138.2013.
- [117] Cazzola I, Matera MG. 5-HT modifiers as a potential treatment of asthma. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2000;21:13–6.
- [118] Taylor CB, Youngblood ME, Catellier D, Veith RC, Carney RM, Burg MM, et al. Effects of Antidepressant Medication on Morbidity and Mortality in Depressed Patients After Myocardial Infarction. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2005;62:792. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.7.792.
- [119] Sauer WH, Berlin JA, Kimmel SE. Effect of Antidepressants and Their Relative Affinity for the Serotonin Transporter on the Risk of Myocardial Infarction. Circulation 2003;108:32–6. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000079172.43229.CD.
- [120] Voog U, Alstergren P, Eliasson S, Leibur E, Kallikorm R, Kopp S.Progression of radiographic changes in the temporomandibular joints of

patients with rheumatoid arthritis in relation to inflammatory markers and mediators in the blood. Acta Odontol Scand 2004;62:7–13.

- [121] Sonda S, Silva AB, Grabliauskaite K, Saponara E, Weber A, Jang J-H, et al. Serotonin regulates amylase secretion and acinar cell damage during murine pancreatitis. Gut 2013;62:890–8. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301724.
- [122] Seidel MF, Fiebich BL, Ulrich-Merzenich G, Candelario-Jalil E, Koch F-W, Vetter H. Serotonin mediates PGE2 overexpression through 5-HT2A and 5-HT3 receptor subtypes in serum-free tissue culture of macrophagelike synovial cells. Rheumatol Int 2008;28:1017–22. doi:10.1007/s00296-008-0564-1.
- [123] Lang PA, Contaldo C, Georgiev P, El-Badry AM, Recher M, Kurrer M, et al. Aggravation of viral hepatitis by platelet-derived serotonin. Nat Med 2008;14:756–61. doi:10.1038/nm1780.
- [124] Nocito A, Dahm F, Jochum W, Jang JH, Georgiev P, Bader M, et al. Serotonin Mediates Oxidative Stress and Mitochondrial Toxicity in a Murine Model of Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology 2007;133:608–18. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2007.05.019.
- [125] Osawa Y, Kanamori H, Seki E, Hoshi M, Ohtaki H, Yasuda Y, et al. L-Tryptophan-mediated Enhancement of Susceptibility to Nonalcoholic Fatty

Liver Disease Is Dependent on the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin. J Biol Chem 2011;286:34800–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.235473.

- [126] Crane JD, Palanivel R, Mottillo EP, Bujak AL, Wang H, Ford RJ, et al. Inhibiting peripheral serotonin synthesis reduces obesity and metabolic dysfunction by promoting brown adipose tissue thermogenesis. Nat Med 2014;21:166–72. doi:10.1038/nm.3766.
- [127] Gregor MF, Hotamisligil GS. Inflammatory Mechanisms in Obesity. Annu Rev Immunol 2011;29:415–45. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101322.
- [128] Coates MD, Mahoney CR, Linden DR, Sampson JE, Chen J, Blaszyk H, et al. Molecular defects in mucosal serotonin content and decreased serotonin reuptake transporter in ulcerative colitis and irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology 2004;126:1657–64.
- [129] Belai A, Boulos PB, Robson T, Burnstock G. Neurochemical coding in the small intestine of patients with Crohn's disease. Gut 1997;40:767–74.
- [130] Sjölund K, Alumets J, Berg NO, Håkanson R, Sundler F. Enteropathy of coeliac disease in adults: increased number of enterochromaffin cells the duodenal mucosa. Gut 1982;23:42–8.
- [131] Beubler E, Horina G. 5-HT2 and 5-HT3 receptor subtypes mediate cholera

toxin-induced intestinal fluid secretion in the rat. Gastroenterology 1990;99:83–9.

- [132] Wheatcroft J, Wakelin D, Smith A, Mahoney CR, Mawe G, Spiller R. Enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and decreased serotonin transporter in a mouse model of postinfectious bowel dysfunction. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2005;17:863–70. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2005.00719.x.
- [133] Kidd M, Gustafsson BI, Drozdov I, Modlin IM. IL1beta- and LPS-induced serotonin secretion is increased in EC cells derived from Crohn's disease. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2009;21:439–50. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2008.01210.x.
- [134] Minderhoud IM, Oldenburg B, Schipper MEI, ter Linde JJM, Samsom M.
 Serotonin Synthesis and Uptake in Symptomatic Patients With Crohn's
 Disease in Remission. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;5:714–20.
 doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2007.02.013.
- [135] El-Salhy M, Danielsson A, Stenling R, Grimelius L. Colonic endocrine cells in inflammatory bowel disease. J Intern Med 1997;242:413–9.
- [136] Bishop AE, Pietroletti R, Taat CW, Brummelkamp WH, Polak JM.Increased populations of endocrine cells in Crohn's ileitis. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 1987;410:391–6.

- [137] Ahonen A, Kyösola K, Penttilä O. Enterochromaffin cells in macrophages in ulcerative colitis and irritable colon. Ann Clin Res 1976;8:1–7.
- [138] Tada Y, Ishihara S, Kawashima K, Fukuba N, Sonoyama H, Kusunoki R, et al. Downregulation of serotonin reuptake transporter gene expression in healing colonic mucosa in presence of remaining low-grade inflammation in ulcerative colitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;31:1443–52. doi:10.1111/jgh.13268.
- [139] Oshima S, Fujimura M, Fukimiya M. Changes in number of serotonincontaining cells and serotonin levels in the intestinal mucosa of rats with colitis induced by dextran sodium sulfate. Histochem Cell Biol 1999;112:257–63.
- Bertrand PP, Barajas-Espinosa A, Neshat S, Bertrand RL, Lomax AE.
 Analysis of real-time serotonin (5-HT) availability during experimental colitis in mouse. AJP Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2010;298:G446–55. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00318.2009.
- [141] Zang K, Rao Z, Zhang G, Qin H. Anticolitis activity of Chinese herbal formula yupingfeng powder via regulating colonic enterochromaffin cells and serotonin. Indian J Pharmacol 2015;47:632–7. doi:10.4103/0253-7613.169584.

- [142] Linden DR, Chen J-X, Gershon MD, Sharkey KA, Mawe GM. Serotonin availability is increased in mucosa of guinea pigs with TNBS-induced colitis. Am J Physiol - Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2003;285.
- [143] Linden DR, Foley KF, Mcquoid C, Simpson J, Sharkey KA, Mawe GM.
 Serotonin transporter function and expression are reduced in mice with TNBS-induced colitis. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2005;17:565–74.
 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2005.00673.x.
- [144] Khan WI, Motomura Y, Wang H, El-Sharkawy RT, Verdu EF, Verma-Gandhu M, et al. Critical role of MCP-1 in the pathogenesis of experimental colitis in the context of immune and enterochromaffin cells.
 AJP Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006;291:G803–11.
 doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00069.2006.
- [145] Keating C, Beyak M, Foley S, Singh G, Marsden C, Spiller R, et al.
 Afferent hypersensitivity in a mouse model of post-inflammatory gut dysfunction: role of altered serotonin metabolism. J Physiol 2008;586:4517–30. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2008.156984.
- [146] Wang H, Steeds J, Motomura Y, Deng Y, Verma-Gandhu M, El-Sharkawy RT, et al. CD4+ T cell-mediated immunological control of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and 5-hydroxytryptamine production in enteric infection. Gut 2007;56:949–57. doi:10.1136/gut.2006.103226.

- [147] Motomura Y, Ghia J-E, Wang H, Akiho H, El-Sharkawy RT, Collins M, et al. Enterochromaffin cell and 5-hydroxytryptamine responses to the same infectious agent differ in Th1 and Th2 dominant environments. Gut 2008;57:475–81. doi:10.1136/gut.2007.129296.
- [148] Manocha M, Khan WI. Serotonin and GI Disorders: An Update on Clinical and Experimental Studies. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2012;3:e13. doi:10.1038/ctg.2012.8.
- [149] Nieuwenhuis EES, Escher JC. Early onset IBD: what's the difference? Dig Liver Dis 2008;40:12–5. doi:10.1016/j.dld.2007.07.166.
- [150] Levine JS, Burakoff R. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y) 2011;7:235–41.
- [151] Magro F, Langner C, Driessen A, Ensari A, Geboes K, Mantzaris GJ, et al.
 European consensus on the histopathology of inflammatory bowel disease.
 J Crohn's Colitis 2013;7:827–51. doi:10.1016/j.crohns.2013.06.001.
- [152] Geboes K. Histopathology of Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis. In:
 Satsangi J, Sutherland L, editors. Inflamm. bowel Dis. 4th ed., Edinburgh,
 London, Melbourne: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2003, p. 255–76.
- [153] de Souza HSP, Fiocchi C. Immunopathogenesis of IBD: current state of the art. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;13:13–27.

doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2015.186.

- [154] Kaplan GG. The global burden of IBD: from 2015 to 2025. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;12:720–7. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2015.150.
- [155] Rocchi A, Benchimol EI, Bernstein CN, Bitton A, Feagan B, Panaccione R, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease: a Canadian burden of illness review. Can J Gastroenterol 2012;26:811–7.
- [156] Victoria CR, Sassak LY, Nunes HR de C. Incidence and prevalence rates of inflammatory bowel diseases, in midwestern of São Paulo State, Brazil. Arq Gastroenterol n.d.;46:20–5.
- [157] Ng SC. Emerging leadership lecture: Inflammatory bowel disease in Asia: Emergence of a "Western" disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;30:440–5. doi:10.1111/jgh.12859.
- [158] Park SJ, Kim WH, Cheon JH. Clinical characteristics and treatment of inflammatory bowel disease: a comparison of Eastern and Western perspectives. World J Gastroenterol 2014;20:11525–37. doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i33.11525.
- [159] Sood A, Midha V, Sood N, Bhatia AS, Avasthi G. Incidence and prevalence of ulcerative colitis in Punjab, North India. Gut 2003;52:1587–90.
- [160] Ng SC, Tang W, Ching JY, Wong M, Chow CM, Hui AJ, et al. Incidence

and Phenotype of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Based on Results From the Asia-Pacific Crohn's and Colitis Epidemiology Study. Gastroenterology 2013;145:158–165.e2. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2013.04.007.

- [161] Burisch J, Pedersen N, Čuković-Čavka S, Brinar M, Kaimakliotis I, Duricova D, et al. East–West gradient in the incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Europe: the ECCO-EpiCom inception cohort. Gut 2014;63:588–97. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2013-304636.
- [162] Benchimol EI, Mack DR, Guttmann A, Nguyen GC, To T, Mojaverian N, et al. Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Immigrants to Canada And Their Children: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Am J Gastroenterol 2015;110:553–63. doi:10.1038/ajg.2015.52.
- [163] Pinsk V, Lemberg DA, Grewal K, Barker CC, Schreiber RA, Jacobson K. Inflammatory Bowel Disease in the South Asian Pediatric Population of British Columbia. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:1077–83. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01124.x.
- [164] Li X, Sundquist J, Hemminki K, Sundquist K. Risk of inflammatory bowel disease in first- and second-generation immigrants in Sweden. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2011;17:1784–91. doi:10.1002/ibd.21535.
- [165] Probert CS, Jayanthi V, Pinder D, Wicks AC, Mayberry JF.

Epidemiological study of ulcerative proctocolitis in Indian migrants and the indigenous population of Leicestershire. Gut 1992;33:687–93.

- [166] Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ 1989;299:1259– 60.
- [167] Kirsner JB. Historical aspects of inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Gastroenterol 1988;10:286–97.
- [168] Klement E, Cohen R V, Boxman J, Joseph A, Reif S. Breastfeeding and risk of inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:1342–52.
- [169] Li Y, Tian Y, Zhu W, Gong J, Gu L, Zhang W, et al. Cesarean delivery and risk of inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2014;49:834–44. doi:10.3109/00365521.2014.910834.
- [170] Card T, Logan RFA, Rodrigues LC, Wheeler JG. Antibiotic use and the development of Crohn's disease. Gut 2004;53:246–50. doi:10.1136/gut.2003.025239.
- [171] Ungaro R, Bernstein CN, Gearry R, Hviid A, Kolho K-L, Kronman MP, et al. Antibiotics Associated With Increased Risk of New-Onset Crohn's Disease But Not Ulcerative Colitis: A Meta-Analysis. Am J Gastroenterol

2014;109:1728-38. doi:10.1038/ajg.2014.246.

- [172] Virta L, Auvinen A, Helenius H, Huovinen P, Kolho K-L. Association of Repeated Exposure to Antibiotics With the Development of Pediatric Crohn's Disease--A Nationwide, Register-based Finnish Case-Control Study. Am J Epidemiol 2012;175:775–84. doi:10.1093/aje/kwr400.
- [173] Shaw SY, Blanchard JF, Bernstein CN. Association Between the Use of Antibiotics in the First Year of Life and Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:2687–92. doi:10.1038/ajg.2010.398.
- [174] Jantchou P, Morois S, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault M-C, Carbonnel
 F. Animal Protein Intake and Risk of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: The
 E3N Prospective Study. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:2195–201.
 doi:10.1038/ajg.2010.192.
- [175] Costea I, Mack DR, Lemaitre RN, Israel D, Marcil V, Ahmad A, et al.
 Interactions Between the Dietary Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Ratio and
 Genetic Factors Determine Susceptibility to Pediatric Crohn's Disease.
 Gastroenterology 2014;146:929–931.e3. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2013.12.034.
- [176] John S, Luben R, Shrestha SS, Welch A, Khaw K-T, Hart AR. Dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and the aetiology of ulcerative colitis: a UK prospective cohort study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010;22:602–6.

doi:10.1097/MEG.0b013e3283352d05.

- [177] Hart AR, Luben R, Olsen A, Tjonneland A, Linseisen J, Nagel G, et al. Diet in the Aetiology of Ulcerative Colitis: A European Prospective Cohort Study. Digestion 2008;77:57–64. doi:10.1159/000121412.
- [178] Geerling BJ, Dagnelie PC, Badart-Smook A, Russel MG, Stockbrugger
 RW, Brummer R-JM. Diet as a risk factor for the development of ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2000;95:1008–13. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.01942.x.
- [179] D'Souza S, Levy E, Mack D, Israel D, Lambrette P, Ghadirian P, et al. Dietary patterns and risk for Crohn's disease in children. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2008;14:367–73. doi:10.1002/ibd.20333.
- [180] Ananthakrishnan AN, Khalili H, Konijeti GG, Higuchi LM, de Silva P, Fuchs CS, et al. Long-term intake of dietary fat and risk of ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Gut 2014;63:776–84. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305304.
- [181] Ananthakrishnan AN, Khalili H, Konijeti GG, Higuchi LM, de Silva P, Korzenik JR, et al. A Prospective Study of Long-term Intake of Dietary Fiber and Risk of Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis. Gastroenterology 2013;145:970–7. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2013.07.050.

- [182] Hou JK, Abraham B, El-Serag H. Dietary Intake and Risk of Developing Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Am J Gastroenterol 2011;106:563–73. doi:10.1038/ajg.2011.44.
- [183] Amre DK, D'Souza S, Morgan K, Seidman G, Lambrette P, Grimard G, et al. Imbalances in dietary consumption of fatty acids, vegetables, and fruits are associated with risk for Crohn's disease in children. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:2016–25. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01411.x.
- [184] Aamodt G, Bukholm G, Jahnsen J, Moum B, Vatn MH, IBSEN Study Group. The Association Between Water Supply and Inflammatory Bowel Disease Based on a 1990-1993 Cohort Study in Southeastern Norway. Am J Epidemiol 2008;168:1065–72. doi:10.1093/aje/kwn218.
- [185] Ng SC, Bernstein CN, Vatn MH, Lakatos PL, Loftus E V, Tysk C, et al. Geographical variability and environmental risk factors in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2013;62:630–49. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303661.
- [186] Leong RWL, Lau JY, Sung JJY. The epidemiology and phenotype of Crohn's disease in the Chinese population. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2004;10:646–51.
- [187] Shields M. Smoking bans: influence on smoking prevalence. Heal Reports 2007;18:9–24.

- [188] Bernstein CN, Wajda A, Svenson LW, MacKenzie A, Koehoorn M, Jackson M, et al. The Epidemiology of Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Canada: A Population-Based Study. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:1559–68.
 doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00603.x.
- [189] Ouyang Q, Tandon R, Goh K-L, Ooi CJ, Ogata H, Fiocchi C. The emergence of inflammatory bowel disease in the Asian Pacific region. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2005;21:408–13.
- [190] Calkins BM. A meta-analysis of the role of smoking in inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis Sci 1989;34:1841–54.
- [191] Kau AL, Ahern PP, Griffin NW, Goodman AL, Gordon JI. Human nutrition, the gut microbiome and the immune system. Nature 2011;474:327–36. doi:10.1038/nature10213.
- [192] Guinane CM, Cotter PD. Role of the gut microbiota in health and chronic gastrointestinal disease: understanding a hidden metabolic organ. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2013;6:295–308. doi:10.1177/1756283X13482996.
- [193] Collins SM, Surette M, Bercik P. The interplay between the intestinal microbiota and the brain. Nat Rev Microbiol 2012;10:735–42.doi:10.1038/nrmicro2876.
- [194] Yatsunenko T, Rey FE, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Dominguez-Bello MG,

Contreras M, et al. Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. Nature 2012;486:222–7. doi:10.1038/nature11053.

- [195] Palmer C, Bik EM, DiGiulio DB, Relman DA, Brown PO. Development of the Human Infant Intestinal Microbiota. PLoS Biol 2007;5:e177. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0050177.
- [196] Koenig JE, Spor A, Scalfone N, Fricker AD, Stombaugh J, Knight R, et al.
 Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut microbiome.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci 2011;108:4578–85. doi:10.1073/pnas.1000081107.
- [197] Cho I, Blaser MJ. The human microbiome: at the interface of health and disease. Nat Rev Genet 2012;13:260–70. doi:10.1038/nrg3182.
- [198] Sommer F, Bäckhed F. The gut microbiota masters of host development and physiology. Nat Rev Microbiol 2013;11:227–38.
 doi:10.1038/nrmicro2974.
- [199] Brown EM, Sadarangani M, Finlay BB. The role of the immune system in governing host-microbe interactions in the intestine. Nat Immunol 2013;14:660–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2611.
- [200] Hollister EB, Gao C, Versalovic J. Compositional and functional features of the gastrointestinal microbiome and their effects on human health.
 Gastroenterology 2014;146:1449–58. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.052.

- [201] Collado MC, Cernada M, Baüerl C, Vento M, Pérez-Martínez G. Microbial ecology and host-microbiota interactions during early life stages. Gut Microbes 2012;3:352–65. doi:10.4161/gmic.21215.
- [202] Maynard CL, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Weaver CT. Reciprocal interactions of the intestinal microbiota and immune system. Nature 2012;489:231–41. doi:10.1038/nature11551.
- [203] Peterson LW, Artis D. Intestinal epithelial cells: regulators of barrier function and immune homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol 2014;14:141–53. doi:10.1038/nri3608.
- [204] Ismail AS, Behrendt CL, Hooper L V. Reciprocal Interactions between Commensal Bacteria and Intraepithelial Lymphocytes during Mucosal Injury. J Immunol 2009;182:3047–54. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802705.
- [205] Tamboli CP, Neut C, Desreumaux P, Colombel JF. Dysbiosis in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2004;53:1–4.
- [206] Quinton JF, Sendid B, Reumaux D, Duthilleul P, Cortot A, Grandbastien B, et al. Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae mannan antibodies combined with antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies in inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence and diagnostic role. Gut 1998;42:788–91.
- [207] Mow WS, Vasiliauskas EA, Lin Y-C, Fleshner PR, Papadakis KA, Taylor
KD, et al. Association of antibody responses to microbial antigens and complications of small bowel Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2004;126:414–24.

- [208] Lodes MJ, Cong Y, Elson CO, Mohamath R, Landers CJ, Targan SR, et al. Bacterial flagellin is a dominant antigen in Crohn disease. J Clin Invest 2004;113:1296–306. doi:10.1172/JCI20295.
- [209] Murdoch TB, Xu W, Stempak JM, Landers C, Targan SR, Rotter JI, et al. Pattern recognition receptor and autophagy gene variants are associated with development of antimicrobial antibodies in Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2012;18:1743–8. doi:10.1002/ibd.22884.
- [210] Pirzer U, Schönhaar A, Fleischer B, Hermann E, Meyer zum Büschenfelde KH. Reactivity of infiltrating T lymphocytes with microbial antigens in Crohn's disease. Lancet (London, England) 1991;338:1238–9.
- [211] Kiesler P, Fuss IJ, Strober W. Experimental Models of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;1:154–70.
 doi:10.1016/j.jcmgh.2015.01.006.
- [212] Tysk C, Lindberg E, Järnerot G, Flodérus-Myrhed B. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease in an unselected population of monozygotic and dizygotic twins. A study of heritability and the influence of smoking. Gut

1988;29:990-6.

- [213] Khor B, Gardet A, Xavier RJ. Genetics and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature 2011;474:307–17. doi:10.1038/nature10209.
- [214] Peeters M, Nevens H, Baert F, Hiele M, de Meyer AM, Vlietinck R, et al. Familial aggregation in Crohn's disease: increased age-adjusted risk and concordance in clinical characteristics. Gastroenterology 1996;111:597– 603.
- [215] Binder V, Orholm M. Familial occurrence and inheritance studies in inflammatory bowel disease. Neth J Med 1996;48:53–6.
- [216] Binder V. Genetic epidemiology in inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis n.d.;16:351–5. doi:16891.
- [217] Leong RWL, Armuzzi A, Ahmad T, Wong ML, Tse P, Jewell DP, et al. NOD2/CARD15 gene polymorphisms and Crohn's disease in the Chinese population. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003;17:1465–70.
- [218] Inoue N, Tamura K, Kinouchi Y, Fukuda Y, Takahashi S, Ogura Y, et al.Lack of common NOD2 variants in Japanese patients with Crohn's disease.Gastroenterology 2002;123:86–91.
- [219] Gilberts EC, Greenstein AJ, Katsel P, Harpaz N, Greenstein RJ. Molecular evidence for two forms of Crohn disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A

1994;91:12721-4.

- [220] Hugot J-P, Laurent-Puig P, Gower-Rousseau C, Olson JM, Lee JC,
 Beaugerie L, et al. Mapping of a susceptibility locus for Crohn's disease on chromosome 16. Nature 1996;379:821–3. doi:10.1038/379821a0.
- [221] Ogura Y, Bonen DK, Inohara N, Nicolae DL, Chen FF, Ramos R, et al. A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature 2001;411:603–6. doi:10.1038/35079114.
- [222] Hugot J-P, Chamaillard M, Zouali H, Lesage S, Cézard J-P, Belaiche J, et al. Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature 2001;411:599–603. doi:10.1038/35079107.
- [223] Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, et al. Host–microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature 2012;491:119–24. doi:10.1038/nature11582.
- [224] Myers SP. The Causes of Intestinal Dysbiosis: A Review. Altern Med Rev xAltern Med Rev 2004;99:180–97.
- [225] Sharma R, Young C, Neu J. Molecular modulation of intestinal epithelial barrier: contribution of microbiota. J Biomed Biotechnol 2010;2010:305879. doi:10.1155/2010/305879.

- [226] Lavelle EC, Murphy C, O'Neill LAJ, Creagh EM. The role of TLRs, NLRs, and RLRs in mucosal innate immunity and homeostasis. Mucosal Immunol 2010;3:17–28. doi:10.1038/mi.2009.124.
- [227] Zaki MH, Lamkanfi M, Kanneganti T-D. The Nlrp3 inflammasome: contributions to intestinal homeostasis. Trends Immunol 2011;32:171–9. doi:10.1016/j.it.2011.02.002.
- [228] Muniz LR, Knosp C, Yeretssian G. Intestinal antimicrobial peptides during homeostasis, infection, and disease. Front Immunol 2012;3:310. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00310.
- [229] Buhner S, Buning C, Genschel J, Kling K, Herrmann D, Dignass A, et al. Genetic basis for increased intestinal permeability in families with Crohn's disease: role of CARD15 3020insC mutation? Gut 2006;55:342–7. doi:10.1136/gut.2005.065557.
- [230] Wyatt J, Vogelsang H, Hübl W, Waldhöer T, Lochs H. Intestinal permeability and the prediction of relapse in Crohn's disease. Lancet (London, England) 1993;341:1437–9.
- [231] Söderholm JD, Olaison G, Lindberg E, Hannestad U, Vindels A, Tysk C, et al. Different intestinal permeability patterns in relatives and spouses of patients with Crohn's disease: an inherited defect in mucosal defence? Gut

1999;44:96–100.

- [232] Secondulfo M, de Magistris L, Fiandra R, Caserta L, Belletta M, Tartaglione MT, et al. Intestinal permeability in Crohn's disease patients and their first degree relatives. Dig Liver Dis 2001;33:680–5.
- [233] MIELE E, PASCARELLA F, QUAGLIETTA L, GIANNETTI E, GRECO L, TRONCONE R, et al. Altered intestinal permeability is predictive of early relapse in children with steroid-responsive ulcerative colitis. Doi.org 2007;25:933–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03291.x.
- [234] Porras M, Martín MT, Yang P-C, Jury J, Perdue MH, Vergara P. Correlation between cyclical epithelial barrier dysfunction and bacterial translocation in the relapses of intestinal inflammation. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2006;12:843–52. doi:10.1097/01.mib.0000231571.88806.62.
- [235] Nalle SC, Turner JR. Intestinal barrier loss as a critical pathogenic link between inflammatory bowel disease and graft-versus-host disease.
 Mucosal Immunol 2015;8:720–30. doi:10.1038/mi.2015.40.
- [236] Leffler DA, Dennis M, Hyett B, Kelly E, Schuppan D, Kelly CP, et al. Etiologies and predictors of diagnosis in nonresponsive celiac disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;5:445–50. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2006.12.006.
- [237] Somsouk M, Estes JD, Deleage C, Dunham RM, Albright R, Inadomi JM,

et al. Gut epithelial barrier and systemic inflammation during chronic HIV infection. AIDS 2015;29:43–51. doi:10.1097/QAD.000000000000511.

- [238] Kucharzik T, Walsh S V, Chen J, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Neutrophil transmigration in inflammatory bowel disease is associated with differential expression of epithelial intercellular junction proteins. Am J Pathol 2001;159:2001–9. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63051-9.
- [239] Moore FA, Moore EE, Poggetti R, McAnena OJ, Peterson VM, Abernathy CM, et al. Gut bacterial translocation via the portal vein: a clinical perspective with major torso trauma. J Trauma 1991;31:629-36-8.
- [240] McGuckin MA, Eri R, Simms LA, Florin THJ, Radford-Smith G. Intestinal barrier dysfunction in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2009;15:100–13. doi:10.1002/ibd.20539.
- [241] Dotan I, Allez M, Nakazawa A, Brimnes J, Schulder-Katz M, Mayer L. Intestinal epithelial cells from inflammatory bowel disease patients preferentially stimulate CD4+ T cells to proliferate and secrete interferongamma. AJP Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2007;292:G1630–40. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00294.2006.
- [242] Vidrich A, Buzan JM, De La Rue SA, Cohn SM. CHAPTER 11 –
 Physiology of Gastrointestinal Stem Cells. Physiol. Gastrointest. Tract,

2006, p. 307-43. doi:10.1016/B978-012088394-3/50014-3.

- [243] van der Flier LG, Clevers H. Stem Cells, Self-Renewal, and Differentiation in the Intestinal Epithelium. Annu Rev Physiol 2009;71:241–60. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.010908.163145.
- [244] Elphick DA, Mahida YR. Paneth cells: their role in innate immunity and inflammatory disease. Gut 2005;54:1802–9. doi:10.1136/gut.2005.068601.
- [245] Snoeck V, Goddeeris B, Cox E. The role of enterocytes in the intestinal barrier function and antigen uptake. Microbes Infect 2005;7:997–1004. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2005.04.003.
- [246] Menard S, Cerf-Bensussan N, Heyman M. Multiple facets of intestinal permeability and epithelial handling of dietary antigens. Mucosal Immunol 2010;3:247–59. doi:10.1038/mi.2010.5.
- [247] Suzuki T. Regulation of intestinal epithelial permeability by tight junctions.Cell Mol Life Sci 2013;70:631–59. doi:10.1007/s00018-012-1070-x.
- [248] Clayburgh DR, Shen L, Turner JR. A porous defense: the leaky epithelial barrier in intestinal disease. Lab Investig 2004;84:282–91. doi:10.1038/labinvest.3700050.
- [249] Vetrano S, Rescigno M, Rosaria Cera M, Correale C, Rumio C, Doni A, et al. Unique Role of Junctional Adhesion Molecule-A in Maintaining

Mucosal Homeostasis in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology 2008;135:173–84. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.04.002.

- [250] Heller F, Florian P, Bojarski C, Richter J, Christ M, H illenbrand B, et al. Interleukin-13 Is the Key Effector Th2 Cytokine in Ulcerative Colitis That Affects Epithelial Tight Junctions, Apoptosis, and Cell Restitution. Gastroenterology 2005;129:550–64. doi:10.1016/j.gastro.2005.05.002.
- [251] Zeissig S, Bürgel N, Günzel D, Richter J, Mankertz J, Wahnschaffe U, et al. Changes in expression and distribution of claudin 2, 5 and 8 lead to discontinuous tight junctions and barrier dysfunction in active Crohn's disease. Gut 2007;56:61–72. doi:10.1136/gut.2006.094375.
- [252] Demetter P, De Vos M, Van Damme N, Baeten D, Elewaut D, Vermeulen S, et al. Focal up-regulation of E-cadherin-catenin complex in inflamed bowel mucosa but reduced expression in ulcer-associated cell lineage. Am J Clin Pathol 2000;114:364–70.
- [253] Groschwitz KR, Hogan SP. Intestinal barrier function: Molecular regulation and disease pathogenesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009;124:3–20. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.05.038.
- [254] Al-Sadi R, Guo S, Ye D, Ma TY. TNF-α Modulation of Intestinal Epithelial Tight Junction Barrier Is Regulated by ERK1/2 Activation of Elk-1. Am J

Pathol 2013;183:1871-84. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.09.001.

- [255] Ye D, Ma I, Ma TY. Molecular mechanism of tumor necrosis factormodulation of intestinal epithelial tight junction barrier. AJP Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006;290:G496–504. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00318.2005.
- [256] Cader MZ, Kaser A. Recent advances in inflammatory bowel disease: mucosal immune cells in intestinal inflammation. Gut 2013;62:1653–64. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303955.
- [257] Nair MG, Guild KJ, Du Y, Zaph C, Yancopoulos GD, Valenzuela DM, et al. Goblet cell-derived resistin-like molecule beta augments CD4+ T cell production of IFN-gamma and infection-induced intestinal inflammation. J Immunol 2008;181:4709–15.
- [258] Taupin DR, Kinoshita K, Podolsky DK. Intestinal trefoil factor confers colonic epithelial resistance to apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:799–804.
- [259] Dignass A, Lynch-Devaney K, Kindon H, Thim L, Podolsky DK. Trefoil peptides promote epithelial migration through a transforming growth factor beta-independent pathway. J Clin Invest 1994;94:376–83. doi:10.1172/JCI117332.
- [260] Artis D, Wang ML, Keilbaugh SA, He W, Brenes M, Swain GP, et al.

RELMbeta/FIZZ2 is a goblet cell-specific immune-effector molecule in the gastrointestinal tract. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:13596–600. doi:10.1073/pnas.0404034101.

- [261] Vaishnava S, Yamamoto M, Severson KM, Ruhn KA, Yu X, Koren O, et al. The Antibacterial Lectin RegIIIgamma Promotes the Spatial Segregation of Microbiota and Host in the Intestine. Science (80-) 2011;334:255–8. doi:10.1126/science.1209791.
- [262] Kurashima Y, Kiyono H. Mucosal Ecological Network of Epithelium and Immune Cells for Gut Homeostasis and Tissue Healing. Annu Rev Immunol 2017;35:119–47. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol.
- [263] Rimoldi M, Chieppa M, Salucci V, Avogadri F, Sonzogni A, Sampietro GM, et al. Intestinal immune homeostasis is regulated by the crosstalk between epithelial cells and dendritic cells. Nat Immunol 2005;6:507–14. doi:10.1038/ni1192.
- [264] Beltrán CJ, Núñez LE, Díaz-Jiménez D, Farfan N, Candia E, Heine C, et al. Characterization of the novel ST2/IL-33 system in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:1097–107. doi:10.1002/ibd.21175.
- [265] Kobori A, Yagi Y, Imaeda H, Ban H, Bamba S, Tsujikawa T, et al.

Interleukin-33 expression is specifically enhanced in inflamed mucosa of ulcerative colitis. J Gastroenterol 2010;45:999–1007. doi:10.1007/s00535-010-0245-1.

- [266] Gersemann M, Becker S, K?bler I, Koslowski M, Wang G, Herrlinger KR, et al. Differences in goblet cell differentiation between Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Differentiation 2009;77:84–94. doi:10.1016/j.diff.2008.09.008.
- [267] Dorofeyev AE, Vasilenko I V, Rassokhina OA, Kondratiuk RB. Mucosal barrier in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2013;2013:431231. doi:10.1155/2013/431231.
- [268] West AB, Furman M, Karanika E, Phillips A, Bates AW, Ooi C, et al. The Pathology of Diverticulitis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2008;42:1137–8. doi:10.1097/MCG.0b013e3181862a9f.
- [269] Cunliffe RN, Rose FR, Keyte J, Abberley L, Chan WC, Mahida YR. Human defensin 5 is stored in precursor form in normal Paneth cells and is expressed by some villous epithelial cells and by metaplastic Paneth cells in the colon in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2001;48:176–85.
- [270] Boltin D, Perets TT, Vilkin A, Niv Y. Mucin Function in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Clin Gastroenterol 2013;47:106–11.

doi:10.1097/MCG.0b013e3182688e73.

- [271] Khan WI, Ghia JE. Gut hormones: emerging role in immune activation and inflammation. Clin Exp Immunol 2010;161:19–27. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04150.x.
- [272] Wenzel UA, Magnusson MK, Rydstr?m A, Jonstrand C, Hengst J, Johansson ME, et al. Spontaneous Colitis in Muc2-Deficient Mice Reflects Clinical and Cellular Features of Active Ulcerative Colitis. PLoS One 2014;9:e100217. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0100217.
- [273] Van der Sluis M, De Koning BAE, De Bruijn ACJM, Velcich A, Meijerink JPP, Van Goudoever JB, et al. Muc2-Deficient Mice Spontaneously Develop Colitis, Indicating That MUC2 Is Critical for Colonic Protection. Gastroenterology 2006;131:117–29. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.04.020.
- [274] Adolph TE, Tomczak MF, Niederreiter L, Ko H-J, Bock J, Martinez-Naves E, et al. Paneth cells as a site of origin for intestinal inflammation. Nature 2013;503:272–6. doi:10.1038/nature12599.
- [275] Vighi G, Marcucci F, Sensi L, Di Cara G, Frati F. Allergy and the gastrointestinal system. Clin Exp Immunol 2008;153:3–6.
 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03713.x.
- [276] Johansson C, Kelsall BL. Affecting the effectors: a kick in the gut? Nat

Immunol 2005;6:644-6. doi:10.1038/ni0705-644.

- [277] Mabbott NA, Donaldson DS, Ohno H, Williams IR, Mahajan A. Microfold
 (M) cells: important immunosurveillance posts in the intestinal epithelium. Mucosal Immunol 2013;6:666–77. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.30.
- [278] McDole JR, Wheeler LW, McDonald KG, Wang B, Konjufca V, Knoop KA, et al. Goblet cells deliver luminal antigen to CD103+ dendritic cells in the small intestine. Nature 2012;483:345–9. doi:10.1038/nature10863.
- [279] Niess JH, Brand S, Gu X, Landsman L, Jung S, McCormick BA, et al. CX3CR1-Mediated Dendritic Cell Access to the Intestinal Lumen and Bacterial Clearance. Science (80-) 2005;307:254–8. doi:10.1126/science.1102901.
- [280] Rescigno M, Di Sabatino A. Dendritic cells in intestinal homeostasis and disease. J Clin Invest 2009;119:2441–50. doi:10.1172/JCI39134.
- [281] Gross M, Salame T-M, Jung S. Guardians of the Gut Murine Intestinal Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. Front Immunol 2015;6:254.
 doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00254.
- [282] Steinbach EC, Plevy SE. The role of macrophages and dendritic cells in the initiation of inflammation in IBD. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2014;20:166–75. doi:10.1097/MIB.0b013e3182a69dca.

- [283] Asselin-Paturel C, Trinchieri G. Production of type I interferons. J Exp Med 2005;202:461–5. doi:10.1084/jem.20051395.
- [284] Bilsborough J, George TC, Norment A, Viney JL. Mucosal CD8alpha+ DC, with a plasmacytoid phenotype, induce differentiation and support function of T cells with regulatory properties. Immunology 2003;108:481–92.
- [285] Iliev ID, Mileti E, Matteoli G, Chieppa M, Rescigno M. Intestinal epithelial cells promote colitis-protective regulatory T-cell differentiation through dendritic cell conditioning. Mucosal Immunol 2009;2:340–50. doi:10.1038/mi.2009.13.
- [286] Coombes JL, Siddiqui KRR, Arancibia-Cárcamo C V, Hall J, Sun C-M, Belkaid Y, et al. A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic aciddependent mechanism. J Exp Med 2007;204:1757–64. doi:10.1084/jem.20070590.
- [287] Sun C-M, Hall JA, Blank RB, Bouladoux N, Oukka M, Mora JR, et al. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med 2007;204:1775–85. doi:10.1084/jem.20070602.
- [288] Mucida D, Park Y, Kim G, Turovskaya O, Scott I, Kronenberg M, et al.

Reciprocal TH17 and Regulatory T Cell Differentiation Mediated by Retinoic Acid. Science (80-) 2007;317:256–60. doi:10.1126/science.1145697.

- [289] Farache J, Koren I, Milo I, Gurevich I, Kim K-W, Zigmond E, et al. Luminal Bacteria Recruit CD103+ Dendritic Cells into the Intestinal Epithelium to Sample Bacterial Antigens for Presentation. Immunity 2013;38:581–95. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.01.009.
- [290] Jang MH, Sougawa N, Tanaka T, Hirata T, Hiroi T, Tohya K, et al. CCR7 is critically important for migration of dendritic cells in intestinal lamina propria to mesenteric lymph nodes. J Immunol 2006;176:803–10.
- [291] Schulz O, Jaensson E, Persson EK, Liu X, Worbs T, Agace WW, et al. Intestinal CD103+, but not CX3CR1+, antigen sampling cells migrate in lymph and serve classical dendritic cell functions. J Exp Med 2009;206:3101–14. doi:10.1084/jem.20091925.
- [292] Matteoli G, Mazzini E, Iliev ID, Mileti E, Fallarino F, Puccetti P, et al. Gut CD103+ dendritic cells express indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase which influences T regulatory/T effector cell balance and oral tolerance induction. Gut 2010;59:595–604. doi:10.1136/gut.2009.185108.
- [293] Wang S, Villablanca EJ, De Calisto J, Gomes DCO, Nguyen DD,

Mizoguchi E, et al. MyD88-Dependent TLR1/2 Signals Educate Dendritic Cells with Gut-Specific Imprinting Properties. J Immunol 2011;187:141– 50. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003740.

- [294] Jaensson-Gyllenb?ck E, Kotarsky K, Zapata F, Persson EK, Gundersen TE, Blomhoff R, et al. Bile retinoids imprint intestinal CD103+ dendritic cells with the ability to generate gut-tropic T cells. Mucosal Immunol 2011;4:438–47. doi:10.1038/mi.2010.91.
- [295] Scott CL, Bain CC, Wright PB, Sichien D, Kotarsky K, Persson EK, et al. CCR2+CD103- intestinal dendritic cells develop from DC-committed precursors and induce interleukin-17 production by T cells. Mucosal Immunol 2015;8:327–39. doi:10.1038/mi.2014.70.
- [296] Xue J, Schmidt S V., Sander J, Draffehn A, Krebs W, Quester I, et al. Transcriptome-Based Network Analysis Reveals a Spectrum Model of Human Macrophage Activation. Immunity 2014;40:274–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.006.
- [297] Mahida YR, Patel S, Gionchetti P, Vaux D, Jewell DP. Macrophage subpopulations in lamina propria of normal and inflamed colon and terminal ileum. Gut 1989;30:826–34.
- [298] Kühl AA, Erben U, Kredel LI, Siegmund B. Diversity of Intestinal

Macrophages in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Front Immunol 2015;6:613. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00613.

- [299] Bain CC, Bravo-Blas A, Scott CL, Gomez Perdiguero E, Geissmann F, Henri S, et al. Constant replenishment from circulating monocytes maintains the macrophage pool in the intestine of adult mice. Nat Immunol 2014;15:929–37. doi:10.1038/ni.2967.
- [300] Bain CC, Scott CL, Uronen-Hansson H, Gudjonsson S, Jansson O, Grip O, et al. Resident and pro-inflammatory macrophages in the colon represent alternative context-dependent fates of the same Ly6Chi monocyte precursors. Mucosal Immunol 2013;6:498–510. doi:10.1038/mi.2012.89.
- [301] Zigmond E, Varol C, Farache J, Elmaliah E, Satpathy A, Friedlander G, et al. Ly6Chi Monocytes in the Inflamed Colon Give Rise to Proinflammatory Effector Cells and Migratory Antigen-Presenting Cells. Immunity 2012;37:1076–90. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.08.026.
- [302] Tamoutounour S, Henri S, Lelouard H, de Bovis B, de Haar C, van der Woude CJ, et al. CD64 distinguishes macrophages from dendritic cells in the gut and reveals the Th1-inducing role of mesenteric lymph node macrophages during colitis. Eur J Immunol 2012;42:3150–66. doi:10.1002/eji.201242847.

- [303] Hadis U, Wahl B, Schulz O, Hardtke-Wolenski M, Schippers A, Wagner N, et al. Intestinal tolerance requires gut homing and expansion of FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in the lamina propria. Immunity 2011;34:237–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.016.
- [304] Varol C, Vallon-Eberhard A, Elinav E, Aychek T, Shapira Y, Luche H, et al. Intestinal lamina propria dendritic cell subsets have different origin and functions. Immunity 2009;31:502–12. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.06.025.
- [305] Bogunovic M, Ginhoux F, Helft J, Shang L, Hashimoto D, Greter M, et al. Origin of the lamina propria dendritic cell network. Immunity 2009;31:513–25. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.010.
- [306] Zigmond E, Bernshtein B, Friedlander G, Walker C, Yona S, Kim K-W, et al. Macrophage-Restricted Interleukin-10 Receptor Deficiency, but Not IL-10 Deficiency, Causes Severe Spontaneous Colitis. Immunity 2014;40:720–33. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.03.012.
- [307] Kang S, Okuno T, Takegahara N, Takamatsu H, Nojima S, Kimura T, et al. Intestinal Epithelial Cell-Derived Semaphorin 7A Negatively Regulates Development of Colitis via αvβ1 Integrin. J Immunol 2012;188:1108–16. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102084.
- [308] Smythies LE, Sellers M, Clements RH, Mosteller-Barnum M, Meng G,

Benjamin WH, et al. Human intestinal macrophages display profound inflammatory anergy despite avid phagocytic and bacteriocidal activity. J Clin Invest 2005;115:66–75. doi:10.1172/JCI19229.

- [309] Selby WS, Janossy G, Mason DY, Jewell DP. Expression of HLA-DR antigens by colonic epithelium in inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Exp Immunol 1983;53:614–8.
- [310] Denning TL, Norris BA, Medina-Contreras O, Manicassamy S, Geem D, Madan R, et al. Functional Specializations of Intestinal Dendritic Cell and Macrophage Subsets That Control Th17 and Regulatory T Cell Responses Are Dependent on the T Cell/APC Ratio, Source of Mouse Strain, and Regional Localization. J Immunol 2011;187:733–47. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002701.
- [311] Muller PA, Koscsó B, Rajani GM, Stevanovic K, Berres M-L, Hashimoto D, et al. Crosstalk between muscularis macrophages and enteric neurons regulates gastrointestinal motility. Cell 2014;158:300–13. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.04.050.
- [312] Velde A ?t., van Kooyk Y, Braat H, Hommes D, Dellemijn T ?M., Slors J ?Frederi. M, et al. Increased expression of DC-SIGN+IL-12+IL-18+ and CD83+IL-12IL-18 dendritic cell populations in the colonic mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. Eur J Immunol 2003;33:143–51.

doi:10.1002/immu.200390017.

- [313] Hart AL, Al-Hassi HO, Rigby RJ, Bell SJ, Emmanuel A V, Knight SC, et al. Characteristics of intestinal dendritic cells in inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology 2005;129:50–65.
- [314] Baumgart DC, Thomas S, Przesdzing I, Metzke D, Bielecki C, Lehmann SM, et al. Exaggerated inflammatory response of primary human myeloid dendritic cells to lipopolysaccharide in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Exp Immunol 2009;157:423–36. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.03981.x.
- [315] Baumgart DC, Metzke D, Guckelberger O, Pascher A, Gr?tzinger C, Przesdzing I, et al. Aberrant plasmacytoid dendritic cell distribution and function in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Clin Exp Immunol 2011;166:46–54. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2011.04439.x.
- [316] Hausmann M, Kiessling S, Mestermann S, Webb G, Spöttl T, Andus T, et al. Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 are up-regulated during intestinal inflammation. Gastroenterology 2002;122:1987–2000.
- [317] Rugtveit J, Bakka A, Brandtzaeg P. Differential distribution of B7.1 (CD80) and B7.2 (CD86) costimulatory molecules on mucosal macrophage subsets in human inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Clin Exp Immunol

1997;110:104–13.

- [318] Iliev ID, Spadoni I, Mileti E, Matteoli G, Sonzogni A, Sampietro GM, et al. Human intestinal epithelial cells promote the differentiation of tolerogenic dendritic cells 2009. doi:10.1136/gut.2008.175166.
- [319] Monteleone G, Kumberova A, Croft NM, McKenzie C, Steer HW, MacDonald TT. Blocking Smad7 restores TGF-beta1 signaling in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest 2001;108:601–9. doi:10.1172/JCI12821.
- [320] Middel P, Raddatz D, Gunawan B, Haller F, Radzun H-J. Increased number of mature dendritic cells in Crohn's disease: evidence for a chemokine mediated retention mechanism. Gut 2006;55:220–7. doi:10.1136/gut.2004.063008.
- [321] Smith AM, Rahman FZ, Hayee B, Graham SJ, Marks DJB, Sewell GW, et al. Disordered macrophage cytokine secretion underlies impaired acute inflammation and bacterial clearance in Crohn's disease. J Exp Med 2009;206.
- [322] Kamada N, Hisamatsu T, Okamoto S, Chinen H, Kobayashi T, Sato T, et al. Unique CD14+ intestinal macrophages contribute to the pathogenesis of Crohn disease via IL-23/IFN-? axis. J Clin Invest 2008;118:2269–80.

doi:10.1172/JCI34610.

- [323] Campos N, Magro F, Castro AR, Cabral J, Rodrigues P, Silva R, et al. Macrophages from IBD patients exhibit defective tumour necrosis factor-α secretion but otherwise normal or augmented pro-inflammatory responses to infection. Immunobiology 2011;216:961–70. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2011.01.002.
- [324] Schenk M, Bouchon A, Seibold F, Mueller C. TREM-1--expressing intestinal macrophages crucially amplify chronic inflammation in experimental colitis and inflammatory bowel diseases. J Clin Invest 2007;117:3097–106. doi:10.1172/JCI30602.
- [325] Schenk M, Bouchon A, Birrer S, Colonna M, Mueller C. Macrophages expressing triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 are underrepresented in the human intestine. J Immunol 2005;174:517–24.
- [326] Bouchon A, Dietrich J, Colonna M. Cutting edge: inflammatory responses can be triggered by TREM-1, a novel receptor expressed on neutrophils and monocytes. J Immunol 2000;164:4991–5.
- [327] Uno JK, Rao KN, Matsuoka K, Sheikh SZ, Kobayashi T, Li F, et al. Altered Macrophage Function Contributes to Colitis in Mice Defective in the Phosphoinositide-3 Kinase Subunit p1108. Gastroenterology

2010;139:1642-1653.e6. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.07.008.

- [328] Patton DT, Garden OA, Pearce WP, Clough LE, Monk CR, Leung E, et al. Cutting edge: the phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110 delta is critical for the function of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol 2006;177:6598–602.
- [329] Kobayashi T, Matsuoka K, Sheikh SZ, Elloumi HZ, Kamada N, Hisamatsu T, et al. NFIL3 is a regulator of IL-12 p40 in macrophages and mucosal immunity. J Immunol 2011;186:4649–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003888.
- [330] Kobayashi T, Steinbach EC, Russo SM, Matsuoka K, Nochi T, Maharshak N, et al. NFIL3-deficient mice develop microbiota-dependent, IL-12/23driven spontaneous colitis. J Immunol 2014;192:1918–27. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301819.
- [331] Glocker E-O, Kotlarz D, Boztug K, Gertz EM, Schäffer AA, Noyan F, et al. Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Mutations Affecting the Interleukin-10 Receptor. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2033–45. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0907206.
- [332] Medina-Contreras O, Geem D, Laur O, Williams IR, Lira SA, Nusrat A, et al. CX3CR1 regulates intestinal macrophage homeostasis, bacterial translocation, and colitogenic Th17 responses in mice. J Clin Invest 2011;121:4787–95. doi:10.1172/JCI59150.

- [333] Matricon J, Barnich N, Ardid D. Immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Self Nonself 2010;1:299–309. doi:10.4161/self.1.4.13560.
- [334] Uhlig HH, McKenzie BS, Hue S, Thompson C, Joyce-Shaikh B, Stepankova R, et al. Differential Activity of IL-12 and IL-23 in Mucosal and Systemic Innate Immune Pathology. Immunity 2006;25:309–18. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.05.017.
- [335] van Wijk F, Cheroutre H. Mucosal T cells in gut homeostasis and inflammation. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 2010;6:559–66. doi:10.1586/eci.10.34.
- [336] Goto Y, Ivanov II. Intestinal epithelial cells as mediators of the commensal-host immune crosstalk. Immunol Cell Biol 2013;91:204–14. doi:10.1038/icb.2012.80.
- [337] Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Shima T, Imaoka A, Kuwahara T, Momose Y, et al. Induction of Colonic Regulatory T Cells by Indigenous Clostridium Species. Science (80-) 2011;331:337–41. doi:10.1126/science.1198469.
- [338] Cheroutre H, Lambolez F, Mucida D. The light and dark sides of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. Nat Rev Immunol 2011;11:445–56. doi:10.1038/nri3007.
- [339] Ghadially H, Brown L, Lloyd C, Lewis L, Lewis A, Dillon J, et al. MHC

class I chain-related protein A and B (MICA and MICB) are predominantly expressed intracellularly in tumour and normal tissue. Br J Cancer 2017;116:1208–17. doi:10.1038/bjc.2017.79.

- [340] Groh V, Steinle A, Bauer S, Spies T. Recognition of stress-induced MHC molecules by intestinal epithelial gammadelta T cells. Science 1998;279:1737–40.
- [341] Bauer S, Groh V, Wu J, Steinle A, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, et al. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. Science 1999;285:727–9.
- [342] Leishman AJ, Naidenko O V, Attinger A, Koning F, Lena CJ, Xiong Y, et al. T Cell Responses Modulated Through Interaction Between CD8alpha alpha and the Nonclassical MHC Class I Molecule, TL. Science (80-) 2001;294:1936–9. doi:10.1126/science.1063564.
- [343] Walker CR, Hautefort I, Dalton JE, Overweg K, Egan CE, Bongaerts RJ, et al. Intestinal Intraepithelial Lymphocyte-Enterocyte Crosstalk Regulates
 Production of Bactericidal Angiogenin 4 by Paneth Cells upon Microbial
 Challenge. PLoS One 2013;8:e84553. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0084553.
- [344] Ismail AS, Severson KM, Vaishnava S, Behrendt CL, Yu X, Benjamin JL, et al. Gammadelta intraepithelial lymphocytes are essential mediators of

host-microbial homeostasis at the intestinal mucosal surface. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:8743–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1019574108.

- [345] Guy-Grand D, Cerf-Bensussan N, Malissen B, Malassis-Seris M, Briottet C, Vassalli P. Two gut intraepithelial CD8+ lymphocyte populations with different T cell receptors: a role for the gut epithelium in T cell differentiation. J Exp Med 1991;173:471–81.
- [346] Roberts AI, O'Connell SM, Biancone L, Brolin RE, Ebert EC. Spontaneous cytotoxicity of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes: clues to the mechanism. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;94:527–32.
- [347] Müller S, Bühler-Jungo M, Mueller C. Intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes exert potent protective cytotoxic activity during an acute virus infection. J Immunol 2000;164:1986–94.
- [348] Hamada S, Umemura M, Shiono T, Tanaka K, Yahagi A, Begum MD, et al. IL-17A produced by gammadelta T cells plays a critical role in innate immunity against listeria monocytogenes infection in the liver. J Immunol 2008;181:3456–63.
- [349] Martin B, Hirota K, Cua DJ, Stockinger B, Veldhoen M. Interleukin-17-Producing γδ T Cells Selectively Expand in Response to Pathogen Products and Environmental Signals. Immunity 2009;31:321–30.

doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.06.020.

- [350] Bhagat G, Naiyer AJ, Shah JG, Harper J, Jabri B, Wang TC, et al. Small intestinal CD8+TCRgammadelta+NKG2A+ intraepithelial lymphocytes have attributes of regulatory cells in patients with celiac disease. J Clin Invest 2008;118:281–93. doi:10.1172/JCI30989.
- [351] Tang F, Chen Z, Ciszewski C, Setty M, Solus J, Tretiakova M, et al. Cytosolic PLA2 is required for CTL-mediated immunopathology of celiac disease via NKG2D and IL-15. J Exp Med 2009;206:707–19. doi:10.1084/jem.20071887.
- [352] Semenkovich NP, Planer JD, Ahern PP, Griffin NW, Lin CY, Gordon JI.
 Impact of the gut microbiota on enhancer accessibility in gut intraepithelial lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2016;113:14805–10. doi:10.1073/pnas.1617793113.
- [353] Yu Q, Tang C, Xun S, Yajima T, Takeda K, Yoshikai Y. MyD88-dependent signaling for IL-15 production plays an important role in maintenance of CD8 alpha alpha TCR alpha beta and TCR gamma delta intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. J Immunol 2006;176:6180–5.
- [354] Liao C-M, Zimmer MI, Wang C-R. The functions of type I and type II natural killer T cells in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis

2013;19:1330-8. doi:10.1097/MIB.0b013e318280b1e3.

- [355] Wingender G, Stepniak D, Krebs P, Lin L, McBride S, Wei B, et al.
 Intestinal Microbes Affect Phenotypes and Functions of Invariant Natural Killer T Cells in Mice. Gastroenterology 2012;143:418–28.
 doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.04.017.
- [356] Stetson DB, Mohrs M, Reinhardt RL, Baron JL, Wang Z-E, Gapin L, et al. Constitutive Cytokine mRNAs Mark Natural Killer (NK) and NK T Cells Poised for Rapid Effector Function. J Exp Med 2003;198:1069–76. doi:10.1084/jem.20030630.
- [357] Somnay-Wadgaonkar K, Nusrat A, Kim HS, Canchis WP, Balk SP, Colgan SP, et al. Immunolocalization of CD1d in human intestinal epithelial cells and identification of a beta2-microglobulin-associated form. Int Immunol 1999;11:383–92.
- [358] Middendorp S, Nieuwenhuis EES. NKT cells in mucosal immunity. Mucosal Immunol 2009;2:393–402. doi:10.1038/mi.2009.99.
- [359] Reilly EC, Wands JR, Brossay L. Cytokine dependent and independent iNKT cell activation. Cytokine 2010;51:227–31. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2010.04.016.
- [360] van de Wal Y, Corazza N, Allez M, Mayer LF, Iijima H, Ryan M, et al.

Delineation of a CD1d-restricted antigen presentation pathway associated with human and mouse intestinal epithelial cells. Gastroenterology 2003;124:1420–31.

- [361] Monzon-Casanova E, Steiniger B, Schweigle S, Clemen H, Zdzieblo D, Starick L, et al. CD1d Expression in Paneth Cells and Rat Exocrine Pancreas Revealed by Novel Monoclonal Antibodies Which Differentially Affect NKT Cell Activation. PLoS One 2010;5:e13089. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013089.
- [362] Gansert JL, Kiessler V, Engele M, Wittke F, Röllinghoff M, Krensky AM, et al. Human NKT cells express granulysin and exhibit antimycobacterial activity. J Immunol 2003;170:3154–61.
- [363] Matsuda JL, Mallevaey T, Scott-Browne J, Gapin L. CD1d-restricted iNKT cells, the "Swiss-Army knife" of the immune system. Curr Opin Immunol 2008;20:358–68. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.018.
- [364] Mayer L, Eisenhardt D. Lack of induction of suppressor T cells by intestinal epithelial cells from patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest 1990;86:1255–60. doi:10.1172/JCI114832.
- [365] Dubuquoy L, Jansson EA, Deeb S, Rakotobe S, Karoui M, Colombel J-F, et al. Impaired expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor

gamma in ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology 2003;124:1265-76.

- [366] Gálvez J, lvez J. Role of Th17 Cells in the Pathogenesis of Human IBD.ISRN Inflamm 2014;2014:928461. doi:10.1155/2014/928461.
- [367] Bamias G, Kaltsa G, Ladas SD. Cytokines in the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis. Discov Med 2011;11:459–67.
- [368] Fujino S, Andoh A, Bamba S, Ogawa A, Hata K, Araki Y, et al. Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2003;52:65–70.
- [369] Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, et al. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med 2007;204:1849–61. doi:10.1084/jem.20070663.
- [370] Liu Z, Yadav PK, Xu X, Su J, Chen C, Tang M, et al. The increased expression of IL-23 in inflammatory bowel disease promotes intraepithelial and lamina propria lymphocyte inflammatory responses and cytotoxicity. J Leukoc Biol 2011;89:597–606. doi:10.1189/jlb.0810456.
- [371] McGovern D, Powrie F. The IL23 axis plays a key role in the pathogenesis of IBD. Gut 2007;56:1333–6. doi:10.1136/gut.2006.115402.
- [372] Hölttä V, Klemetti P, Sipponen T, Westerholm-Ormio M, Kociubinski G, Salo H, et al. IL-23/IL-17 immunity as a hallmark of Crohn's disease.

Inflamm Bowel Dis 2008;14:1175-84. doi:10.1002/ibd.20475.

- [373] Kamada N, Hisamatsu T, Okamoto S, Chinen H, Kobayashi T, Sato T, et al. Unique CD14 intestinal macrophages contribute to the pathogenesis of Crohn disease via IL-23/IFN-gamma axis. J Clin Invest 2008;118:2269–80. doi:10.1172/JCI34610.
- [374] Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, Rioux JD, Silverberg MS, Daly MJ, et al. A Genome-Wide Association Study Identifies IL23R as an Inflammatory Bowel Disease Gene. Science (80-) 2006;314:1461–3. doi:10.1126/science.1135245.
- [375] Globig A-M, Hennecke N, Martin B, Seidl M, Ruf G, Hasselblatt P, et al. Comprehensive Intestinal T Helper Cell Profiling Reveals Specific Accumulation of IFN-γ+IL-17+Coproducing CD4+ T Cells in Active Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2014;20:2321–9. doi:10.1097/MIB.00000000000210.
- [376] Sakuraba A, Sato T, Kamada N, Kitazume M, Sugita A, Hibi T. Th1/Th17 Immune Response Is Induced by Mesenteric Lymph Node Dendritic Cells in Crohn's Disease. Gastroenterology 2009;137:1736–45. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2009.07.049.
- [377] Monteleone G, Monteleone I, Fina D, Vavassori P, Del Vecchio Blanco G,

Caruso R, et al. Interleukin-21 enhances T-helper cell type I signaling and interferon-γ production in Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2005;128:687–94. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2004.12.042.

- [378] Fina D, Sarra M, Fantini MC, Rizzo A, Caruso R, Caprioli F, et al.
 Regulation of gut inflammation and th17 cell response by interleukin-21.
 Gastroenterology 2008;134:1038–48. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.01.041.
- [379] Brand S, Beigel F, Olszak T, Zitzmann K, Eichhorst ST, Otte J-M, et al. IL-22 is increased in active Crohn's disease and promotes proinflammatory gene expression and intestinal epithelial cell migration. Am J Physiol -Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006;290.
- [380] Hueber W, Sands BE, Lewitzky S, Vandemeulebroecke M, Reinisch W, Higgins PDR, et al. Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Gut 2012;61:1693–700. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301668.
- [381] van Beelen AJ, Zelinkova Z, Taanman-Kueter EW, Muller FJ, Hommes DW, Zaat SAJ, et al. Stimulation of the Intracellular Bacterial Sensor NOD2 Programs Dendritic Cells to Promote Interleukin-17 Production in Human Memory T Cells. Immunity 2007;27:660–9. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.013.

- [382] Ina K, Itoh J, Fukushima K, Kusugami K, Yamaguchi T, Kyokane K, et al. Resistance of Crohn's disease T cells to multiple apoptotic signals is associated with a Bcl-2/Bax mucosal imbalance. J Immunol 1999;163:1081–90.
- [383] de Souza HSP, West GA, Rebert N, de la Motte C, Drazba J, Fiocchi C. Increased Levels of Survivin, via Association With Heat Shock Protein 90, in Mucosal T Cells From Patients With Crohn's Disease. Gastroenterology 2012;143:1017–1026.e9. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.06.039.
- [384] Sturm A, Leite AZA, Danese S, Krivacic KA, West GA, Mohr S, et al. Divergent cell cycle kinetics underlie the distinct functional capacity of mucosal T cells in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Gut 2004;53:1624–31. doi:10.1136/gut.2003.033613.
- [385] Sturm A, Itoh J, Jacobberger JW, Fiocchi C. p53 negatively regulates intestinal immunity by delaying mucosal T cell cycling. J Clin Invest 2002;109:1481–92. doi:10.1172/JCI14967.
- [386] Maul J, Loddenkemper C, Mundt P, Berg E, Giese T, Stallmach A, et al. Peripheral and intestinal regulatory CD4+ CD25(high) T cells in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 2005;128:1868–78.
- [387] Fantini MC, Rizzo A, Fina D, Caruso R, Sarra M, Stolfi C, et al. Smad7

Controls Resistance of Colitogenic T Cells to Regulatory T Cell-Mediated Suppression. Gastroenterology 2009;136:1308–1316.e3. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.12.053.

- [388] Abadie V, Discepolo V, Jabri B. Intraepithelial lymphocytes in celiac disease immunopathology. Semin Immunopathol 2012;34:551–66. doi:10.1007/s00281-012-0316-x.
- [389] Giacomelli R, Parzanese I, Frieri G, Passacantando A, Pizzuto F, Pimpo T, et al. Increase of circulating gamma/delta T lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of patients affected by active inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Exp Immunol 1994;98:83–8.
- [390] Yeung MM, Melgar S, Baranov V, Oberg A, Danielsson A, Hammarström S, et al. Characterisation of mucosal lymphoid aggregates in ulcerative colitis: immune cell phenotype and TcR-gammadelta expression. Gut 2000;47:215–27.
- [391] Kanazawa H, Ishiguro Y, Munakata A, Morita T. Multiple accumulation of Vdelta2+ gammadelta T-cell clonotypes in intestinal mucosa from patients with Crohn's disease. Dig Dis Sci 2001;46:410–6.
- [392] Pariente B, Mocan I, Camus M, Dutertre C, Ettersperger J, Cattan P, et al. Activation of the Receptor NKG2D Leads to Production of Th17 Cytokines

in CD4+ T Cells of Patients With Crohn's Disease. Gastroenterology 2011;141:217–226.e2. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.03.061.

- [393] Das G, Augustine MM, Das J, Bottomly K, Ray P, Ray A. An important regulatory role for CD4+CD8 alpha alpha T cells in the intestinal epithelial layer in the prevention of inflammatory bowel disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:5324–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0831037100.
- [394] Fuss IJ, Joshi B, Yang Z, Degheidy H, Fichtner-Feigl S, de Souza H, et al. IL-13Rα2-bearing, type II NKT cells reactive to sulfatide self-antigen populate the mucosa of ulcerative colitis. Gut 2014;63:1728–36. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305671.
- [395] Fuss IJ, Heller F, Boirivant M, Leon F, Yoshida M, Fichtner-Feigl S, et al. Nonclassical CD1d-restricted NK T cells that produce IL-13 characterize an atypical Th2 response in ulcerative colitis. J Clin Invest 2004;113:1490– 7. doi:10.1172/JCI19836.
- [396] Wynn TA. IL-13 effector functions. Annu Rev Immunol 2003;21:425–56.doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141142.
- [397] Mjösberg JM, Trifari S, Crellin NK, Peters CP, van Drunen CM, Piet B, et al. Human IL-25- and IL-33-responsive type 2 innate lymphoid cells are defined by expression of CRTH2 and CD161. Nat Immunol 2011;12:1055–

62. doi:10.1038/ni.2104.

- [398] Price AE, Liang H-E, Sullivan BM, Reinhardt RL, Eisley CJ, Erle DJ, et al. Systemically dispersed innate IL-13-expressing cells in type 2 immunity.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci 2010;107:11489–94. doi:10.1073/pnas.1003988107.
- [399] Inagaki-Ohara K, Sakamoto Y, Dohi T, Smith AL. γδ T cells play a protective role during infection with Nippostrongylus brasiliensis by promoting goblet cell function in the small intestine. Immunology 2011;134:448–58. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03503.x.
- [400] McCormick SM, Heller NM. Commentary: IL-4 and IL-13 receptors and signaling. Cytokine 2015;75:38–50. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2015.05.023.
- [401] Andrews A-L, Holloway JW, Puddicombe SM, Holgate ST, Davies DE.
 Kinetic analysis of the interleukin-13 receptor complex. J Biol Chem 2002;277:46073–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M209560200.
- [402] Atherton HC, Jones G, Danahay H. IL-13-induced changes in the goblet cell density of human bronchial epithelial cell cultures: MAP kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase regulation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2003;285:L730-9. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00089.2003.
- [403] Wright K, Kolios G, Westwick J, Ward SG. Cytokine-induced apoptosis in epithelial HT-29 cells is independent of nitric oxide formation. Evidence
for an interleukin-13-driven phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent survival mechanism. J Biol Chem 1999;274:17193–201. doi:10.1074/JBC.274.24.17193.

- [404] Iwashita J, Sato Y, Sugaya H, Takahashi N, Sasaki H, Abe T. mRNA of MUC2 is stimulated by IL-4, IL-13 or TNF-alpha through a mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway in human colon cancer cells. Immunol Cell Biol 2003;81:275–82. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1711.2003.t01-1-01163.x.
- [405] Mattes J, Yang M, Siqueira A, Clark K, MacKenzie J, McKenzie AN, et al. IL-13 induces airways hyperreactivity independently of the IL-4R alpha chain in the allergic lung. J Immunol 2001;167:1683–92.
- [406] Morimoto M, Morimoto M, Zhao A, Madden KB, Dawson H, Finkelman FD, et al. Functional importance of regional differences in localized gene expression of receptors for IL-13 in murine gut. J Immunol 2006;176:491– 5.
- [407] Mannon P, Reinisch W. Interleukin 13 and its role in gut defence and inflammation. Gut 2012;61:1765–73. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303461.
- [408] Wu D, Ahrens R, Osterfeld H, Noah TK, Groschwitz K, Foster PS, et al. Interleukin-13 (IL-13)/IL-13 receptor alpha1 (IL-13Ralpha1) signaling regulates intestinal epithelial cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance

regulator channel-dependent Cl- secretion. J Biol Chem 2011;286:13357– 69. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.214965.

- [409] Jovani M, Fiorino G, Danese S. Anti-IL-13 in inflammatory bowel disease: from the bench to the bedside. Curr Drug Targets 2013;14:1444–52.
- [410] Kawashima R, Kawamura YI, Oshio T, Son A, Yamazaki M, Hagiwara T, et al. Interleukin-13 damages intestinal mucosa via TWEAK and Fn14 in mice-a pathway associated with ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology 2011;141:2119–2129.e8. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.08.040.
- [411] Rahman FZ, Smith AM, Hayee B, Marks DJB, Bloom SL, Segal AW. Delayed resolution of acute inflammation in ulcerative colitis is associated with elevated cytokine release downstream of TLR4. PLoS One 2010;5:e9891. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009891.
- [412] Rosen MJ, Frey MR, Washington KM, Chaturvedi R, Kuhnhein LA, Matta P, et al. STAT6 activation in ulcerative colitis: A new target for prevention of IL-13-induced colon epithelial cell dysfunction. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2011;17:2224–34. doi:10.1002/ibd.21628.
- [413] Rosen MJ, Karns R, Vallance JE, Bezold R, Waddell A, Collins MH, et al. Mucosal Expression of Type 2 and Type 17 Immune Response Genes Distinguishes Ulcerative Colitis From Colon-Only Crohn's Disease in

Treatment-Naive Pediatric Patients. Gastroenterology 2017;152:1345– 1357.e7. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2017.01.016.

- [414] Fuss IJ, Strober W. The role of IL-13 and NK T cells in experimental and human ulcerative colitis. Mucosal Immunol 2008;1:S31–3. doi:10.1038/mi.2008.40.
- [415] Ceponis PJ, Botelho F, Richards CD, McKay DM. Interleukins 4 and 13 increase intestinal epithelial permeability by a phosphatidylinositol 3kinase pathway. Lack of evidence for STAT 6 involvement. J Biol Chem 2000;275:29132–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M003516200.
- [416] Jung SH, Saxena A, Kaur K, Fletcher E, Ponemone V, Nottingham JM, et al. The role of adipose tissue-associated macrophages and T lymphocytes in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Cytokine 2013;61:459–68. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2012.11.021.
- [417] Yang L, Xu L-Z, Liu Z-Q, Yang G, Geng X-R, Mo L-H, et al. Interleukin-13 interferes with activation-induced t-cell apoptosis by repressing p53 expression. Cell Mol Immunol 2016;13:669–77. doi:10.1038/cmi.2015.50.
- [418] Mannon PJ, Hornung RL, Yang Z, Yi C, Groden C, Friend J, et al. Suppression of inflammation in ulcerative colitis by interferon-β-1a is accompanied by inhibition of IL-13 production. Gut 2011;60:449–55.

doi:10.1136/gut.2010.226860.

- [419] Heller F, Fuss IJ, Nieuwenhuis EE, Blumberg RS, Strober W. Oxazolone colitis, a Th2 colitis model resembling ulcerative colitis, is mediated by IL-13-producing NK-T cells. Immunity 2002;17:629–38.
- [420] Rosen MJ, Chaturvedi R, Washington MK, Kuhnhein LA, Moore PD,
 Coggeshall SS, et al. STAT6 Deficiency Ameliorates Severity of Oxazolone
 Colitis by Decreasing Expression of Claudin-2 and Th2-Inducing
 Cytokines. J Immunol 2013;190:1849–58. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201373.
- [421] Hoving JC, Kirstein F, Nieuwenhuizen NE, Fick LCE, Hobeika E, Reth M, et al. B Cells That Produce Immunoglobulin E Mediate Colitis in BALB/c Mice. Gastroenterology 2012;142:96–108. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.09.044.
- [422] Zhu J, Yang F, Sang L, Zhai J, Zhang X, Yue D, et al. IL-33 Aggravates
 DSS-Induced Acute Colitis in Mouse Colon Lamina Propria by Enhancing
 Th2 Cell Responses. Mediators Inflamm 2015;2015:913041.
 doi:10.1155/2015/913041.
- [423] Okamura M, Yoh K, Ojima M, Morito N, Takahashi S. Overexpression of GATA-3 in T cells accelerates dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. Exp Anim 2014;63:133–40. doi:10.1538/EXPANIM.63.133.

- [424] Gallo E, Katzman S, Villarino A V. IL-13-producing Th1 and Th17 cells characterize adaptive responses to both self and foreign antigens. Eur J Immunol 2012;42:2322–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201142227.
- [425] Meylan F, Song Y-J, Fuss I, Villarreal S, Kahle E, Malm I-J, et al. The TNF-family cytokine TL1A drives IL-13-dependent small intestinal inflammation. Mucosal Immunol 2011;4:172–85. doi:10.1038/mi.2010.67.
- [426] Prehn JL, Mehdizadeh S, Landers CJ, Luo X, Cha SC, Wei P, et al. Potential role for TL1A, the new TNF-family member and potent costimulator of IFN-γ, in mucosal inflammation. Clin Immunol 2004;112:66–77. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2004.02.007.
- [427] Bamias G, Martin C, Marini M, Hoang S, Mishina M, Ross WG, et al. Expression, localization, and functional activity of TL1A, a novel Th1polarizing cytokine in inflammatory bowel disease. J Immunol 2003;171:4868–74.
- [428] Zhao A, McDermott J, Urban JF, Gause W, Madden KB, Yeung KA, et al. Dependence of IL-4, IL-13, and nematode-induced alterations in murine small intestinal smooth muscle contractility on Stat6 and enteric nerves. J Immunol 2003;171:948–54.
- [429] Madden KB, Yeung KA, Zhao A, Gause WC, Finkelman FD, Katona IM, et

al. Enteric nematodes induce stereotypic STAT6-dependent alterations in intestinal epithelial cell function. J Immunol 2004;172:5616–21.

- [430] Shea-Donohue T, Sun R, Bohl JA, McLean LP, Zhao A. Enteric nematodes and the path to up-regulation of type 2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13. Cytokine 2015;75:62–7. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2015.06.007.
- [431] McDermott JR, Humphreys NE, Forman SP, Donaldson DD, Grencis RK. Intraepithelial NK cell-derived IL-13 induces intestinal pathology associated with nematode infection. J Immunol 2005;175:3207–13. doi:175/5/3207 [pii].
- [432] Sun R, Urban JF, Notari L, Vanuytsel T, Madden KB, Bohl JA, et al. Interleukin-13 Receptor α1-Dependent Responses in the Intestine Are Critical to Parasite Clearance. Infect Immun 2016;84:1032–44. doi:10.1128/IAI.00990-15.
- [433] Zhao A, Urban JF, Morimoto M, Elfrey JE, Madden KB, Finkelman FD, et al. Contribution of 5-HT2A Receptor in Nematode Infection-Induced Murine Intestinal Smooth Muscle Hypercontractility. Gastroenterology 2006;131:568–78. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.05.013.
- [434] Costedio MM, Coates MD, Danielson AB, Buttolph TR, Blaszyk HJ,Mawe GM, et al. Serotonin signaling in diverticular disease. J Gastrointest

Surg 2008;12:1439–45. doi:10.1007/s11605-008-0536-5.

- [435] Dizdar V, Spiller R, Singh G, Hanevik K, Gilja OH, El-Salhy M, et al. Relative importance of abnormalities of CCK and 5-HT (serotonin) in Giardia-induced post-infectious irritable bowel syndrome and functional dyspepsia. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010;31:883–91. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04251.x.
- [436] Yang GB, Lackner A a. Proximity between 5-HT secreting enteroendocrine cells and lymphocytes in the gut mucosa of rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta) is suggestive of a role for enterochromaffin cell 5-HT in mucosal immunity. J Neuroimmunol 2004;146:46–9.
 doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2003.10.044.
- [437] Bien J, Palagani V, Bozko P. The intestinal microbiota dysbiosis and Clostridium difficile infection: is there a relationship with inflammatory bowel disease? Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2013;6:53–68. doi:10.1177/1756283X12454590.
- [438] Gisbert JP, Marín AC, McNicholl AG, Chaparro M. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the efficacy of a second anti-TNF in patients with inflammatory bowel disease whose previous anti-TNF treatment has failed. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2015;41:613–23. doi:10.1111/apt.13083.

- [439] Foley KF, Pantano C, Ciolino A, Mawe GM. IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha decrease serotonin transporter function and expression in Caco2 cells. AJP Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006;292:G779–84. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00470.2006.
- [440] Kong E, Sucic S, Monje FJ, Reisinger SN, Savalli G, Diao W, et al. STAT3 controls IL6-dependent regulation of serotonin transporter function and depression-like behavior. Sci Rep 2015;5:9009. doi:10.1038/srep09009.
- [441] Latorre E, Mendoza C, Matheus N, Castro M, Grasa L, Mesonero JE, et al.
 IL-10 modulates serotonin transporter activity and molecular expression in intestinal epithelial cells. Cytokine 2013;61:778–84. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2013.01.012.
- [442] Nazir S, Kumar A, Chatterjee I, Anbazhagan AN, Gujral T, Priyamvada S, et al. Mechanisms of Intestinal Serotonin Transporter (SERT) Upregulation by TGF-β1 Induced Non-Smad Pathways. PLoS One 2015;10:e0120447. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0120447.
- [443] Mikocka-Walus AA, Turnbull DA, Moulding NT, Wilson IG, Andrews JM, Holtmann GJ. Antidepressants and inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review. Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Heal 2006;2:24. doi:10.1186/1745-0179-2-24.

- [444] Fernández-Bañares F, Esteve M, Espinós JC, Rosinach M, Forné M, Salas
 A, et al. Drug Consumption and the Risk of Microscopic Colitis. Am J
 Gastroenterol 2007;102:324–30. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00902.x.
- [445] Sikander A, Sinha SK, Prasad KK, Rana SV. Association of Serotonin Transporter Promoter Polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) with Microscopic Colitis and Ulcerative Colitis. Dig Dis Sci 2015;60:887–94. doi:10.1007/s10620-014-3482-y.
- [446] Docherty M. Elevated serotonin associated with collagenous colitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:1449. doi:10.1038/ajg.2010.90.
- [447] Wang Y, Gong H, Lopez R, Lian L, Kiran RP, Soffer EE, et al. Correlation between serum serotonin and endoscopy inflammation scores in patients with ileal pouches. J Crohns Colitis 2013;7:e133-42. doi:10.1016/j.crohns.2012.07.028.
- [448] O'Hara JR, Lomax AE, Mawe GM, Sharkey KA. Ileitis alters neuronal and enteroendocrine signalling in guinea pig distal colon. Gut 2007;56:186–94. doi:10.1136/gut.2006.102780.
- [449] O'Hara JR, Skinn AC, MacNaughton WK, Sherman PM, Sharkey KA. Consequences of Citrobacter rodentium infection on enteroendocrine cells and the enteric nervous system in the mouse colon. Cell Microbiol

2006;8:646-60. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2005.00657.x.

- [450] Bischoff SC, Mailer R, Pabst O, Weier G, Sedlik W, Li Z, et al. Role of serotonin in intestinal inflammation: knockout of serotonin reuptake transporter exacerbates 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid colitis in mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2009;296:G685-95. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.90685.2008.
- [451] Haub S, Ritze Y, Bergheim I, Pabst O, Gershon MD, Bischoff SC.
 Enhancement of intestinal inflammation in mice lacking interleukin 10 by deletion of the serotonin reuptake transporter. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2010;22:826-e229. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01479.x.
- [452] Margolis KG, Stevanovic K, Li Z, Yang QM, Oravecz T, Zambrowicz B, et al. Pharmacological reduction of mucosal but not neuronal serotonin opposes inflammation in mouse intestine. Gut 2014;63:928–37. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2013-304901.
- [453] Kim JJ, Wang H, Terc JD, Zambrowicz B, Yang QM, Khan WI. Blocking peripheral serotonin synthesis by telotristat etiprate (LX1032/LX1606) reduces severity of both chemical- and infection-induced intestinal inflammation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2015;309:G455-65. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00299.2014.

- [454] Regmi SC, Park S-Y, Ku SK, Kim J-A. Serotonin regulates innate immune responses of colon epithelial cells through Nox2-derived reactive oxygen species. Free Radic Biol Med 2014;69:377–89. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.02.003.
- [455] Herr N, Mauler M, Witsch T, Stallmann D, Schmitt S, Mezger J, et al. Acute fluoxetine treatment induces slow rolling of leukocytes on endothelium in mice. PLoS One 2014;9:e88316. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0088316.
- [456] Kim JJ, Bridle BW, Ghia J-E, Wang H, Syed SN, Manocha MM, et al. Targeted inhibition of serotonin type 7 (5-HT7) receptor function modulates immune responses and reduces the severity of intestinal inflammation. J Immunol 2013;190:4795–804. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201887.
- [457] Guseva D, Holst K, Kaune B, Meier M, Keubler L, Glage S, et al.
 Serotonin 5-HT7 Receptor Is Critically Involved in Acute and Chronic Inflammation of the Gastrointestinal Tract. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2014;20:1516–29. doi:10.1097/MIB.00000000000150.
- [458] Mousavizadeh K, Rahimian R, Fakhfouri G, Aslani FS, Ghafourifar P. Anti-inflammatory effects of 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, tropisetron on experimental colitis in rats. Eur J Clin Invest 2009;39:375–83.

doi:10.1111/j.1365-2362.2009.02102.x.

- [459] Fakhfouri G, Rahimian R, Daneshmand A, Bahremand A, Rasouli MR,
 Dehpour AR, et al. Granisetron ameliorates acetic acid-induced colitis in rats. Hum Exp Toxicol 2010;29:321–8. doi:10.1177/0960327110362702.
- [460] Vega L de la, Muñoz E, Calzado MA, Lieb K, Candelario-Jalil E,
 Gschaidmeir H, et al. The 5-HT3 receptor antagonist tropisetron inhibits T cell activation by targeting the calcineurin pathway. Biochem Pharmacol 2005;70:369–80. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2005.04.031.
- [461] Motavallian-Naeini A, Minaiyan M, Rabbani M, Mahzuni P. Antiinflammatory effect of ondansetron through 5-HT3 receptors on TNBSinduced colitis in rat. EXCLI J 2012;11:30–44.
- [462] Kato S. Role of Serotonin 5-HT 3 Receptors in Intestinal Inflammation.Biol Pharm Bull 1406;36:1406–9.
- [463] Yasuda M, Kato S, Yamanaka N, Iimori M, Matsumoto K, Utsumi D, et al. 5-HT3 receptor antagonists ameliorate 5-fluorouracil-induced intestinal mucositis by suppression of apoptosis in murine intestinal crypt cells. Br J Pharmacol 2013;168:1388–400. doi:10.1111/bph.12019.
- [464] Tomita T, Kato Y, Takimoto M, Yamasaki T, Kondo T, Kono T, et al. Prevalence of Irritable Bowel Syndrome-like Symptoms in Japanese

Patients with Inactive Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil 2016;22:661–9. doi:10.5056/jnm15160.

- [465] Gracie DJ, Ford AC. IBS-like symptoms in patients with ulcerative colitis. Clin Exp Gastroenterol 2015;8:101–9. doi:10.2147/CEG.S58153.
- [466] Minderhoud IM, Oldenburg B, Wismeijer JA, van Berge Henegouwen GP,
 Smout AJPM. IBS-like symptoms in patients with inflammatory bowel
 disease in remission; relationships with quality of life and coping behavior.
 Dig Dis Sci 2004;49:469–74.
- [467] Lakhan SE, Kirchgessner A. Neuroinflammation in inflammatory bowel disease 2010:1–12.
- [468] Barbara G, Cremon C, Carini G, Bellacosa L, Zecchi L, De Giorgio R, et al. The immune system in irritable bowel syndrome. J Neurogastroenterol Motil 2011;17:349–59. doi:10.5056/jnm.2011.17.4.349.
- [469] Keszthelyi D, Troost FJ, Jonkers DM, van Eijk HM, Lindsey PJ, Dekker J, et al. Serotonergic reinforcement of intestinal barrier function is impaired in irritable bowel syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2014;40:392–402. doi:10.1111/apt.12842.
- [470] Chadwick VS, Chen W, Shu D, Paulus B, Bethwaite P, Tie A, et al. Activation of the mucosal immune system in irritable bowel syndrome.

Gastroenterology 2002;122:1778-83.

- [471] Damen R, Haugen M, Svejda B, Alaimo D, Brenna O, Pfragner R, et al. The Stimulatory Adenosine Receptor ADORA2B Regulates Serotonin (5-HT) Synthesis and Release in Oxygen-Depleted EC Cells in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. PLoS One 2013;8:e62607. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062607.
- [472] Thabane M, Marshall JK. Post-infectious irritable bowel syndrome. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15:3591–6. doi:10.3748/wjg.15.3591.
- [473] Spiller RC, Jenkins D, Thornley JP, Hebden JM, Wright T, Skinner M, et al. Increased rectal mucosal enteroendocrine cells, T lymphocytes, and increased gut permeability following acute Campylobacter enteritis and in post-dysenteric irritable bowel syndrome. Gut 2000;47:804–11.
- [474] Dunlop SP, Jenkins D, Neal KR, Spiller RC. Relative importance of enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia, anxiety, and depression in postinfectious IBS. Gastroenterology 2003;125:1651–9.
- [475] Bearcroft CP, Perrett D, Farthing MJ. Postprandial plasma 5hydroxytryptamine in diarrhoea predominant irritable bowel syndrome: a pilot study. Gut 1998;42:42–6.
- [476] Atkinson W, Lockhart S, Whorwell PJ, Keevil B, Houghton LA. Altered 5-

Hydroxytryptamine Signaling in Patients With Constipation- and Diarrhea-Predominant Irritable Bowel Syndrome. Gastroenterology 2006;130:34–43. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2005.09.031.

- [477] Dunlop SP, Coleman NS, Blackshaw E, Perkins AC, Singh G, Marsden CA, et al. Abnormalities of 5-hydroxytryptamine metabolism in irritable bowel syndrome. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005;3:349–57.
- [478] Faure C, Patey N, Gauthier C, Brooks EM, Mawe GM. Serotonin Signaling Is Altered in Irritable Bowel Syndrome With Diarrhea but Not in Functional Dyspepsia in Pediatric Age Patients. Gastroenterology 2010;139:249–58. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.03.032.
- [479] Foley S, Garsed K, Singh G, Duroudier NP, Swan C, Hall IP, et al.
 Impaired Uptake of Serotonin by Platelets From Patients With Irritable
 Bowel Syndrome Correlates With Duodenal Immune Activation.
 Gastroenterology 2011;140:1434–1443.e1.
 doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.052.
- [480] Kerckhoffs APM, ter Linde JJM, Akkermans LMA, Samsom M. SERT and TPH-1 mRNA expression are reduced in irritable bowel syndrome patients regardless of visceral sensitivity state in large intestine. AJP Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2012;302:G1053–60. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00153.2011.

- [481] Andresen V, Montori VM, Keller J, West CP, Layer P, Camilleri M. Effects of 5-Hydroxytryptamine (Serotonin) Type 3 Antagonists on Symptom Relief and Constipation in Nonconstipated Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008;6:545–55. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2007.12.015.
- [482] Brown PM, Drossman DA, Wood AJJ, Cline GA, Frazier KS, Jackson JI, et al. The Tryptophan Hydroxylase Inhibitor LX1031 Shows Clinical Benefit in Patients With Nonconstipating Irritable Bowel Syndrome.
 Gastroenterology 2011;141:507–16. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.05.005.
- [483] Camilleri M. LX-1031, a tryptophan 5-hydroxylase inhibitor that reduces5-HT levels for the potential treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. IDrugs 2010;13:921–8.
- [484] Shen B, Liu W, Remzi FH, Shao Z, Lu H, DeLaMotte C, et al.
 Enterochromaffin Cell Hyperplasia in Irritable Pouch Syndrome. Am J
 Gastroenterol 2008;103:2293–300. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.01990.x.
- [485] Chen JJ, Li Z, Pan H, Murphy DL, Tamir H, Koepsell H, et al. Maintenance of serotonin in the intestinal mucosa and ganglia of mice that lack the high-affinity serotonin transporter: Abnormal intestinal motility and the expression of cation transporters. J Neurosci 2001;21:6348–61.

- [486] El Aidy S, Ramsteijn AS, Dini-Andreote F, van Eijk R, Houwing DJ, Salles JF, et al. Serotonin Transporter Genotype Modulates the Gut Microbiota Composition in Young Rats, an Effect Augmented by Early Life Stress. Front Cell Neurosci 2017;11:222. doi:10.3389/fncel.2017.00222.
- [487] Klementowicz JE, Travis MA, Grencis RK. Trichuris muris: a model of gastrointestinal parasite infection. Semin Immunopathol 2012;34:815–28. doi:10.1007/s00281-012-0348-2.
- [488] Khan WI, Collins SM. Immune-mediated alteration in gut physiology and its role in host defence in nematode infection. Parasite Immunol 2004;26:319–26.
- [489] Levison SE, McLaughlin JT, Zeef LAH, Fisher P, Grencis RK, Pennock JL. Colonic transcriptional profiling in resistance and susceptibility to trichuriasis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:2065–79. doi:10.1002/ibd.21326.
- [490] Hayes KS, Bancroft AJ, Goldrick M, Portsmouth C, Roberts IS, Grencis RK. Exploitation of the Intestinal Microflora by the Parasitic Nematode Trichuris muris. Science (80-) 2010;328:1391–4. doi:10.1126/science.1187703.
- [491] Bancroft AJ, Else KJ, Grencis RK. Low-level infection withTrichuris muris significantly affects the polarization of the CD4 response. Eur J Immunol

1994;24:3113-8. doi:10.1002/eji.1830241230.

- [492] Kitajima S, Takuma S, Morimoto M. Histological analysis of murine colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium of different molecular weights. Exp Anim 2000;49:9–15.
- [493] Kitajima S, Takuma S, Morimoto M. Tissue distribution of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) in the acute phase of murine DSS-induced colitis. J Vet Med Sci 1999;61:67–70.
- [494] Chassaing B, Aitken JD, Malleshappa M, Vijay-Kumar M. Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice. Curr Protoc Immunol 2014;104:Unit 15.25. doi:10.1002/0471142735.im1525s104.
- [495] Dieleman L a., Palmen MJHJ, Akol H, Bloemena E, Peña a. S, Meuwissen SGM, et al. Chronic experimental colitis induced by dextran sulphate sodium (DSS) is characterized by Th1 and Th2 cytokines. Clin Exp Immunol 1998;114:385–91. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1998.00728.x.
- [496] Alex P, Zachos NC, Nguyen T, Gonzales L, Chen T-E, Conklin LS, et al. Distinct cytokine patterns identified from multiplex profiles of murine DSS and TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2009;15:341–52. doi:10.1002/ibd.20753.
- [497] Khan WI, Blennerhasset PA, Varghese AK, Chowdhury SK, Omsted P,

Deng Y, et al. Intestinal nematode infection ameliorates experimental colitis in mice. Infect Immun 2002;70:5931–7. doi:10.1128/iai.70.11.5931-5937.2002.

- [498] Wallace JL, Le T, Carter L, Appleyard CB, Beck PL. Hapten-induced chronic colitis in the rat: alternatives to trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 1995;33:237–9.
- [499] Bertrand PP, Barajas-Espinosa A, Neshat S, Bertrand RL, Lomax AE. Analysis of real-time serotonin (5-HT) availability during experimental colitis in mouse. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2010;298:G446– 55. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00318.2009.
- [500] Chen M, Gao L, Chen P, Feng D, Jiang Y, Chang Y, et al. Serotonin-Exacerbated DSS-Induced Colitis Is Associated with Increase in MMP-3 and MMP-9 Expression in the Mouse Colon. Mediators Inflamm 2016;2016:5359768. doi:10.1155/2016/5359768.
- [501] Danese S, Papa A, Saibeni S, Repici A, Malesci A, Vecchi M. Inflammation and Coagulation in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: The Clot Thickens. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:174–86. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00943.x.
- [502] Talstad I, Rootwelt K, Gjone E. Thrombocytosis in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 1973;8:135–8.

- [503] Taquet N, Philippe C, Reimund J-M, Muller CD. Inflammatory Bowel Disease G-Protein Coupled Receptors (GPCRs) Expression Profiling with Microfluidic Cards n.d.
- [504] Vannella KM, Ramalingam TR, Borthwick LA, Barron L, Hart KM, Thompson RW, et al. Combinatorial targeting of TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 in type 2 cytokine-driven inflammation and fibrosis. Sci Transl Med 2016;8:337ra65. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf1938.
- [505] Miyata M, Nakamura Y, Shimokawa N, Ohnuma Y, Katoh R, Matsuoka S, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin is a critical mediator of IL-13-driven allergic inflammation. Eur J Immunol 2009;39:3078–83. doi:10.1002/eji.200939302.
- [506] Nunes T, Bernardazzi C, de Souza HS. Interleukin-33 and inflammatory bowel diseases: lessons from human studies. Mediators Inflamm 2014;2014:423957. doi:10.1155/2014/423957.
- [507] Coppieters KT, Elewaut D. Natural killer T cells: Born in the thymus, raised in the gut. Gastroenterology 2012;143:293–6.doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.06.024.
- [508] Wingender G, Stepniak D, Krebs P, Lin L, McBride S, Wei B, et al. Intestinal microbes affect phenotypes and functions of invariant natural

killer T cells in mice. Gastroenterology 2012;143:418–28. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.04.017.

- [509] Qiu W, Wu B, Wang X, Buchanan ME, Regueiro MD, Hartman DJ, et al.
 PUMA-mediated intestinal epithelial apoptosis contributes to ulcerative colitis in humans and mice. J Clin Invest 2011;121:1722–32.
 doi:10.1172/JCI42917.
- [510] Goretsky T, Dirisina R, Sinh P, Mittal N, Managlia E, Williams DB, et al. p53 mediates TNF-induced epithelial cell apoptosis in IBD. Am J Pathol 2012;181:1306–15. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.06.016.
- [511] Nava P, Koch S, Laukoetter MG, Lee WY, Kolegraff K, Capaldo CT, et al. Interferon-γ Regulates Intestinal Epithelial Homeostasis through Converging β-Catenin Signaling Pathways. Immunity 2010;32:392–402. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.001.
- [512] Hoarau G, Mukherjee PK, Gower-Rousseau C, Hager C, Chandra J,
 Retuerto MA, et al. Bacteriome and Mycobiome Interactions Underscore
 Microbial Dysbiosis in Familial Crohn's Disease. MBio 2016;7.
 doi:10.1128/mBio.01250-16.
- [513] Kwon E, Wang H, shajib MSU, Khan W. Role of Gut Serotonin in the Production of Antimicrobial Peptides. Gastroenterology 2017;152:S963.

doi:10.1016/S0016-5085(17)33268-7.

- [514] Simms LA, Doecke JD, Walsh MD, Huang N, Fowler E V, Radford-Smith GL. Reduced alpha-defensin expression is associated with inflammation and not NOD2 mutation status in ileal Crohn's disease. Gut 2008;57:903– 10. doi:10.1136/gut.2007.142588.
- [515] Elphick D, Liddell S, Mahida YR. Impaired Luminal Processing of Human Defensin-5 in Crohn's Disease. Am J Pathol 2008;172:702–13. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.070755.
- [516] Wehkamp J, Salzman NH, Porter E, Nuding S, Weichenthal M, Petras RE, et al. Reduced Paneth cell alpha-defensins in ileal Crohn's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2005;102:18129–34. doi:10.1073/pnas.0505256102.
- [517] Nuding S, Fellermann K, Wehkamp J, Stange EF. Reduced mucosal antimicrobial activity in Crohn's disease of the colon. Gut 2007;56:1240–7. doi:10.1136/gut.2006.118646.
- [518] Reinisch W, Panés J, Khurana S, Toth G, Hua F, Comer GM, et al. Anrukinzumab, an anti-interleukin 13 monoclonal antibody, in active UC: efficacy and safety from a phase IIa randomised multicentre study. Gut 2015;64:894–900. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308337.
- [519] Reinisch W, Panes J, Page K, Khurana SK, Moorehead TM, Hua F, et al.

Discrepancy Between Fecal Biomarkers and Their Intestinal Gene Expression in Ulcerative Colitis: Results From an Anti-IL-13 Antibody Study. Gastroenterology 2014;146:S-586. doi:10.1016/S0016-5085(14)62123-5.

- [520] Yano JM, Yu K, Donaldson GP, Shastri GG, Ann P, Ma L, et al. Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. Cell 2015;161:264–76. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.02.047.
- [521] Reigstad CS, Salmonson CE, Rainey JF, Szurszewski JH, Linden DR, Sonnenburg JL, et al. Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells.
 FASEB J 2015;29:1395–403. doi:10.1096/fj.14-259598.
- [522] Pendyala S, Walker JM, Holt PR. A High-Fat Diet Is Associated With Endotoxemia That Originates From the Gut. Gastroenterology 2012;142:1100–1101.e2. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.01.034.
- [523] Knight-Sepulveda K, Kais S, Santaolalla R, Abreu MT. Diet and Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y) 2015;11:511– 20.
- [524] Amre DK, D'Souza S, Morgan K, Seidman G, Lambrette P, Grimard G, et al. Imbalances in Dietary Consumption of Fatty Acids, Vegetables, and

Fruits Are Associated With Risk for Crohn's Disease in Children. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:2016–25. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01411.x.

- [525] Teixeira LG, Leonel AJ, Aguilar EC, Batista N V, Alves AC, Coimbra CC, et al. The combination of high-fat diet-induced obesity and chronic ulcerative colitis reciprocally exacerbates adipose tissue and colon inflammation. Lipids Health Dis 2011;10:204. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-10-204.
- [526] Bibi S, Kang Y, Du M, Zhu M-J. Maternal high-fat diet consumption enhances offspring susceptibility to DSS-induced colitis in mice. Obesity 2017;25:901–8. doi:10.1002/oby.21816.
- [527] Bertrand RL, Senadheera S, Markus I, Liu L, Howitt L, Chen H, et al. A Western Diet Increases Serotonin Availability in Rat Small Intestine.
 Endocrinology 2011;152:36–47. doi:10.1210/en.2010-0377.
- [528] Le Beyec J, Pelletier A-L, Arapis K, Hourseau M, Cluzeaud F, Descatoire V, et al. Overexpression of gastric leptin precedes adipocyte leptin during high-fat diet and is linked to 5HT-containing enterochromaffin cells. Int J Obes 2014;38:1357–64. doi:10.1038/ijo.2014.14.
- [529] Spagnuolo MI, Cicalese MP, Caiazzo MA, Franzese A, Squeglia V, Assante LR, et al. Relationship between severe obesity and gut inflammation in

children: what's next? Ital J Pediatr 2010;36:66. doi:10.1186/1824-7288-36-66.

- [530] Dietz J, Ulbrich-Kulcynski JM, Souto KEP, Meinhardt NG. Prevalence of upper digestive endoscopy and gastric histopathology findings in morbidly obese patients. Arq Gastroenterol n.d.;49:52–5.
- [531] Csendes A, Burgos AM, Smok G, Beltran M. Endoscopic and Histologic Findings of the Foregut in 426 Patients with Morbid Obesity. Obes Surg 2007;17:28–34. doi:10.1007/s11695-007-9002-9.
- [532] Verdam FJ, Fuentes S, de Jonge C, Zoetendal EG, Erbil R, Greve JW, et al. Human intestinal microbiota composition is associated with local and systemic inflammation in obesity. Obesity 2013;21:E607–15. doi:10.1002/oby.20466.
- [533] Pendyala S, Neff LM, Suarez-Farinas M, Holt PR. Diet-induced weight loss reduces colorectal inflammation: implications for colorectal carcinogenesis. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;93:234–42. doi:10.3945/ajcn.110.002683.
- [534] Kwak SH, Park BL, Kim H, German MS, Go MJ, Jung HS, et al. Association of Variations in TPH1 and HTR2B with Gestational Weight Gain and Measures of Obesity. Obesity 2012;20:233–8.

doi:10.1038/oby.2011.253.

 [535] Danese S, Rudziński J, Brandt W, Dupas J-L, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Bouhnik
 Y, et al. Tralokinumab for moderate-to-severe UC: a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, phase IIa study. Gut 2015;64:243–9. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308004.